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at 8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022. Dealings in respect of the Enlarged Share Capital are expected to commence on AIM at 8.00 a.m.
on 28 March 2022. The Ordinary Shares are not dealt in on any other recognised investment exchange and no application has been,
or is intended to be, made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on any other such exchange. It is emphasised that no
application is being made for the admission of the Ordinary Shares to the Official List.

The Company will be admitted to AIM on the basis that its business relating to medicinal cannabis is conducted in the UK only, for
which the Company has in place or will have in place all relevant consents and permits as set out in this Document. Admission to
AIM is subject to a special condition pursuant to AIM Rule 9 that in the event that the Company undertakes any business relating to
cannabis or cannabis-related activities in any jurisdiction beyond the scope set out in this Document, such change will be deemed to
constitute an acquisition resulting in a fundamental change in the Company’s business for the purposes of AIM Rule 14.

The Company (whose registered office appears on page 15 of this document) and the Directors and Proposed Directors, whose
names, addresses and functions appear on page 15 of this Document, accept responsibility, both individually and collectively, for the
information contained in this Document and for compliance with the AIM Rules for Companies. To the best of the knowledge and
belief of the Company and the Directors and Proposed Directors (each of whom has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such
is the case) the information contained in this Document is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the
import of such information.

Prospective investors should read the whole text of this Document and should be aware that an investment in the Company
involves a high degree of risk. In particular, the attention of prospective investors is drawn to Part III: Risk Factors of this
Document which sets out certain risk factors relating to any investment in Ordinary Shares. All statements regarding the
Existing Group's and/or the Celadon Group's business, financial position and prospects should be viewed in light of these
risk factors.
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in respect of the Second Placing, is conditional on, inter alia, Admission taking place by 8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022 (or such later



date as the Company and Canaccord Genuity may agree, being not later than 12 April 2022). The Placing Shares and the Ordinary
Shares respectively rank pari passu in all respects and will rank in full for all dividends and other distributions declared paid or made
in respect of the Ordinary Shares after Admission respectively. It is emphasised that no application is being made for the Enlarged
Ordinary Share Capital to be admitted to the Official List or to any other recognised investment exchange.

Canaccord Genuity, which is authorised and regulated in the United Kingdom by the Financial Conduct Authority, is the Company's
nominated adviser for the purpose of the AIM Rules for Companies and its responsibilities as the Company's nominated adviser
under the AIM Rules for Nominated Advisers are owed solely to the London Stock Exchange and are not owed to the Company or
to any Director or to any recipient of this Document in respect of his decision to acquire Ordinary Shares in reliance on any part of
this Document. No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by Canaccord Genuity as to any of the contents of this
Document (without limiting the statutory rights of any person to whom this Document is issued).

Canaccord Genuity is acting exclusively for the Company in connection with Admission and the Fundraising. Canaccord Genuity
is not acting for any recipient of this Document and will not be responsible to any such recipient for providing the protections to
him afforded to customers of Canaccord Genuity nor for providing advice in relation to the contents of this Document or any matter
referred to in it.

In accordance with the AIM Rules for Nominated Advisers, Canaccord Genuity has confirmed to London Stock Exchange plc that
it has satisfied itself that the Directors have received advice and guidance as to the nature of their responsibilities and obligations
to ensure compliance by the Company with the AIM Rules and that, in its opinion and to the best of its knowledge and belief, all
relevant requirements of the AIM Rules have been complied with. No liability whatsoever is accepted by Canaccord Genuity for the
accuracy of any information or opinions contained in this Document or for the omissions of any material information, for which it is not
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This Document does not constitute an offer to sell or an invitation to subscribe for, or solicitation of an offer to subscribe for or buy,
shares to any person in the United States or in any other jurisdiction to whom it is unlawful to make such offer, invitation or solicitation.
In particular, this Document must not be taken, transmitted, distributed or sent, directly or indirectly, in or into the United States of
America, Canada, Australia, Japan or the Republic of South Africa or transmitted, distributed or sent to, or by, any national, resident
or citizen of such countries. Accordingly, the Ordinary Shares may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in or into the United
States of America, Canada, Australia, Japan or the Republic of South Africa or in any other country, territory or possession where to
do so may contravene local securities laws or regulations. The Ordinary Shares have not been and will not be registered under the
United States Securities Act of 1933 (as amended) or under the securities legislation of any state of the United States of America, any
province or territory of Canada, Australia, Japan or the Republic of South Africa and may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly,
within the United States of America or Canada, Australia, Japan or the Republic of South Africa or to or for the account or benefit of
any national, citizen or resident of the United States of America, Canada, Australia, Japan or the Republic of South Africa or to any
US person (within the definition of Regulation S made under the United States Securities Act 1933 (as amended)). There will be no
public offering of Ordinary Shares in the United States, Canada, Australia, Japan or the Republic of South Africa.

The distribution of this Document outside the UK may be restricted by law. No action has been taken by the Company or Canaccord
Genuity that would permit a public offer of shares in any jurisdiction outside the UK where action for that purpose is required. Persons
outside the UK who come into possession of this document should inform themselves about the distribution of this Document in their
particular jurisdiction. Failure to comply with those restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of such jurisdiction.



IMPORTANT INFORMATION

In deciding whether or not to invest in the Ordinary Shares, prospective investors should rely only on the
information contained in this Document. No person has been authorised to give any information or make
any representations other than as contained in this Document and, if given or made, such information
or representations must not be relied on as having been authorised by the Company, the Directors, the
Proposed Directors or Canaccord Genuity. Neither the delivery of this Document nor any subscription or
purchase made under this Document shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there
has been no change in the affairs of the Company since the date of this Document or that the information
contained herein is correct as at any time after its date.

Investment in the Company carries risk. There can be no assurance that the Company's strategy will
be achieved and investment results may vary substantially over time. Investment in the Company is not
intended to be a complete investment programme for any investor. The price of Ordinary Shares and any
income from Ordinary Shares can go down as well as up and investors may not realise the value of their
initial investment. Prospective Shareholders should carefully consider whether an investment in Ordinary
Shares is suitable for them in light of their circumstances and financial resources and should be able and
willing to withstand the loss of their entire investment (see "Part III: Risk Factors" of this Document).

Potential investors contemplating an investment in Ordinary Shares should recognise that their market
value can fluctuate and may not always reflect their underlying value. Returns achieved are reliant upon
the performance of the Enlarged Group. No assurance is given, express or implied, that Shareholders will
receive back the amount of their investment in Ordinary Shares.

If you are in any doubt about the contents of this Document you should consult your stockbroker or your
financial or other professional adviser.

Investment in the Company is suitable only for financially sophisticated individuals and institutional
investors who have taken appropriate professional advice, who understand and are capable of assuming
the risks of an investment in the Company and who have sufficient resources to bear any losses which
may result therefrom.

Potential investors should not treat the contents of this Document or any subsequent communications from
the Company as advice relating to legal, taxation, investment or any other matters. Potential investors
should inform themselves as to: (a) the legal requirements within their own countries for the purchase,
holding, transfer, or other disposal of Ordinary Shares; (b) any foreign exchange restrictions applicable
to the purchase, holding, transfer or other disposal of Ordinary Shares that they might encounter; and
(c) the income and other tax consequences that may apply in their own countries as a result of the
purchase, holding, transfer or other disposal of Ordinary Shares. Potential investors must rely upon their
own representatives, including their own legal advisers and accountants, as to legal, tax, investment or
any other related matters concerning the Company and an investment therein.

Statements made in this Document are based on the laws and practices currently in force in England and
Wales and are subject to changes therein.

This Document should be read in its entirety before making any investment in the Company.

Certain statements contained in the Document are forward looking statements and are based on current
expectations, estimates and projections about the potential returns of the Enlarged Group and industry
and markets in which the Enlarged Group operates, the Directors' beliefs and assumptions made by the
Directors or Proposed Directors. Words such as "expects", "anticipates", "may", "should", "will", "intends",
"plans", "believes", "targets", "seeks", "estimates", "aims", "projects", "pipeline" and variations of such
words and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward looking statements and expectations.
These statements are not guarantees of future performance or the ability to identify and consummate
investments and involve certain risks, uncertainties, outcomes of negotiations and due diligence and
assumptions that are difficult to predict, qualify or quantify. Therefore, actual outcomes and results may
differ materially from what is expressed in such forward looking statements or expectations. Among the
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially are: the general economic climate, competition,
interest rate levels, loss of key personnel, the result of legal and commercial due diligence, the availability
of financing on acceptable terms and changes in the legal or regulatory environment.

Such forward looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Enlarged Group's
present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Enlarged Group will operate in
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the future. These forward looking statements speak only as of the date of this Document. The Company
expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to disseminate any updates or revisions to any forward
looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in the Company's expectations with regard
thereto, any new information or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such
statements are based, unless required to do so by law or any appropriate regulatory authority.

The financial information contained in this Document, including that financial information presented in
a number of tables in this Document, has been rounded to the nearest whole number or the nearest
decimal place. Therefore, the actual arithmetic total of the numbers in a column or row in a certain table
may not conform exactly to the total figure given for that column or row. In addition, certain percentages
presented in the tables in this Document reflect calculations based upon the underlying information prior
to rounding, and, accordingly, may not conform exactly to the percentages that would be derived if the
relevant calculations were based upon the rounded numbers.

In accordance with Rule 28 of the AIM Rules for Companies, certain historical financial information of the
Company has been omitted from this Document as the Company has previously provided this information
in accordance with Rules 18 and 19 of the AIM Rules for Companies. The following documents are
however incorporated by reference in this Document in compliance with Rule 24.15 of the Takeover Code,
and are available from the Company’s website at www.summerwaycapital.co.uk:

Reference document Information incorporated by reference
Page number in the
reference documents

Summerway Capital Plc
Annual Report and
Accounts for the year
ended 31 August 2020

Report of the Remuneration Committee Page 10 to 12

Report from Independent Auditor Page 16 to 18

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income Page 19

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Page 20

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Page 22

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Page 23

Notes to the Financial Statements Page 25

Summerway Capital Plc
Annual Report and
Accounts for the year
ended 31 August 2019

Report of the Remuneration Committee Page 9 to 10

Report from Independent Auditor Page 13 to 15

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income Page 16

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Page 17

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Page 19

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Page 20

Notes to the Financial Statements Page 22 to 31

The contents of the Company's website (or any other website) do not form part of this Document.

The Company will be admitted to AIM on the basis that its business relating to medicinal cannabis is
conducted in the UK only, for which the Company has in place or will have in place all relevant consents
and permits as set out in this Document. Admission to AIM is subject to a special condition pursuant to
AIM Rule 9 that in the event that the Company undertakes any business relating to cannabis or cannabis-
related activities in any jurisdiction beyond the scope set out in this Document, such change will be deemed
to constitute an acquisition resulting in a fundamental change in the Company’s business for the purposes
of AIM Rule 14.

This Document has been drawn up in accordance with the AIM Rules and it does not comprise a
prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Rules in the United Kingdom. It has been drawn up in
accordance with the requirements of the Prospectus Directive only in so far as required by the AIM Rules

Presentation of financial information

No Incorporation of Website

Listing Condition

General notice



and has not been delivered to the Registrar of Companies in England and Wales for registration.

This Document has been prepared for the benefit only of a limited number of persons all of whom qualify
as "qualified investors" for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive, to whom it has been addressed and
delivered and may not in any circumstances be used for any other purpose or be viewed as a document
for the benefit of the public. The reproduction, distribution or transmission of this Document (either in whole
or in part) without the prior written consent of the Company and Canaccord Genuity is prohibited.

Unless otherwise stated, statements made in this Document are based on the law and practice currently
in force in England and Wales and are subject to changes therein.

The distribution of this Document outside the UK may be restricted by law. No action has been taken by
the Company or Canaccord Genuity that would permit a public offer of shares in any jurisdiction outside
the UK where action for that purpose is required. Persons outside the UK who come into possession of this
Document should inform themselves about the distribution of this Document in their particular jurisdiction.
Failure to comply with those restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of such jurisdiction.

This Document does not constitute an offer to sell or an invitation to subscribe for, or solicitation of an
offer to subscribe for or buy, shares to any person in the United States or any other jurisdiction to whom
it is unlawful to make such offer, invitation or solicitation. In particular, this Document must not be taken,
transmitted, distributed or sent, directly or indirectly, in or into the United States of America, Canada,
Australia, Japan or the Republic of South Africa or transmitted, distributed or sent to, or by, any national,
resident or citizen of such countries. Accordingly, the Ordinary Shares may not be offered or sold, directly
or indirectly, in or into the United States of America, Canada, Australia, Japan or the Republic of South
Africa or in any other country, territory or possession where to do so may contravene local securities laws
or regulations. The Ordinary Shares have not been and will not be registered under the United States
Securities Act of 1933 (as amended) or under the securities legislation of any state of the United States of
America, any province or territory of Canada, Australia, Japan or the Republic of South Africa and may not
be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in or into the United States of America or Canada, Australia, Japan
or the Republic of South Africa or to or for the account or benefit of any national, citizen or resident of the
United States of America, Canada, Australia, Japan or the Republic of South Africa or to any US person
(within the definition of Regulation S made under the United States Securities Act 1933 (as amended)).
There will be no public offering of Ordinary Shares in the United States, Canada, Australia, Japan or the
Republic of South Africa.

The distribution of this Document outside the UK may be restricted by law. No action has been taken by
the Company or Canaccord Genuity that would permit a public offer of shares in any jurisdiction outside
the UK where action for that purpose is required. Persons outside the UK who come into possession of this
Document should inform themselves about the distribution of this Document in their particular jurisdiction.
Failure to comply with those restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of such jurisdiction.

Solely for the purposes of the product governance requirements contained within Chapter 3 of the FCA
Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK Product Governance
Requirements"), and disclaiming all and any liability, whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise, which
any “manufacturer” (for the purposes of the UK Product Governance Requirements) may otherwise have
with respect thereto, the Fundraising Shares have been subject to a product approval process, which has
determined that the Fundraising Shares are: (i) compatible with an end target market of retail investors
and investors who meet the criteria of professional clients and eligible counterparties, each as defined
in paragraph 3 of the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business; and (ii) eligible for distribution through all
permitted distribution channels (the "Target Market Assessment").

Notwithstanding the Target Market Assessment, “distributors” (for the purposes of the UK Product
Governance Requirements) should note that: the price of the Ordinary Shares may decline and investors
could lose all or part of their investment; the Fundraising Shares offer no guaranteed income and no capital
protection; and an investment in the Fundraising Shares is compatible only with investors who do not need
a guaranteed income or capital protection, who (either alone or in conjunction with an appropriate financial
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Notice to prospective investors

Distribution of this Document
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or other adviser) are capable of evaluating the merits and risks of such an investment and who have
sufficient resources to be able to bear any losses that may result therefrom. The Target Market Assessment
is without prejudice to the requirements of any contractual, legal or regulatory selling restrictions in relation
to the Fundraising. For the avoidance of doubt, the Target Market Assessment does not constitute: (a) an
assessment of suitability or appropriateness for the purposes of Chapters 9A or 10A of the FCA Handbook
Conduct of Business; or (b) a recommendation to any investor or group of investors to invest in, or
purchase, or take any other action whatsoever with respect to the Fundraising Shares.

Each distributor is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the
Fundraising Shares and determining appropriate distribution channels.
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DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply throughout this Document unless the context otherwise requires:

"2001
Regulations"

means the UK Misuse of Drugs Regulations 2001;

“ACMD” means the UK Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs;

"Acquisition" means the proposed acquisition by the Company of the fully diluted issued share
capital of Vertigrow pursuant to the terms of the Acquisition Agreement;

"Acquisition
Agreement"

means the conditional share purchase agreement dated 28 October 2021 in
relation to the sale and purchase of the fully diluted issued share capital of
Vertigrow, further details of which are set out in paragraph 15.1.2 of Part VII of this
Document;

"Act" means the Companies Act 2006, as amended;

"Admission" means admission of the Enlarged Share Capital to trading on AIM becoming
effective;

"AIM" means AIM, a market operated by the London Stock Exchange;

"AIM Rules for
Companies"

means the AIM Rules for Companies, as published by the London Stock Exchange
from time to time and setting out the rules and responsibilities in relation to
companies with a class of securities admitted to AIM;

"AIM Rules for
Nominated
Advisers"

the AIM Rules for Nominated Advisers, as published by the London Stock
Exchange from time to time and setting out the eligibility, ongoing obligations and
contain disciplinary matters in relation to nominated advisers;

"Articles" means the articles of association of the Company as at the date of this Document;

"Canaccord
Genuity"

means Canaccord Genuity Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales
with registered number 01774003 and registered office at 88 Wood Street, London,
EC2V 7QR;

"Celadon",
"Celadon Group"

means Vertigrow and its subsidiary undertakings;

"Celadon CLN
Holders"

means AFS Advisors LLP, Surplus Property Solutions Holdings Limited, Sir Bryan
and Lady Mary Nicholson, Trevor Fenwick, David Brazier, James Gardner, Andrew
Gardner, Bolton Agnew, Jill Bishop, Citrine Ventures 2, LLC, Sebben Investments
Limited, Nicholas Bell, Blue-Eye Capital Ltd, Anna Schubert, Justin Dowding, Mark
Simmons, Mark Irvine, Christine Greaves, Omar-Salim Dhanani and JAG Group
Holdins PTE. Ltd;

"Celadon CLNs" means the £4,130,000 of principal amount of notes issued pursuant to the
convertible loan note instrument of Vertigrow relating to £4,130,000 8% fixed rate
senior secured convertible loan notes entered into on 5 February 2021 and as
amended on 13 March 2021 and 28 October 2021;

"Celadon
Founders"

means James Short and Cormac Short and Paul Allen;

"Celadon Sellers" means each of James Short, John Mitchell, Cormac Short, Paul Allen, Jonathan
Rickard, Edward Henry, Henry Porter, John Hall, Wallis Health Consultants Limited,
Robert Sedgwick and Fraser Robertson;
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"certificated" or "in
certificated form"

in relation to an Ordinary Share, recorded on the Company's register as being held
in certificated form (that is not in CREST);

"Company" or
"Summerway"

means Summerway Capital Plc, a company incorporated in England and Wales
with registered number 11545912 and registered office at 32-33 Cowcross Street,
London, England, EC1M 6DF;

“Company
Subsidiary”

means Summerway Subco Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales
with registered number 11565845 and registered office at 32-33 Cowcross Street,
London, England, EC1M 6DF;

"Concert Party" means a concert party for the purpose of the Takeover Code which comprises
James Short, Cormac Short, John Mitchell, Paul Allen and Jonathan Rickard, as
more fully described in paragraph 15 of Part I and paragraph 11.2 of Part VII of this
Document;

"Consideration
Shares"

means the 48,484,848 new Ordinary Shares to be issued fully paid by the
Company on completion of the Acquisition to the Celadon Sellers and the Celadon
CLN Holders pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement;

"CPL" means Celadon Pharma Ltd, a company incorporated in England and Wales
with registered number 11549833 and registered office at 32-33 Cowcross Street,
London, England, EC1M 6DF;

"CREST" means the relevant system (as defined in the Uncertificated Securities Regulations
2001) in respect of which Euroclear UK & Ireland is the operator;

"Directors" or
"Board"

means the directors of the Company at the date of this Document whose names
are set out on page 15;

"Document" means this document dated 28 February 2022;

“EIS” means the UK Government’s Enterprise Investment Scheme;

“EFIC” means the European Pain Federation;

“EMA” means the European Medicines Agency;

"Enlarged Group" means the Company and its subsidiary undertakings immediately following
completion of the Acquisition;

"Enlarged Share
Capital"

means the Ordinary Shares in issue immediately following the Placing, completion
of the Acquisition and Admission, comprising the existing Ordinary Shares, the
Placing Shares and the Consideration Shares;

"EU" means the European Union;

"Euroclear UK &
Ireland"

means Euroclear UK and International Limited;

"Existing Ordinary
Shares"

means the Ordinary Shares in issue immediately prior to the Placing and
completion of the Acquisition

“FDA” means the US Food and Drug Administration;

"First Placing" means the placing of the First Placing Shares which includes certain Subscription
Shares at the Placing Price pursuant to the Placing Agreement and the
Subscription respectively;

"First Placing
Shares"

means 1,830,297 Ordinary Shares which are the subject of the First Placing;
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"Fundraising" means the Placing;

"Fundraising
Shares"

means the Placing Shares;

“GACP” means Good Agricultural and Collection Practice;

"General Meeting" means the general meeting to be held at 10.00 a.m. on 25 March 2022 or any
adjournment thereof, notice of which is set out in Part IX of this Document;

“GMC” means the UK General Medical Council;

“GP” means a general medical practitioner;

"Group" or
"Existing Group"

means the Company and its subsidiary undertakings immediately prior to
completion of the Acquisition;

"GW
Pharmaceuticals"

means GW Pharmaceuticals Ltd;

"Home Office
Licence"

means a licence from the Home Office to grow medicinal cannabis in the UK for
the purpose of producing test batches of cannabis oil;

"Independent
Shareholders"

means those Shareholders other than any Shareholders who participate in the
Fundraising (to the extent they are Shareholders as at the record date);

"Kingdom" means Kingdom Therapeutics Limited, a company incorporated in England and
Wales with registered number 11833371 and registered office at 409 The Pillbox,
115 Coventry Road, London, England, E2 6GG;

" Loan
Agreement"

means the loan agreement of up to £4.25 million, made between Summerway (as
lender) and Vertigrow (as borrower) and dated 28 October 2021;

"Lock-in Deeds" means the lock-in deeds to be entered into by certain Shareholders, details of
which are set out in paragraph 15.1.7 of Part VII of this Document;

"London Stock
Exchange"

means London Stock Exchange plc;

"LVL" means Harley Street (CPC) Limited, a company incorporated in England and
Wales with registered number 11732923 and registered office at The Walbrook
Building, 25 Walbrook, London, England, EC4N 8AF;

“MDA 1971” means the UK Misuse of Drugs Act 1971;

“MHRA” means the UK Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency;

“NASDAQ” means the NASDAQ Global Market;

"Net Proceeds" means the proceeds of the Fundraising receivable by the Company after deducting
the costs and expenses of the Placing and Admission;

“NHS” means the UK National Health Service;

“NICE” means the UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence;

"Notice of General
Meeting"

means the notice of the General Meeting set out in Part IX of this Document;

"Ordinary Shares" means ordinary shares of one pence each in the capital of the Company;

"Placing" means the First Placing and the Second Placing;
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"Placing
Agreement"

means the conditional agreement in respect of the First Placing and the Second
Placing between (1) the Company, (2) the Directors (3) the Proposed Directors
and (4) Canaccord Genuity dated 28 February 2022, particulars of which are
summarised in paragraph 15.1.3 of Part VII of this Document;

"Placing Price" means 165 pence (£1.65) per Placing Share;

"Placing Shares" means the First Placing Shares and the Second Placing Shares;

"Proposals" means the Acquisition, the Fundraising, the Rule 9 Waiver, the amendment of the
Articles, the Change of Name and Admission;

"Proposed
Directors"

means each of James Short, Alexander Anton, Kathleen Long, Robert Barr and Dr
Steven Hajioff who are to be appointed directors of the Company with effect from
Admission;

"Prospectus
Regulation"

means the EU Prospectus Regulation 2017/1129 on the prospectus to be
published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a
regulated market, and repealing Prospectus Directive 2003/71, as it forms part of
UK law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018;

"Prospectus
Regulation Rules"

means the prospectus regulation rules made by the FCA under Part VI of FSMA;

"QCA Code" means the QCA Corporate Governance Code, as published by the Quoted
Companies Alliance from time to time;

"Rule 9 Waiver" the waiver granted by the Takeover Panel in respect of the obligation to make
a general offer to the Shareholders pursuant to Rule 9 of the Takeover Code
which would otherwise apply to the Concert Party in relation to the issue of the
Consideration Shares in connection with the Acquisition;

"Rule 9
Whitewash"

means approval of the Rule 9 Waiver by the Independent Shareholders pursuant
to Rule 9 of the Takeover Code;

"RYAH" RYAH Group, Inc. and its subsidiary undertakings, a medical technology company
and a supplier to the Group for the purposes for the Trial;

"Second Placing" means the placing of the Second Placing Shares which includes those Subscription
Shares not included in the First Placing at the Placing Price pursuant to the Placing
Agreement and the Subscription respectively;

"Second Placing
Shares"

means 3,321,219 Ordinary Shares which are the subject of the Second Placing;

"Shareholders" means the holders of Ordinary Shares;

"Statutes" means the Companies Act and every statute (including any statutory instrument,
order, regulation or subordinate legislation made under it) concerning companies
so far as they apply to the Company to the extent that it is for the time being in
force or (where the context requires) was in force at a particular time;

"Study" means a feasibility study to assess the ability to recruit patients and subsequently
retain patients for the Trial, which will use the patient pathways and protocols which
are intended to be used in the Trial;

"Subscription" means the subscription for new Ordinary Shares by certain investors who have
entered into subscription letters with the Company;

"Subscription
Shares"

means the 972,723 new Ordinary Shares to be subscribed for by investors
participating by way of the Subscription;
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"Subsidiaries" means any subsidiary as defined in the Act;

“Subsidiary A
Shares”

means A ordinary shares of £0.01 each in the capital of the Company Subsidiary;

"Subsidiary B
Shares”

means B ordinary shares of £0.01 each in the capital of the Company Subsidiary;

"Subsidiary
Incentive Scheme"

awards of Subsidiary B Shares to employees of, or consultants or advisers to, the
Company (further details of which are set out at paragraph 9 (Subsidiary Incentive
Scheme) of Part VII (Additional Information));

"Takeover Code" means the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers;

"Takeover Panel" means the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers;

"Trial" means an MHRA and Research Ethics Committee approved clinical trial by LVL for
medicinal cannabis in the UK which is expected to be launched in Q4 of this year;

"UK" or "United
Kingdom"

means the UK of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

"UK-GMP" means Good Manufacturing Practice as applicable to Celadon’s activities in the UK
and as set out in Eudralex Volume 4 and applicable law;

"VAT" means value added tax;

“VCT” means venture capital trust;

“VCT Relief” means UK tax relief for investors using venture capital schemes;

"Vertigrow" means Vertigrow Technology Ltd, a company incorporated in England and Wales
with registered number 11886065 and registered office at 32-33 Cowcross Street,
London, England, EC1M 6DF;

"Whitewash
Resolution"

means Resolution 2 in the Notice of General Meeting being an ordinary resolution
to be voted on by the Independent Shareholders (on a poll) in order to approve the
Rule 9 Waiver; and

"£" means British pounds sterling.
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GLOSSARY

The following glossary of technical terms applies throughout this Document, unless the context otherwise
requires:

“API” means active pharmaceutical ingredient;

“ASD” means autism spectrum disorder;

"CBD" means cannabidiol;

“CBPM” means cannabis-based products for medicinal use by humans;

“CDMO” means contract development and manufacturing company;

"COX" means the cyclooxygenase enzyme system; the major pathway catalysing the
conversion of arachidonic acid into prostaglandins;

"CQC" means the Care Quality Commission, the independent regulator of health and social
care in England;

“full
spectrum”

means whole plant extract that contains all the cannabinoids that are naturally occurring
in the cannabis plant;

“Home Office” means the lead UK government department for immigration and passports, drugs policy,
crime, fire, counter-terrorism and police;

“MS” means multiple sclerosis;

“PPAR” means peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors, nuclear hormone receptors that are
activated by fatty acids and their derivatives;

“private pain
clinic”

a clinic that provides medicinal cannabis to fee paying patients for the treatment of
chronic pain;

“PTSD” means post-traumatic stress disorder;

“QMS” means quality management system;

“Research
Ethics
Committee”

means a NHS Research Ethics Committee in England reviewing health and social care
research;

“Rx” means a licenced prescription-only medicinal product;

“SAE” means serious adverse event;

"Specials" means a category of unlicensed medicines, produced by a licenced manufacturer
specifically to meet the clinical needs of an individual patient;

"THC" means ∆9-tetrahydrocannabinol; and

“VOCs” means volatile organic compounds.
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FUNDRAISING STATISTICS

Placing Price 165p

Number of existing Ordinary Shares 8,033,409

Total number of Consideration Shares being issued by the Company pursuant to the Acquisition 48,484,848

Total number of new Ordinary Shares being issued by the Company in the First Placing 1,830,297

Total number of new Ordinary Shares being issued by the Company in the Second Placing 3,321,219

Total number of Subscription Shares being issued by the Company pursuant to the Subscription 972,723

Number of Ordinary Shares in issue on Admission 61,669,773

Percentage of Enlarged Share Capital represented by the new Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to
the Fundraising 9.9%

Market capitalisation of the Company at the Placing Price on Admission £101,755,125

Percentage of immediate dilution of existing Shareholders resulting from the First Placing 18.6%

Percentage of immediate dilution of existing Shareholders resulting from the Second Placing 29.2%

Percentage of immediate dilution of existing Shareholders resulting from the Acquisition 85.8%

Estimated gross proceeds of the Fundraising £8,500,001

Estimated net proceeds of the Fundraising £6,063,171

ISIN number GB00BDQYGP38

SEDOL number BDQYGP3

AIM TIDM number
SWC (to be changed to

CEL on Admission)

LEI 213800YXCATORT475807

EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Publication of this Document 28 February 2022

Completion of the First Placing 5.00 p.m. on 25 March 2022

Admission in respect of the Placing Shares and the Consideration Shares 8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022

Dealings commence in respect of the Enlarged Share Capital on AIM 8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022

CREST accounts credited pursuant to the Fundraising 8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022

Posting of share certificates pursuant to the Fundraising by 11 April 2022

Each of the above times and dates set out above and mentioned elsewhere in this Document may be subject to change at the
absolute discretion of the Company or Canaccord Genuity without further notice. References in this Document are references to
London time unless otherwise stated.
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PART I. LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

SUMMERWAY CAPITAL PLC

Summerway Capital Plc (the "Company")
32-33 Cowcross Street

London
England

EC1M 6DF

Company number: 11545912

Directors:

Benjamin Shaw (Interim Chairman)

David Firth (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Elizabeth ("Liz") Shanahan (Independent Non-Executive Director)

28 February 2022

Dear Shareholders,

Proposed Acquisition of Vertigrow Technology Ltd

Placing of 5,151,516 Ordinary Shares of 165 pence per share

Approval of Rule 9 Waiver

Admission of the Enlarged Share Capital to trading on AIM

Amendment of the Articles

Change of name to Celadon Pharmaceuticals plc

and

Notice of General Meeting

On 20 October 2021, the Company announced that it had received Shareholder approval at its General
Meeting held that day to amend the Company’s investing policy to one that is focused on investment
and acquisition opportunities across the healthcare and pharmaceutical sectors, particularly in new and
emerging therapeutic areas.

On 28 October 2021, the Company announced that it had conditionally agreed to acquire the fully
diluted issued share capital of Vertigrow, whose subsidiary, CPL, is one of the UK’s first pharmaceutical
companies licenced to grow high ∆9-tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”) cannabis for treatments and medicinal
products in the pain and chronic pain market. The total consideration for the Acquisition is £80,000,000,
which will be satisfied through the issuance of 48,484,848 Ordinary Shares at a price of 165 pence per
share.

In support of the Acquisition of Vertigrow, the Company made available a loan to Vertigrow of up to
£4.25 million, which has been partially drawn down and principally applied to accelerate Vertigrow's capital
expenditure in its Midlands based facility in support of the business’ growth plans ahead of Completion.

In addition, the Company is proposing to undertake a Fundraising pursuant to which it proposes to raise,
subject to certain conditions, £8.5 million (before expenses) by the conditional placing of 5,151,516 new
Ordinary Shares at the Placing Price to certain institutional and other investors pursuant to the Placing
which includes up to £1.6 million (before expenses) by up to 972,723 Ordinary Shares at the Placing
Price being issued directly by the Company to subscribers under the Subscription. The proceeds of the
Fundraising will be used to fund the Enlarged Group’s working capital requirements following Completion,
as described in paragraph 9 of this Part I. The Fundraising is conditional (amongst other things) upon
the passing of certain resolutions in order to ensure that the Directors have the necessary authorities and
powers to allot the New Ordinary Shares.

The Placing Price of 165 pence per share represents a discount of 0 per cent. to the closing middle market

INTRODUCTION1.
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price of 165 pence per Ordinary Share on 21 September 2021 (being the last business day before the
Ordinary Shares were suspended as a result of the Company announcing that it was in discussions for
a potential acquisition which would be classified as a reverse takeover pursuant to the AIM Rules for
Companies).

The Loan Agreement was classified as a substantial transaction under the AIM Rules for Companies. The
Acquisition constitutes a reverse takeover pursuant to Rule 14 of the AIM Rules for Companies and as
such will require the approval of Shareholders.

Under presumption 9 of the Takeover Code’s definition of acting in concert, shareholders in a private
company who sell their shares in that company in consideration for the issue of new shares in a company
to which the Code applies are presumed to be acting in concert.

On completion of the Acquisition and Placing, the Concert Party will hold 41,874,525 Ordinary Shares on
Admission, representing approximately 67.9 per cent of the Enlarged Share Capital. Details of the Concert
Party are set out in paragraph 15 of Part I of this Document. Under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code, the
Concert Party would normally then be obliged to make a general offer to all Shareholders (other than
the Concert Party) to acquire all the Ordinary Shares not owned by the Concert Party. The Panel has
agreed to waive this obligation subject to the approval by the Independent Shareholders of the Whitewash
Resolution (on a poll) at the General Meeting. The Acquisition is therefore also subject to the approval
of the Whitewash Resolution by the Independent Shareholders. Your attention is drawn to paragraph 14
of this Part I and Part VI which contains further information on the Takeover Code and the Whitewash
Resolution.

The Company is amending its articles of association by adding a new provision preventing the Company
from engaging in the production and/or supply of cannabis for recreational use or otherwise carrying out
any activity which is unlawful, and proposing to change its name to Celadon Pharmaceuticals plc.

Approval of the Proposals by the Shareholders will be sought at a General Meeting convened for 10.00
a.m. on 25 March 2022 at the offices of Canaccord Genuity Limited at 88 Wood St, London EC2V 7QR.
The notice of the General Meeting is set out at the end of this Document. The Resolutions are described
in more detail at paragraph 27 (General Meeting and Resolutions) of this Part I. Trading in the Existing
Ordinary Shares is expected to be restored following publication of this Document at 7.30 a.m. today, 28
February 2022. On Completion of the Acquisition, the Company will cease to be an investing company for
the purposes of the AIM Rules and will become an operating company instead.

Application will be made to the London Stock Exchange for the Enlarged Share Capital to be admitted to
trading on AIM and trading is expected to commence in the New Ordinary Shares, and recommence in the
Existing Ordinary Shares at 8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022.

The purpose of this Document is to set out the principal terms of the Proposals and to explain why
the Directors believe that the Proposals are in the best interests of the Company and Shareholders
as a whole and to recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of all of the Resolutions at the
General Meeting. The Directors and certain Shareholders have given irrevocable undertakings
to vote in favour of the Resolutions in respect of their beneficial holding of Ordinary Shares,
comprising an aggregate number of 6,048,409 Ordinary Shares (being approximately 75.3 per cent.
of the Existing Issued Share Capital).

You should read the whole of this Document and not just rely on the information contained in this letter.
In particular, you should consider carefully the "Risk Factors" set out in Part III (Risk Factors) of this
Document.

Summerway Capital Plc was admitted to trading on AIM on 19 October 2018, with the strategy to acquire
companies or businesses which the Directors believe have the potential for strategic, operational and
performance improvement opportunities in the wider household and consumer goods sector. On its original
admission to AIM, the Company raised gross proceeds of £6 million.

On 15 January 2021, the Company amended its investing policy to focus on software, Software-as-a-
Service and digital technologies and services sectors, and completed a placing raising gross proceeds of
£1.7 million.

From January 2021 up until September 2021, the Company had continued to explore opportunities across
the technology sector but during this time, had remained cognisant of and open to certain other sector
opportunities, which whilst outside of the Company’s investing policy at the time, the Directors considered
to be attractive options for the Company’s existing Shareholders, many of whom invested at the time of the

BACKGROUND ON THE COMPANY2.
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Company’s original admission to AIM.

On 21 September 2021, the Company announced that it had been presented with opportunities in
the healthcare and pharmaceutical sectors, which, should the Company's Shareholders support, would
necessitate an amendment to its current investing policy. The Company also announced that it was in
discussions with an immediate opportunity in the healthcare and pharmaceutical sector which it would
pursue, subject to Shareholders supporting the change in investing policy. At the same time, the Company
also announced that in conjunction with its proposed amendment to its investing policy and move away
from the technology sector, the resignations of the then Chairman Vinodka Murria OBE, and Non-
executive Directors Paul Gibson and Tony Morris, and the appointment of Elizabeth ("Liz") Shanahan as
independent Non-executive Director of the Company. Liz Shanahan is a highly experienced healthcare and
pharmaceutical entrepreneur, and is currently a non-executive director of AIM-listed Inspiration Healthcare
Group plc and a former non-executive director of UDG Healthcare plc, a company that was listed on the
London Stock Exchange and a constituent of the FTSE 250 up until its £2.8 billion acquisition in August
2021. The Company’s current Board consists of Benjamin Shaw as Interim Chairman, and David Firth and
Liz Shanahan as Independent Non-Executive Directors.

The Company’s proposed amendment to its investing policy was approved by Shareholders on 20 October
2021, and the Company’s focus is on investment and acquisition opportunities across the healthcare and
pharmaceutical sectors, particularly in new and emerging therapeutic areas.

On 28 October 2021, the Company announced the proposed Acquisition. The Directors believe there are
numerous opportunities to invest in, or acquire businesses that can be organically or acquisitively grown to
become leading healthcare and pharmaceutical companies, and in the proposed Acquisition, the Directors
believe they have identified a business which meets the criteria and would provide a compelling acquisition
as part of the Company's growth strategy under its amended investing policy.

The Celadon Group is a UK based pharmaceutical group that was established in 2018 and is focused
on growing highly controlled indoor hydroponic, high THC cannabis for use within medicinal products
used to treat chronic pain. Through LVL, Vertigrow has also commenced the planning of research into
cannabinoids for use in chronic pain and, through Kingdom, has commenced research into the treatment
of other conditions such as autism, within the UK’s highly regulated market.

On 23 July 2021, Vertigrow's subsidary, CPL received a Home Office Licence following approval from the
Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (the "MHRA") to apply for the licence, allowing it
to legally grow medicinal cannabis in the UK for the purpose of producing test batches of cannabis oil
to support its application to the MHRA for registration as a manufacturer of medicinal product APIs. This
licence was renewed on 12 January 2022 for a 12 month period and as part of that renewal CPL changed
its analytical testing partner. The process of obtaining this licensing is complex, took over two years,
required material investment and is technically extensive. The Directors and Proposed Directors believe
this is one of the first such Home Office Licences granted in the UK. Following the satisfactory production
of test batches of cannabis oil, Celadon will apply for MHRA registration and if this is successfully received,
Celadon will also apply for a new licence from the Home Office. Once received, the new Home Office
licence would be required to be renewed annually. The receipt of MHRA registration and a new Home
Office licence will enable the business to then supply medicinal cannabis (in the form of an API to
manufacturers of finished medicinal products, which in this case is an extracted oil used in the finished
pharmaceutical product) with a high THC content in the UK, allowing it an opportunity to enter what is
expected to be a substantial, extensively regulated and fast-growing UK market.

The Celadon Group has a 100,000 square foot facility located in the Midlands, UK, that comprises (i)
a laboratory designed to meet UK-GMP standards; and (ii) capacity for a large growing facility that has
received a Home Office Licence to legally grow test batches of high THC cannabis in accordance with
GACP guidelines. Once fully licensed, at full capacity, the Directors and Proposed Directors believe that
the facility can expect to produce an estimated nine tonnes of dry flower per year, which could supply up to
circa 50,000 patients per annum, and assuming 15 grams per patient per month at £10 per gram, has the
potential to generate revenues of £90 million per annum, gross margins in the region of 65 per cent., and
EBITDA margins in the region of 55 per cent.

Vertigrow has a majority shareholding in Harley Street (CPC) Limited ("LVL"), a prospective private pain
clinic business, that is in the advanced stages of the approval process to be the prospective sponsor
of a MHRA and Research Ethics Committee ("REC") authorised clinical trial for medicinal cannabis for
patients suffering chronic pain in the UK (the “Trial”), which the Directors and Proposed Directors believe

SUMMARY INFORMATION ON VERTIGROW TECHNOLOGY LIMITED3.
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would, once approved by the MHRA and the REC, be the only authorised trial investigating the use of
medicinal cannabis for the treatment of chronic pain in the UK at the time it commences. The aim of the
Trial will be to document and demonstrate the safety and efficacy of cannabinoids, in the form of a third
party cannabis-based medicinal product, for the treatment of chronic pain related conditions. Following
successful completion of the Trial, which shows safety and efficacy, the Celadon Group expects to be in
a position to present the data from the Trial to NICE in a form that may enable NICE to recommend the
type of cannabis-based medicinal product studied in the Trial for prescription on the NHS for the uses
studied in the Trial, and, as a result, further facilitate the legal use of medicinal cannabis in the UK. LVL has
received conditional approval for the Trial from the MHRA, subject to, among other things, approval by the
REC. Ahead of the Trial being approved by the REC, it has suggested that LVL conduct a pilot feasibility
study utilising the same protocols as the Trial at a point after patients have been onboarded at participating
private pain clinics for treatment with medicinal cannabis (the Study). In November 2021, REC approved
the Study for a minimum of 100 patients, as REC wanted to observe the initial patient take-up before they
would approve the commencement of the Trial. The first patients have now been onboarded for treatment
under the protocols for the Study and Trial, and LVL have advised that the initial patient feedback has been
extremely positive (with patients reporting material reduction in pain, ability to sleep and improvements in
their quality of life). These patients have also agreed to enrolment in the Study, with a view to the Study
commencing in March 2022. Once at least 100 patients have been recruited to the Study, LVL will meet
again with REC to seek formal approval to start the Trial for up to 5,000 patients. REC have agreed that
the data collected in the Study can be included in the results of the Trial.

Vertigrow has an experienced management team, that includes experts in research and development,
plant cultivation and pharmaceutical manufacturing, who the Directors and Proposed Directors believe will
enable the business to optimise cultivation and the development of cannabinoid derived medicines.

The table below sets out Celadon Group’s summary financial information prepared in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
("IFRS"). This is only a summary. Shareholders are advised to read the whole of this Document, including
the historical financial information as set out in Part IV (Historical financial information) of this Document
which contains historical financial information of the Celadon Group for the 9 month period ended 31
December 2019, the 6 month period ended 30 June 2020, the year ended 31 December 2020 and the
6 month period ended 30 June 2021, CPL for the period ended 30 September 2019 and the 15 months
ended 31 December 2020 and the Celadon Group for the year ended 31 August 2021, and not rely solely
on this summarised information. The following financial information for Celadon Group has been
derived from the financial information contained in Part IV of this Document and should be read in
conjunction with the full text of this Document. Investors should not rely solely on the summarised
information.

Summary historical financial information of Celadon Group

Nine month
period ended
31 December

2019
(audited)

£

Year ended
31 December

2020
(audited)

£

Six month
period ended
30 June 2020

(unaudited)
£

Six month
period ended
30 June 2021

(unaudited)
£

Revenue - - - -

Operating loss (35,589) (720,647) (308,409) (1,844,403)

Loss before taxation (113,773) (1,059,793) (308,152) (2,857,653)

As announced on 21 September 2021, the Company had been presented with opportunities across
the healthcare and pharmaceutical sectors, which, should the Company's Shareholders support, would
necessitate an amendment to its current investing policy. The Company also announced that it was in
discussions with an immediate opportunity in the healthcare and pharmaceutical sector which it would
pursue, subject to Shareholders supporting the change in investing policy. The Company’s Shareholders
approved amendments to its investing policy on 20 October 2021.

The Directors believe there are numerous opportunities to invest in, or acquire, businesses that can
be organically or acquisitively grown to become leading healthcare and pharmaceutical companies. In
Celadon, the Directors believe they have identified a business which meets the criteria and would provide
a compelling acquisition as part of the Company's growth strategy. In particular, the Directors believe the

BACKGROUND TO AND REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION4.
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Acquisition is in the best interests of the Company and Shareholders for the following reasons:

The Directors and Proposed Directors believe that the Enlarged Group is positioned as one of the
first businesses to receive the requisite licences in the UK to grow, manufacture and sell high THC
content medicinal cannabis API in the UK. Achieving the various authorisations and licences is time
consuming having taken Celadon over two years to reach the current status of the licence applications,
including receiving a Home Office Licence to grow test batches to support Celadon's application for MHRA
registration as an API manufacturer. It is also an expensive and complex process, requiring significant
amounts of upfront expenditure before an application for MHRA registration can be made and Home Office
approval sought. The Directors and Proposed Directors believe that this represents a material barrier to
entry for other businesses seeking to research, grow and manufacture high THC medicinal cannabis in the
UK.

The Enlarged Group’s organic strategy is to facilitate access to high THC medicinal cannabis by
undertaking trials, documenting and sharing the resulting data and educating physicians, and forming
partnerships with other parties seeking to manufacture and utilise cannabinoid-derived medicines.
Following receipt of the relevant UK-GMP authorisation from the MHRA, and a new licence from the Home
Office, the Enlarged Group intends to cultivate and manufacture cannabinoid derived API from its own
facilities and supply its API to the UK manufacturing market.

In supplementing the Enlarged Group’s organic growth strategy, the Directors and Proposed Directors will
also consider selective inorganic growth opportunities where there is potential to invest in, or acquire, high
quality, complementary specialist businesses operating within the sector. This may involve transactions
where target companies increase the scale of the Group’s existing operations, provide for vertical
integration, or facilitate entry into adjacent markets or territories. Following such an acquisition, the
Directors and Proposed Directors would then seek to realise revenue and cost synergies to drive value
from any inorganic growth activity.

A summary of the Company's audited interim results for the twelve month period ended 31 August 2021
can be found at section F of Part IV. Since 31 August 2021, the Company has continued to incur general
operating expenses in line with its budget, as well as certain transaction related expenses incurred as part
of the Acquisition. On 28 October 2021, the Company also announced that it had made available a loan
of up to £4.3 million to Vertigrow in order for Vertigrow to accelerate its growth plans ahead of Completion.
To date, £2.1 million of this loan has been drawn down by Vertigrow. As such, the Company’s unaudited
cash balance following the advancing of the loan stands at £4.4 million as at 25 February 2022, being the
last practicable date prior to the publication of this Document. As part of the Proposals, the Company has

• The Celadon Group has an evidenced early mover advantage in that the Directors and Proposed
Directors believe it is one of the UK’s first organisations to be licenced by the Home Office to grow
high THC medicinal cannabis. Obtaining such licensing is complex and requires material investment,
expertise and time;

• The business is operating within a highly regulated market with substantial growth potential, benefiting
from positive tailwinds and strong regulatory and operational barriers to entry;

• The business has an experienced leadership and operational team;

• Vertigrow's subsidary, LVL, owns a MHRA conditionally approved cannabis trial that, if it shows safety
and efficacy, the Directors believe will provide a robust data set and an opportunity to present such data
to NICE that may enable NICE to recommend the type of cannabis-based medicinal product studied in
the Trial for prescription on the NHS for the uses studied in the Trial;

• At full capacity, the Directors and Proposed Directors believe that Celadon's facility has the potential to
generate revenue of £90 million per annum with EBITDA margins approximately 50 per cent based on
certain assumptions around the average amount of usage of cannabis per patient;

• This is a scalable manufacturing model as the UK market expands; and

• Celadon provides the Company with a strong foundation from which accretive, complementary M&A or
other opportunities could be executed in augmenting Celadon’s growth initiatives.

FURTHER GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES AND STRATEGY FOR THE ENLARGED GROUP5.

CURRENT TRADING AND FUTURE PROSPECTS6.

The Company(a)
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amended its year end to align with Vertigrow's at 31 December.

Since 30 June 2021, being the latest financial information included in this Document, the Celadon
Group has continued to trade in line with Vertigrow’s management team’s expectations. Following its
acquisition of LVL, the Celadon Group has to date generated minimal revenue through its non-wholly
owned subsidiary, LVL, as LVL has commenced its clinic business and the Study. For the six month period
ended 30 June 2021, Vertigrow incurred a loss before tax of £2.9 million as the business continued to
invest in the development of its Midlands based facility and execute on its business plan.

The Directors and Proposed Directors believe that the Acquisition will provide an ideal platform for the
Enlarged Group, and a strong foundation from which Vertigrow can grow and become one of the leading
medicinal cannabis API growers and suppliers within the UK. In obtaining readmission to the Enlarged
Share capital to trading on AIM, the Enlarged Group shall also have the ability to access further capital for
financing organic growth opportunities and/or accretive acquisitions or partnerships, which if successfully
concluded, is expected to augment organic growth, within a nascent and rapidly growing sector.

On 28 October 2021, the Company entered into the Acquisition Agreement with the Celadon Sellers
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to acquire the fully diluted share capital of
Vertigrow.

The consideration for the Acquisition is £80,000,000, which will be satisfied on Completion by the issue of
48,484,848 Ordinary Shares at a price of 165 pence per Ordinary Share.

Completion of the Acquisition Agreement is conditional on the approval of the Resolutions at the General
Meeting and Admission. In addition, the Acquisition is conditional (amongst other things) on conversion
notices having been irrevocably given by all of the Celadon CLN Holders in respect all of the Celadon CLNs
such that conversion occurs simultaneously with or immediately following completion of the Acquisition and
Vertigrow having exercised its rights to satisfy its obligations in respect of such conversion notices through
the issue by the Company of the Consideration Shares.

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the Celadon Founders (save for James Short, who has entered
into the Placing Agreement) and applicable Celadon consultants have each also agreed to enter into the
Lock-in Deeds.

Further details relating to the Acquisition Agreement and the Placing Agreement are set out in paragraphs
15.1.2 (Acquisition Agreement) and 15.1.3 (Placing Agreement) respectively of Part VII (Additional
Information) of this Document.

5,151,516 new Ordinary Shares are being placed on behalf of the Company, representing a total of 36.4
per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company immediately following the First Placing and the
Second Placing (assuming they are fully placed), which includes up to 972,723 new Ordinary Shares are
being issued directly by the Company to subscribers under the Subscription.

The Company is proposing to raise gross proceeds of approximately £8.5 million by the conditional placing
of the new Ordinary Shares pursuant to the Placing.

The Placing Shares will represent approximately 6.8 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital on Admission,
which includes the Subscription Shares which will represent approximately 1.6 per cent. of the Enlarged
Share Capital on Admission.

The Placing of the First Placing Shares and the Second Placing Shares will be conducted in two tranches
over two Business Days to assist investors in the First Placing to claim VCT Relief. The First Placing
Shares will be issued to the relevant placees on the day prior to Admission and the Second Placing Shares
will be issued to the relevant placees on Admission. The Second Placing is conditional upon the First
Placing and Admission.

The First Placing Shares will, on issue, rank pari passu in all respects with the existing Ordinary Shares,
including the right to receive dividends and other distributions declared, made or paid in respect of the
Ordinary Shares. The Second Placing Shares will, on Admission, rank pari passu in all respects with the

Vertigrow(b)

The Enlarged Group(c)

PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE ACQUISITION7.

DETAILS OF THE FUNDRAISING8.
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existing Ordinary Shares and the First Placing Shares. The Placing Shares will be issued free of any
expenses and stamp duty. The Placing Shares are in registered form, and the Enlarged Share Capital will
be free from restrictions on transfer and freely transferable.

Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, Canaccord Genuity has agreed to use its reasonable endeavours to
procure subscribers for the Placing Shares that are not Subscription Shares. The Company, the Directors
and the Proposed Directors have given certain warranties (and the Company has given an indemnity) to
Canaccord Genuity, all of which are customary for this type of agreement.

Each of the Directors and Proposed Directors who will hold Ordinary Shares following Admission have
entered into lock-in and orderly market arrangements pursuant to the Placing Agreement as set out below
in paragraph 12 of this Part I.

In addition, the Company and certain subscribers for new Ordinary Shares have entered into subscription
letters as part of the Subscription and relating to the Placing pursuant to which, subject to certain
conditions, such subscribers shall subscribe for, in aggregate, 972,723 new Ordinary Shares to be issued
by the Company at the Placing Price.

The First Placing which is not underwritten or guaranteed, is conditional, inter alia, on:

The Second Placing, which is not underwritten or guaranteed, is conditional, inter alia, on:

The structuring of the Placing as the First Placing and the Second Placing is intended to assist those
participating in the First Placing to qualify their new Ordinary Shares under the EIS and VCT purposes. For
more detail see paragraph 21 of Part I of this Document.

Canaccord Genuity is entitled to terminate the Placing Agreement and not proceed with the Placing at all
prior to completion of the First Placing or with respect to the Second Placing only prior to Admission if, prior
to completion of the First Placing or Admission respectively, certain events occur including circumstances
where any of the warranties are found to be untrue, inaccurate or misleading or the occurrence of certain
force majeure events. If such right is exercised by Canaccord Genuity, the Placing will lapse and any
monies received in respect of the Placing will be returned to investors without interest.

Further details of the Placing Agreement are set out in paragraph 15.1.3 of Part VII and the terms and
conditions of the Placing are set out in Part VIII of this Document. Further details of the subscription letters
are set out in paragraph 15.1.9 of Part VII of this Document.

The First Placing Shares and the Second Placing Shares will, on Admission, rank pari passu in all respects
with the existing Ordinary Shares in issue and will participate in full for all dividends and other distributions
thereafter declared, made or paid on the Ordinary Share capital of the Company. The Placing Shares will,
immediately on and from Admission, be freely transferable.

The Ordinary Shares have not been, and will not be registered under the US Securities Act or with any
regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the US and may not be offered or sold within the
US.

The Fundraising is expected to raise up to £8.5 million (before expenses). After the remaining expenses of
the Fundraising, the Acquisition and Admission, estimated to be £2.4 million (excluding VAT) in total, the
Company is expected to receive approximately £6.1 million from the Fundraising.

When aggregated with the Company's unaudited cash balance of £4.4 million as at 25 February 2022, and
Vertigrow’s unaudited cash balance of £1.4 million as at the same date, the Enlarged Group shall have pro

(i) the Placing Agreement becoming unconditional and not having been terminated in accordance with
its terms; and

(ii) the First Placing Shares having been unconditionally allotted and issued no later than 25 March
2022 (or such later date as Canaccord Genuity and the Company may agree, being no later than
12 April 2022).

(i) the Placing Agreement becoming unconditional and not having been terminated in accordance with
its terms prior to Admission;

(ii) the First Placing having completed no later than 25 March 2022 (or such later date as Canaccord
Genuity and the Company may agree, being no later than 12 April 2022); and

(iii) Admission occurring no later than 28 March 2022 (or such later date as Canaccord Genuity and
the Company may agree, being no later than 12 April 2022).

USE OF PROCEEDS9.
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forma net cash of approximately £11.9 million, prior to incurring any additional expenditure between the
date of this document and Admission.

The Enlarged Group's pro forma net cash of approximately £11.9 million shall be utilised as follows:

The Board of the Company currently comprises an Interim Chairman, Benjamin Shaw, and two
Independent Non-Executive Directors, David Firth and Liz Shanahan. The Directors have ultimate
responsibility for managing the Company’s business in accordance with its articles of association and
assessing the appropriateness of its investing policy and strategy.

As a Board, the Directors collectively have experience in the healthcare and pharmaceutical sectors,
making minority investments in companies and also undertaking acquisitions of companies. The Company
is currently internally managed and there is no appointed investment manager. On Completion of the
Acquisition, the Company will cease to be an investing company for the purposes of the AIM Rules and
will become an operating company instead.

The Directors are as follows:

Ben is currently a partner of AFS Advisors LLP and Romana Capital LLP (previously Marwyn International
LLP). He has worked extensively in private equity and investment management. Ben was a co-founder
of the Marwyn group, an award-winning fund management and advisory business based in London and
Jersey that created a portfolio of listed businesses, developed in partnership with leading institutional
investors.

During Ben’s time at Marwyn, portfolio companies raised over £5 billion of funding through a combination
of Marwyn’s own capital and active co-investment program, delivering over 30 per cent. annual investment
returns. Marwyn originated over 10 investment vehicles prior to his departure, investing in partnership
with experienced management teams across a range of sectors including automotive, computer software,
media and entertainment, training, drug testing and laboratories, leisure, reinsurance, food and
confectionary, construction and heavy aggregates, and completed the acquisition of over 50 businesses.

Significant companies in the Marwyn portfolio in the period included Entertainment One plc, Advanced
Computer Software plc and Breedon Aggregates plc.

Ben has broad private and listed company board level experience.

David is a non-executive director of Parity Group Plc, an IT services and consultancy business and is
chairman of its remuneration and audit committees. He is also chairman and audit committee chairman
of Best of the Best plc, an organiser of weekly competitions to win cars and other luxury prizes, and a
non-executive director and chairman of the audit committee of i-Nexus Global Plc, a strategy execution
software company.

Previously he was the finance director of Penna Consulting plc from 1999 to 2016. David has held a
number of board positions in public companies over the past 30 years across various sectors including HR
consultancy and recruitment, IT services, financial markets, motor retailing and advertising.

Liz is currently a non-executive director of AIM-listed Inspiration Healthcare Group plc and a former non-
executive director of UDG Healthcare plc, a company that was listed on the London Stock Exchange and
a constituent of the FTSE 250 up until its £2.8 billion takeover, which completed in August 2021.

Liz is a life sciences entrepreneur with extensive experience advising leading global pharmaceutical and
healthcare organisations on their communications. Until 2014, she was Global Head of Healthcare &
Lifesciences at the NYSE-listed management consultancy, FTI Consulting Inc., who had in 2007 acquired

• Approximately £5.0 million will be used to facilitate the development of Celadon’s Midlands based
facility; and

• Approximately £6.9 million will be used to support the grow phase of the Enlarged Group’s business
model including general operating expenses, culminating in the production of its own medicinal
cannabis supply for use within select end user markets.

DIRECTORS AND PROPOSED DIRECTORS10.

Benjamin Shaw, Interim Chairman (aged 53)

David Firth, Independent Non-Executive Director (aged 61)

Elizabeth (“Liz”) Shanahan, Non-Executive Director (aged 57)
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the communications business, Santé Communications, which she founded in 1995. Liz is a Trustee of
CW+, the charitable arm of Chelsea & Westminster Foundation Trust Hospital in London and a member of
the organisation’s Innovations Advisory Board.

On Admission, Benjamin Shaw shall stand down from the Board, and David Firth and Liz Shanahan shall
continue in their roles as Independent Non-Executive Directors.

In addition, the following Proposed Directors will be appointed directors of the Company with effect from
Admission:

Alexander is an experienced AIM director and entrepreneur. Alexander is the former chairman and latterly
a non executive director of Victoria PLC, retiring from that role in 2019. He was Chairman of Summerway
Capital Plc from October 2018 to January 2021. Alexander was chairman of The Queen’s Club from
2005-2007 and led the members’ buy out from the Lawn Tennis Association for £35 million in 2007. He is
also the founder of Fraser Real Estate and Legacy Portfolio, businesses focused on complex leasehold
portfolios.

James is the founder and CEO of Vertigrow. James has had a successful track record in the construction
industry and then in the renewable energy sector. He co-founded the waste to energy business Bio-Gen
Power Ltd and sold stakes to Ener-G Holdings PLC in 2007 and to FTSE 100 company International
Power in 2008. He sold the company in 2010. Subsequently, James commissioned the feasibility study
and obtained planning permission for the development of the £984 million 1,500 megawatt combined cycle
gas turbine power plant at Thorpe Marsh in North Doncaster in partnership with Acorn Power and GE. In
2014 he sold the development to GE. Latterly James has been involved in a cyber business that sells its
product into a number of NHS hospitals.

Katie qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 2002 with the Institute of Chartered Accountants Australia
and has a degree in Commerce from the University of Melbourne.

Katie started her career as an auditor at Ernst & Young, working on external audits within the financial
services sector, and then moved into banking, focusing on the financial reporting of complex structured
products under IFRS and US GAAP. In 2008, Katie joined Marwyn Capital LLP as an Investment Manager,
where she led and managed a number of the fund’s investments, alongside the provision of corporate
finance advice to listed portfolio companies. Katie co-founded Tessera Investment Management Limited in
2012, a specialist provider of in-house transaction management support to organisations undertaking M&A
and capital raising activities, where she remains a director and a shareholder.

Katie was previously the Chief Financial Officer of AIM-listed Oxford BioDynamics Plc and is currently also
a Non-Executive Director of a venture capital backed cyber security company, RazorSecure Limited.

Robbie is an experienced operator and director having spent the majority of his executive career with
Vodafone PLC where he held senior executive positions, including group financial controller. Robbie is a
Senior Advisor to OMERS Private Equity and Infrastructure in Europe and a Non-Executive director of
Associated British Ports Holdings, Chairman of Vue International, the cinema group, and a member of the
supervisory committee of rail wagon leasing company VTG AG.

Robbie was formerly executive chairman of Four Seasons Health Care from 2014 to 2018 and of Odeon &
UCI Cinemas from 2012 to 2016. From 2009 to 2015 he was a managing director of the private equity firm
Terra Firma Capital Partners.

Steve has been a leader and innovator in healthcare and health policy for thirty years. He was the
Chairman of the Representative Body of the British Medical Association (BMA) from 2010 to 2013 and
has worked as a Medical Director or Chief Medical Officer in several organisations including Bupa Health
Dialog, Totally PLC, Pain Management Solutions Ltd and The Knowde Group.

He previously advised NHS England on specialized services, including rare disease, orphan drugs and
low-volume high cost procedures and has been an adviser to the National Institute for Health and Care

Alexander Anton, proposed Non-Executive Chairman (aged 62)

James Short, proposed Chief Executive Officer (aged 53)

Kathleen (“Katie”) Long, proposed Chief Financial Officer (aged 43)

Robert ("Robbie") Barr, proposed Senior Independent Non-Executive Director (aged 63)

Dr Steven (“Steve”) Hajioff, Non-Executive Director (aged 56)
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Excellence (NICE) in a range of capacities since 2012. He is currently a member of their Quality Standards
Advisory Committee.

He was, until recently, a Director of Public Health and a member of the Governing Body of a Clinical
Commissioning Group in west London. Steve runs his own consultancy business and specialises in
healthcare market access and reimbursement, clinical opportunity analysis and health policy.

Steve is currently the Chief Medical Officer at Sana Life sciences and is a scientific adviser to Phytome
Life Sciences. He is also a Senior Lecturer at Imperial College London. He was formerly a member of
the Medical Ethics Committee of the British Medical Association; one of the most influential bodies in UK
clinical ethics.

In June 2015, the British Medical Association awarded Steve their highest honour, the Gold Medal for
Distinguished Merit.

The Directors recognise the importance of sound corporate governance, which should be commensurate
with the size and complexity of the Company currently, appropriate for the Enlarged Group following
Admission, and in the interests of the Shareholders. The Directors consider that the Company complies,
so far as practicable, with the QCA Corporate Governance Code published by the Quoted Companies
Alliance to the extent appropriate having regard to the size and nature of the Company, and that this
compliance with the QCA Corporate Governance Code shall continue following Admission as an Enlarged
Group.

The Board will be responsible for the overall management of the Enlarged Group including the formulation
and approval of the Enlarged Group's long-term objectives and strategy, the approval of budgets, the
oversight of Group operations, the maintenance of sound internal control and risk management systems
and the implementation of Group the Enlarged Group's strategy, policies and plans. While the Board
may delegate specific responsibilities, there will be a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for
decision by the Board. Such reserved matters will include, amongst other things, approval of significant
capital expenditure, material business contracts and major corporate transactions. The Board will meet
regularly to review performance.

The QCA Code recommends at least two members of the Board comprise non-executive directors
determined by the Board to be independent. On Admission, the Board will comprise seven directors, two of
whom shall be executive directors and five of whom shall be non-executive directors, reflecting a blend of
different experience and backgrounds. Robert Barr, David Firth, Elizabeth Shanahan and Dr. Steven Hajioff
will be considered independent from Admission. The Board considers that four of the non-executives to be
independent and, as such, the Company will comply with the requirements of the QCA Code in this regard.
Alexander Anton is considered as non-independent because he is a participant in the Subsidiary Incentive
Scheme.

The Board intends to meet regularly to consider strategy, performance and the framework of internal
controls. To enable the Board to discharge its duties, all Directors will receive appropriate and timely
information. Briefing papers will be distributed to all Directors in advance of Board meetings. All Directors
will have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who will be responsible for ensuring
that the Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. In
addition, procedures will be in place to enable the Directors to obtain independent professional advice in
the furtherance of their duties, if necessary, at the Company's expense.

The Company will, upon Admission, have established Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees.

The Audit Committee will have David Firth as chairman, and will have primary responsibility for monitoring
the quality of internal controls, ensuring that the financial performance of the Enlarged Group is properly
measured and reported on and reviewing reports from the Enlarged Group’s auditors relating to the
Enlarged Group’s accounting and internal controls, in all cases having due regard to the interests of
Shareholders. The Audit Committee will meet at least two times a year. Elizabeth Shanahan and Robert
Barr will be the other members of the Audit Committee.

The Nomination Committee will have Alexander Anton as chairman, and will identify and nominate, for
the approval of the Board, candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise. The Nomination
Committee will meet at least once a year. Elizabeth Shanahan and Robert Barr will be the other members
of the Nomination Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE11.

Board Committees
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The Remuneration Committee will have David Firth as chairman, and will review the performance of the
executive directors and determine their terms and conditions of service, including their remuneration and
the grant of options, having due regard to the interests of Shareholders. The Remuneration Committee
will meet at least twice a year. Robert Barr and Alexander Anton will be the other members of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Directors and Proposed Directors who will hold Ordinary Shares following Admission, the Celadon
Founders and applicable Celadon consultants have undertaken to Canaccord Genuity and the Company
not to dispose of any interests in Ordinary Shares owned by them (subject to, and to the extent permitted
by Rule 7 of the AIM Rules, certain limited exceptions) without the prior consent of Canaccord Genuity for
one year from the date of Admission.

The Directors and Proposed Directors who will hold Ordinary Shares following Admission, the Celadon
Founders and applicable Celadon consultants have also undertaken for a further 12 months thereafter, to,
other than in agreed circumstances, effect all sales, transfers or other disposals of their Ordinary Shares
through Canaccord Genuity or such other person may be the broker of the Company from time to time,
with a view to maintaining an orderly market in the Ordinary Shares.

Such undertakings are in place in respect of 43,532,100 Ordinary Shares in total, representing 70.6 per
cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital.

Further details of these arrangements are set out in paragraphs 15.1.3 and 15.1.7 of Part VII of this
Document.

The Company has entered into a relationship agreement dated 25 February 2022 with James Short to
regulate aspects of the continuing relationship between the Enlarged Group and James Short. In particular,
for so long as James Short and his associates (within the meaning of the AIM Rules for Companies) hold
an aggregate interest in voting rights representing at least 20 per cent. of the voting rights of the issued
ordinary share capital of the Enlarged Group, James Short has agreed to ensure that, amongst other
matters, the Enlarged Group is capable at all times of carrying on its business independently and that
transactions between the parties are on arm’s length basis terms and on normal commercial terms.

Further details of the relationship agreement are set out in paragraph 15.1.6 of Part VII of this Document.

The Takeover Code is issued and administered by the Takeover Panel. The Company is a public company
incorporated in the UK and has its place of central management and control in the UK. Accordingly, the
Takeover Code applies to the Company and, as a result, Shareholders are entitled to the benefit of the
takeover offer protections provided under the Takeover Code.

Further information concerning the Takeover Code is set in paragraph 11 of Part VII of this Document.

Under the Takeover Code, a concert party arises where persons who, pursuant to an agreement or
understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate to obtain or consolidate control (as defined below)
of a company or to frustrate the successful outcome of an offer for a company. “Control” means an interest,
or interests, in shares carrying 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of the company, irrespective of
whether such interest or interests give de facto control.

The Company has agreed with the Panel that James Short, Cormac Short, John Mitchell, Paul Allen and
Jonathan Rickard are acting in concert for the purposes of the Takeover Code.

On Admission, the Concert Party will hold 41,874,525 Ordinary Shares, in aggregate representing
approximately 67.9 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital. In addition, James Short is a participant in
the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme, pursuant to which certain employees and advisers will receive shares
in the Company (or cash at the Company’s option) based on an increase in shareholder value created
over a three to five-year period adjusted for the issue of new Ordinary Shares, and taking into account
dividends and capital returns. James Short will be entitled to a maximum of 2 per cent. of the shareholder
value created, only in the event that the Company’s market capitalisation has grown at 17.5 per cent.
per annum compounded over a period of between three and five years from the Company’s market
capitalisation at Admission. If the maximum number of shares are issued to James Short, and assuming

LOCK-INS AND ORDERLY MARKET ARRANGEMENTS12.

RELATIONSHIP AGREEMENT13.

TAKEOVER CODE14.

CONCERT PARTY15.
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no other Ordinary Shares are issued, the members of the Concert Party will in aggregate be interested in
43,107,920 Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 68.5 per cent. of the then issued share capital
(being the Enlarged Share Capital and such issue of Ordinary Shares in connection with the Subsidiary
Incentive Scheme).

A summary of Rule 9 of the Takeover Code is set out in Part VI and paragraph 11.1 of Part VII. Under the
Takeover Code, if a person (or group of persons acting in concert) holds shares carrying more than 50 per
cent. of the Company’s voting rights, that person (or any person(s) acting in concert with him) will normally
be entitled to increase their interest in shares without incurring any obligations under Rule 9 to make a
mandatory offer. Accordingly each of the members of the Concert Party would (for so long as they continue
to be treated as acting in concert) be able to increase their interest in shares without incurring any such
obligation under Rule 9 to make a mandatory offer provided that no individual member would be able to
increase their percentage interest in shares through the 30 per cent. threshold or between the 30 per cent.
threshold and 50 per cent. without triggering an obligation to make a mandatory offer under Rule 9 of the
Takeover Code (‘Rule 9 threshold’), without Panel consent.

An offer under Rule 9 must be in cash or be accompanied by a cash alternative and must be at the highest
price paid by the person required to make the offer, or any person acting in concert with him for any interest
in shares of the company in question during the 12 months prior to the announcement of the offer.

On Admission, James Short will hold 26,046,928 Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 42.2 per
cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital. Accordingly, James Short would not generally be able to increase his
percentage interest in the Company without incurring an obligation to make an offer under Rule 9 of the
Takeover Code, without an appropriate dispensation from the Panel. However, the other members of the
Concert Party would be able to increase their percentage interest in shares as these are under the Rule
9 threshold and the Concert Party will in aggregate hold in excess of 50 per cent. of the Enlarged Share
Capital. If the maximum number of shares from the exercise of the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme shares
are issued to James Short only, and assuming no other Ordinary Shares are issued, James Short will hold
27,280,323 Ordinary Shares, in aggregate representing approximately 43.4 per cent. of the then issued
share capital (being the Enlarged Share Capital and such issue of Ordinary Shares in connection with the
Subsidiary Incentive Scheme).

Following the Acquisition, the Concert Party will hold 67.9 per cent. of the Company’s Ordinary Shares,
which would normally result in the requirement to make a general offer to all the remaining Shareholders
to acquire their shares.

The Company has applied to the Takeover Panel for a waiver of Rule 9 of the Takeover Code in order to
permit the Acquisition without triggering an obligation on the part of the Concert Party to make a general
offer to Shareholders. The Takeover Panel has agreed, subject to Independent Shareholders’ approval on
a poll, to waive the requirement for the Concert Party to make a general offer to all Shareholders where
such an obligation would arise as a result of the Acquisition.

Accordingly, the Whitewash Resolution being proposed at the General Meeting will be taken by means of
a poll of Independent Shareholders voting at the General Meeting. None of the members of the Concert
Party are entitled to exercise their voting rights in respect of the Whitewash Resolution, but may exercise
their voting rights in respect of the remainder of the Resolutions. The waiver to which the Takeover Panel
has agreed under the Takeover Code will be invalidated if any purchases of shares in the Company are
made by any member of the Concert Party, or any person acting in concert with it, in the period between
the date of this Document and the General Meeting.

In the event that the Whitewash Resolution is approved by the Independent Shareholders:

• the Concert Party will hold 67.9 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital and (for so long as they continue
to be treated as acting in concert) the Concert Party (and any person acting in concert with them) will
be able to acquire further Ordinary Shares which increases their percentage of shares carrying voting
rights of the Company without incurring an obligation to make a general offer to Shareholders under
Rule 9 of the Takeover Code provided that no individual member of the Concert Party would be able to
increase their percentage interest in shares through the 30 per cent. threshold or between the 30 per
cent. threshold and 50 per cent. without triggering an obligation to make a mandatory offer under Rule
9 of the Takeover Code (unless a dispensation from this requirement has been obtained from the Panel
in advance); and

• James Short will hold an interest in shares carrying not less than 30 per cent. of the voting rights of
the Company but not hold shares carrying more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights of the Company
and accordingly will not be able to acquire any further Ordinary Shares which increases his percentage
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The Rule 9 Waiver will be invalidated if any purchase of Ordinary Shares is made by any member of the
Concert Party or by any person acting in concert with any of them in the period between the date of this
Document and the General Meeting. No member of the Concert Party currently has any interest in or any
right to subscribe for any Ordinary Shares (other than as a result of having entered into the Acquisition
Agreement and no member of the Concert Party has dealt in any Ordinary Shares during the 12 month
period prior to the date of this Document. Should the Concert Party acquire any further interest in the
Ordinary Shares or should any individual member of the Concert Party acquire any interest in the Ordinary
Shares such that they are interested in 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of the Company, the Panel
may regard this as giving rise to an obligation upon the Concert Party or such individual member of the
Concert Party (as the case may be) to make an offer for the entire issued share capital of the Company at
a price no less than the highest price paid by the Concert Party or such individual member of the Concert
Party in the previous 12 months. If the Resolutions are passed and the Acquisition completes, the Concert
Party will not be restricted from making an offer for the entire issued share capital of the Company in the
future.

Further information concerning the Concert Party is set out in Part VI and paragraph 11.2 of Part VII of this
Document. Further details about the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme are provided in paragraph 9 of Part VII
of this Document.

The Directors and Proposed Directors believe that the success of the Company will depend to a high
degree on the future performance of key employees in executing the Company's growth strategy. The
Company therefore has in place equity-based incentive arrangements which are, and will continue to
be, an important means of retaining, attracting and motivating key employees, and also for aligning the
interests of the management team and the Company’s key advisers with those of Shareholders.

Under the terms of the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme, participants are entitled to subscribe for Subsidiary
B Shares. Subsidiary B Shares provide the holder with a right to participate in any Shareholder value that
is created over a predetermined level and over a three- to five-year period (or upon a change of control of
the Company or the Subsidiary, whichever occurs first). This is calculated on a formula basis by reference
to the growth in market capitalisation of the Company, following adjustments for the issue of any new
Ordinary Shares and taking into account dividends and capital returns (“Shareholder Value”), and realised
by participants through the exercising of a put option in respect of their Subsidiary B Shares and satisfied
either in cash or by the issue of new Ordinary Shares at the election of the Company.

After Admission, it is intended that there will be three classes of Subsidiary B Shares in issue under the
Subsidiary Incentive Scheme:

The 400,000 Subsidiary B Shares held by participants under the current Subsidiary Incentive Scheme
(which commenced on 15 January 2021) will be converted into B1 Shares. These B1 Shares will
participate in up to 4 per cent. of Shareholder Value created above a current threshold of £96,305,000
(“B1 Initial Value”), being the initial market cap of the Company, plus the amount of funds raised on 15
January 2021, plus the total subscription value of the Consideration Shares and the Placing Shares. The
B1 Shares will only participate in that Shareholder Value, however, if the individual elements of the B1
Initial Value grow at an annual rate of 7.5 per cent. (compounded), measured over a period of three to five
years commencing on 15 January 2021.

A maximum of 650,000 B2 Shares will be issued to advisers of Celadon. These B2 Shares will participate
in up to 6.5 per cent. of Shareholder Value created above a current threshold of £81,755,125 (“B2 Initial
Value”), being the pre-Acquisition value of the Company plus a discounted value of the Celadon Group (to
reflect pre-agreed incentive arrangements and the advisers' contribute to date) plus the total subscription
value of the Placing Shares. The B2 Shares will only participate in that Shareholder Value, however, if
the individual elements of the B2 Initial Value grow at an annual rate of 17.5 per cent. (compounded),
measured over a period of three to five years commencing on Admission.

A maximum of 600,000 B3 Shares will be issued to selected management of Celadon. These B3 Shares
will participate in up to 6 per cent. of Shareholder Value created above a current threshold of £101,755,125
(“B3 Initial Value”), being the pre-Acquisition value of the Company plus the total subscription value of

of shares carrying voting rights of the Company without incurring an obligation to make a general offer
to Shareholders under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code (unless a dispensation from this requirement has
been obtained from the Panel in advance).

SHARE INCENTIVES16.
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the Consideration Shares and the Placing Shares. The B3 Shares will only participate in that Shareholder
Value, however, if the individual elements of the B3 Initial Value grow at an annual rate of 17.5 per cent.
(compounded), measured over a period of three to five years commencing on Admission.

Overall, therefore, the maximum dilution from the Subsidiary Incentive Plan will be 16.5 per cent. of the
Shareholder Value generated above the specified threshold amounts (and this is contingent on achieving
the specified annual growth rates) across each individual class of Subsidiary B Share.

Further details of the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme are set out at paragraph 9.1 (Subsidiary Incentive
Scheme) of Part VII (Additional Information).

At Admission, the Directors will have in place a Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) for certain other key
employees of, and consultants to the Company. Awards under the LTIP will consist of contingent rights
or options to acquire Ordinary Shares for a subscription price equal to their nominal value (that is, £0.01
per Ordinary Share). Awards will be subject to three year vesting periods, and where those awards are
held by senior employees of the Company, a two year hold period following vesting of the awards. The
Directors and Proposed Directors intend to grant awards under the LTIP up to a further 3.5 per cent. of the
Company’s issued share capital following Admission.

Further details of the LTIP are set out at paragraph 9.2 of Part VII (Additional Information).

In aggregate, the maximum potential dilution for Shareholders not participating in either the Subsidiary
Incentive Scheme or LTIP will be up to 20 per cent. of the Company’s issued share following Admission
over the life of the schemes.

The issuance of B2 Shares under the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme to Alexander Anton, Benjamin Shaw
and Katie Long and B3 Shares under the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme to James Short constitute related
party transactions pursuant to Rule 13 of the AIM Rules. David Firth and Liz Shanahan, as Independent
Non-Executive Directors consider, having consulted with the Company's nominated adviser, Canaccord
Genuity, that the issuance of the B2 Shares to Alexander Anton, Benjamin Shaw and Katie Long, and B3
Shares to James Short is fair and reasonable insofar as the Company's Shareholders are concerned.

The participation in the Placing by Robert Barr and David Firth constitutes a related party transaction
pursuant to Rule 13 of the AIM Rules. The Directors (other than David Firth), consider, having consulted
with the Company's nominated adviser, Canaccord Genuity, that the participation in the Placing by Robert
Barr and David Firth is fair and reasonable insofar as the Company’s Shareholders are concerned.

The Directors intend, in accordance with the Articles, to change the name of the Company to Celadon
Pharmaceuticals Plc on 25 March 2022, being the date of the General Meeting. In the event that
Admission does not occur, the Directors intend changing the name of the Company back to Summerway
Capital Plc. This process is being adopted due to the same day change of name service currently being
unavailable at Companies House. Upon the change of name being registered at Companies House, the
Company’s AIM ticker symbol will be changed to CEL. The Company’s website address will be changed to
www.celadonpharma.com.

In addition, the Resolutions propose the addition of a new article in the Articles which will prohibit
the Company from producing or supplying cannabis for recreational (as opposed to medicinal) use, or
otherwise carrying out any activity which is unlawful.

As the Enlarged Group will be in the early stages of executing its growth plan, the Directors intend to retain
any future earnings for the foreseeable future to finance the growth of the Enlarged Group and to provide
capital growth for Shareholders. The Directors will however consider the payment of dividends when it
becomes commercially prudent to do so in accordance with applicable laws and subject always to the
Enlarged Group having sufficient cash and distributable reserves for this purpose.

Other Incentives(b)

Aggregated dilution(c)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS17.

CHANGE OF NAME AND AMENDMENT TO THE ARTICLES18.

DIVIDEND POLICY19.
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The attention of prospective investors is drawn to the information regarding taxation set out in paragraph
10 of Part VII of this Document. This information is intended only as a general guide to the current tax
position under UK taxation law. If an investor is in any doubt as to his or her tax position or is subject to tax
in a jurisdiction other than the UK, he or she should consult his or her own independent financial adviser
immediately.

The Company has received EIS advanced assurance from HMRC. The Company has not received
advanced assurance from HMRC that the Company may be regarded as a “qualifying holding” under
Chapter 4, Part 6 of the Income Tax Act 2007 for the purposes of investment by VCTs. The status of the
Ordinary Shares as a qualifying holding for VCT purposes will be conditional, inter alia, on the Ordinary
Shares being held as a “qualifying holding” for VCT purposes throughout the period of ownership. Neither
the Company nor the Directors give or have given any warranty, representation or undertaking that any
EIS / VCT investment in the Company will be a qualifying holding.

If an investor is in any doubt as to his or her tax position or is subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than the
UK, he or she should consult his or her own independent financial adviser immediately.

The UK Government has issued guidelines setting out appropriate procedures for companies to follow to
ensure that they are compliant with the UK Bribery Act 2010. The Company has implemented an anti-
bribery and anti-corruption policy for the Enlarged Group that has been adopted by the Board.

The Enlarged Group holds through CPL a Home Office Licence, received on 23 July 2021 following
approval from the MHRA to apply for the licence, which allows it to legally grow medicinal cannabis in the
UK for the purpose of producing test batches of cannabis oil to support its application to the MHRA for
registration as a manufacturer of medicinal product APIs. This licence was renewed on 12 January 2022
for a 12 month period and as part of that renewal CPL changed its analytical testing partner.

Your attention is drawn to the risk factors set out in Part III of this Document and to the section
entitled "Forward Looking Statements" therein and the information contained in Part VII of this Document
(Additional Information). In addition to all other information set out in this Document, potential investors
should carefully consider the risks described and information contained in those sections before making a
decision to invest in the Company.

You should read the whole of this Document and not just rely on the information contained in this Part I.

Your attention is drawn to the information set out in Parts II to VII (inclusive) of this Document which contain
further information on the Enlarged Group.

Application will be made to the London Stock Exchange for the Enlarged Share Capital to be admitted to
trading on AIM, conditional on (amongst other things) Shareholder approval at the General Meeting. It is
expected that Admission will become effective and dealings in the New Ordinary Shares will commence at
8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022.

Following Admission, share certificates representing the New Ordinary Shares are expected to be
despatched by post to subscribers who wish to receive New Ordinary Shares in certificated form by no
later than 10 business days following Admission.

In respect of subscribers for Placing Shares who have requested to receive New Ordinary Shares in
uncertificated form, New Ordinary Shares will be credited to their CREST stock accounts at 8.00 a.m. on
28 March 2022. In the case of subscribers for Placing Shares who have requested to receive new Ordinary
Shares in certificated form, it is expected that share certificates will be despatched by post at the risk of
the subscriber no later than 11 April 2022.

TAXATION20.

EIS / VCT INVESTORS21.

BRIBERY ACT22.

LICENCES23.

RISK FACTORS24.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION25.

ADMISSION, SETTLEMENT, CREST AND DEALINGS26.
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No temporary documents of title will be issued. All documents sent by or to a subscriber for Placing Shares
who elects to hold Ordinary Shares in certificated form, or at his or her direction, will be sent through
the post at the subscriber’s risk. Pending the despatch of definitive share certificates, transfers will be
certified against the register of members of the Company. The Company reserves the right to issue any
New Ordinary Shares in certificated form should it consider this to be necessary or desirable.

The Notice of General Meeting convenes a general meeting of Shareholders to be held at 10.00 a.m. on
25 March 2022 at the offices of Canaccord Genuity Limited at 88 Wood St, London EC2V 7QR. The Notice
of General Meeting is set out at the end of this Document. The following Resolutions will be proposed at
the General Meeting:

The authorities in Resolutions 1, 2, 3 and 4 are required to enable the Directors to issue the Consideration
Shares pursuant to the Acquisition and to effect the Acquisition and the Fundraising. Resolutions 3 and 4
are in addition to the general authorities granted by Shareholders at the Company's prior annual general
meeting. Resolution 5 amends the Articles.

Resolutions 1, 2 and 3 are ordinary resolutions and require a majority of more than 50 per cent. of the
Shareholders voting to be passed. Resolutions 4 and 5 are special resolutions and require the approval of
75 per cent. of the Shareholders voting to be passed.

The Notice of General Meeting is contained at the end of this Document and sets out the Resolutions in
full.

In light of the evolving COVID-19 situation and the General Meeting arrangements, to ensure that your
vote counts, Shareholders are encouraged to appoint the Chair of the General Meeting as their proxy.

In order for a proxy appointment to be valid, in each case a valid proxy appointment must be made through
www.signalshares.com or a Form of Proxy must be received by Link Group, Central Square, 29 Wellington
Street, Leeds, LS1 4DL by 10.00 a.m. on 23 March 2022 (or, in the case of an adjournment, not less than
48 hours, ignoring any part of a day that is not a working day, before the time fixed for the holding of the
adjourned meeting).

If you hold your Existing Ordinary Shares in uncertificated form in CREST, you may vote using the CREST
Proxy Voting service in accordance with the procedures set out in the CREST Manual. Further details are
also set out in the notes accompanying the Notice of General Meeting at the end of this Document. Proxies

GENERAL MEETING AND RESOLUTIONS27.

(a) Resolution 1: The Acquisition will constitute a reverse takeover pursuant to Rule 14 of the
AIM Rules for Companies and as such will require the approval of Shareholders. Accordingly,
Resolution 1 is an ordinary resolution to approve the Acquisition, subject to but not conditional on
Admission.

(b) Resolution 2: The Acquisition and issuance of Consideration Shares to members of the Concert
Party would trigger a mandatory takeover pursuant to Rule 9 of the Takeover Code. As such, the
Rule 9 waiver granted by the Takeover Panel of the obligation which may otherwise arise pursuant
to Rule 9 of the Takeover Code on any member of the Concert Party to make that general offer, will
require the approval of Shareholders. Accordingly, Resolution 2 is an ordinary resolution to approve
the waiver granted by the Takeover Panel, subject to Admission.

(c) Resolution 3: The Company does not currently have sufficient authority to allot shares under
the Companies Act to effect the Fundraising or to issue the Consideration Shares. Accordingly,
Resolution 3 is an ordinary resolution to ensure that the Directors have sufficient authority under
s551 of the Companies Act to allot and issue the Consideration Shares and the Fundraising Shares.
This authority will expire at the earlier of the Company's next annual general meeting to be held
after the date of the passing of Resolution 3 and 25 September 2023.

(d) Resolution 4: That, subject to the passing of Resolution 3, the Directors shall be authorised to
disapply pre-emption rights on the allotment of the Consideration Shares and the Fundraising
Shares. If Resolution 4 is passed, the Directors will have the power, under the Companies Act, to
allot the Fundraising Shares without offering those shares to existing Shareholders.

(e) Resolution 5: That, subject to the passing of Resolutions 1 and 2, the Articles be amended by
the insertion of a new article prohibiting the Company from producing or supplying cannabis for
recreational (as opposed to medicinal) use or otherwise carrying out any activity which is unlawful.

ACTION TO BE TAKEN BY SHAREHOLDERS28.

31



submitted via CREST must be received by Link Group (ID RA10) by no later than 10.00 a.m. on 23 March
2022 (or, if the General Meeting is adjourned, 48 hours (excluding any part of a day that is not a working
day) before the time fixed for the adjourned meeting).

Based upon the irrevocable undertakings from certain Shareholders and Directors who hold Ordinary
Shares, the Company has received in aggregate irrevocable undertakings in respect of 6,048,409 Ordinary
Shares, representing in aggregate 75.3 per cent of the Company’s issued share capital to vote in favour of
the Resolutions to be put to Shareholders at the forthcoming General Meeting.

Benjamin Shaw, Interim Chairman of the Company, is supportive of the Proposals and the proposed
Resolutions, although is not considered independent by virtue of his shareholding in the Company and his
interest in the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme (further details of which are provided in paragraph 16 of this
Part I).

The Directors, other than the Interim Chairman, who have been so advised by Canaccord Genuity,
consider the Proposals to be fair and reasonable and in the best interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole. In providing advice to the Directors, other than the Interim Chairman, Canaccord
Genuity has taken into account such Directors’ commercial assessments. The Directors, other than
the Interim Chairman, unanimously recommend that Independent Shareholders vote in favour of the
Whitewash Resolution as such Directors intend to do, or procure, in respect of the nil Ordinary Shares
beneficially owned by them in aggregate representing approximately nil per cent. of the existing issued
Ordinary Shares.

The Directors other than the Interim Chairman consider the passing of the remaining Resolutions
(numbered 1 and 3 to 5) to be in the best interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole, and
unanimously recommend Shareholders vote in favour of the Resolutions as such Directors intend to do,
or procure, in respect of the nil Ordinary Shares beneficially owned by them in aggregate representing
approximately nil per cent. of the existing issued Ordinary Shares.

Yours faithfully

Benjamin Shaw

Interim Chairman, for and on behalf of the Board

Summerway Capital Plc

IRREVOCABLE UNDERTAKINGS29.

RECOMMENDATION30.
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PART II. THE CELADON GROUP AND ITS BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Celadon is a UK based pharmaceutical group that was established in 2018 and is focusing on growing
indoor hydroponic, high quality THC cannabis for medicinal use for products within the chronic pain market.
It also aims to conduct research into cannabinoids for use in chronic pain and other conditions, such as
autism, within the highly regulated UK market.

On 23 July 2021, Vertigrow's subsidiary, CPL, received a Home Office Licence following MHRA approval
to apply for it, allowing it to legally grow high-THC cannabis in the UK for the purpose of producing test
batches of cannabis oil to support CPL's application for MHRA registration as a manufacturer of medicinal
product APIs. This licence was renewed on 12 January 2022 in connection with CPL's change of analytical
testing partner. As the change required an amendment to CPL's Home Office Licence dated 23 July 2021,
CPL chose to renew the licence at the same time as making the amendment to accommodate the change
of its analytical testing provider, instead of submitting an application to amend and in due course another
application to renew. The Directors believe its Home Office Licence is one of the first such licenses granted
in the UK. Following receipt of MHRA registration and the grant of a further licence from the Home Office
permitting supply for manufacture into finished medicinal products, CPL will be able to supply medicinal
cannabis (in the form of an API, which is a substance (extracted oil) used in a finished pharmaceutical
product) with a high THC content in the UK, allowing it an opportunity to enter into what is expected to be
a substantial, highly regulated and fast-growing UK market.

The Celadon Group has a 100,000 square foot facility located in the Midlands, UK, that comprises (i)
a laboratory designed to meet UK-GMP standards; and (ii) capacity for a large growing facility that has
received a Home Office Licence to legally start to produce test batches of high grade THC cannabis oil
in accordance with GACP guidelines that will then enable CPL to invite the MHRA for an inspection.
The Directors and Proposed Directors expect this inspection to result in the MHRA issuing a UK-GMP
certificate to CPL confirming that it has met the relevant UK-GMP standards applicable to the production
of API and for the MHRA to register CPL as an API manufacturer. Following this, and the grant of a further
licence from the Home Office permitting supply for manufacture into finished medicinal products, CPL will
be able to legally supply API to the UK market (i.e. to appropriately authorised manufacturers of finished
medicinal products). Once licenced and at full capacity, the Directors and Proposed Directors believe the
facility can be expected to produce an estimated nine tonnes of dry flower per year, which is expected to
be enough product to supply up to circa 50,000 patients per annum.

Vertigrow has acquired a majority shareholding in Harley Street (CPC) Limited ("LVL"), a prospective
private pain clinic business, that is in the advanced stages of the approval process to be the prospective
sponsor of an MHRA authorised and REC approved clinical trial for medicinal cannabis for patients
suffering chronic pain in the UK (the “Trial”),which the Directors and Proposed Directors believe would,
once approved by the MHRA and the REC, be the only authorised trial investigating the use of medicinal
cannabis for the treatment of chronic pain in the UK at the time it commences. The aim of the Trial is to
document and demonstrate the safety and efficacy of cannabinoids, in the form of a third party cannabis-
based medicinal product, for the treatment of chronic non-cancer pain related conditions. Following
successful completion of the Trial, and if this shows safety and efficacy, the Celadon Group expects to be
in a position to be able to present the data collected from the Trial to NICE in a form that may enable NICE
to recommend the type of cannabis-based medicinal product studied in the Trial for prescription on the
NHS for the uses studied in the Trial and, as a result, further facilitate the legal use of medicinal cannabis
in the UK. LVL has received conditional approval for the Trial from MHRA, conditional on, among other
things, obtaining approval by the REC. Ahead of the Trial being approved by the REC, it has suggested
that LVL conduct a pilot feasibility study utilising the same protocols as the Trial at a point after patients
have been onboarded at participating private pain clinics for treatment with medicinal cannabis (the Study).
The purpose of the Study is to demonstrate the ability to engage and retain patients for the Trial. The Study
will allow Vertigrow to carry out an in depth evaluation of the patient-pathway in preparation for the Trial,
which will be investigating the safety and efficacy of the medicinal product itself.

In November 2021, REC approved the Study for a minimum of 100 patients, as REC wanted to observe
the initial patient take-up before they would approve the commencement of the Trial. The first patients have
now been onboarded for treatment under the protocols for the Study and the Trial, and LVL have advised
that the initial patient feedback has been extremely positive (with patients reporting material reduction
in pain, ability to sleep and improvements in their quality of life). These patients have also agreed to

SUMMARY1.

Overview1.1
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enrolment in the Study, with a view to the Study commencing in March 2022. Once at least 100 patients
have been recruited to the Study, LVL will meet again with REC to seek formal approval to start the Trial for
up to 5,000 patients. REC have agreed that the data collected in the Study can be included in the results
of the Trial.

Vertigrow has an experienced management team, that includes experts in research and development,
plant cultivation and pharmaceutical manufacturing, who the Directors and Proposed Directors believe will
enable the business to optimise cultivation and the development of the cannabinoid derived medicines.

Key Investment Highlights1.2

The Directors and Proposed Directors believe that Celadon is positioned to be one of the first businesses
to be regulated to grow and manufacture high THC medicinal cannabis API in the UK. Achieving the
various requisite authorisations, registrations and licences is time consuming, having taken CPL over two
years to reach the current status of the licence and registration applications. It is also an expensive and
complex process. The Directors and Proposed Directors believe this represents a material barrier to entry
for other businesses seeking to research, grow and manufacture medicinal cannabis API with a high THC
content in the UK.

The hurdles to creating an MHRA authorised trial are similarly challenging. LVL, who have designed the
Trial, are experienced researchers and trial practitioners. The Trial has taken over two years to design and
work through the authorisation steps with regulators and has cost SEEK over £4 million to develop.

Highly regulated sector with high barriers to entry1.2.1

In recent years, an increasing number of people have been using cannabinoids to treat a variety of
conditions including chronic pain, cancer pain, anxiety disorders and neurological disorders. In the UK,
a limited number of people are buying their cannabis using the existing legal “specials” framework. The
majority of people are buying their cannabis on the black market. The Directors and Proposed Directors
believe the low number of legal users is primarily due to administrative complexities and cost related to the
importation of medicinal cannabis from outside the UK.

Imperial College research suggests that chronic pain (defined as pain that persists for three months or
more) affects c. 28 million people in the in the UK; of those, up to 8 million people suffer severe chronic
pain. Chronic pain is currently treated using opioids (which are the most common treatments utilised),
paracetamol, anti-neuropathic agents and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, all of which potentially
have damaging side effects. The UK Government has estimated that of the c. 8 million people in the UK
with chronic pain, c. 3 million would be eligible for a prescription of cannabinoids on the NHS.

YouGov estimates that up to 1.4 million people in the UK are currently using cannabis to treat pain by
acquiring it on the black market at a cost the Directors and Proposed Directors estimate at an average of
£300-£600 per month per person.

Consequently, the UK represents a substantial potential market for medicinal cannabis with an estimated
annual value of up to £2.3 billion by 2024.

Large addressable market currently un-serviced in the UK1.2.2

The Directors and Proposed Directors believe CPL is positioning itself to capitalise on the UK market
opportunity and has a clear strategy to facilitate patient usage and then service that demand with CPL's
growing high quality, high-THC cannabis, and in due course, manufacture cannabinoid derived medicine
API once authorised by the MHRA. On 23 July 2021, Vertigrow's subsidiary, CPL, received its initial Home
Office Licence for the purpose of producing test batches of cannabis oil to support CPL's application for
MHRA registration as a manufacturer of medicinal product APIs. This licence was renewed on 12 January
2022.

Receipt by CPL of MHRA registration and the Home Office issuing a further licence permitting supply
of high-THC cannabis products for manufacture into finished medicinal products will mean that CPL
will be able to grow its own product in its UK facility and sell API into the UK market to appropriately
authorised manufacturers of finished medicinal products, and medicines containing that API can then be
supplied to patients in the private market using the established "specials" framework (i.e. on an individual
prescription named basis) but without the current administrative barriers and cost that are currently in place
for overseas based growers of medicinal cannabis, which also requires the importation of foreign grown
cannabis.

Celadon is well positioned in the UK market1.2.3
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The Celadon Group was established in 2018. A group structure chart is provided below.

Cannabis based-medicinal products promise to revolutionise the treatment of numerous conditions.
Despite this potential the industry remains embryonic, its development having been hampered by a
complex regulatory landscape and high market barriers. The Directors and Proposed Directors believe
that without a developed industry focused on the pharmaceutical agenda, the cost of these treatments
will continue to be prohibitive and the quality of product will not be adequate, sufficiently consistent nor
available. Vertigrow is committed to changing this. Its objective is to realise the potential of cannabis-based
treatments by building a technology, research and science led pharmaceutical group focused on producing
high quality cannabinoids with the ultimate aim of delivering medicines that could eventually be made
available, not only on the private market but also on the NHS and consequently available to everyone in

The Celadon Group also holds a majority interest in LVL, a prospective pain clinic business that will be able
to treat private patients under the "specials" framework and that will act as a sponsor of what the Directors
and Proposed Directors believe will be the only MHRA and REC authorised trial investigating the use of
medicinal cannabis for the treatment of chronic pain in the UK at the time it commences. The Directors
and Proposed Directors believe the Trial will (i) materially improve accessibility of medicinal cannabis for
patients; and (ii) collect clinical trial data that aims to document and demonstrate the efficacy of the type of
cannabis-based medicinal product studied in the Trial for use for various non-cancer related pain to doctors
and medical practitioners and ultimately for presentation of such data to NICE and the NHS.

In November 2021, REC approved the Study for a minimum of 100 patients, as REC wanted to observe
the initial patient take-up before they would approve the commencement of the Trial. The first patients have
now been onboarded for treatment under the protocols for the Study and Trial, and LVL have advised that
the initial patient feedback has been extremely positive (with patients reporting material reduction in pain,
ability to sleep and improvements in their quality of life). These patients have also agreed to enrolment
in the Study, with a view to the Study commencing in March 2022. Once at least 100 patients have been
recruited to the Study, LVL will meet again with REC to seek formal approval to start the Trial for up to
5,000 patients. REC have agreed that the data collected in the Study can be included in the results of the
Trial.

As demand increases for medicinal cannabis in the UK CPL is positioning itself to become a large scale
grower and manufacturer of cannabinoid medicines API in accordance with GACP guidelines, and expects
that its Midlands facility will in future produce enough product to supply for products for up to circa 50,000
patients per annum (based on a patient using an average 180 grams of cannabis per year).

The Celadon Group has generated minimal revenue through its prospective LVL Private Pain clinic. In
addition to receiving its Home Office Licence, and subject to receiving its future MHRA registration and a
new Home Office licence permitting commercial supply, the Celadon Group will commence the cultivation
of its own medicinal cannabis which will then be supplied in the form of an API to appropriately authorised
manufacturers of finished medicinal products. At maximum capacity, the Directors and Proposed Directors
believe that Celadon expects to be able to supply approximately nine tonnes of medicinal cannabis each
year, which could service the needs of 50,000 patients, and in turn, has the potential to generate £90
million in annual revenues for Vertigrow, assuming a price of £10 per gram.

Revenue generating1.2.4

James Short is the CEO of Vertigrow. James has a successful track record in the construction industry
and in the highly regulated energy sector. Vertigrow has also built a sector leading management team of
experienced executives, scientists, agronomists and physicians.

Experienced management1.2.5

CELADON’S HISTORY AND BACKGROUND2.
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the UK.

The Celadon Group was established in September 2018 and soon thereafter started its dialogue with the
two key government regulatory agencies with competence relating to cannabis-based medicinal products,
the Home Office and the MHRA, to navigate the various steps required to obtain authorisation to grow
high-THC cannabis in the UK and supply this as an API. In order to do this, CPL requires:

A pre-requisite of MHRA registration as an API manufacturer is the requirement for Celadon to have
constructed and be operating a UK-GMP compliant facility. The Home Office also requires in practice that
the MHRA assess the potential of a company to operate in accordance with GACP guidelines prior to
issuing a controlled drugs licence for activities involving cannabis that will be used in a medicinal product.

Throughout 2019, the Celadon Group undertook research on how to construct a UK-GMP compliant facility
for CBPMs in accordance with GACP guidelines, visited international operations of other companies to
aid in the understanding of that process and started recruiting experienced operators and scientists to its
team.

In October 2019, Celadon secured through Vertigrow a 25-year lease on an existing 100,000 square
foot facility in the Midlands that was deemed to be suitable for a secure indoor grow facility with an
uninterruptible power supply and which did not require modifications to the core of the building. The
Celadon Group proceeded with the fit out of phase 1 of the facility comprising a laboratory designed to
meet UK-GMP requirements and a secure grow facility working with consultants and auditors (some of
whom were former MHRA employees) to ensure compliance with the various regulations applicable to
growing cannabis, including enhanced security measures. The facility is zoned industrial.

During 2019, the Celadon Group held discussions with senior representatives of the Home Office and
MHRA which enabled it to develop a plan to seek to obtain the requisite licences/registrations to meet all
Home Office and MHRA requirements.

In June and October 2020, the MHRA conducted an inspection of Celadon's Quality Management System
(“QMS”). A number of items for follow up were raised by the MHRA inspectors, and all of the items that
were able to be addressed prior to the receipt of a Home Office licence and commencement of growing
cannabis have been addressed.

Through 2021, the Celadon Group continued to extend and broaden its operational team and key
personnel.

On 11 January 2021, CPL received an email from the MHRA which stated that the MHRA were happy to
confirm to the Home Office that they had no objection to CPL’s application progressing for a controlled
drugs licence to grow high THC cannabis plants. CPL subsequently made the relevant application to the
Home Office and received a site visit from the Home Office on 15 July 2021. This was required as part
of the application process for the issuance of a Controlled Drugs Licence to cultivate high THC content
cannabis.

Following that visit, CPL was granted a Home Office Licence to start growing cannabis on 23 July 2021, for
the purpose of producing test batches of cannabis oil to support CPL's application for MHRA registration
as a manufacturer of medicinal product APIs. Receipt of the Home Office Licence enabled CPL to legally
commence cultivation of test batches of cannabis crops. Subject to a further MHRA on-site inspection,
(where the MHRA review whether CPL has operated in accordance with its agreed standard operating
procedures and UK-GMP and reviews the quality of the test batches of cannabis oil) the grant by the
MHRA of a UK-GMP certificate and API manufacturer registration, and issue of a new Home Office licence
permitting commercial supply, Celadon will then be licenced to sell that cultivated cannabis to appropriately
authorised manufacturers in the UK market as an API for manufacture into finished medicinal products.

Although there are no fixed timelines for the final on-site inspection and receipt of such approval from
MHRA, the Directors' and Proposed Directors working assumption is that it may take place in Q2 2022,
assuming that the test batches of cannabis oil are in line with MHRA guidelines. The approved UK-GMP
certificate and API registration number will be publicly available for inspection on the MHRA’s website.
Once the MHRA registration has been received, CPL would then need to apply for a new Home Office
licence permitting commercial supply after which it would be authorised to sell its products as APIs to
appropriately authorised manufacturers in the UK market.

(i) an MHRA API registration to manufacture and distribute API for use in the manufacture of cannabis-
based prescription medicines (“CBPMs”); and

(ii) a Home Office Controlled Drug Licence to possess, produce and supply high THC content cannabis
to be used in medicinal cannabis products in the UK.
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Alongside the build out of phase 1 of the Celadon Group's Midlands facility and progressing the various
licence/registration applications, Celadon has been working with the medical community on possible
structures and design of clinical trials for the use of cannabinoids in pain management. This resulted in the
Celadon Group completing its acquisition of a majority stake in LVL, a new prospective private pain clinic
business that is also the prospective sponsor of what the Directors and Proposed Directors believe will be,
once approved, the only MHRA and REC authorised trial for the use of a medicinal cannabis product in
the treatment of chronic pain in the UK at the time the Trial commences. The private pain research clinic
business started operating in August 2021. LVL has received conditional approval for the Trial from MHRA,
conditional on, among other things, approval by the REC. Ahead of the Trial being approved by the REC,
it has suggested that, at a point after patients have been onboarded at participating private pain clinics for
treatment with medicinal cannabis, LVL conduct a pilot feasibility study utilising the same patient-pathway
as will be used in the Trial but which instead has the objective of studying aspects of this pathway rather
than evaluating the safety or efficacy of the medicinal cannabis itself (the Study). The Study is expected to
start in March 2022, following successful completion of which the Trial is expected to launch in the second
half of 2022 once LVL has received final REC approval of it.

The Trial is designed as a paid for trial and the design is made possible on the basis that the participants
will be paying for their treatment, which includes the prescribing of the Trial drug. The aim of the Trial differs
from the usual aim of the typical three phases of clinical trials as LVL and the third party product supplier
do not intend to seek regulatory authorisation for a specific medicinal product using the data arising from
the Trial.

Vertigrow believes that the Trial and resulting data on a third-party medicinal cannabis product will help
facilitate the greater use of medicinal cannabis generally in the UK. The objectives of the Trial are to
document and demonstrate the efficacy of the medicinal cannabis product used in the Study and the Trial
for the treatment of chronic non-cancer pain. In so doing, the Directors and Proposed Directors believe that
the Trial has the potential to provide data that may enable NICE to recommend the type of cannabis-based
medicinal product studied in the Trial for prescription for the conditions studied in the Trial on the NHS.

In November 2021, REC approved the Study for a minimum of 100 patients, as REC wanted to observe
the initial patient take-up before they would approve the commencement of the Trial. The first patients have
now been onboarded for treatment under the protocols for the Study and Trial, and LVL have advised that
the initial patient feedback has been extremely positive (with patients reporting material reduction in pain,
ability to sleep and improvements in their quality of life). These patients have also agreed to enrolment of
the Study. Once at least 100 patients have been recruited to the Study, LVL will meet again with REC to
seek formal approval to start the Trial for up to 5,000 patients. REC have agreed that the data collected in
the Study can be included in the results of the Trial.

The Celadon Group has raised a total of £5.8 million of capital to date, which has been used to fund
Celadon's operations. This includes, £1.7 million by way of equity, and £4.1 million by way of convertible
debt as Celadon CLNs which will convert into 5,168,647 Ordinary Shares on Admission, and excludes any
monies advanced by the Company to Vertigrow.

Cannabis is a flowering herb native to central Asia. Humans have been using it for its medicinal properties
for thousands of years. Cannabis supplements the body’s natural endocannabinoid system and has been
used to treat medical conditions including pain, sleep, anxiety, inflammation, epilepsy and other conditions.

However, despite the historic evidence of medical efficacy, for much of the 20th century Cannabis has been
designated a narcotic, with the United Nations Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs classifying it as a
narcotic drug. As a result of its illegality, limited historical research was conducted and limited data sets
were deemed valid by regulators to demonstrate its efficacy.

Since the 1970s, the regulatory framework started to be relaxed as the evidence of medical efficacy has
increased. Then, in the early 1990s, scientists discovered the endocannabinoid system in the human body
that controls a number of biological functions.

The discovery of the endocannabinoid system and CB1 and CB2 cannabinoid receptors led to an
increased understanding of the complex ways in which THC and CBD affect the body both singly or
together. Clinical research appears to show that whole plants or extracts are more efficacious than single
molecules. It is theorised that this is because the different molecules interact in a complex manner. This
theory is known as the entourage effect. In addition to THC and CBD, other cannabinoids (CBC, CBDA,
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CBG, CBN, THC-V, THCA), flavonoids, terpenes and other compounds are hypothesised to support the
entourage effect by improving absorption and allowing maximum effect of the cannabinoids, but they have
not consistently been measured in much of the research.

This discovery gave fresh impetus to the movement to make cannabis available for medical purposes.
From the mid-1990s, several US states legalised the use of cannabis for certain medical conditions
including chronic pain and terminal cancer.

The Netherlands was one of the first countries to implement a system of limited distribution, and in 2003 the
Dutch government legalised medicinal cannabis. This process continued to gather momentum as evidence
of the efficacy of cannabis treatments, including for children suffering from severe epilepsy and as an
alternative to opioids in chronic pain, became more widely publicised. Some other recent examples of
countries legalising medicinal cannabis include Australia in 2016 and Germany in 2017.

In the UK the primary legislation regulating the use of cannabis is the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 (“MDA
1971”) which specifies that drugs in three categories (according to their relative harm), namely in Classes
A, B and C as set out in Schedule 2 to the MDA 171, are controlled. Cannabis and many of its derivatives
fall under Class B. The MDA 1971 sets out different criminal offences, such as importation, production and
supply, possession and cultivation of cannabis.

The MDA 1971 implements into UK law the UK’s obligation and commitment to control the use of
narcotic and psychotropic drugs under United Nations conventions to which the UK is a signatory. Under
the conventions, where local laws permit the cultivation of cannabis all signatories must ensure that
such cultivation is under the control of a Government Agency. The three international United Nations
Conventions are the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, the Convention on Psychotropic Substances
1971 and the United Nations Convention Against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic
Substances 1988 ("Narcotics Conventions").

In compliance with the requirements of the Narcotics Conventions, and pursuant to section 7(1) MDA
1971, the 2001 Regulations, which apply to England, Scotland and Wales, regulate the availability of the
controlled drugs that have a recognised and legitimate use by allocating them to one of five schedules to
the 2001 Regulations. The schedule into which a drug is placed essentially dictates the extent to which
it is lawful to import, export, produce, supply, administer and possess the drug (and in the case of the
cannabis plant, to cultivate it) and sets out a licensing regime for these activities. The carrying on of any
of these activities without an appropriate licence (or without the benefit of an appropriate exemption set
out in the 2001 Regulations) is a criminal offence. The 2001 Regulations also impose requirements around
prescription writing, record keeping, safe custody and destruction. Drugs listed in Schedule 1 of the 2001
Regulations can only be possessed or supplied under a Home Office licence and cannot generally be
prescribed by a medical practitioner. Cannabis and all its derivatives were until 2018 placed in Schedule 1
to the 2001 Regulations.

In 2018, then UK Home Secretary Sajid Javid ordered a review regarding cannabis-based medicinal
products and sought recommendations for changes from the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs
(“ACMD”) and the UK’s Chief Medical Adviser.

On 1 November 2018, the Misuse of Drugs (Amendments) (Cannabis and Licence Fees) England, Wales
and Scotland) Regulations 2018 came into effect under which cannabis-based products for medicinal use
in humans ("CBPM") were re-scheduled to Schedule 2 of the 2001 Regulations. This allowed physicians
to prescribe medicinal cannabis to patients without the approval of an expert panel. Only doctors in a field
relevant to the patient’s condition who are listed on the General Medical Council’s specialist register are
permitted to prescribe medicinal cannabis to patients. Medicinal cannabis products that do not have a
marketing authorisation can be prescribed on a case-by-case basis for patients who have an unmet special
clinical need after all other treatment options have been exhausted.

Under the new regime, all cannabis-based medicinal products (excluding Sativex and Epidyolex, which
are already licensed prescription ("Rx") products) are unlicensed medicines until they have a marketing
authorisation. Prescriptions for medicinal cannabis, as with other unlicensed medicines, can only be issued
on a “named patient” basis. The Department of Health and Social Care’s expectation is “that cannabis-
based products for medicinal use should only be prescribed for indications where there is clear published
evidence of benefit or UK guidelines and in patients where there is a clinical need which cannot be met by
a licenced medicine and where established treatment options have been exhausted.”

NICE has to date only recommended Sativex and Epidyolex for use through the NHS for specific rare
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conditions only, with no further cannabis medicines recommended pending further clinical data. This
means physicians who authorise other cannabis medicines may be professionally liable for adverse events
experienced by patients. For this reason, the number of prescriptions issued to date remains very low.

Medicinal cannabis legalisation was also supported by the Royal Pharmaceutical Society, which stated
that it believed it would provide safe relief for patients with serious health conditions and that it would work
side-by-side with the NHS to support specialists in their prescription decisions.

Companies that wish to possess, supply, produce, manufacture, or import and export cannabis-based
products for medicinal use in humans must obtain an annual Home Office Controlled Drug licence in
order to lawfully undertake these activities and a MHRA API registration and appropriate manufacturing
authorisation to manufacture cannabis-based medicines, which will be for prescription only.

NICE was tasked with developing detailed guidelines for clinicians to provide guidance regarding the
prescribing of cannabis. These guidelines were published in November and December 2019 and updated
in March 2021 (NG 144 Cannabis-based medicinal products) and suggest that cannabis-based medicinal
products may be effective for people with intractable nausea and vomiting, chronic pain, spasticity, and
severe treatment-resistant epilepsy. However, NICE did not believe that the available evidence was
sufficient to recommend cannabis as a treatment in chronic pain.

Vertigrow believes that the current guidance from NICE demonstrates the need for MHRA approved
research to be undertaken and scientifically credible data sets to be made available. Until that point,
the Directors and Proposed Directors believe that NICE will be unable to recommend any cannabis for
treatment of pain and other conditions. As medicinal cannabis is a new field for NICE, they are focused on
ensuring that appropriate data is provided before they make further recommendations. As no appropriate
trial has taken place, they do not currently have clear evidence of safety and efficacy against which to
balance the costs of treatment. The industry needs to address this research deficit if medicinal cannabis is
going to be recommended by NICE.

NICE guidelines exist to guide clinicians and healthcare organisations when making decisions regarding
the nature of treatments provided to patients. The recommendations made in guidelines are not mandatory
and clinicians retain autonomy to make decisions based both on the evidence available to them, their
clinical experience and the preferences of patients. The former chairman of NICE, Professor Sir David
Haslam, has stated that NICE produces "guidelines not tramlines". Mark Baker, the former director of the
centre for guidelines of NICE further stated that "our recommendations never instruct a GP or healthcare
professional to do anything. We are here to support their decisions, not dictate them". As such, the
Directors’ and Proposed Directors do not anticipate that NICE’s current position will prevent prescribing
cannabis for the treatment of chronic pain in the private patient market where appropriately registered
treating physicians consider it appropriate.

In March 2020, the UK Government stated that they are working with various parties to encourage more
research into uninterrupted access to cannabis-based medicinal products where clinically appropriate.
It stated that it sought also to encourage the building of evidence, using trials in the UK to accelerate
understanding of how medicinal cannabis can benefit patients and to support further commissioning
decisions. The UK Government said this was necessary for wider prescribing by NHS clinicians in future.

With the exception of GW Pharmaceuticals and CPL (subject to CPL receiving MHRA registration to sell
API and a Home Office licence, renewed annually, to supply cannabis API for manufacture into finished
medicinal products), the Directors and Proposed Directors believe that there are no businesses licensed
to both grow and sell full spectrum cannabis medicinal products or API in the UK. A number of R&D grow
licences have been awarded to certain companies operating within the market, however, the Directors and
Proposed Directors believe that they are unable to sell their products and must use their grown product for
their own research.

The current situation is that finished medicinal cannabis products (other than GW Pharmaceuticals'
licensed products and the licensed synthetic cannabis products) for patient use are imported from other
countries on an individual patient basis, which requires a long authorisation process that can cause some
patients to turn to the illicit market for their cannabis. These illicit products may not meet the same
quality standards required of companies that produce medicinal cannabis, may not be of a standardised
composition and may contain dangerous contaminants. The licence authorisation process for a patient
to import medicinal cannabis products from overseas can take over four weeks, and this needs to be
repeated for each patient whenever they need a prescription. It is challenging for patients to wait that long
given that cannabis is a treatment that generally requires a consistent daily dose.

UK Current Status3.3
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Alongside the regulatory challenges, one of the primary bottlenecks to wider medicinal usage is clinicians’
own caution or lack of confidence to prescribe medicinal cannabis. Doctors approached by patients
interested in cannabis treatment options have been reported to have deterred patients, citing a lack
of clinical evidence for the treatments. In other instances, the doctor’s own lack of experience in
understanding dosage is an obstacle. The Directors and Proposed Directors believe that it is clear
that a substantial volume of work needs to be done to improve clinical trial data and also to provide
continuing education and resources to doctors to further their own understanding and thereby increase
their confidence to prescribe cannabis-based products for medicinal use.

The legislative framework applicable to medicinal products in Great Britain is largely set out in the
Human Medicines Regulations 2012 (as amended). The entire production and supply chain of medicinal
products is subject to stringent regulation including the manufacture and supply of APIs to be used in the
manufacture of finished medicinal products for administration.

In order to lawfully manufacture and/or distribute APIs in the UK, the relevant entity must hold a registration
with the MHRA covering the relevant activities which amongst other matters requires that an API
manufacturer must comply with UK-GMP as it applies to the manufacture of APIs. Prior to registering an
applicant, MHRA may inspect the applicant’s premises and systems/procedures to assess the applicant’s
compliance with UK-GMP. Where the MHRA is satisfied that the applicant is able to comply with UK-GMP
for APIs the MHRA will then issue the applicant with a UK-GMP certificate. The MHRA also periodically
undertakes site and system inspections of registered API manufacturers to assess ongoing compliance
with UK-GMP.

An API manufacturer registration does not permit the registrant to manufacture finished medicinal products
for use in humans. The API must instead be supplied to a holder of a relevant medicinal products
manufacturing authorisation for it to manufacture finished medicinal products. Alternatively, the API
manufacturer would need to additionally hold a manufacturing authorisation in order to produce the finished
medicinal products itself.

Failure to hold appropriate registration/authorisation for either API manufacturing or finished product
manufacturing activity is a criminal offence.

Cannabis contains a number of active compounds, or cannabinoids, that act on endocannabinoid
receptors in cells located in the brain, nervous system and elsewhere in the human body. The
endocannabinoid system of the human body is involved in many pathways including the regulation of
neurotransmitters. These, in turn, regulate other body processes that can impact on things like pain and
mood. Some cannabinoids also affect other processes in the body such as inflammation, for example, by
acting on COX and PPAR related pathways.

Cannabinoid compounds can play a role in the treatment of a number of medical conditions. The
therapeutic potential of the cannabinoids has been studied in diseases and conditions such as MS,
epilepsy, pain, anxiety, nausea, and cachexia. For example, it is well established that cannabinoid
compounds can improve neurological deficits associated with neuronal damage attenuated with the MS
disease process.

The two most prevalent cannabinoids are THC, which is responsible for the euphoric feeling generally
resulting from cannabis consumption; and CBD, which has neurological and systemic effects without the
intoxicating effect of THC. Both have medicinal benefits, and various formulations of THC and CBD have
been investigated in a variety of applications. In addition to these main cannabinoids, there are many
others that are being researched for their potential effectiveness in a range of medical conditions, including
in combination with THC and CBD as antagonists and enhancers of efficacy.

Whilst derived from the same plant, CBD as a market is largely focused on the provision of consumer
products such as wellness products, cosmetics and drink supplements. Whereas higher THC cannabinoids
are heavily regulated and used for medicinal purposes for the treatment of specific conditions.

Over recent years, the production, sale and use of medicinal cannabis has become less tightly regulated
in many countries, as its proposed benefits for a broad range of medical conditions has become better
understood. This trend is expected to accelerate as awareness and understanding of the benefits of
medicinal cannabis increases amongst both physicians and patients.

Current research suggests that there are a number of conditions and illnesses that can potentially be

Medicinal Products Regulatory Framework applicable to APIs3.4
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treated with medicinal cannabis such as chronic pain, MS, epilepsy, autism, PTSD, Parkinson’s disease,
chemotherapy-related nausea and several others.

Licensed cannabis-based medical products are authorised for the treatment of MS spasticity, cancer
chemotherapy-related nausea/vomiting, Lennox-Gastaut syndrome, Dravet Syndrome and Tuberous
Sclerosis Complex.

Unlicensed CBPMs may also be prescribed where there is an unmet medical need. Cannabinoids
have also undergone clinical trials for the treatment of a variety of conditions including neuropathic
and inflammatory pain, PTSD, Parkinson’s Disease, Alzheimer's Disease, Inflammatory Bowel Disease,
Generalised Anxiety Disorder (“GAD”), several cancers, Major Depressive Disorder (“MDD”) and addiction.

As more research is conducted and published it is anticipated that general awareness and acceptance of
medicinal cannabis will grow together with physician confidence.

The following articles review the results of over two dozen clinical trials that have examined the efficacy
of cannabis preparations for the treatment of cancer-related, neuropathic, musculoskeletal, visceral and
widespread pain. Some studies have found strong clinical evidence for the efficacy of cannabis and
cannabinoids in treating pain, while others have not. The results to date suggest that the therapeutic profile
of cannabis may depend upon the nature of the cannabis medicine, particularly the degree of processing,
and that cannabis flower and total extracts thereof may show greater efficacy in pain management than
semi/purified cannabis products.

In addition to provision in the context of an authorised clinical trial, there are two legal routes for supply of
medicinal cannabis products:

The use of cannabis-based products as Rx pharmaceuticals is currently very limited, and accounts for a
very small part of the broader medicinal cannabis market, estimated to be used by less than around 6,000
patients out of 1.4 million illegal users of cannabis for medical conditions in the UK.

In the UK, there are only two currently marketed licensed Rx pharmaceutical products derived from
cannabinoids from cannabis plants:

Additionally, Nabilone, a licensed Rx pharmaceutical product using synthetic cannabinoids is available in
the UK for use by patients with CINV who did not respond to traditional medications. Whilst Nabilone is a
licensed Rx cannabinoid therapy, it is not derived from the cannabis plant itself.

(i) EFIC position paper on appropriate use of cannabis‐based medicines and medical cannabis for
chronic pain management. Eur. J. Pain. 2021,22,1547.

(ii) Clinical uses of cannabis and cannabinoids in the United States. J. Neurol. Sci. 2020, 411, 116717.

(iii) Medical use of cannabis and cannabinoids. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug
Addiction. 2018.

(iv) Cannabis in Pain Treatment: Clinical and Research Considerations. J. Pain. 2016, 17, 654.

Access to Medicinal Cannabis3.6

• As a licensed Rx pharmaceutical, pursuant to a marketing authorisation by the MHRA, available through
a physician prescription; or

• Through the Specials framework when requested by a doctor on the GMC's specialist register for the
purposes of treating a named patient with special clinical needs.

• Nabiximols, marketed as Sativex (GW Pharmaceuticals), a CBD oromucosal spray of a formulated
extract of the cannabis sativa plant that contains two cannabinoids (THC and CBD) in a near 1:1 ratio,
as well as specific minor cannabinoids and other non-cannabinoid components, and which has been
launched in over 25 countries. It is indicated for MS spasticity.

• Cannabidiol, marketed as Epidiolex (GW Pharmaceuticals), a CBD oral solution for the treatment of
seizures associated with rare and severe forms of epilepsy, Lennox-Gastaut syndrome and Dravet
syndrome, approved by the US FDA in June 2018. It was launched (as Epidyolex) in the EU in Q4 2019,
having received authorisation from the EMA in September 2019, and recommended for use by the NHS
in November 2019.
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There are three main groups of chemical compounds that fall within the broad category of ‘synthetic
cannabinoids’:

Group 1 Synthetic compounds which are identical in structure to naturally occurring cannabinoids
such as ∆9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) e.g., Dronabinol.

Group 2 Synthetic compounds structurally related to naturally occurring cannabinoids that have been
developed to mimic naturally occurring cannabinoids such as THC e.g., Nabilone.

Group 3 Synthetic compounds not structurally related to naturally occurring cannabinoids, but which
bind to cannabinoid receptors in the body e.g., Spice and K-2.

Compounds from group 1, being structurally identical to naturally occurring THC, are generally not
distinguished from plant derived cannabis-based products by health authorities or regulators. In contrast,
compounds from groups 3, which are not structurally related to naturally occurring cannabinoids but
which bind to cannabinoid receptors in the body (CB-1 and CB-2) are not available as licensed medicinal
products due to clear evidence of significant harm having resulted from their use.

The ACMD has particular concerns with compounds falling within groups 2 (with the exception of Nabilone)
and 3, and is of the view that further research into this complex group of diverse substances is important,
given the increased potency and risk of harm associated with their use.

In addition to these safety concerns, there is increasing evidence that plant-based medicinal cannabis
products may offer therapeutic advantageous over their synthetic counterparts due to a phenomenon
known as the 'entourage effect'. The ‘entourage effect’ is attributed to synergistic interactions between the
numerous phytochemicals present in plant derived cannabis and has been shown to result in enhanced
biological activity when compared to the use of single molecules in a medical treatment. This effect cannot
be achieved by currently available synthetic cannabinoids which only contain individual cannabinoids in
isolation.

A member of the Celadon Group, LVL, is the sponsor of a planned clinical trial into a medicinal product
to be administered in humans which involves a cannabis-based medicinal product. Clinical trials are also
tightly regulated and are subject to both regulatory authorisation and ethical approval.

The legal requirements applicable to clinical trials of medicinal products in humans are largely set out in
the Medicines for Human Use (Clinical Trials) Regulations 2004. Before a clinical trial can be commenced
the planned trial must be authorised by the MHRA (regulatory authorisation) and also a favourable opinion
from an appropriate research ethics committee must be obtained (ethical approval). The clinical trials
legislation sets out stringent requirements for the initiation, conduct and reporting of a clinical trial including
that it must be conducted in accordance with Good Clinical Practice (“GCP”) and that adverse events
experienced by trial subjects must be recorded and reported as well as the trial outcomes. Many of the
legal obligations fall on the “sponsor” of the clinical trial.

Non-compliance with the legislation regulating clinical trials is enforced by way of the criminal law.

Despite limited legalisation for medical purposes, the black market remains the largest market for cannabis
in the UK. YouGov estimates that up to 1.4 million people in the UK are using cannabis to treat pain by
acquiring cannabis products on the black market. The Directors and Proposed Directors estimate that
patients are spending an average of c.£300-£600 per month to source cannabis product through the illicit
market.

The current legal regime for patients accessing unlicensed medicinal cannabis requires patients to obtain
a prescription from a doctor included on the specialist register of the General Medical Council. These
are commonly doctors in private practice who will only prescribe medicinal cannabis when a patient has
exhausted all other treatments. Once a patient receives their prescription for a medicinal cannabis product
that product must currently be imported (as there are currently no UK based approved suppliers in the
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Specials market), it is processed by the Home Office and MHRA and a patient's prescription is authorised
which enables the authorised wholesaler to import that product into the country. This then permits an initial
one month’s supply to be imported. In practice, this can take over four weeks to arrive. After the first
month’s supply has been exhausted, a patient needs to have a follow up appointment with their doctor and
obtain a further prescription for the next month. Again, this needs to be approved by the Home Office and
MHRA before the importation process can start and another wait of over four weeks for medicine. This
process then needs to happen every month. The cost of cannabis obtained in this way will range from
£250-£1,000 per month, with some paying over £2,000 per month.

In March 2020, the UK Government announced changes to the import restrictions that now allow licensed
wholesalers to hold three months of prescriptions of medicinal cannabis on behalf of eligible patients. This
is still, however, on a named patient basis.

There are a number of problems with the current system including the high cost that is prohibitive for
many patients. Further, because cannabis is not an authorised medicine, the doctors prescribing cannabis
products may not be insured when they prescribe it. It is also important to note that cannabis is an ongoing
treatment and not a short-term cure and as such a patient needs a consistent supply for the benefits to
work effectively. The gaps in a patient’s treatment caused by the importation process means patients can
have long periods when they cannot obtain their medicine, which again may lead to illicit market sourcing
in some instances.

A UK grower will help solve many of these problems as, in particular, patients will no longer need to go
through the importation process and doctors and clinics will have confidence that patients will be able to
receive medicinal cannabis on a timely basis once prescribed without any importation delays. Celadon
believes that once it has received the necessary authorisations and licences, it will serve as a significant
and important supplier which could help facilitate the wider legal use of medicinal cannabis in the UK.

The Directors and Proposed Directors believe there is very little clinical data that regulators are able to
use in assessing the safety and efficacy of medicinal cannabis. The Directors and Proposed Directors are
aware of one other active medicinal cannabis study in the UK, Project Twenty21, which, so far as the
Directors and Proposed Directors are aware, is not an MHRA approved trial.

Project Twenty21 allows eligible patients to access medicinal cannabis treatment at a capped price, and
have their treatment tracked by Drug Science. Their website states that they currently have 2,080 patients
as of 31 December 2021.

Imperial College research suggests that chronic pain (defined as pain that persists for three months
or more) affects c.28 million people in the in the UK. Of those, up to 8 million people suffer severe
chronic pain. Conventional treatments include opioids (which are the most common treatments used),
paracetamol, anti-neuropathic agents and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, all of which may be
associated with significant risks.

According to the British Medical Association, the prescribing of opioids has increased markedly over recent
years, although the evidence for their efficacy in the treatment of chronic pain conditions remains weak,
and the increasing knowledge of their short and long-term side effects raises questions over their use.
Opioids tend to have unpleasant side effects which can include significant levels of nausea, constipation,
serious effects on breathing, and tolerance (and therefore dose increase). There has also been an increase
in the use of antidepressants and antiepileptics that are most commonly used or recommended for the
treatment of pain.

There is a large body of evidence that has concluded that opioids may reduce pain for some patients in the
short and medium term (less than 12 weeks). There is however, a lack of consistent good-quality evidence
to support a strong clinical recommendation for the long-term use of opioids for patients with chronic pain.

Recent NICE guidance on the treatment of chronic pain recommends against the use of opioids and anti-
inflammatory drugs in most cases and against anti-neuropathic agents other than in neuropathic pain.
Given that many specialist pain control approaches are also being discouraged, it leaves chronic pain
patients with few options beyond psychological and behavioural pain management.

The UK market for chronic pain that cannabis medicines might help address is substantial and may help

Limited availability of data4.3
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people reduce opioid dose and use which could have a significant improvement in the management of
chronic pain and its safety.

A number of studies have been carried out into the use of medicinal cannabis and the following represents
a selection of what has been reported on the topic. A high dose of cannabis derived THC (50 mg per day)
markedly reduced opioid consumption when used during the day of a flare of Mediterranean Familial Fever,
which supports the opioid sparing effect of medicinal cannabis. Cannabinoid and opioid receptors are
expressed in several brain regions involved in the regulation of pain and have been shown to co-localise
(be expressed next to each other on the cell membrane). Numerous animal studies have now shown
that there is a synergistic effect from opioid and cannabinoid co-administration. The effect of medicinal
cannabis on the use of opioids in the chronic pain population has been reviewed. A more recent study
from Michigan published in 2019 showed that approximately 80 per cent. of 1,321 chronic pain patients
reported substituting cannabis for traditional pain or muscle spasm medications (53 percent. for opioids, 22
per cent. for benzodiazepines), citing fewer side effects and better symptom management as their rationale
for doing so. Data from Canada published in 2019 also suggests that patients report they are using less
opioids and other analgesic drugs, alcohol, tobacco, and illicit substances (10.1186/s12954-019-0278-6).
There is evidence that cannabis increases the efficacy of opioid therapy and can reduce the opioid dose
burden.

The safety profile of cannabis has been well studied and the majority of adverse events are attributable to
one of its constituents, THC. THC induces acute adverse effects including anxiety and chronic effects such
as increased risk of psychosis and addiction/dependence. The acute effects are largely avoidable if either
the dose is kept low (<30 mg per day) or the cannabis extract has enough CBD to counteract THC-induced
anxiety. The risk of long-term psychosis and depression is substantially reduced if the cannabis is not used
during adolescence.

The addiction potential of cannabis has also been studied and in susceptible individuals, chronic dosing of
very high THC strains of cannabis can lead to addictive behaviour. To minimise risk, it is essential to:

These strategies are designed to limit the onset of addictive behaviour and psychosis in susceptible
individuals.

Even though it very important to address the addiction potential of medicinal cannabis, it is important to
emphasise that the risks associated with cannabis are considerably lower than other analgesics utilised
in chronic pain conditions, namely opioids and other anti-neuropathic agents. Medicinal cannabis is now
considered as a potential adjunct to opioid based analgesia, boosting opioid efficacy and there is evidence
that the addition of medicinal cannabis lowers the dose and time required to reach analgesia for opioids,
reducing dose burden and moving patients away from opioid use disorder ("OUD").

Within the field of medicinal cannabis, despite the high levels of THC in some modern strains, no increases
have been observed for SAEs (serious adverse events) in patients taking medicinal cannabis with standard
of care, versus standard of care alone. Additionally, with the heterogeneity of medicinal cannabis products
available standardisation of medicinal cannabis is required to improve the risk-benefit profile for patients.

There is a long history of use of medicinal cannabis and evidence supports the concept that cannabis
is generally well tolerated (especially when compared with current agents routinely used to treat chronic
pain). Recently, THC levels have increased substantially for illicit cannabis which has raised concerns
for the UK population in relation to addiction and the development of psychosis. Consuming a balanced
THC and CBD medicinal cannabis product is known to substantially lower this risk, whilst having a full-
spectrum cannabis product rich in minor cannabinoids and terpenes is thought to maximise the benefits to
the patient.

There is now acceptance that cannabis has demonstrable medical utility, at varying levels of evidence
quality, in conditions including chronic pain, MS, anxiety, depression, sleep disorders, irritable bowel
disease and epilepsy.

The UK market for medicinal cannabis is limited due to its nascent stage. The Directors and Proposed
Directors believe that the only company in mainland UK that is currently licenced to grow and sell in the
medicinal cannabis segment is GW Pharmaceuticals.

(1) ensure that the starting doses are kept low, particularly for high-THC products;

(2) offer balanced THC / CBD cannabis products; and

(3) monitor the quantity of medicinal cannabis consumed to ensure excessive consumption is limited.

Competition4.5
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GW Pharmaceuticals currently has two licensed medicines:

Sativex is a balanced THC/CBD oral spray and Epidyolex is a CBD oral product. The Directors and
Proposed Directors believe that as a result of the methods used during the manufacturing process, these
products may not retain the full spectrum of beneficial phytochemicals present in other plant derived
cannabis products.

GW Pharmaceuticals was admitted to trading on AIM in 2001, before moving its listing to the NASDAQ
market in the US in 2016. GW Pharmaceuticals’ cannabis plants used to research and develop their
different products are grown and harvested in the UK. On 5 May 2021, Jazz Pharmaceuticals, a US
domiciled pharmaceutical company, completed the acquisition of GW Pharmaceuticals for US$7.2 billion.

The majority of market participants in the UK are in the CBD sector, which is very different to the medicinal
cannabis sector. The CBD market is characterised by wellness/cosmetic claims and benefits that have
not been fully researched or medically proven. Consequently, CBD-only products are not regulated as
medicines and are generally currently regulated as foodstuffs. Products are also commonly poor quality
and often mislabelled, and unlike THC, CBD has a relatively low affinity for the endocannabinoid system,
interacting weakly with CB1 and CB2 cannabinoid receptors.

An often-cited concern is that currently available products are being sold in an unregulated way often
with false or exaggerated claims around their efficacy. Not surprisingly there are numerous companies
producing a product which when tested did not match its labelling. CBD's classification as a novel food has
led to more stringent regulation of the CBD market, which is anticipated to result in some shake up of the
sector due to the higher regulatory requirements.

The value chain for medicinal cannabis is illustrated below. Vertically integrated companies typically
undertake the full range of services to distribute finished medicinal products directly to patients or through
wholesale and pharmacy channels.

• Epidyolex (CBD) which is approved in the UK, EU and USA for rare and severe forms of epilepsy
(Dravet and Lennox-Gastaut syndromes) and has been approved for use in the EU for the treatment of
Tuberous Sclerosis Complex; and

• Nabiximols (Sativex, a mixture of THC and CBD) and is approved in the UK, EU and Canada for the
treatment of MS spasticity, and is undergoing trials for the treatment of PTSD and SCI spasticity.

Value Chain for Medicinal Cannabis4.6

This involves scientific, pre-clinical development in areas such as genetics and cannabis strains, followed
by clinical trials undertaken with external partners into the efficacy of new medicinal cannabis products for
specified conditions. Medicines typically go through a three-phase trial process:

R&D / Clinical research

(1) Phase I (small trials often on healthy volunteers to test safety and side effects at different doses);

(2) Phase II (trials on patients with the disease being treated to assess drug administration, efficacy
and side-effects); and

(3) Phase III (larger, double-blind and placebo or standard-of-care controlled trials on a target patient
population to further test efficacy and safety).
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The Directors and Proposed Directors believe that the Celadon Group is positioning itself to be one of the
first businesses to receive the requisite licences and registrations in the UK to grow, manufacture and sell
high quality medicinal cannabis as an API in the UK. Achieving the various authorisations, registrations
and licences is time consuming having taken CPL over two years to reach the current status of the licence
applications, including receiving a Home Office Licence. It is also an expensive and complex process,
requiring significant amounts of upfront expenditure before an application for MHRA registration be made
and Home Office approval sought. The Directors and Proposed Directors believe that this represents a
material barrier to entry for other businesses seeking to research, grow and manufacture high quality
medicinal cannabis in the UK.

Celadon aims to facilitate access to high quality THC medicinal cannabis by undertaking trials,
documenting and sharing the resulting data and educating physicians, and forming partnerships with other
parties seeking to manufacture and utilise cannabinoid-derived medicines. Following receipt of the relevant
UK-GMP certification from, and registration with, the MHRA, the Celadon Group intends to cultivate and
manufacture cannabis derived API from its own facilities and supply its API to the UK manufacturing
market.

The parts of the value chain for medicinal cannabis (as set out above in paragraph 4.6 of this Part II) that
the Celadon Group intends to operate in is set out below.

R&D/clinical research Growing
Processing /
Production Manufacturing API Physicians

Through LVL and Kingdom and in
due course through CPL

Through CPL Through CPL Through CPL (and
supply to Kingdom for
finished medicinal
product
manufacturing)

Through the LVL clinic and
partner clinics

This involves large-scale cultivation of cannabis plants, typically in bio-secure indoor facilities (grow
rooms), with precise control of cultivation conditions (such as nutrients, lighting, humidity, temperature and
air flow). Indoor facilities are considered superior to greenhouse environments as they provide the security
and control of production variables which are required for the medicinal market.

Growing

This involves curing, testing, chopping and packaging of dry cannabis products. Medicinal cannabis
growing and processing is typically undertaken in accordance with GACP guidelines - a set of guidelines
covering areas of cultivation, collection, harvest, processing, personnel, equipment, documentation and
others for the sake of satisfying the minimum required quality assurance in plant cultivation. Production
also includes cannabinoid extraction, and refining and polishing operations for the manufacture of various
types of formulated products. Together with UK-GMP for API and UK-GMP for finished medicinal products,
GACP issue guidelines for the process from seed to sale of all plants for use in APIs subsequently used in
medicines, including cannabis.

Processing / Production

This involves manufacturing of medicinal cannabis products using processed cannabis extracts and
the testing and bottling of formulated products, as well as dose determination, testing, bottling and
packaging of cannabis flower medicinal products. For finished medicinal cannabis products, processing
and manufacturing typically needs to occur in facilities certified to UK-GMP, which is certified by the
relevant national authority. In the UK, UK-GMP certification is co-ordinated by the MHRA, with compliance
required to obtain a relevant manufacturing and/or import authorisation.

Manufacturing

Depending on local laws, physicians are typically the only party that can authorise the use of medicinal
cannabis products by patients. This is generally done through the provision of a prescription from a
physician and/or an unsolicited order by a physician for an unauthorised medicinal product for an individual
patient.

Physicians

THE CELADON GROUP5.

Business Model5.1
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The UK Government has requested data of cannabis' efficacy from the wider market and for that data to be
presented to NICE in the correct manner. The Celadon Group will work to collate usable and robust data
from the Trial and other future trials it plans to conduct and will present this data to NICE. Celadon will also
educate physicians, regulators and patients with parallel education and marketing initiatives.

Data5.2

The Celadon Group is working with a number of senior doctors with a view to facilitating the provision of
the requisite level of information for the medical community to prescribe cannabis-derived medicines with
confidence. The Celadon Group has developed a training centre at its facility in the Midlands with a view to
increasing knowledge for physicians. Many of these physicians will work in the private sector, often at pain
clinics, and together are believed to have thousands of patients who suffer from pain related conditions and
who might benefit from cannabis medicines. Celadon is also in early stage discussions with third parties
about developing education packages for physicians.

Education5.2.1

In addition to the Trial, the Celadon Group will undertake and invest in trials (both through LVL and other
parties) to further evidence the efficacy of cannabinoid derived medicines for certain medical conditions.

Trials5.2.2

The Celadon Group is working with the Sports Science Agency to research the potential for cannabinoids
to treat sports persons, particularly those at the end of their careers with chronic pain conditions.

Sports Research5.2.3

Vertigrow is the majority owner of LVL, a prospective private pain clinic business which is the prospective
sponsor of what the Directors and Proposed Directors believe will, once approved, the only MHRA and
REC authorised medicinal cannabis clinical trial for patients with chronic pain in the UK at the time it
commences. This Trial has been designed and developed to determine the safety and the effectiveness
of a medicinal cannabis treatment for moderate to severe chronic non-cancer pain in a real-world setting
based on certain agreed measures, compared with appropriate data from matched control patients
receiving standard patient care (such as prescribing of other medicines).

Vertigrow acquired a 57.5 per cent. shareholding in LVL from SEEK on 14 July 2021 for initial consideration
in the amount of £500,000. Deferred consideration of £1.5m is payable in the event that (i) each of MHRA
and REC authorise the Trial; and (ii) 5,000 paying patients of Vertigrow’s clinic are accepted onto the Trial
and receive their first prescriptions under the Trial within 18 months of 14 July 2021 (i.e. by 14 January
2023). Such deferred consideration is to be satisfied by the issue of shares in an entity in the same group
as Vertigrow whose securities are publicly listed on a recognised stock exchange at the relevant time
("Listco"), with the price for such shares being the average of the middle market quotations for shares
in Listco for the five consecutive dealing days immediately preceding the date of issue of such shares.
As REC authorisation for the Trial was not obtained by LVL within six months of 14 July 2021 (i.e. by 14
January 2022), Vertigrow became entitled on that date to acquire for £1 further shares from SEEK so as to
increase its aggregate shareholding in LVL to 70 per cent. On 14 July 2021, pursuant to a loan agreement
between Vertigrow and LVL of the same date, Vertigrow provided a loan to LVL in the amount of £500,000
for working capital purposes. The loan is repayable on 14 July 2024.

LVL was established by PepTcell Limited, who operate under the trademark SEEKTM

(www.seekacure.com). SEEK are a leading group of experienced researchers and scientists who have
a clear understanding of the UK and international regulatory processes and interacting with regulators
including FDA and NICE. Furthermore, they have a track record of developing certain medicines, including
medicine for HIV, some of which have been approved for use by the NHS.

The LVL Private Pain Clinic

LVL is a specialist pain clinic researching the best ways to use medicinal cannabis alongside patients
current treatments to help people manage their chronic pain. LVL focuses on helping people suffering from
neuropathic, immune system and injury-induced chronic pain to access medicinal cannabis via partner
clinics. LVL is currently referring patients to physical clinics which are owned and operated by third parties.
In due course, LVL plans to open its own physical clinic on Harley Street in London and is currently
undergoing the necessary approval process with the CQC in order to operate that clinic. In the meantime,

LVL5.2.4
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patients will consult with the doctor to whom they have been referred using telehealth (an online clinic
service) and through the third party physical clinic. LVL ensures that all doctors who accept referred
patients are aware and supportive of LVL’s long term intentions.

Patients of LVL are offered a streamlined service that, the Directors and Proposed Directors believe, will
vastly improve the medicinal cannabis offering to UK patients. This service is the same service which will
be offered to patients invited to take part in the Study and the Trial. Patients will be charged £300 per
month for their treatment, which will be the same as patients who participate in the Study and the Trial.

Given the LVL clinic’s full-service chronic pain offering via its third party partner clinics, the consistency,
quality and availability of the third party medicinal cannabis product and the RYAH vaporiser product, the
Directors and Proposed Directors anticipate that, once fully operational, the service will be in high demand
from patients who have to date been frustrated in using legal medicinal cannabis in the UK.

The Trial

The Trial is designed as a paid for trial and the design is made possible on the basis that the participants
will be paying for their treatment, which includes the prescribing of the Trial drug. The aim of the Trial differs
from the usual aim of the typical three-phase clinical trials as LVL and the third party medicinal cannabis
product supplier do not intend to seek regulatory authorisation for a specific medicinal product using the
data arising from the Trial.

The object of the Trial is to determine the safety and the effectiveness of a medicinal cannabis treatment
for moderate to severe chronic non-cancer pain in a real world setting on pain numerical rating scores
(NRS) scores, quality of life measures, sleep scores, personal wellbeing, global impression of change and
changes in the dosing of concomitant analgesic treatments, compared with appropriate matched controls
receiving opioids and/or other neuropathic pain relief. To determine the tolerability of a medicinal cannabis
treatment in patients by assessing psychological morbidity such as anxiety and effects on gut function, and
dizziness measurements.

LVL believe that globally, three types of medicinal cannabis products are commonly used to treat chronic
non-cancer pain. These products contain either a high, medium or low content of THC balanced by
reciprocal ratios of CBD. LVL believe that the evidence base indicates that whole flower products with
balanced THC and CBD content and levels of other phytochemicals unaffected by extraction, give the
maximum levels of efficacy. However, more evidence is needed on the use of these forms of medicinal
cannabis to assess efficacy and tolerability. In addition, data will be collected on the concomitant dosing
of medications such as opioids and antineuropathic adjuvant analgesics, as part of a patient’s standard of
care, thereby enabling the impact of medicinal cannabis on the use of standard of care treatment to be
assessed.

To date, SEEK has invested over £4 million designing the Trial. On 22 May 2020, it obtained conditional
authorisation from the MHRA for the Trial subject to any amendments required by the REC. Through
2020 and 2021, LVL worked with REC to finalise approval for the MHRA conditionally authorised Trial and
the Directors and Proposed Directors believe that during the second half of 2022 the Trial will become
unconditionally authorised by both MHRA and REC. In the meantime, LVL will undertake the Study using
exactly the same service (including product, protocols and medical supervision) that will be offered under
the Trial but which does not have any endpoints studying the safety or efficacy of a medicinal product.

As the Study does not study the safety and efficacy of a medicinal product it does not require regulatory
approval to the same extent as the Trial does.

In November 2021, REC approved the Study for a minimum of 100 patients, as REC wanted to observe
the initial patient take-up before they would approve the commencement of the Trial. The first patients have
now been onboarded for treatment under the protocols for the Study and the Trial, and LVL have advised
that the initial patient feedback has been extremely positive (with patients reporting material reduction
in pain, ability to sleep and improvements in their quality of life). These patients have also agreed to
enrolment in the Study, with a view to the Study commencing in March 2022. Once at least 100 patients
have been recruited to the Study, LVL will meet again with REC to seek formal approval to start the Trial
for up to 5,000 patients. REC have agreed that the data collected in the Study can be included in the
results of the Trial. As REC’s request for the Study post-dates MHRA’s conditional approval of the Trial LVL
has contacted the MHRA to update it regarding the Study and to clarify the basis on which the third party
vaporisers used in the Study are to be supplied to onboarded patients by LVL.

The Directors and Proposed Directors believe that the Trial, once approved by REC, will at the time it
commences, be the only chronic pain cannabis trial authorised by the MHRA and REC in the UK which
itself has taken SEEK over two years to design and develop. The primary objective of the Trial is to collect
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reliable, clinical data that can be used as evidence of the safety and efficacy of the type of cannabis-based
medicinal product studied in the Trial and enable LVL to present such data to NICE.

The Trial is designed to be a paid-for-trial where patients will pay £300 per month to participate and to
receive medicinal cannabis as part of their treatment. The Trial is initially targeting to recruit 500 patients.
It is expected that there will be an interim read out after 12 months on the Trial which would allow LVL to
formally assess the efficacy and safety data. The Trial will end when the last of such patients has received
their treatment with cannabis-based medicinal product which lasts for three years. With the approval of
REC, the number of patients in the Trial can be increased from 500.

The LVL team is being established, with the current operational team at LVL leading the recruitment
process alongside input and advice provided by Vertigrow where required. The Board of LVL is controlled
by Vertigrow by virtue of its majority of directors.

Once the Trial is approved by the REC, the LVL Private Pain Clinic will also allow LVL to advertise
to prospective patients regarding participating in the medicinal cannabis Trial; something which is not
permissible from a regulatory standpoint for trials without REC approval. In the meantime, Specials doctors
working with or for the LVL Private Pain Clinic are able to prescribe medicinal cannabis to patients under
the Specials regime.

SEEK's and Celadon’s research has suggested that the best general formulation for the treatment of pain
is the whole ground flower and not extracts. Therefore, the Trial will use an 8% THC / 8% CBD strain as
a whole flower for the Trial. SEEK’s research has also suggested that THC is not a critical component
for pain management but when combined with CBD in a balanced way, can offer patients the optimum
risk benefit profile for pain management as a result of terpenes interacting with cannabinoids through the
entourage effect.

The Directors and Proposed Directors believe that there are no UK licensed growers who can legally grow
and supply the cannabis that has been authorised for the Study and Trial. As such, LVL has entered into
a services agreement with Grow Pharma Ltd (“Grow Pharma”) as summarised in paragraph 15.1.12 of
Part VII of this Document. Grow Pharma is a joint venture company between Grow Group plc and Vertical
Pharma Resources Limited (“Vertical”). Under the services agreement, Grow Pharma is to procure that
Vertical will import the high THC cannabis approved by MHRA for the Study and the Trial from approved
European suppliers. Vertical is a licensed importer of unlicensed medicines including cannabis based
medicines. It is also the holder of a pharmacy registration from the General Pharmaceutical Council which
permits extemporaneous preparation of medicines. Grow Pharma will procure the grinding of the cannabis
flower and filling of the product into a sealed and bar-coded cartridge provided by RYAH for use in an
inhaling device made by RYAH that LVL has exclusive use of in the UK for a five year period, on a rolling
basis. LVL will pay Grow Pharma for the filled cannabis cartridges, and LVL will pay RYAH for the inhaling
device. Patients will pay a service fee to LVL, as the sponsor of the Trial and the Study, which will cover
the cost of the cartridges, the inhaling device and related services. The agreement with Grow Pharma
provides that it may be terminated for breach or 18 months after the start of the agreement by either party
giving six months’ notice to the other at any time after expiry of the exclusivity arrangements set out in the
agreement, which relate respectively to LVL not accepting a forecasted volume of product at its UK storage
facility within the relevant quarter or LVL not providing Grow Pharma with sufficient prescriptions to meet
the minimum volume in any contract year, being 60 per cent. of the annual estimate of the product required
in each contract year.

Once CPL is licensed and its Midlands facility is fully operational and in production at scale, the Company
will be entitled to supply cannabis to an appropriately authorized manufacturer for use in manufacturing
products for use in subsequent clinical studies and/or for supply for dispensing to patients of the LVL
Private Pain Clinic once it is registered with the CQC. These supply arrangements have the potential to
generate material revenue for the Celadon Group.

Once approval for the Trial is received from the REC, the Trial would then recruit and onboard its first
patients shortly thereafter, which the Directors and Proposed Directors believe to be in or around Q2 2022,
including the recruitment of those existing patients in the Study.
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LVL Leadership Team

The leadership team for LVL is comprised of a strong team of SEEK executives and scientists with
long standing pharmaceutical and healthcare industry experience, encompassing research discovery and
development, finance and business development, sales and marketing, that all combine to contribute
towards SEEK’s success. The LVL leadership team is detailed below.

Gregory Stoloff

Founded SEEK (formerly known as PepTcell) in 2004 after a career in investment banking spanning 20
years at Deutsche Bank and UBS. Gregory is a qualified Chartered Accountant and has spent many years
researching scientific medical issues, specifically related to the immune system. He has also been involved
in several publications, recounting research in the peptide space and is listed as an inventor in numerous
patents for cancer, HIV, mosquito-borne diseases and influenza.

John Brew

A pharmacologist with experience in animal models, toxicology, regulatory and project management.
Head of Biology across the SEEK group, bringing expertise and knowledge to drive the Celadon Group’s
pharmaceutical assets from conception through to completion. Experience in leading all facets of product
development, including formulation development, clinical program development, regulatory dossier
submission and publication. Two of these products (Unicough and Flarin) have reached the marketplace.
Prior to joining SEEK in 2009, John spent 12 years in biotech and pharmaceutical industries.

Declan Monaghan

CFO at SEEK, encompassing PepTcell Limited, ConserV Bioscience Limited, Health Clinics Limited and
Biocopea Limited. Holds a London Business School Sloan MSc degree in Leadership and Strategy. Fellow
of the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants (FCCA).

Dr Shaw Sorooshian

Proposed to be the Principal Investigator on the Trial subject to MHRA approval. Dr Sorooshian is listed
on the General Medical Council’s specialist register and has experience across all phases of clinical drug
development in several therapy areas, including rare diseases, gene therapy, neuroscience, anaesthesia,
immuno-inflammation, chronic renal disease, antifungals/dermatology, and haematology.

Delivery mechanism and data capture

The medicinal cannabis to be studied in the Trial will be administered through the use of a RYAH
inhalation device by all patients, which will also be studied for this intended purpose as part of the Trial. A
fundamental part of the Trial is measurement of dosing and the time patients are taking their medicine; the
delivery system is therefore a critical part of the Trial. The RYAH inhalation product has been chosen for the
Trial due to its technology and capabilities. The RYAH device is an advanced vaporiser. The basic premise
of a cannabis vaporiser is that a cannabinoid source is heated to a temperature sufficient to vaporise
cannabinoids into an air stream, therein generating an aerosol that is inhaled by the patient for therapeutic
effect.

The vaporiser delivers a consistent and accurate inhalation amount for any user and therefore the amount
of THC and CBD contained within that inhalation can be precisely measured. The vaporiser utilises
proprietary cartridges provided by Grow Pharma that have a unique QR code that synchronise with the
RYAH application (which is a mobile app), which will allow for data capture from all patients. The RYAH
cartridges have been approved by Health Canada and the RYAH device is certified to IEC60601 standards
under radio equipment legislation. RYAH Group, Inc. is listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange.

LVL has the exclusive rights to distribute the filled cartridges and RYAH devices in the UK for a rolling five
years, provided minimum orders are placed.

Submitting the data to NICE

Once the Trial is completed, should the Trial data show the safety and efficacy of the cannabis treatment
for pain relief, LVL intends to present the data from the Trial to NICE as evidence of the safety and efficacy
of the type of cannabis-based medicinal product studied in the Trial for pain relief.

Given the limited amount of clinical trial data available on medicinal cannabis, the Directors and Proposed
Directors believe that even if the data was not endorsed by NICE it would still be valuable data for doctors
listed on the General Medical Council’s specialist register in their prescription of medicinal cannabis and
would inform LVL on the design of subsequent trials for other indications. Celadon plan to undertake further
similar trials in LVL in the future and the results from the Trial will educate the design of such future trials.
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The Celadon Group’s Midlands based premises are a highly secure, resilient, cannabis cultivation and
processing facility designed to meet UK-GMP standards. The facility currently includes a laboratory
designed to meet UK-GMP standards that incorporates an advanced growing space (“Phase 1”). The
Celadon Group plans to complete the fit out of the second grow space during H2 2022 which would enable
CPL to have its own cultivated API product available for sale by the end of 2022 (“Phase 2”) subject
registration with MHRA and the Home Office granting a new further licence permitting commercial supply.
Phase 2 is estimated to cost approximately £5 million. The Celadon Group’s third expansion phase would
include the fit out of additional space within the 100,000 square foot facility, and subject to the availability
of funds, this would be expected to be completed during 2024.

At full capacity, the Directors and Proposed Directors believe that this facility will produce an estimated
nine tonnes of dry flower, which is enough API to produce finished product to supply up to circa 50,000
patients per annum.

The cultivation facility is designed as an indoor, hydroponic system to ensure cannabis plants are cultivated
under highly specific climate, light and irrigation control at all times.

Celadon has established strict quality control systems and processes that it will implement throughout
the cultivation cycle and will follow GACP guidelines, including daily observations of all plants with all
growing parameters documented. Detailed documentation and post-harvest review of the plant profiles
should enable a cycle of continuous improvement.

The Celadon Group initially plans to grow its own formulation to create its own flower. Celadon plans to
source the initial cuttings for their flower from licensed suppliers in Europe.

Celadon is currently designing a programme of “pheno hunting”, which will allow the Celadon Group to
develop further stable seed genetics in its own IP and flower. Celadon’s cultivation team and scientific team

Celadon owns a 17 per cent. shareholding in Kingdom Therapeutics Limited (“Kingdom”), a company
established by Elizabeth Shanahan, a Non-Executive Director of the Company.

Kingdom is an early stage, pharmaceutical company focused on applying a rigorous approach to the
promising field of the endocannabinoid system for those with neurological disorders.

Kingdom believes that the endocannabinoid system has significant potential in those patients with a
number of neurological conditions. A number of pre-clinical and real-world studies have indicated that
cannabinoids may have beneficial effects on a number of neurological parameters but to date research has
been limited and impeded by an inability to protect intellectual property developed. Kingdom’s approach
is based on a pharmaceutical approach, combined with developing a robust, IP secure formulation. They
believe their research will lead to novel, effective therapeutics which will benefit this area of significant
unmet demand.

Kingdom is a company founded by a team which consists of two expert scientists in the field of
endocannabinoids, experts in the clinical and regulatory sphere, an expert in healthcare provision and
an autism parent advocate. The company appointed Professor Trevor Jones, one of the UK’s most
experienced pharmaceutical R&D experts and recently appointed Chair of the European Medicinal
Cannabis Association, as an adviser to the Kingdom board.

Kingdom approached the Celadon Group to secure high quality, consistent cannabinoid products. Once
registered by the MHRA and following the issue to CPL of a Home Office licence permitting commercial
supply, CPL will be able to supply API to Kingdom for its pre-clinical trial work. Kingdom is currently
advancing the preparatory work associated with the design of its clinical programme and hopes to have
early indicators in 2022, subject to having all requisite licences and approvals in place. The trial is expected
to be a traditional clinical trial in its design but the UK legislative framework for medicinal cannabis may
offer early market access through the Specials framework for Kingdom’s products whilst they continue their
clinical programme, aiming for market authorisation in the UK, Europe & US. In addition, Kingdom’s links
with the autism clinical and advocacy community gives it access and the ability to engage.

As well as being a shareholder in Kingdom, the Celadon Group is expected to be the exclusive supplier
of cannabinoid API to Kingdom. The approach Kingdom is taking means they require consistent product
throughout and, if approved as a licenced medicine, the same cannabinoids need to be used for the
commercialised product. Therefore, if Kingdom's trial is successful, the Celadon Group will have the
potential to generate significant revenues from the exclusive supplier arrangement.

Kingdom Therapeutics Limited5.2.5

Grow5.3
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will work together to test specific combinations of cannabinoids, terpenes and flavonoids that have been
demonstrated as effective for treating particular conditions. They will also look to experiment to determine
which plants have the best overall plant health and yield, and the quickest flowering times with disease
resistance.

The phenotype hunting process is used to identify plants that will then be used for the Celadon Group’s
mother plant stock which will then be used to develop cuttings that can supply the Celadon Group with
identical copies of the selected plants.

The Celadon Group intends to conduct extensive testing on different cultivars to identify plant genetics
and growing cycles to try to optimise yield and cannabinoid profiles. The Celadon Group intends to have a
range of cannabis cultivars which are used to produce its range of medicinal cannabis products.

Cultivation Process

Once a specific genetic line of cannabis plant has been established, it will be preserved from degradation
by keeping stock plants called “mother plants” from which future cuttings will be taken for cultivation.

The typical cannabis plant has a growing time of approximately three-to-five months. The desired
formulation and final product determine the optimum harvesting time and process and subsequent
processing steps.

The process required to obtain dry cannabis flower involves drying, trimming and curing the plant. To
produce an oil-based cannabis product, a further refinement step is required. The most effective refinement
processes use solvents to dissolve and extract the resinous trichomes from the cannabis flower. Celadon
believes that the most popular solvent extraction methods use ethanol or super-critical carbon dioxide with
both methods extracting more than 90 per cent. of the cannabinoids present in the plant.

The Celadon Group intends to use ethanol extraction methods and intends to have a CO2 extraction unit
available to be used in the future.

The precision required in cultivating high THC and CBD medicinal flowers means the requisite quality
of production is achieved through the use of indoor hydroponic systems. This approach typically uses
significantly more energy than traditional horticulture as plants require high intensity lighting due to the lack
of natural light, as well as substantial HVAC systems (including dehumidifiers). This results in considerable
demands for significant amounts of electricity, which is often sourced from fossil fuels.

The Directors and Proposed Directors will be taking steps to minimise the environmental impact of
the growing process by putting plans in place that will help lessen the environmental impact of CPL’s
indoor growing. Some of these initiatives will include using super efficient LED grow lights, collecting
and reusing water, sealing grow and processing areas to minimise the risk of releasing volatile organic
compounds (“VOCs”), filtration systems to remove harmful VOCs, and careful management of waste
product. Furthermore, by establishing its own growing facility, Vertigrow is helping to reduce its carbon
footprint as less import and transportation time will be required shipping third party product in for use in the
production process.

James Short has extensive experience in renewable energy, having spent circa 15 years of his career in
the sector, and is focused on further reducing the environmental impact of growing medicinal cannabis.

CPL intends to produce medicinal flower with a high THC and CBD content as an API for the market. An
API is a substance used in a finished pharmaceutical product, intended to furnish pharmacological activity
or to otherwise have direct effect in the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment or prevention of disease, or
to have direct effect in restoring, correcting or modifying physiological functions in human beings.

Under CPL's proposed production strategy, it will initially focus on producing API oil during Phase 1. At the
point Phase 2 is operational, Vertigrow will also look to expand production to include dry flower.

Product5.4
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Celadon intends to utilise third party MHRA registered API distributors for its API products. At this stage
there are no agreements in place with such distributors, however, there are a number of CPL pre-approved
distribution partners which it will look to work with.

The medicinal cannabis industry is highly regulated. Extensive QMS are required to be implemented and
complied with on an ongoing basis by MHRA as well as detailed security requirements for Home Office
purposes.

CPL's operating systems are built using specialist cannabis focused software and have been integrated by
the CPL team in line with CPL’s requirements. They are also designed to ensure as much data as possible
is captured throughout the growing process to provide a full “seed to sale” overview. CPL's operating
system is a fully customised supply-chain management platform, tracking production, compliance, COGS,
yields, and audit reporting data in real time. CPL’s customisation includes incorporating a QMS system that
addresses CPL’s MHRA compliance, auditing and data sovereignty.

CPL maintains its own in-house Quality Assurance team, which has 20+ years’ experience. This team will
be responsible for ensuring quality standards for UK-GMP are met and also for monitoring the Celadon
Group’s compliance with its approved Standard Operating Procedures (“SOPs”). They will conduct internal
audits which is part of QMS and will work with the MHRA in relation to their audits as well.

Celadon has developed its QMS in line with the EUDRALEX Volume 4, which lays down the principles
and guidelines of UK-GMP in respect of medicinal products for human use and investigational medicinal
products for human use.

Any changes to the QMS, manufacturing process or equipment / facilities are managed through a stringent
change control process which is a key tool to ensure compliance and controls. Equally, a robust Deviation
and Corrective and Preventive Action (“CAPA”) system is in place to assure that adverse quality events are
thoroughly investigated and appropriate corrective measures are implemented to prevent reoccurrence.

Distribution5.5

QMS and Procedures5.6

REVENUE MODEL6.

6.1 The Celadon Group is in the early stages of revenue generation, and largely incurring operating
and capital expenditure as it continues to develop its Midlands based facility in anticipation
of MHRA registration and grant of a new Home Office licence permitting commercial supply
in replacement of its existing Home Office Licence permitting cultivation for the purpose of
demonstrating compliance with MHRA regulations to the MHRA. No revenues were reported for the
period from incorporation to 30 June 2021, and revenues for the Celadon Group are firstly being
generated from the LVL Pain research clinic.

6.2 Celadon currently has two main revenue sources that it is receiving and expects to receive:

6.2.1 LVL – once authorised, the LVL Pain Private Clinic will be charging £300 per patient per
month for that patient to be prescribed medicinal cannabis by doctors who are on the
General Medical Council’s specialist register. Under the terms of the Study and the Trial,
LVL will receive £300 per patient per month for that patient to be prescribed medicinal
cannabis by a Specialist doctor. In addition, LVL will receive an upfront fee of £300 per
patient to cover the cost of the RYAH vaporiser, initial tests and consultation irrespective
of whether the patient agrees to participate in the Trial. If LVL are able to recruit 5,000
patients, this has the potential to generate approximately £18 million of revenue within
LVL on an annualised basis and gross margins of ~28% and ~22% on an EBITDA basis.
LVL’s private pain clinic operations have now commenced prescribing cannabis through
referrals to third party CQC approved clinics and, as a result, Vertigrow is now generating
minimal levels of revenue.

6.2.2 Growing and supplying medicinal cannabis API – upon receipt of the requisite MHRA
registration and the grant of a Home Office licence permitting commercial production
and supply, the Celadon Group intends to commence the cultivation of its own medicinal
cannabis via the production of an extracted oil for use as an API. Vertigrow’s revenue
model for growing medicinal cannabis is that a typical patient will be prescribed 15
grams of cannabis flower in the form of finished medicinal product per month and
will pay £10 per gram, which would equate to £1,800 per patient per annum. The
Directors and Proposed Directors believe that the Midlands facility could service API for
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Vertigrow currently has 15 full time employees who have been recruited based on experience in the sector
and building well governed and structured organisations.

As the business delivers on its milestones, it will increase its recruitment and plans to hire additional people
during 2021 in line with the phased growth plans with additional support coming from consultants where
required.

Other than the Directors and the Proposed Directors, the following are key personnel for the Celadon
Group:

finished medicinal products for circa 50,000 patients per annum once Phase 2 and 3 are
completed and fully operational, which has the potential to generate revenues of circa
£90 million per annum, and gross margins of ~65% and ~55% on an EBITDA basis.
Phase 3 build out remains subject to further funding, which the Directors anticipate will
either be raised through internally generated funds, or external capital providers.

CELADON MANAGEMENT & KEY PERSONNEL7.

Arthur is an experienced executive who was formerly a leader in McKinsey’s Consumer Tech & Media and
Consumer / Retail practices, working with a number of global corporate and private equity clients. He has
wide ranging experience across strategy, growth, digital innovation, marketing and sales, and commercial
partnerships. Prior to joining McKinsey in March 2018, Arthur developed a strong financial and transaction
background from his time working within investment banking at Lazard’s M&A Advisory team.

Arthur Wakeley (Managing Director, UK)

Iqbal is a botanist and chemist with 24 years of experience in the natural products, pharmaceutical,
biotechnology, fine chemical, materials and food industries. He has acted as an R&D Consultant and has
published papers in numerous areas related to the industry.

Iqbal Gill (Chief Scientific Officer)

James is an expert grower who has international experience in growing in both indoor and outdoor
facilities. The knowledge gained over a number of years has allowed him to develop key techniques for
cultivation which have enhanced crop development.

James Berry (Senior Operations Manager)

Phillippe is an experienced quality and regulatory professional with a demonstrated history of working
in the API/Pharmaceutical industry in leadership roles and multi-cultural environment, predominantly in
CDMOs with strong exposure to clients and regulatory inspections.

Philippe Larose (Senior Quality Assurance Manager)

Andreas has a master's degree in Agriculture Crop Production and the Rural Environment. Experience
in a variety of harvesting techniques, researching crop growth, influencing agricultural development,
knowledge of phytopathology, background in farming and crop cultivation techniques.

Andreas Lypas (Agronomist)

Rao is a PhD chemist with over 30 years R&D experience in food, pharmaceuticals, biotech and material
science. Organic and bio-organic synthesis, process and product development, analytical method
development and validation.

Rao Valivety (Senior R&D and Laboratory Manager)

Paul is an experienced technology and business analyst. He has developed successful business
technology strategies and has expertise in the cannabis industry.

Paul Allen (Senior IT and Technology Manager)
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The financial information for the period since incorporation of the Celadon Group and CPL to 30 June 2021
is set out in Part IV of this Document. Since 30 June 2021:

CURRENT TRADING AND PROSPECTS8.

(a) Acquisition of 57.5 per cent. of the issued share capital of Harley Street (CPC) Limited

On 14 July 2021,Vertigrow acquired a 57.5 per cent. shareholding in LVL from SEEK. Further
details of this acquisition are set out in paragraph 15.1.10 of Part VII of this Document. Since the
acquisition the LVL Private Pain Clinic business has commenced operations.

(b) Home Office Licence received by CPL

On 23 July 2021, Vertigrow, through its subsidiary, CPL, received its Home Office Licence to be able
to legally grow medicinal cannabis in the UK for the purpose of producing test batches of cannabis
oil to support CPL's application for MHRA registration as a manufacturer of medicinal product APIs.
This licence was renewed on 12 January 2022.
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PART III. RISK FACTORS

Before making any investment decision, prospective investors should carefully consider all the
information contained in this Document including, in particular, the risk factors described below.
Ordinary Shares may not be a suitable investment for all recipients of this Document. If you are
in any doubt about the Ordinary Shares and their suitability for you as an investment, you should
consult a person authorised under FSMA who specialises in advising on the acquisition of shares
and other securities.

In addition to the usual risks associated with an investment in a company, the Directors and the
Proposed Directors consider that the factors and risks described below are the most significant
in relation to an investment in the Company and should be carefully considered, together with all
the information contained in this Document, prior to making any investment decision in respect of
the Ordinary Shares. The list below is not exhaustive, nor is it an explanation of all the risk factors
involved in investing in the Company and nor are the risks set out in any order of priority.

It should be noted that the risks described below are not the only risks faced by the Enlarged Group
and there may be additional risks that the Directors and the Proposed Directors currently consider
not to be material or of which they are currently not aware.

If any of the events described in the following risks actually occur, the Enlarged Group's business,
financial condition, results or future operations could be materially affected. In such
circumstances, the price of the Ordinary Shares could decline and investors could lose all or part
of their investment.

A failure to implement the Enlarged Group’s strategy following the completion of the Acquisition may have
an adverse impact on its business, financial and other conditions, profitability and results of operations.
There can be no assurance that the Enlarged Group will be able to maintain and/or grow its financial
performance at anticipated future levels. In addition, the Enlarged Group may seek to enter into
transactions or undertake initiatives in furtherance of its business. There are no guarantees that such
transactions will complete or that such initiatives will be successful. Failure to complete such transactions
or the lack of success of such initiatives could result in the Enlarged Group not being able to implement its
growth strategies and initiatives. There is no certainty and no representation or warranty is given by any
person that, following completion of the Acquisition and the Fundraising, the Enlarged Group will be able
to achieve any returns referred to in this Document.

The Enlarged Group may fail to achieve certain or any of the anticipated benefits that the Company
expects to realise as a result of the Acquisition, or it may take longer than expected to realise those
benefits. If the anticipated benefits, such as the anticipated financial returns, are not achieved, or take
longer than expected to be realised, this could have a material adverse impact on the Enlarged Group’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. There is a risk that the perceived benefits
arising from the Acquisition, may fail to materialise, or that they may be materially lower than have been
estimated. In addition, the costs of funding the process necessary to achieve these benefits may exceed
expectations. Further details of the expected benefits are set out in paragraph 4 of Part I of this Document.
Such eventualities may have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Enlarged Group.

In assessing the Acquisition the Company has conducted, and intends to conduct in relation to any future
acquisition, such due diligence as it deems reasonably practicable and appropriate, based on the facts
and circumstances applicable to each potential acquisition. The objective of the due diligence process has
been, and will be, to identify material issues which might affect the decision to complete the Acquisition
or any future acquisition or the price at which assets are acquired. When conducting due diligence and
making an assessment regarding an acquisition, the Company is required to rely on resources available
to it, including information provided by the seller, public information and, in some circumstances, third
party investigations. As a result, there can be no assurance that the due diligence undertaken with respect
to either the Acquisition or any future acquisition will reveal or highlight all relevant facts that may be

RISKS RELATING TO THE ACQUISITION

Failure to implement the Enlarged Group's strategy

The Enlarged Group may not realise, or it may take the Enlarged Group longer to realise, the
expected benefits of the Acquisition

Due diligence process
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necessary or helpful in evaluating such acquisition. Further, there can be no assurance as to the adequacy
or accuracy of information provided during any due diligence exercise (in respect of any the Acquisition or
any future acquisition) or that such information will be accurate and/or remain accurate in the period from
conclusion of the due diligence exercise until the desired investment has been made. Due diligence may
also be insufficient to reveal all of the past and future liabilities relating to the operations and activities of
the target, including but not limited to liabilities relating to litigation, breach of environmental regulations
or laws, governmental fines or penalties, pension deficits or contractual liabilities. A material inaccuracy
or defect in the Exisiting Group’s due diligence could have an adverse impact on the Enlarged Group’s
ability to implement its business plan and could adversely impact the Enlarged Group’s ability to realise
the benefits of the Acquisition or any future acquisitions, or delay their realisation.

The Acquisition is conditional upon the satisfaction (or waiver, where applicable) of a number of conditions,
including, amongst other things:

There is no guarantee that the conditions will be satisfied (or waived, if applicable), in which case the
Fundraising and Acquisition will not complete. If the Fundraising and Acquisition does not complete, the
Company would nonetheless incur expenses, including advisory fees, in connection with the proposed
Fundraising and Acquisition.

Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, the Company is receiving warranties in relation to certain
matters about the Celadon Group from James Short, Cormac Short, John Mitchell, Paul Allen and
Jonathan Rickard. Given that the consideration under the Acquisition Agreement comprises the issue of
the Consideration Shares rather than cash, the Company has limited recourse for breaches of warranty
and other breaches of the Acquisition Agreement which could have a material adverse effect on the
financial condition and prospects of the Enlarged Group.

A material part of the Group’s business model relies on Celadon obtaining all necessary licences,
registrations and permits required to cultivate and manufacture APIs for medicinal cannabis products in
the UK and sell and supply to holders of appropriate manufacturer’s authorisations for manufacture into
finished medicinal cannabis products in the UK. The status of the various licences and permits required
by the Celadon Group to undertake its business activities are summarised in Part I. There is no guarantee
that Celadon will be granted each licence, registration and permit referred to in Part I or permits which the
Celadon Group may apply for in future. The length of time for application approvals is currently unknown
and there is no guarantee that each or any licence, registration or permit will be granted to the Group on
the terms anticipated by Celadon.

There is also no guarantee that any licence or permit already issued to the Celadon Group will not be
revoked during the term of the relevant licence or permit, or that the licence or permit will be renewed for a
further period of time or renewed on terms anticipated by the Celadon Group.

On 23 July 2021, CPL received a Home Office Licence following approval from the MHRA to apply for
the licence, allowing it to legally grow medicinal cannabis in the UK for the purpose of producing three

The Acquisition may not complete

(i) the passing of the Resolutions, which is to be sought at the General Meeting;

(ii) the Fundraising becoming unconditional in all respects, save as to completion of the Acquisition
and Admission;

(iii) the Company having net cash of not less than £6,500,000 less such amount (if any) of principal
as the Company may have provided to Vertigrow by way of a loan prior to completion of the
Acquisition;

(iv) the holders of convertible loan notes in Vertigrow exercising or procuring the exercise of their rights
of conversion into shares in the capital of Vertigrow prior to Admission; and

(v) Admission occurring.

Limited recourse under the Acquisition Agreement

RISKS SPECIFIC TO THE ENLARGED GROUP

Celadon does not receive UK API registration from the MHRA, or experiences delays in receiving
either of these and/or does not receive new controlled drugs licences from the Home Office or
receives a controlled drug licence from the Home Office with onerous conditions or is delayed in
obtaining any Home Office controlled drugs licence
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test batches of cannabis oil to support its application to the MHRA for registration as a manufacturer of
medicinal product APIs. This licence was renewed on 12 January 2022. If Celadon is not successful in
producing a test batch to the satisfaction of the MHRA, it has the ability to produce two further test batches
and reapply to the MHRA. The Home Office Licence prescribes the maximum number of cuttings to be
imported and the maximum number of cannabis plants and production of the maximum number of test
batches. If Celadon is not able to satisfy the MHRA following the maximum number of cultivated plants,
the Home Office Licence is no longer valid and Celadon would be required to reapply for a Home Office
licence. Accordingly, there is a risk that Celadon’s test batches fail to satisfy MHRA requirements and an
MHRA API registration is not granted.

If any current or future application made by a company in the Enlarged Group for a permit, registration
or licence is not approved, or any of the Celadon Group’s existing licences, registrations or permits are
revoked or not renewed, the Enlarged Group will not be able to undertake the activities for which the
relevant licence, registration or permit is required. This would adversely affect the Enlarged Group’s ability
to generate revenue, which would reduce the Enlarged Group’s overall profitability and adversely impact
its financial performance.

Celadon may encounter significant delays in registering as a UK API manufacturer with, and/or obtaining
UK-GMP certification from, the MHRA and/or to in obtaining a new controlled drugs licence from the Home
Office which will delay its ability to sell the grown cannabis, and/or which may require any grown cannabis
to be destroyed. Any such delays would adversely affect the Enlarged Group’s ability to generate revenue
from its grow operations, which would reduce the Enlarged Group’s overall profitability and adversely
impact its financial performance.

The Home Office Licence that CPL currently holds permits cultivation of cannabis for the sole purpose of
producing test batches of cannabis oil to support CPL’s application for registration with the MHRA as a
manufacturer and distributor of medicinal product API. Once CPL receives MHRA registration, CPL will
require a new Home Office licence in order to be permitted to cultivate, process and supply cannabis
products to holders of appropriate manufacturer’s authorisations for the purpose of further manufacture
into finished medicinal products. There is no guarantee that any such new licence will be granted. Further,
each Home Office controlled drugs licence is valid for one year, meaning CPL will need to apply for
renewal/replacement of each licence it has in advance of the end of each such period. Again, there is no
guarantee that a licence will be renewed/replaced whether on terms anticipated by Celadon or at all.

After receipt of registration from the MHRA and a new licence from the Home Office, the Celadon Group
will be subject to the requirement to comply with the terms of the licences and registration and with
UK-GMP, as well as applicable laws, on an ongoing basis. The Celadon Group (specifically the licence/
registration holder) expects to be subject to routine ongoing inspections and audits and the MHRA also
has the right to attend the Celadon Group’s facility to inspect at any point and without warning, and the
Enlarged Group could also be subject to unannounced inspections under the misuse of drugs legislation.
If the Enlarged Group should fail an inspection and not be in compliance with the requirements of licences/
registration or with UK-GMP, it is expected that the Enlarged Group would be allowed the opportunity to
rectify such non-compliance, however, the conduct of the licensed activity could be suspended pending
such remediation depending on the seriousness of the non-compliance. There also remains a risk that
the licences from the Home Office or the registration or UK-GMP certificate from the MHRA could be
withdrawn or restricted or that the licenced/registered entity could be prosecuted for non-compliance in
which event this would adversely affect the Enlarged Group’s ability to generate revenue, which would
reduce the Enlarged Group’s overall profitability and adversely impact its financial performance.

The Celadon Group was founded in 2018 and its activities, to date, have largely been focussed on
establishing the foundations for its business in order to be in a position to attain the required Home Office
licences and MHRA approvals and registrations in order to carry on its business. In addition, the Celadon
Group has recently acquired LVL and the Study is due to commence in March 2022, with the full Trial
expected to commence in the second half of 2022. In the event that the Trial is not formally approved by
the REC or that such approval is delayed, LVL will start and continue with the Study though the results of
the Study are likely to carry less weight than the fully approved Trial and therefore the Celadon Group may
not realise the full benefits expected from carrying out the Trial which may have an adverse effect on its

Celadon fails to retain UK-GMP certification and API manufacturer registration from the MHRA or
its controlled drug licences from the Home Office

Celadon has no reported revenues from inception to 30 June 2021 and only minimal revenues since
this date
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business and operations. Celadon Group’s lacks an established operating history and therefore investors
have no basis on which to evaluate Celadon Group’s ability to achieve its objective of operating a business.

The Celadon Group is early stage in its development and entering a relatively new market. The Celadon
Group will compete with established non-UK based competitors and emerging UK based competitors who
may have more resources and a more recognisable brand presence in the market. The Directors and
Proposed Directors believe that they have the experience and connections to ensure that the business
is able to compete with established rivals and take advantage of the market opportunities they have
identified.

Potential investors should be aware that any investment in an early-stage company, such as Celadon
Group, and any investment in an industry which is in the early stages of development, such as the
medicinal cannabis industry in the UK, should be considered highly speculative and involves several
significant risks including those set out in this Part III.

There are no guarantees or assurances that the Celadon Group will achieve any of its business objectives,
that Celadon or the Enlarged Group will be able to generate revenue (including the amount of such
revenue), that any cannabis that it cultivates will be commercially exploitable or that its trials and research
and development activities will be successful, or even if they are successful, able to generate the revenue
which is anticipated.

The Directors and Proposed Directors consider that the funds to be raised under the Fundraising are
sufficient to meet the Enlarged Group’s current business objectives and working capital requirements for
at least the period of 12 months from Admission. However, additional funding may be required after such
period if the Enlarged Group’s expected costs to meet its current objectives exceed its expectations, if
revenues generated are below expectations and/or if there are delays in receiving UK-GMP approval
from the MHRA or receiving a new Home Office licence. If additional funding is required, the Enlarged
Group will look to raise additional funds through equity financing, debt financing or a combination of both.
Failure to obtain sufficient funding, or on commercially acceptable terms, may result in delay and indefinite
postponement of the Enlarged Group’s activities or expansion plans. There can be no assurance that
additional financing will be available when needed, on terms appropriate to the Enlarged Group or that do
not involve substantial dilution to Shareholders.

The Celadon Group has only generated minimal revenues in FY21 from the LVL Private Pain Clinic, and
no revenues in the period from inception to 30 June 2021. The Celadon Group’s future profitability is
contingent on patient uptake of the Study and the Trial and sale of medical cannabis by the Celadon Group,
MHRA registrations and approvals, issue of a new Home Office licence permitting commercial production
and supply following receipt of MHRA registration, the results of the Trial, further development of the
number of Specials doctors, NICE recommendation of the use of the type of cannabis-based medicinal
products studied in the Trial for pain relief, general economic conditions, the level of competition in the
industry and regulatory factors.

Consequently, the level of any future sales by the Celadon Group of medical cannabis or from the Trial
cannot be accurately determined and the Enlarged Group cannot provide any guarantee that future sales
will be achieved. Even if future sales are achieved, they may not result in the Enlarged Group being
profitable. These risks may affect the profitability of the Enlarged Group and its financial prospects.

Research on the effects of medical cannabis and future clinical research studies may lead to conclusions
that dispute or conflict with the Enlarged Group’s understanding and belief regarding the medical benefits,
viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and social acceptance of cannabis.

Research in Israel, Europe and internationally regarding the medicinal benefits, viability, safety, efficacy
and dosing of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids (such as CBD and THC) remains in relatively early
stages.

Vertigrow is aware that significant consideration is being given to the potential medical applications of
cannabis and cannabis-derived products in the UK and worldwide, however, no consensus amongst

Additional funding may be required

Uncertainty of future revenue growth and profitability

There have been limited studies on the medical effects of cannabis and future clinical studies
and research may lead to conclusions which dispute or conflict with current beliefs regarding the
medicinal benefits, safety and efficacy, dosing and social acceptance of cannabis
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medical professionals has been reached to the potential benefits and concerns connected with cannabis
or cannabis-derived products. Such consensus will take time to build and will be affected by a wide range
of factors which may influence or inform the attitude of medical professionals to cannabis and cannabis
derived products in the short, medium and long term. If the consensus of medical professionals changes
from uncertain to identifying areas of concern, it may have a significant effect on the Enlarged Group’s
operations, strategies, and profitability, and on the ability of the Enlarged Group to continue to operate
or on its business, financial condition, results of operations and/or prospects either in the UK or in other
jurisdictions.

Future research and clinical trials may draw opposing conclusions to statements contained in the articles,
reports and studies referenced in this Document, or could reach different or negative conclusions regarding
the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing or other facts and perceptions related to medicinal
cannabis, which could adversely affect the permitted uses of and social acceptance of cannabis and the
demand for the Enlarged Group’s products. This could result in medical cannabis being prescribed in very
limited circumstances and, consequently, the market for medical cannabis products may not grow in line
with the expectations of the Directors and Proposed Directors. If this risk were to materialise, a market for
the Celadon Group’s medical cannabis products may not come into existence, which in turn will affect the
Enlarged Group's financial performance.

The medicinal cannabis industry in the UK is still in its infancy so many significant risks may arise. These
risks include delays in the grant or variation of various licences, approvals, registrations and permits that
can impact the timeframes within which the Enlarged Group can launch, develop and grow its business
and its ability to generate revenue.

There are also uncertainties associated with the medicinal cannabis legislative regime in the UK. The
operations and proposed operations of the Enlarged Group are subject to a variety of laws, regulations
and guidelines. As the medicinal cannabis industry continues to evolve in the UK, it is likely that there
will continue to be changes to existing legislation and/or the interpretation of the legal requirements which
govern the operations and contractual obligations of the Enlarged Group. In addition, there is a risk that
a regulatory body or a court could, in the future, change the interpretation of current laws which may
adversely impact the Enlarged Group. This, singularly or in aggregate, could impact adversely on the
assets, operations and the financial performance of the Enlarged Group and the medicinal cannabis
industry in general. In addition, should applicable laws and regulation change such that the Enlarged
Group's activities become unlawful or illegal, the admission of the Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM may
be suspended, which would impact Shareholders ability to trade in the Company’s Ordinary Shares and
the value of the Company’s Ordinary Shares.

Despite cannabis having been legalised for medicinal use, cannabis continues to be categorised as a
controlled substance and licence and/or permit violations could result in significant civil or criminal fines
and penalties, as well as potentially losing any licences issued. Any such sanction would adversely affect
the operations and financial performance of the Enlarged Group.

Celadon’s proposed medicinal cannabis products face competition from synthetic cannabis products,
established and developed pharmaceutical products or treatments, non-medicinal CBD products sold as
wellness products or supplements, or in jurisdictions where it is legal, the use of cannabis with moderate
to high THC, used recreationally to self-medicate symptoms or conditions. These alternative treatments
could render the Enlarged Group’s products obsolete and/or otherwise uncompetitive.

Notwithstanding the technical merits of a medicinal cannabis product there can be no assurance that
Celadon’s proposed products will be adopted as standard in medical practice or that the medical
procedures at which the Celadon Group’s products are targeted will gain wider market acceptance. At
present, the prescription of cannabis-based medicinal products remains low and is limited to specialist,
registered clinicians.

In the UK, both licensed and unlicensed medicines are available for prescription to patients. An unlicensed
medicine in the UK is one that is manufactured and/or supplied without a marketing authorisation. A
marketing authorisation is only granted after a medicinal product has been demonstrated to be safe,
of appropriate quality and effective. To obtain a marketing authorisation, such products are required to
undergo extensive clinical trials. Clinical trials recognised by the MHRA commonly take several years to
complete and require significant capital investment.

Other than in respect of a very limited number of medicinal cannabis products, all cannabis-based products
for medicinal use, including those produced using API produced by Celadon (in the event it obtains an API

Medicinal cannabis industry in the UK
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registration and the associated Home Office licences), will be an unlicensed medicine. Cannabis-based
products for medicinal use are listed under Schedule 2 of the 2001 Regulations and can be prescribed
medicinally as a Special where there is an unmet clinical need. Clinicians will have limited data on which
to prescribe an unlicensed medicine in the absence of clinical trials. Consequently, there are a number of
additional safeguards and restrictions which are applicable to the prescription of cannabis-based products
for medicinal use. The MHRA recommends that unlicensed medicines should only be used when existing
licensed medicinal products (meaning a product that has obtained marketing authorisation) are unable to
meet a patient's needs and this view is supported by the General Medical Council. In particular, unlicensed
cannabis-based products for medicinal use can only be prescribed by clinicians listed on a specialist
register maintained by the General Medical Council and any prescription must be made on a “named
patient” basis.

The prescription of Celadon’s products may require clinicians to undergo professional education in respect
of prescribing medicinal cannabis products. On 8 August 2019, NHS England published a review titled
“Barriers to accessing cannabis-based products for medicinal use on NHS prescription” (the “NHS England
Report”). The NHS England Report found that the prescription of medicinal cannabis products left some
clinicians, and particularly those in a generalist role, feeling that they do not have specialist professional
education needed to make fully informed prescribing decisions in cases where a medicinal cannabis
product may be appropriate. The lack of education and training has presented an initial barrier to the
prescription of medical cannabis products.

The NHS England Report also noted that the prescription of medicinal cannabis products for complex
conditions would be likely to rely upon specialist clinical networks, noting that UK-wide network of specialist
clinics would be more able to provide improved specialist care to children and clinical expertise in complex
and difficult to manage cases.

The NHS Report further identified a lack of quality evidence in respect of the safety and effectiveness of
medicinal cannabis products and, in particular, a lack of randomised controlled trials. NHS England noted
that such considerations have weighed heavily on prescribing decisions in the UK.

The successful commercialisation of medicinal cannabis products in the UK relies upon prescriptions being
made for such products. There are a number of factors currently limiting the prescription of medicinal
cannabis products in the UK including inter alia a lack of education and training in the medical profession, a
lack of randomised control trials and clinical evidence and research demonstrating the safety and efficacy
of medicinal cannabis products and current NICE guidelines supporting the use of medicinal cannabis
products as a cost-effective treatment in only a limited range of conditions. In the event that there is only
a limited or no improvement in the prescribing of medicinal cannabis products, Celadon may experience
lower demand for its products, whether raw materials, directly extracted oils or manufactured APIs, which
would adversely impact the Enlarged Group’s revenues, results of operations and financial position.

The cultivation and supply of medicinal cannabis relies on agricultural processes and inputs. Celadon
intends to grow and manufacture its own high quality medicinal cannabis in the UK. Whilst the cannabis will
be grown indoors, there are a number of risks inherent in operating as a primary producer in the agriculture
industry, including plant diseases, intermittent electricity supply, pests and force majeure events. Similar
risks are inherent in LVL’s existing third party import agreement for the supply of medical cannabis products
for the Trial as they will also directly affect LVL’s supplier of medicinal cannabis products.

There are also numerous risks associated with the construction and use of alternative cultivation systems
to grow medicinal cannabis, including sourcing of suitable cannabis varieties, plant diseases,
underestimating the costs and time for cultivation, underestimating the lighting/heating requirements and
costs of installation, human error in the execution of engineering and construction, equipment failure,
supplier delays and underestimating breakages and consumables.

Any interruption to the controlled environment including power failures, lighting failures, lack of water,
breach of security protocols, pests or plant diseases or the introduction of new cannabis varieties with
uncertain or unknown indoor growing history may materially impact on the grow time and therefore the
number of harvests or the cannabinoid oil yield generated from each harvest.

Any adverse outcomes in respect of these matters would adversely affect the Enlarged Group's current
and future business activities and operations, financial performance and prospects.

Agricultural risks associated with cannabis cultivation
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Celadon's business is dependent on a number of key inputs, such as electricity, water and other utilities, as
well as cultivation materials and inputs, equipment, parts and components related to on-going operations.
Any significant interruption, price increase or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply
chain for key inputs could curtail production and, in particular, rising or volatile energy costs could increase
costs and make the supply chain uneconomical. In addition, operations would be significantly affected by
a prolonged power outage. As with any cultivation or manufacturing operation, the availability of reputable
suppliers of key inputs and any significant interruption or change in availability or costs of key inputs
could materially impact the production process and subsequently the product available for supply. This
would affect the operating results of the Enlarged Group during the period which these risks materialise.
The Enlarged Group's ability to compete and grow cannabis is also dependent on it having access, at
a reasonable cost and in a timely manner, to inputs, materials, equipment, parts and components. No
assurances can be given that the members of the Enlarged Group will be successful in maintaining their
equipment, facilities and supply chain.

In addition, the cultivation and manufacture of medicinal cannabis requires a deep understanding of
cultivation and processing techniques and technologies. The Enlarged Group's competitiveness and
financial performance may be adversely affected if it fails to continue to invest in understanding and
implementing innovative cultivation technologies and processes.

Any significant interruption or negative changes in the availability or economics of the supply chain for
the inputs could materially impact the business, financial condition and operating results of the Enlarged
Group.

Celadon is relatively newly established and has not obtained all the licences, approvals and registrations
required to permit it to grow cannabis. Accordingly, the Celadon Group has no history of growing cannabis,
there is a risk that the Celadon Group is unable to grow cannabis to the required quality and standards or
in the expected quantities. If that was the case, the Enlarged Group may not be able generate the level
of revenue that would be achieved from the sale of high-quality pharmaceutical grade cannabis, and it
may need to be sold for other market applications, such as consumer products, or not at all. A failure by
Celadon to cultivate cannabis to the required standards or in sufficient quantities would adversely affect the
Enlarged Group's ability to generate revenue, which would reduce the Enlarged Group’s overall profitability
and adversely impact its financial performance.

There is a risk that the API products intended to be sold by the Enlarged Group may cause serious or
unexpected side effects including risk of injury to patients, including patients to be recruited for the Trial
and/or other future trials. Should any of the Group’s products be associated with safety risks such as
misuse or abuse, tampering by unauthorised third parties or product contamination or spoilage, a number
of materially adverse outcomes could occur.

These adverse outcomes include the risk that regulatory authorities may revoke licences, approvals and/
or registrations that have been granted to the Enlarged Group, impose more onerous facility standards
or force the Enlarged Group to conduct a product recall or other corrective actions. The Enlarged Group
could also be subject to regulatory action or be sued and held liable for any harm caused to users. Such
adverse outcomes could cause reputational harm to the Group and its brand.

The Enlarged Group intends to implement rigorous standards in respect of product and safety and will take
out insurance coverage to mitigate these risks in a manner customary with industry practice. However,
the Enlarged Group cannot guarantee that all such risks will be adequately managed through maintaining
its rigorous standards or its insurance policies, or that such insurance policies will be or will continue to
be available on acceptable terms or at all. These risks could result in the loss or delay in generating
revenue, loss of market share, failure to achieve market acceptance, diversion of development resources,
and damage to the Enlarged Group’s reputation and/or increased insurance costs.

In order to remain competitive, the Enlarged Group intends to continue to undertake research and
development. The Company makes no representation that any of the Enlarged Group’s research into or
development of its products will be successful or that the products that are commercially exploitable.

Uncertainties associated with inputs for cannabis cultivation and product manufacture

Quality of grown cannabis

Risk of adverse events, product liability or other safety issues

Research and development
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There are many risks inherent in the development of products, particularly where the products are in the
early stages of development. Projects can be delayed or fail to demonstrate any benefit, or research may
cease to be viable for a range of scientific and commercial reasons.

In addition, there may not be sufficient resources to maintain the Enlarged Group’s research and
development activities and sales and patient support efforts. The Company provides no assurance that
the Enlarged Group’s research and development activities will result in the creation of any new intellectual
property or know-how capable of being utilised in the Enlarged Group's business activities.

The success of the Enlarged Group depends to a significant degree on its key personnel and its ability to
retain experienced and high performing personnel. The current management team of the Celadon Group
has a detailed understanding of the medicinal cannabis industry and, more broadly, the pharmaceutical
industry. Celadon is reliant on a small number of key employees and consultants. The inception and
progress of the Celadon Group to date has been in large part due to the experience of the Celadon
Founders and directors. In addition, the Home Office requires the Celadon Group to have two “named
persons” as part of Celadon’s Home Office licences who are required to pass an enhanced disclosure and
barring service (“DBS”) checks. The Celadon Group’s two named persons are currently James Short and
Paul Allen. If either of these persons are no longer capable of satisfying the enhanced DBS check then
Celadon would be required to put forward a new “named person” acceptable to the Home Office and with
suitable DBS results.

As at 31 January 2021 the Enlarged Group had a total of 18 employees and has retained the services
of five consultants. There is no assurance that employment agreements, service contracts or consulting
agreements will not be terminated, or that they will be renewed. Consultants to or employees of the
Enlarged Group may be able to cease working on behalf of the Enlarged Group, either due to such
arrangements being terminated or not renewed, at short notice, which could be during periods that are
critical to the operation of the business or the development of products. If such contracts are terminated
or breached, or if these individuals no longer continue in their current roles, new personnel will need to be
employed, possibly at short notice and this may adversely affect the operation of the business.

The loss of key management personnel, and any delay in their replacement, may adversely affect the
Enlarged Group’s ability to develop and implement its business and growth strategies or increase the costs
of obtaining suitable personnel.

While the Enlarged Group intends to put in place appropriate agreements with all its key employees and
consultants which provide appropriate financial incentives to remain with the Enlarged Group, there can be
no guarantee that those key employees and consultants will remain with the Enlarged Group.

There is also a risk that the Enlarged Group cannot attract, retain or develop the relevant skilled individuals
it requires to successfully execute its business plan. Should this occur, it is likely to have a materially
adverse impact on the Enlarged Group’s operations, financial performance and future prospects.

The development and production of medical cannabis products is a new and evolving industry. There
are only a few companies globally manufacturing such products to UK-GMP certified pharmaceutical
standards. There is a limited number of individuals with an understanding of the industry, the regulatory
framework or products and their development. The Enlarged Group may face significant delays or
competition in recruiting or locating individuals with the necessary skills or attributes to successfully
integrate into the business in a way which promotes its future development and implementation of the
strategy. As the Enlarged Group expands its operations it may need to recruit personnel either from
other medicinal cannabis companies, or other industry sectors, which may take time, either to source
acceptable candidates, or to have them commencing working in the business. Given the limited number of
individuals who may be available to the Enlarged Group at any given time, there may be significant delays
in recruitment, which could have a material adverse effect on continuing or expanding operations of the
business which could in turn have a material and adverse effect on the financial condition or operation of
the Enlarged Group.

The UK voted to leave the European Union in a referendum held on 23 June 2016 and the Enlarged Group
faces risks associated with the political and economic instability associated with this following the end of
the transition period under the Withdrawal Agreement between the UK and EU on 31 December 2020. It

Loss of key management personnel and attracting key employees

There is a limited pool of individuals with developed skills in the medicinal cannabis industry

Brexit
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could result in restrictions on the movement of capital and people between the EU and the UK, which may
impact the Enlarged Group’s ability to recruit and retain personnel with the necessary scientific, medical
and technical skills it requires. In addition, it may inhibit the Enlarged Group’s ability, and the ability of
its suppliers, to source the API required for the Enlarged Group’s operations prior to it producing its own
API, whether from EU countries or from outside the European Union pursuant to the UK’s existing trade
arrangements. Disruption to the UK’s import capacity, particularly at ports, could also affect the availability
of product to the Enlarged Group. If any of these risks occur it could have a material adverse effect on the
Enlarged Group’s future prospects or operations.

The industry in which Celadon operates is subject to domestic and international competition. While the
Enlarged Group will undertake all reasonable due diligence in its business decisions and operations, the
Enlarged Group will have no influence or control over the activities or actions of its competitors, which
activities or actions may, positively or negatively, affect the operating and financial performance of the
Enlarged Group.

Some of the Enlarged Group’s competitors and potential competitors may have significantly more financial
resources than the Enlarged Group, which may lead to reduced margins and loss of revenue or loss of
market share. Further, revenues in the future may be reduced as the industry consolidates and seeks
revenue accretion at the expense of profit margin.

There is a risk that an incident beyond the control of the Enlarged Group could occur which would have
the effect of reducing patient, medical/scientific or regulatory confidence or preferences for cannabis or
medical cannabis products generally or the Enlarged Group’s products specifically. Such incidents could
include:

The consequences of such an incident could be very significant for the Enlarged Group, with adverse
impacts potentially including reduced revenues and financial performance and prospects.

The Enlarged Group’s initial market is the UK, and Celadon has focused its efforts to date on establishing
a supply chain to enable it to serve customers in the UK. Members of the Enlarged Group may, in the
future, choose to expand their operations into countries other than the UK and, in doing so, may become
subject to applicable laws and regulation in that jurisdiction. The Company will investigate the regulatory
regime applicable in the given jurisdiction prior to entering a new market, and will structure the Enlarged
Group’s operations so as to comply with the laws in each jurisdiction in which it operates. However, the
applicable law or regulation may change (either in the UK or another relevant jurisdiction) and such change
may result in the regulatory regimes becoming incompatible or require the Enlarged Group to restructure
its operations in order to comply with applicable law and regulation. Such regulatory change could have
an adverse effect on the ability of the Enlarged Group to continue to operate or on its business, financial
condition, results of operations and/or prospects either in the UK or in other jurisdictions.

The Company will be admitted to AIM on the basis that its business relating to medicinal cannabis is
conducted in the UK only, for which the Company has in place or will have in place all relevant consents
and permits as set out in this Document. Admission to AIM is subject to a special condition pursuant to
AIM Rule 9 that in the event that the Company undertakes any business relating to cannabis or cannabis-

Competition may increase

Reputational impact as a result of matters outside the Enlarged Group’s control

• the occurrence of a serious health or product risk incident involving a product or clinical trial of a
competitor of the Enlarged Group or another industry participant;

• negative medical or scientific report(s) or negative media and press in respect of cannabis or medical
cannabis products of a competitor of the Enlarged Group or another industry participant resulting in
a widespread loss of patient, medical/scientific and/or regulatory authority confidence in cannabis or
medical cannabis products;

• negative press article/s on member(s) of the Enlarged Group and/or the Enlarged Group’s key
personnel; and

• a material breach of any laws or regulations by a competitor of the Enlarged Group or another industry
participant or any material adverse finding or determination of any inquiry or investigations by any
regulatory authority involving a competitor of the Enlarged Group or another industry participant.

The Enlarged Group may, in the future, expand the provision of its services into other jurisdictions,
and may become subject to competing regulatory requirements
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related activities in any jurisdiction beyond the scope set out in this Document, such change will be deemed
to constitute an acquisition resulting in a fundamental change in the Company’s business for the purposes
of AIM Rule 14 and as a result, any such change would be subject to the prior approval of Shareholders,
and if approved, the Company's existing listing would be cancelled and the Company would need to apply
for re-admission of the Ordinary Shares as a new listing. There can be no guarantee that in the event that
the Enlarged Group seeks to expand into jurisdictions outside the UK, even if Shareholders approve the
expansion, London Stock Exchange will consent to the re-admission of the Ordinary Shares to trading on
AIM. In such an event, the Directors and Proposed Directors would seek to apply to another appropriate
stock exchange for the Ordinary Shares to be listed but there is no guarantee that any such listing would
be achieved.

While the Company is structuring the Enlarged Group’s operations to be compliant with applicable law and
regulations, banks and other financial institutions may refuse to provide bank accounts and other banking
services to companies which engage in the cannabis sector for a number of reasons, such as perceived
compliance risks or costs. If this is the case, the Company and/or other members of the Enlarged Group
may have and may continue to have difficulty in finding banks willing to provide it with bank accounts and
other banking services, which could have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and/or prospects.

The Company intends to take a prudent approach to procuring insurance for the Enlarged Group’s
business. However, given the relative novelty of the medicinal cannabis sector and the perceived risks
faced by businesses operating in the sector, such insurance may not be available or may be uneconomical
for the Company, or the nature or level available from insurers may be insufficient to provide adequate
insurance cover. The occurrence of an event that is not covered in whole or in part by insurance could
have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group. In the event of a claim, the relevant member(s) of
the Enlarged Group may have difficulty recovering the relevant amounts from insurers should settlement
not be forthcoming, and may be obliged to take legal action against such insurer which could have a
material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and/or
prospects.

The Enlarged Group is exposed to the risk that its employees, contractors and agents may engage in
fraudulent or other illegal activity, including intentional undertakings of unauthorised activities or reckless
or negligent undertakings of authorised activities, in each case on behalf of a member of the Enlarged
Group or in its service that violate, among other things, government regulations, manufacturing standards,
healthcare laws and regulations, financial and other requirements or the terms of the Enlarged Group’s
agreements with insurers. These outcomes would result in significant reputational and financial loss and
damage for the Enlarged Group.

The Company is also subject to the risk of theft of the Enlarged Group’s products and other security
breaches by both internal and external actors, including criminal organisations and black-market operators.
The security of the Enlarged Group’s products at its facilities and during transportation to and from the

Banks may not provide banking services, or may cut off banking services, to businesses that
provide cannabis and cannabis-derived or related products

The members of the Enlarged Group have incurred and will continue to incur time and expense in
establishing and refining their operations and product range(s). In so doing, members of the Enlarged
Group have developed and will continue to develop intellectual property, including trade secrets. In order
to commercialise this intellectual property, the relevant member(s) of the Enlarged Group may be required
to share such intellectual property with its employees and contractors and with third parties it engages to
perform services. In so doing, there is a risk that the intellectual property is leaked or misused. Such leak
or misuse could provide a competitor an insight into the Enlarged Group’s operations and processes which
could provide an advantage to that competitor in competing with the Enlarged Group, and therefore could
have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business, revenue, financial condition, profitability,
prospects and results of operations.

The Enlarged Group may be unable to protect or keep confidential its intellectual property rights,
including trade secrets

The Company may not be able to secure adequate insurance coverage on terms or for a cost which
are acceptable to the Company

Fraud and security risk
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Enlarged Group’s facilities is critical to its business operations. A breach of security during transport or a
security breach at the Enlarged Group's facilities could result in a significant loss of available high-value
product, expose member(s) of the Enlarged Group to additional liability under applicable regulations and to
potentially costly litigation or increased expenses relating to the resolution and future prevention of similar
thefts, any of which could have an adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business, its financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. Any failure to take steps necessary to ensure the safekeeping of
the Enlarged Group’s cannabis materials or products could also have an impact on the Enlarged Group’s
ability to continue operating under its existing licences, to renew or receive amendments to its existing
licences or to receive required new licences or approvals.

Celadon already relies and the Enlarged Group will increasingly rely on information technology platforms
and software including enterprise resource planning systems to manage many or all aspects of its
operations. These systems are potentially susceptible to malfunction, network failures, maintenance
issues, outages, wilful or accidental or mistaken use or data entry, theft or misuse, acts of vandalism,
hacking, sabotage, viruses, spear-phishing, and ransomware attacks. The occurrence of one or more of
these events or attacks could significantly comprise the Enlarged Group’s operations and result in delays
to production or sales resulting in loss or damage to the Company.

Members of the Enlarged Group will also collect personal or sensitive information from individuals in
connection with the conduct of its operations, in particular in connection with the Study, Trial and/
or any pilot feasibility study relating to the same. This information may include special categories of
data, such as health data of patients, which require additional conditions and safeguards in order to be
processed. Members of the Enlarged Group and its employees may intentionally or inadvertently collect
personal or sensitive information or use such information contrary to applicable laws, which could result in
significant loss or damage, including reputational damage, to the Company. In addition, the risks described
above could also result in breaches of data security, loss of critical data, and the release, misuse or
misappropriation of sensitive or personal information, potentially leading to claims for loss or damage
from third parties affected by, or civil or criminal claims from regulators arising from, such breach, loss or
release.

The Enlarged Group is subject to a number of laws relating to privacy and data protection, including
the General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679) as it forms part of retained direct
EU legislation as defined in the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, as amended (the “UK GDPR”),
the UK’s Data Protection Act 2018 and the UK's Privacy and Electronic Communications (EC Directive)
Regulations 2003. Such laws govern the Enlarged Group’s ability to collect, use and transfer personal data
relating to employees and others and also the sensitive health data of participants in feasibility studies
and clinical trials, including transferring this data outside the UK subject to appropriate safeguards. The
Enlarged Group relies on third-party service providers and its own employees to collect and process
personal data and to maintain its databases. Therefore, the Enlarged Group is exposed to the risk that
such data could be wrongfully appropriated, lost or disclosed, damaged or processed in breach of privacy
or data protection laws, including the UK GDPR. Breach of such privacy or data protection laws could result
in large fines or penalties being imposed upon the Enlarged Group, which could have a material adverse
effect on the Enlarged Group’s financial condition and reputation.

Emerging infectious diseases or the threat of outbreaks of viruses or other contagions or epidemic
diseases, including the current COVID-19 pandemic, could have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged
Group by causing operational and supply chain delays and disruptions (including as a result of Government
regulation and prevention measures), labour shortages and shutdowns, social unrest, delays in recruitment
for clinical trials, breach of material contracts and collaboration and research agreements, Government
or regulatory actions or inactions, increased insurance premiums, decreased demand for or the inability
to sell and deliver products, delays in permitting or approvals, Governmental disruptions, capital markets
volatility, or other unknown but potentially significant impacts. In addition, Governments may impose strict
emergency measures in response to the threat or existence of an infectious disease.

Accordingly, whilst the Directors and Proposed Directors believe the pandemic will bear no impact on the

Systems, privacy and data protection, and IP breach risk

Data privacy compliance breaches or failure to protect confidential information could harm the
Enlarged Group’s reputation and expose the Enlarged Group to litigation or other legal or
regulatory actions.

The risks to the Enlarged Group relating to infectious diseases and COVID-19
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Enlarged Group’s working capital position, as the full extent and impact of the current COVID-19 pandemic
is currently unknown, it is not possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of the pandemic and the
impact on the financial results and condition of the Enlarged Group in the longer term outside of the period
of 12 months following Admission.

To date the global impact of COVID-19 has included extreme volatility in financial markets, a slowdown
in economic activity and has raised the prospect of a global recession. The international response to
COVID-19, which has led to significant restrictions on travel, temporary business closures, quarantines,
global stock market volatility and a general reduction in global consumer activity, could adversely affect the
economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an economic downturn that could result in
a material adverse effect on, investor confidence, and general financial market liquidity, all of which may
adversely affect the Enlarged Group’s business and the market price of the Ordinary Shares.

Accordingly, any outbreak or threat of an outbreak of an epidemic disease or similar public health
emergency, including COVID-19, could have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations. It is unknown whether and how the Enlarged Group may be
affected if a pandemic, such as the COVID-19 outbreak, persists for an extended period of time.

Where an individual is engaged on a self-employed basis, there is a risk of HMRC taking the view that the
true nature of the relationship between the engager and the individual is that of an employer and employee.

In particular, the Celadon Group held no employees on its payroll throughout the Celadon Group's
2019 and 2020 fiscal years, engaging a number of off-payroll workers to whom payments have been
made without being subject to income tax and NIC (via the payroll). All individuals were engaged on
a self-employed basis with the exception of Jonathan Rickard, Chief Operating Officer, who has been
remunerated through a limited company. There is a risk that HMRC could form the view that the consultants
should be treated as employees based on their roles. Where HMRC successfully takes the view that they
are to be treated as employees and deems that “careless” behaviour applies, they will seek to recover from
the Celadon Group the tax and NIC due on all payments made in relation to these individuals, in respect of
the period of engagement or last six tax years (whichever is the lesser), together with interest charges and
penalties. In the event of a successful challenge by HMRC and assuming that any assessment is either
not recovered from the individuals concerned or offset against any tax/NIC paid by the individual this may
affect the profitability of the Enlarged Group and its financial prospects.

A number of directors and employees of Vertigrow Technology Ltd acquired shares in that entity, for
which the consideration paid was equal to the nominal value of the shares and no section 431 elections,
under the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003, were completed. If HMRC were to successfully
contend that the market value for tax purposes on the date(s) shares were acquired by such directors
and employees was more than the consideration paid, in a material sense, then there is a risk that they
would seek to apply an employment income charge on the excess which may affect the profitability of the
Enlarged Group, its cash reserves and its financial prospects.

Celadon's current ability to generate revenue from LVL is reliant on a services agreement between LVL and
Grow Pharma procuring the supply of certain medicinal cannabis products in order to provide medicinal
cannabis for the Study and the Trial. The material terms of this services agreement are summarised in
paragraph 15.1.12 of Part VII. In order to perform its obligations under this agreement, Grow Pharma is
reliant on performance it will procure from Vertical Pharma Resources Limited (“Vertical”), which in turn is
dependent on Vertical holding and maintaining certain licences, registrations and approvals. In the event
that Grow Pharma and/or Vertical were to fail to, or become unable to, procure and/or make the supplies
contracted under the services agreement or if Grow Pharma were to terminate the services agreement,
the Enlarged Group would be required to find another licenced importer of medicinal cannabis that is able
to source the medicinal cannabis approved for the Trial, and may be unable to earn revenue from the
Trial unless alternative supply arrangements can be negotiated and approved. The inability of the Enlarged
Group to generate the expected (or any) revenue from the Trial would have a material adverse impact on
the Enlarged Group’s financial performance and prospects

Self-employed persons

Employment-related securities

Grow Pharma fail to supply cannabis to the Study and the Trial and LVL is not able to source
cannabis for the Study or the Trial from Vertigrow or third parties
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The Trial was designed by SEEK. In the event that SEEK were unable to retain and/or replace (or if there
was any significant delay in replacing) any of its key personnel involved in supporting LVL, this may have a
material adverse effect on LVL’s business and operations and therefore the Enlarged Group’s operations,
financial performance and future prospects.

The Trial is not approved, fails to meet its objectives and/or to complete in its entirety

The MHRA and Research Ethics Committee have the authority to review the ongoing progress of the Trial
and the Trial has been conditionally approved by MHRA but has not yet been approved by the Research
Ethics Committee. LVL intends to commence the Study in March 2022 with a view to obtaining Research
Ethics Committee approval of the Trial. In the event that the Trial is not formally approved by the Research
Ethics Committee or that such approval is delayed, LVL will start and continue with the Study though the
results of the Study will not provide data on the safety and/or efficacy of a medicinal product. If the Trial is
approved by the Research Ethics Committee and protocols are not subsequently adhered to there is a risk
that the approval of the Trial may be withdrawn by either MHRA or the Research Ethics Committee.

The Trial has conditional authorisation from the MHRA to recruit up to 5,000 patients for the Trial. Although
the Research Ethics Committee has since approved the recruitment of at least 100 patients for the
Feasibility Study, LVL can apply for this number to be increased. Given that patients will fund the Trial
through the purchase of treatment with medicinal cannabis products, and also because there has not been
a MHRA and REC approved trial of this size conducted in the UK (or the Directors and Proposed Directors
believe, any such MHRA and REC approved trial of similar size), there is a risk that LVL is not successful
in recruiting and/or retaining a sufficient number of patients.

If the Trial is not approved (including where the conditions of the approval are not met), or approval for
the Trial is withdrawn and/or changed, meaning that the Trial cannot be completed or must proceed on a
different basis, the commercial prospects of the Enlarged Group’s medicinal products may be harmed, and
its ability to generate revenues arising from the provision of referrals and/or treatment involving cannabis-
based medicinal products will be delayed. This may also reduce the commercial prospects of the Enlarged
Group generating revenues from future supply of cannabis APIs.

The outcome of any approved or recognised clinical trials cannot be predicted with certainty. Any adverse
findings from the Trial (including any findings which are a health risk or insufficient to clinically support
the case for the therapeutic effects of medicinal cannabis or related products or which clinically support
the treatment for only very limited diseases or symptoms, as to be determined by the relevant authorities)
is likely to or may have an adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s existing and proposed activities and
operations, financial performance and prospects and/or the industry generally.

A fundamental part of the Trial is to measure dosing and the time patients are taking their medicine. The
delivery system is therefore a critical part of the Trial. The RYAH inhalation device is approved by Health
Canada as a medical device and will be an investigational device for the purposes of the Trial. Should the
RYAH inhalation device not perform as expected, or suffer other operational problems, or otherwise cannot
be used for the Study and/or Trial for regulatory or other reasons, then there is a risk that the Study and/or
the Trial may be delayed, the Trial data will not be properly captured and/or that the dosing to patients will
not comply with the Trial protocol. LVL may be required to identify another company that offers a similar
inhalation device in order to commence or continue the Study and/or Trial and there is no guarantee that
LVL would be able to identify a suitable alternative company.

In addition, should LVL fail to purchase the minimum quantity of inhalation devices from RYAH as detailed
in the product supply and distribution agreement summarised in paragraph 15.1.13 of Part VII, there is a
risk that LVL will lose the exclusive use of the inhalation device in the UK, or the agreement is terminated
and LVL would need to find an alternate supplier of a suitable inhalation device.

Clinical trials are expensive, time consuming and difficult to design and implement. LVL intends to conduct
the Trial once it has received REC approval and met the conditions for the clinical trial authorisation issued
by MHRA, however as the aim of the Trial is not to seek regulatory authorisation for a specific medicinal
product the Trial is not a typical three-phase clinical trial. It is intended that Kingdom will undertake

LVL is reliant on the provision of certain services by SEEK

Trial data does not show increased efficacy

Termination of agreement with RYAH

Risks associated with clinical trials
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traditional pharmaceutical three phase clinical trials. Even if the results are favourable, the clinical trials are
expected to continue for several years and may take significantly longer to complete.

Furthermore, a clinical trial can fail at any time during the trial process and the Enlarged Group’s future
clinical trial results may not be significant. If the Enlarged Group experiences delays in the completion of,
or termination of, any clinical trial, the commercial prospects of the medicinal products may be harmed, and
the Enlarged Group’s ability to generate product revenues the supply of APIs for any of these medicinal
products will be delayed.

Any of the above could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations
and financial condition.

There is a risk that even if the trial data from the Trial demonstrates the safety and efficacy of the cannabis
treatment for pain relief, the data may still not be relied upon by NICE to recommend the type of cannabis-
based medicinal product studied in the Trial for this purpose. This would impact Celadon’s strategy for
supplying its API to companies producing cannabis products for supply to the NHS for prescription and in
due course for supplying the Enlarged Group’s cannabis products.

Given the limited amount of clinical trial data available on medicinal cannabis, the Directors and Proposed
Directors believe that even if the data was not relied upon by NICE to recommend the type of cannabis-
based medicinal product studied in the Trial for the uses studied in the Trial it would still be valuable data for
doctors on the specialist register in their prescription of medicinal cannabis and would inform the Enlarged
Group on the design of subsequent trials for other products.

However, if NICE did not recommend the type of cannabis-based medicinal product studied in the Trial
for the uses studied in the Trial, and Celadon is not able to supply the type of cannabis-based medicinal
product studied in the Trial to the NHS, it may have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s
revenues, future prospects and operations

Admission will only become effective following completion of the Acquisition and the Fundraising and with
the approval of the London Stock Exchange. If completion of the Acquisition and the Fundraising occurs
but Admission does not, there is a risk that the Ordinary Shares will be suspended from trading on AIM until
such time that AIM approve the Admission of the Ordinary Shares to trading. If Admission does not take
place within six months of the suspension, the trading of the Ordinary Shares on AIM may be cancelled.

The attention of prospective investors is drawn to paragraph 10 in Part VII of this Document headed
"Taxation". Any change in the Enlarged Group's tax status or in taxation legislation could affect the
Enlarged Group's ability to provide returns to Shareholders or alter post tax returns to Shareholders.
Statements in this Document concerning the taxation of holders of Ordinary Shares are based on current
UK tax law and practice, which is subject to change. The taxation of an investment in the Enlarged Group
depends on the individual circumstances of prospective investors.

The Placing Price may not be indicative of the market price for the Ordinary Shares following Admission.
As the Ordinary Shares have been suspended since 21 September 2021, their market value may
be uncertain and may be subject to wide fluctuations in response to many factors, including those
referred to in this Part III, as well as stock market fluctuations, changes in financial estimates by industry
participants or securities analysts and general economic conditions or changes in political sentiment that
may substantially affect the market price of the Ordinary Shares irrespective of the Enlarged Group's actual
financial, trading or operational performance. These factors could include the performance of the Enlarged
Group, large purchases or sales of the Ordinary Shares (or the perception that such sales may occur, as,
for example in the period leading up to the expiration of the various lock-in agreements to which certain
Shareholders are subject), legislative changes and market, economic, political or regulatory conditions.
The combination of one or more of these factors could mean that investors are unable to recover their
original investment in the Ordinary Shares.

Trial data show increased efficacy but is not endorsed by NICE

RISKS RELATING TO THE ORDINARY SHARES AND THE AIM MARKET

Risk that re-admission of the Existing Ordinary Shares and admission of the Placing Shares and
the Consideration Shares do not become effective

Taxation

Volatility of Ordinary Share price
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Admission to trading on AIM should not be taken as implying that a liquid market for the Ordinary Shares
will either develop or be sustained following Admission. The liquidity of a securities market is often a
function of the volume of the underlying Ordinary Shares that are publicly held by unrelated parties. If a
liquid trading market for Ordinary Shares does not develop, the price of Ordinary Shares may become
more volatile and it may be more difficult to complete a buy or sell order for Ordinary Shares.

Ordinary Shares will be admitted to trading on AIM and will not be admitted to the Official List of the
Financial Conduct Authority or to any other stock exchange. The rules of AIM are less rigorous than those
of the Official List and an investment in Ordinary Shares traded on AIM may carry a higher risk than an
investment in shares admitted to the Official List. In addition, the market in Ordinary Shares on AIM may
have limited liquidity, making it more difficult for an investor to realise its investment than might be the case
in respect of an investment in shares which are quoted on the London Stock Exchange's main market for
listed securities. Prospective investors should therefore be aware that the market price of the Ordinary
Shares may be more volatile than the market prices of shares quoted on the London Stock Exchange's
main market for listed securities and may not reflect the underlying value of the net assets of the Enlarged
Group. For these and other reasons, investors may not be able to sell at a price which permits them to
recover their original investment.

This Document has been prepared on the basis of current legislation, rules and practice and the Directors'
interpretation thereof. Such interpretation may not be correct and it is always possible that legislation, rules
and practice may change.

The Directors (having made due and careful enquiry) are of the opinion that the working capital available
to the Company and the Enlarged Group is sufficient for its present requirements, that is for at least 12
months from the date of Admission. If the Enlarged Group fails to generate sufficient revenue, then it may
need to raise additional capital in the future, whether from equity or debt sources, to fund expansion and
development. If the Enlarged Group is unable to obtain this financing on terms acceptable to it, then it may
be forced to curtail its planned strategic development. If additional funds are raised through the issue of
new equity or equity-linked securities of the Enlarged Group other than on the basis of a pro rata offer
to existing Shareholders, the percentage ownership of such Shareholders may be substantially diluted.
There is no guarantee that market conditions prevailing at the relevant time will allow for such a fundraising
or that new investors will be prepared to subscribe for Ordinary Shares at a price which is equal to or in
excess of the Placing Price.

The Company cannot assure investors that the Ordinary Shares will always continue to be traded on AIM
or on any other exchange. If such trading were to cease, certain investors may decide to sell their shares,
which could have an adverse impact on the price of the Ordinary Shares. Additionally, if in the future the
Company decides to obtain a listing on another exchange in addition or as an alternative to AIM, the level
of liquidity of the Ordinary Shares traded on AIM could decline.

In addition, the Company will be admitted to AIM on the basis that its business relating to medicinal
cannabis is conducted in the UK only, for which the Company has in place or will have in place all relevant
consents and permits as set out in this Document. Admission to AIM is subject to a special condition
pursuant to AIM Rule 9 that in the event that the Company undertakes any business relating to cannabis

Liquidity of Ordinary Shares

Ordinary Shares quoted on AIM may carry a higher risk than an investment in shares quoted on the
Official List

Legislation and compliance

Additional capital and dilution

There can be no assurance that certain Directors, Proposed Directors or other Shareholders will not elect
to sell their Ordinary Shares following the expiry of the Lock-in Arrangements, details of which are set out
in paragraph 15.1.7 of Part VII of this Document, or otherwise. The market price of Ordinary Shares could
decline as a result of any such sales of Ordinary Shares or as a result of the perception that these sales
may occur. In addition, if these or any other sales were to occur, the Company may in the future have
difficulty in offering Ordinary Shares at a time or at a price it deems appropriate.

Substantial sales of Ordinary Shares

There is no guarantee that the Company's Ordinary Shares will continue to be traded on AIM
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or cannabis-related activities in any jurisdiction beyond the scope set out in this Document, such change
will be deemed to constitute an acquisition resulting in a fundamental change in the Company’s business
for the purposes of AIM Rule 14. If the Enlarged Group were to breach this condition, the admission of the
Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM maybe suspended and/or cancelled and, even if Shareholders approved
any change in its business under AIM Rule 14, there is no guarantee that the Ordinary Shares will be re-
admitted to trading on AIM.

Factors such as inflation, currency fluctuation, interest rates, supply and demand of capital and industrial
disruption have an impact on business costs and commodity prices and stock market prices. The Enlarged
Group's operations, business and profitability can be affected by these factors, which are beyond the
control of the Enlarged Group.

In addition to the impact of the downturn of the world's economies, the Enlarged Group may be adversely
affected by other changes in economic, political, judicial, administrative, taxation or other regulatory or
other unforeseen matters. The Enlarged Group may not have been and may not be at all times in complete
compliance with environmental laws, regulations and permits, and the nature of the Enlarged Group's
operations expose it to the risk of liabilities or claims with respect to environmental, regulatory and worker
health and safety matters. If the Enlarged Group violates or fails to comply with environmental laws,
regulations and permits, it could be subject to penalties, fines, restrictions on operations or other sanctions,
and the Enlarged Group's operations could be interrupted or suspended.

The Ordinary Shares will be quoted and any dividends to be paid in respect of them will be paid in pounds
sterling. An investment in Ordinary Shares by an investor in a jurisdiction whose principal currency is not
pounds sterling exposes the investor to foreign currency exchange rate risk. Any depreciation of the pound
sterling in relation to such foreign currency will reduce the value of the investment of the Ordinary Shares
or any dividends in foreign currency terms.

Following Admission, the Concert Party will hold 67.9 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital.
Notwithstanding the terms of the Relationship Agreement (in relation to James Short only), the Articles, the
New Articles and applicable laws and regulations, the Concert Party (and James Short, individually) will
be able to exercise significant influence over the Company and the Enlarged Group's operations, business
strategy and those corporate actions which require the approval of Shareholders. Further details regarding
the Concert Party and Relationship Agreement are set out at paragraphs 11.2 and 15.1.6 of Part VII of this
Document respectively.

At the date of Admission, James Short will own approximately 42.2 per cent. of the issued share capital of
the Company. James Short will be locked-in pursuant to the Lock-In Agreement.

There can be no assurance that the Company will declare dividends in the future or as to the level of
any dividends. The approval of the declaration and amount of any dividends of the Company is subject
to the discretion of the directors of the Company (and, in the case of any final dividend, the discretion of
the Shareholders) at the relevant time and will depend upon, among other things, the Enlarged Group's
earnings, financial position, cash requirements and availability of distributable profits, as well as the
provisions of relevant laws and/or generally accepted accounting principles from time to time. In addition,
the Company will be dependent on the other members of the Enlarged Group and other companies into
which it has invested paying dividends to the Company, which will depend on the ability of these entities
to declare and pay dividends themselves, including, among other things, the relevant entity’s earnings,
financial position, the terms of any agreement, such a loan agreement or other similar agreement, which
may limit or restrict the ability to make distributions, cash requirements and availability of distributable
profits, as well as the provisions of relevant laws and/or generally accepted accounting principles from time
to time.

Dividends

General economic climate

Economic, political, judicial, administrative, taxation, environmental or other regulatory matters

Exchange rate fluctuations may impact on the value of and the investment in the Ordinary Shares
or any dividends in foreign currency terms

Concert Party will hold in excess of 50 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital

Relationship with James Short
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Following expiry of the Lock-in Agreement, should James Short choose to divest of his shareholding here
is a risk that the share price would be adversely affected.

James Short will have a significant interest in, and will continue to exert substantial influence over the
Company, and, at times, his interest may differ from or conflict with those of other Shareholders.

Accordingly, a relationship agreement has been entered into between James Short, the Company and
Canaccord Genuity to ensure that the Company is able to carry on its business independently and to
regulate the relationship between them on an arm’s length and normal commercial basis.

The ability of an Overseas Shareholder to bring an action against the Company may be limited under
law. The Company is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales. The rights of holders
of Ordinary Shares are set out in the Articles and the New Articles and are governed by English law.
These rights may differ from the rights of shareholders in non-UK corporations. An Overseas Shareholder
may not be able to enforce a judgment against any of the Directors, Proposed Directors and executive
officers. There can be no assurance that an Overseas Shareholder will be able to enforce any judgments
in civil or commercial matters or any judgments under the securities law of countries other than the UK
against the Directors and Proposed Directors who are residents of the UK or countries other than those in
which judgment is made. In addition, English or other courts may not impose civil liability on the Directors
and Proposed Directors in any original action based solely on foreign securities laws brought against
the Company or the Directors and Proposed Directors in a court of competent jurisdiction in England
or other countries. Furthermore, English law currently limits significantly the circumstances under which
shareholders may bring derivative actions. Under English law, in most cases, only the Company may be
the proper plaintiff for the purposes of maintaining proceedings in respect of wrongful acts committed
against it and, generally, neither an individual shareholder, nor any group of shareholders, has any right of
action in such circumstances.

Securities laws of certain jurisdictions may restrict the Company's ability to allow participation by
Shareholders in future offerings. In particular, Shareholders in the United States may not be entitled to
exercise these rights, unless either the Ordinary Shares and any other securities that are offered and
sold are registered under the Securities Act, or the Ordinary Shares and such other securities are offered
pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the
Securities Act. The Company cannot assure prospective investors that any exemption from such overseas
securities law requirements would be available to enable US or other Shareholders to exercise their pre-
emption rights or, if available, that the Company will use any such exemption.

The Company applied for advanced assurance from HMRC in January 2022, based on UK legislation
then in force, that a subscription for Ordinary Shares in the Company should be eligible for tax relief
under the EIS and would be a “qualifying holding” for a VCT under Chapter 4 Part 5 (EIS) and Part 6
(VCT) of the UK Income Tax Act 2007 respectively, and that the Common Stock will be eligible shares
for the purposes of section 173 and section 285(3A) of the UK Income Tax Act 2007 up to a maximum
investment of £5.0 million. It has received advanced assurance only pertaining to EIS relief, however,
this only relates to the qualifying status of the Company and its shares and will not guarantee that any
particular investor will qualify for tax relief in respect of an acquisition of Ordinary Shares. Furthermore, the
continuing availability of EIS relief will be conditional, amongst other things, on the Company continuing to
satisfy the requirements for a qualifying company throughout the period of three years from the date of the
investor making its investment (under EIS). Neither the Company nor the Company’s advisers are giving
any warranties or undertakings that any relief under the EIS or that VCT qualifying status will be available
in respect of the First Placing or the Second Placing, or that in due course such relief or status will not be
withdrawn.

Circumstances may arise where the Board believes that the interests of the Company are not best served
by acting in a way that preserves the EIS or VCT qualifying status (if granted). In such circumstances, the
Company cannot undertake to conduct its activities in a way designed to preserve any such relief or status.
Should the law regarding EIS or VCTs change, then any relief or qualifying status previously obtained may
be lost.

The ability of Overseas Shareholders to bring actions or enforce judgments against the Company
or the Directors and Proposed Directors may be limited

Shareholders in jurisdictions outside of the UK may not be able to participate in future equity
offerings

EIS and VCT status
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The issue of the Placing Shares will be conducted in two separate tranches over two Business Days to
enable where possible some investors to benefit from certain tax reliefs available to VCT and EIS investors.
It is intended that the Company will issue the First Placing Shares on 25 March 2022 and the Second
Placing Shares on 28 March 2022, being the date of Admission.

The issue of the First Placing Shares will not be conditional upon Admission. The issue of the Second
Placing Shares will be conditional, inter alia, on (i) the First Placing having completed; (ii) the Placing
Agreement having been entered into and it having not been terminated prior to the issue of the Second
Placing Shares; (iii) the performance by the Company of its obligations under the Placing Agreement in
so far as the same fall to be performed prior to completion of the Second Placing; and (iv) the satisfaction
or, where appropriate, the waiver of all other conditions set out in the Placing Agreement relating to the
issue of the Second Placing Shares. Investors should be aware of the possibility that the First Placing
Shares may be issued and that none of the Second Placing Shares are issued and Admission may not
occur. Consequently, even if the First Placing Shares are issued, there is no guarantee that the placing
of the Second Placing Shares will become unconditional. If all of the Placing Shares are not issued and
Admission does not take place, the Company will not be able implement the strategy and growth plans in
the timeframes outlined in this Document.

Any person who is in any doubt as to their taxation position should consult their professional tax adviser in
order that they may fully understand how the rules apply in their individual circumstances.

The risks listed above do not necessarily comprise all those faced by the Enlarged Group.
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PART IV. HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is the full text of a report on the Celadon Group from RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP, the
Reporting Accountants, to the Directors of the Company

RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP
25 Farringdon Street

London
EC4A 4AB

T +44 (0)20 3201 8000
F +44 (0)20 3201 8001

rsmuk.com

The Directors
Summerway Capital Plc
32-33 Cowcross Street
London
EC1M 6DF

28 February 2022

Dear Sirs,

Vertigrow Technology Limited (“Vertigrow”) and its subsidiary undertakings (the "Celadon Group”)

We report on the historical financial information of the Celadon Group set out in Section B of Part IV of the
admission document dated 28 February 2022 (the “Admission Document”) of Summerway Capital Plc (the
“Company”).

Opinion

In our opinion, the historical financial information gives, for the purposes of the Admission Document, a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Celadon Group as at the dates stated and of its results,
cash flows and changes in equity for the periods then ended in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Responsibilities

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for preparing the historical financial
information in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of
the Companies Act 2006.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the historical financial information and to report our opinion to
you.

Save for any responsibility arising under Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the UK version of Commission
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 (the “Prospectus Delegated Regulation”) as applied by paragraph
(a) Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies to any person as and to the extent there provided,
to the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility and will not accept any
liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other person as a result of, arising out
of, or in connection with this report or our statement, required by and given solely for the purposes of
complying with Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the Prospectus Delegated Regulation as applied by paragraph (a)
of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies, consenting to its inclusion in the Admission Document.

Basis of preparation

The historical financial information has been prepared for inclusion in the Admission Document on the
basis of the accounting policies set out at note 2 to the historical financial information. This report is
required by Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the Prospectus Delegated Regulation as applied by paragraph (a)

SECTION A: ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT ON THE CELADON GROUP HISTORICAL FINANCIAL
INFORMATION
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of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies and is given for the purpose of complying with that item
and for no other purpose.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our work in accordance with Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the Financial
Reporting Council in the United Kingdom. We are independent in accordance with the Financial Reporting
Council’s Ethical Standard as applied to Investment Circular Reporting Engagements, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the historical
financial information. It also included an assessment of significant estimates and judgments made by those
responsible for the preparation of the historical financial information and whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the entity's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the historical
financial information is free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or
error.

Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices generally
accepted in any jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom and accordingly should not be relied upon as
if it had been carried out in accordance with those other standards and practices.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have not identified a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Celadon Group to continue as a going concern for a period
of at least twelve months from the date of the Admission Document. We conclude that the Directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the historical financial information is
appropriate.

Declaration

For the purposes of paragraph (a) of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies we are responsible
for this report as part of the Admission Document and declare that, to the best of our knowledge, the
information contained in this report is in accordance with the facts and that the report makes no omission
likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Admission Document in compliance Item 1.2 of
Annex 1 and Item 1.2 of Annex 11 of the Prospectus Delegated Regulation as applied by Schedule Two to
the AIM Rules for Companies.

Yours faithfully

RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP

Regulated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
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Note
Year ended

31 Dec 2020

9 month period
ended 31 Dec

2019

£ £

Revenue - -

Cost of sales - -

Gross result - -

Administrative expenses 4 (504,270) (35,589)

Research and development expenses 4 (217,106) -

Other income 729 -

Operating loss (720,647) (35,589)

Finance income 5 6 1

Finance costs 5 (339,152) (78,185)

Loss before tax (1,059,793) (113,773)

Income tax expense 6 - -

Loss for the period (1,059,793) (113,773)

Total comprehensive loss for the period
attributable to owners of the company

(1,059,793) (113,773)

SECTION B: CELADON GROUP HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2020 AND PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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Note
31 December

2020
31 December

2019

£ £

Assets

Property, plant, and equipment 7,11 3,033,544 2,486,149

Intangible assets 8 80,297 -

Non-current assets 3,113,841 2,486,149

Trade and other receivables 9 437,726 1,110

Cash and cash equivalents 10 299,479 1,486

Current assets 737,205 2,596

Total assets 3,851,046 2,488,745

Liabilities

Lease liabilities 11 2,873,817 2,535,395

Borrowings 12 43,333 -

Non-current liabilities 2,917,150 2,535,395

Trade and other payables 12 828,195 66,823

Borrowings 12 6,667

Current liabilities 834,861 66,823

Total liabilities 3,752,012 2,602,218

Equity

Share capital 13 308 300

Share premium 13 1,272,292 -

Retained earnings 13 (1,173,566) (113,773)

Total equity attributable to the owners of the
company

99,034 (113,473)

Total equity and liabilities 3,851,046 2,488,745

CELADON GROUP CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER
2020 AND 31 DECEMBER 2019
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All amounts are attributable to the owners of the company.

Attributable to the owners of the company

Note
Share

capital
Share

premium
Retained
earnings Total equity

£ £ £ £

Balance at 15 March 2019 - - - -

Loss for the period - - (113,773) (113,773)

Shares issued 13 300 - - 300

Balance at 31 December 2019 300 - (113,773) (113,473)

Loss for the year - - (1,059,793) (1,059,793)

Shares issued 13 8 1,272,292 - 1,272,300

Balance at 31 December 2020 308 1,272,292 (1,173,566) 99,034

CELADON GROUP CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020 AND PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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Note
Year ended 31

Dec 2020

9 month period
ended 31 Dec

2019

£ £

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the period (1,059,793) (113,773)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 7 160,848 25,113

Finance income 5 (6) (1)

Finance interest 5 339,152 78,185

Other income (729) -

(560,528) (10,476)

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (186,916) (810)

Trade and other payables 669,864 12,771

Cash (used in) / generated from operating activities (77,580) 1,485

Interest Received 5 6 1

Net cash from operating activities (77,574) 1,486

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 7 (708,243) -

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 14 11,210 -

Net cash used in investing activities (697,033) -

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 13 1,022,600 -

Proceeds from borrowings 12 50,000 -

Net cash from financing activities 1,072,600 -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 297,993 1,486

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 1,486 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 299,479 1,486

CELADON GROUP CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2020 AND PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

79



CELADON GROUP NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Vertigrow Technology Ltd (“Vertigrow”) is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom and has its
registered office located at 32-33 Cowcross Street, London, EC1M 6DF, company number 11886065.

The Vertigrow consolidated historical financial information ("Celadon HFI”) presented as at and for the nine
month period ended 31 December 2019 and as at and for the year ended 31 December 2020 comprises
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, financial position, changes in equity and cash flows
of Vertigrow and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Celadon Group”)

The principal activity of the Celadon Group is that of a pharmaceutical company focused on researching
cannabinoids for use in approved medicines, developing sales channels and manufacturing those
medicines in an emerging but highly regulated market.

GENERAL INFORMATION1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES2.

This HFI has been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and in accordance with
Schedule 2 of the AIM Rules for Companies.

The Celadon HFI has been prepared solely for the purposes of the admission document for the purpose of
the re-admission of the Company to the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange. The Celadon HFI is
presented in Pound Sterling (£) which is Vertigrow’s functional currency and all values are rounded to the
nearest Pound Sterling (£), except where otherwise indicated.

Basis of Preparation(A)

At the date of this historical financial information, the Celadon Group has not generated any revenues. The
Board has considered the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. There has been minimal impact
on the Celadon Group to date. Given the impact of COVID-19 in the economy generally, the Board has
performed a number of stress tests to assess the ability of the Celadon Group to continue as a going
concern.

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for the Celadon Group for a review period of 24 months
from the date of approval of this historical financial information. These forecasts reflect an assessment
of current and future market conditions and their impact on the Celadon Group’s future cash flow
requirements.

Post 31 December 2020, the Celadon Group secured additional capital of £4,130,000 through the issue
of convertible loan notes to fund acquisitions and short-term growth expectations. The Directors consider
that a listing through an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) will generate the additional capital required in order
to fulfil longer term growth expectations of the Celadon Group.

Having considered the points above, the Directors remain confident in the long-term future prospects
for the Celadon Group, and their ability to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. They
therefore adopt the going concern basis in preparing the historical financial information of the Celadon
Group.

Going Concern(B)

The consolidated Celadon HFI comprises the financial information of Vertigrow and its subsidiaries as at
and for the periods ended 31 December 2019 and 2020. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Celadon
Group. The Celadon Group ‘controls’ an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The financial information of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated Celadon HFI from the date on
which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-Group balances and transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated Celadon HFI.

Basis of Consolidation(C)

80



The Celadon Group’s finance income and finance costs include:

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis. Interest expenses on lease liabilities are recognised in
accordance with the leases accounting policy.

Finance Income and Finance Costs(D)

• Interest income;

• Interest expense on lease liabilities; and

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or OCI.

The Celadon Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain
tax treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for them under IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Income Tax(E)

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the
year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or
received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Current Tax(I)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences
when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any.

Deferred Tax(ii)

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.

Gains and losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and
are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is recognised in profit
or loss.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative periods are as
follows:

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Property, plant and equipment(F)

• Leasehold Improvements: 10 years

• Plant and Equipment: 5 years

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over the Celadon Group's interest in

Goodwill(G)
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the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

Cost comprises the fair value of assets given, liabilities assumed, and equity instruments issued, plus the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree plus, if the business combination is achieved in
stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree.

Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset with any impairment in carrying value being charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Impairment tests on are undertaken annually at the
financial year end. Where the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its recoverable amount an impairment is
recognised and shall not be reversed in later periods.

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability
or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial instruments(H)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Celadon Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue.

A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction
price.

Recognition and initial measurement(I)

Financial assets

For purposes of subsequent measurement, the financial assets of the Celadon Group are classified
as financial assets measured at amortised cost.

The Celadon Group does not have any financial assets classified as measured at fair value through
OCI or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

These financial assets of the Celadon Group are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Any interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

The Celadon Group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade and other receivables, and
cash and cash equivalents.

The Celadon Group will write-off financial assets, either in their entirety or a portion therefor, if there is
no reasonable expectation of its recovery. A write-off constitutes a derecognition of a financial asset.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities of the Celadon Group are classified as measured at amortised cost and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any interest expense
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

The Celadon Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables (including lease liabilities).

Classification and subsequent measurement(II)

The Celadon Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or
in which the Celadon Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Celadon Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged
or cancelled or expired. The Celadon Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are
modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

Derecognition(III)
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On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and
the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised
in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Cash and cash equivalents(I)

Share capital is classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares
are recognised as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Share capital(J)

Leases(K)

The Celadon Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the
date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as
follows:

Right of use of assets(I)

• Leasehold Property over 25 years

• The right of use asset is held in the relevant component of tangible fixed assets.

At the commencement date of the lease, the Celadon Group recognises lease liabilities measured at
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Celadon Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. changes to future payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Celadon Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
machinery and equipment (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value
assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that is considered to be low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease liabilities(II)

Vertigrow may be required to restore the leasehold property to its original condition at the end of the
lease term. A dilapidation provision hasn’t been recognised as the estimated expenditure required to
remove any leasehold improvements and repair the property at the end of the lease term is unable to
be reliably estimated.

Dilapidations(III)

Government grants relate to support received in relation to COVID-19 bounce back loans. Income received
is shown under other income in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Government Grants(L)
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The following standards that are not yet effective will be adopted by the Celadon Group in future periods:

Issues but not yet effective international financial reporting standards(M)

• Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or contributions between and investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture; and

• The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control
of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The Celadon Group does not
anticipate any impact on its financial statements.

Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets acquired, equity instruments issued, and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Acquisition costs are recognised directly in profit and loss
as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired including intangible assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective
of the extent of any non-controlling interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of
the Celadon Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost
of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in the income statement for the period.

Business combinations(N)

In preparing the Celadon HFI, management has made judgements and estimates that affect the application
of the Celadon Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and, are described below.

USE OF JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES3.

Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is
estimated to discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease
commencement date. Such a rate is based on what the consolidated entity estimates it would have to pay
a third party to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset,
with similar terms, security and economic environment.

When determining the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date, a build-up approach
was used starting with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for Vertigrow’s estimated credit risk. The credit risk
was based on CCC rated bonds issued at the commencement date of the lease with maturity dates equal
to the weighted average length of the lease. The incremental borrowing rate was estimated to be 13.35%.

Sensitivity analysis

The impact of an incremental borrowing rate estimated to be +/-1% on profit or loss and equity has been
shown in the table below.

Incremental borrowing rate + 1% Incremental borrowing rate -1%

£ 2020 2019 2020 2019

Right of use asset (177,084) (184,540) 199,257 207,646

Lease liability (188,688) (187,185) 210,945 210,328

Equity 11,604 2,644 (11,689) (2,682)

Profit or loss 8,959 2,644 (9,007) (2,682)

Incremental borrowing rate(A)

The right of use asset and lease liability related to the property lease were recognised upon the asset being
available for use by Vertigrow during the period ended 31 December 2019. Vertigrow had full access to

Property lease recognition date(B)
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the property from 1 October 2019 under the terms of the lease agreement which was confirmed in writing
when the lease agreement was signed on 10 August 2020.

The Celadon Group tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
impairment, whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of
assumptions, including estimated discount rates based on the current cost of capital and growth rates of
the estimated future cash flows.

Goodwill(C)

Note
Year ended

31 Dec 2020

9 month
period ended
31 Dec 2019

£ £

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 160,848 25,113

Premises costs 87,579 9,411

Legal and professional Fees 206,971 1,050

Other 48,872 15

Total administrative expenses 504,270 35,589

Research and development expenditure 217,106 -

Other income (729)

Total administrative and research and development
expense and other income

720,647 35,589

EXPENSES BY NATURE4.

Year ended
31 Dec 2020

9 month
period ended
31 Dec 2019

£ £

Finance costs

Interest cost on leases 339,152 78,185

Total finance costs 339,152 78,185

Finance income

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 6 1

Total finance income 6 1

FINANCE COSTS AND FINANCE INCOME5.
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INCOME TAXES6.

Tax charge
Year ended

31 Dec 2020

9 month
period ended
31 Dec 2019

£ £

Corporation tax charge - -

Deferred tax charge - -

Total tax charge - -

Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
Year ended

31 Dec 2020

9 month
period ended
31 Dec 2019

£ £

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (1,059,791) (113,773)

Loss at 19% (201,360) (21,617)

Effects of:

Losses and short term timing difference on which no deferred tax is
recognised 201,360 21,617

- -

A reduction to the UK corporation tax rate down from 19% to 17% was announced in the 2016 Budget and
enacted on 15 September 2016 (to be effective from 1 April 2020). However, it was announced in the 2020
Budget (and substantively enacted on 17 March 2020) that this reduction in rate would be reversed with
19% being maintained from 1 April 2020. Furthermore, in the March 2021 Budget, it was announced that
the UK corporation tax rate would increase to 25% from 1 April 2023.

Tax charge(I)

The Celadon Group has not recognised deferred tax on trading losses totalling £1,059,791 as at 31
December 2020 (2019: £113,773) on the basis that it is not probable that a taxable profit will be generated
in the foreseeable future. This would have a financial impact of £127,413 (2019: £19,341) in future tax
savings.

Unrecognised deferred tax asset(II)
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Right of use
asset

Leasehold
improvements

Plant &
Equipment Total

£ £ £

COST

At 15 March 2019 - - - -

Additions 2,511,262 - - 2,511,262

At 31 December 2019 2,511,262 - - 2,511,262

Additions - 201,611 506,632 708,243

At 31 December 2020 2,511,262 201,611 506,632 3,219,505

DEPRECIATION

At 15 March 2019 - - - -

Charge for period 25,113 - - 25,113

At 31 December 2019 25,113 - - 25,113

Charge for period 100,450 5,612 54,786 160,848

At 31 December 2020 125,563 5,612 54,786 185,961

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 December 2020 2,385,699 195,999 451,846 3,033,544

At 31 December 2019 2,486,149 - - 2,486,149

Right of use assets comprises leasehold property, further info can be found in the accounting policies and
note 11.

At each balance sheet date the Celadon Group reviews the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment to determine whether there is any indication of any impairment loss. Taking into consideration
the age, condition and expected future cashflows to be generated from the assets no such indications have
been identified by the directors.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT7.

Goodwill Total

£

COST

At 15 March 2019 and 01 January 2020 -

Additions 80,297

At 31 December 2020 80,297

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 December 2020 80,297

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Celadon Pharma Limited, see note 14 for further information.

At each balance sheet date the Celadon Group reviews the carrying amount of goodwill to determine
whether there are any indications of impairment loss. The directors have reviewed the forecasts which
include a discount rate of 24% and no such indications have been identified.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS8.
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As at
31 December

2020
31 December

2019

£ £

Current

Unpaid share capital 250,000 300

Prepayments 36,867 500

Other receivables 70,000 -

VAT Receivable 80,859 310

437,726 1,110

All unpaid share capital has been repaid subsequent to 31 December 2020.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES9.

As at
31 December

2020
31 December

2019

£ £

Bank balances 299,479 1,486

Cash and cash equivalents 299,479 1,486

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS10.

The Celadon Group has lease contracts for leasehold property.

RIGHT OF USE OF ASSETS AND LEASES11.

Details of the Celadon Group’s right of use assets can be found under Leasehold Property in note 7.

Right of use assets(I)

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under interest bearing loans and
borrowings) and the movements during the period:

Year ended
31 Dec 2020

9 month
period ended
31 Dec 2019

£ £

At 1 January 2,535,395 -

Additions - 2,457,210

Interest charge 338,422 78,185

As at 31 December 2,873,817 2,535,395

Current - -

Non-current 2,873,817 2,535,395

Lease liability and movements during the period(II)
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The below table shows the undiscounted lease obligation of the Celadon Group:

As at
31 December

2020
31 December

2019

£ £

Less than one year - -

One to five years 1,725,000 1,275,000

More than five years 8,437,500 8,887,500

10,162,500 10,162,500

Maturity analysis of lease obligations(III)

The following are the amounts recognised in the profit or loss:

Year ended
31 Dec 2020

9 month
period ended
31 Dec 2019

£ £

Depreciation expense 100,450 25,113

Interest expense on lease liabilities 338,422 78,185

Short term leases - -

438,872 103,298

The Celadon Group had total cash outflows relating to leases of £17,474 in 2020 (2019: £Nil)

Amounts recognised in profit or loss(IV)

As at 31 December
2020

31 December
2019

£ £

Current

Trade payables 258,080 1,360

Amounts due to related parties 167,507 2,000

Accruals 101,398 63,463

Borrowings 6,667 -

Other payables 301,210 -

834,862 66,823

Non-current

Borrowings 43,333 -

43,333 -

Amounts owed to related parties are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are
repayable on demand (see note 17 for further detail).

Other payables are amounts due to shareholders for overpayments or advance payments on share issues.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and other payables is a reasonable
approximation of their fair value.

Borrowings relate to a Bounce Back Loan received in May 2020 and carries interest of 2.5%. The loan is
repayable in equal monthly instalments, starting May 2021, over a period of 5 years. Interest charges for
the first 12 months are paid by the UK Government.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES12.
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CAPITAL AND RESERVES13.

As at 31 December
2020

31 December
2019

31 December
2020

31 December
2019

Shares Shares £ £

Shares issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares of £0.01 each (2019: £1 each) 14,153 - 142 -

A Ordinary shares of £0.01 each (2019: £1 each) 16,500 - 165 -

30,653 - 307 -

Shares issued and unpaid paid

Ordinary shares of £0.01 each (2019: £1 each) 125 135 1 135

A Ordinary shares of £0.01 each (2019: £1 each) 165 - 165

Total Share capital 30,778 300 308 300

Each share carries one voting right. There are no restrictions on the distribution of dividends and the
repayment of capital.

On 17 July 2020 there was a subdivision of shares such that each £1 Ordinary share and £1 A Ordinary
share became a £0.01 Ordinary share and £0.01 A Ordinary share respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 the following share issues were made:

Issue date Share class Shares issued Price per share Par value

£ £

15 March 2019 (on incorporation) Ordinary 1 1 1

2 December 2019 Ordinary 134 1 134.00

2 December 2019 A Ordinary 165 1 165.00

24 July 2020 Ordinary 125 2,000 1.25

18 September 2020 Ordinary 653 1,600 6.53

Direct costs of £22,500 were incurred as part of the share issues during the year ended 31 December
2020, these have been charged to the share premium reserve (see a summary of the movements below).

A summary of cash movements on share issues is below:

Par value Premium Direct costs Total

£ £ £ £

Issues during 31 December 2019 300 - - 300

Unpaid (300) - - (300)

Total paid during year ended 31 December 2019 - - - -

Issues during 31 December 2020 8 1,294,792 (22,500) 1,272,300

Paid in relation to prior periods 300 - - 300

Unpaid (1) (249,999) (250,000)

Total paid during year ended 31 December 2020 307 1,044,793 (22,500) 1,022,600

Share capital(I)
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A summary of the movement in share capital during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2019 is set out below:

As at Ordinary shares
A Ordinary

shares Total Par

£ £

Opening balance at 15 March 2019 - - - -

Shares issued 135 165 300 300

Balance at 31 December 2019 135 165 300 300

Share subdivision 13,365 16,335 29,700 -

Share issues 778 - 778 8

Balance at 31 December 2020 14,278 16,500 30,778 308

The retained earnings reserve represents the aggregate profit / loss from incorporation less dividend
distributions made.

Retained earnings(II)

The share premium reserve represents amounts paid on share issues over the nominal value, less any
costs directly attributable to the cost of issuing the shares.

A reconciliation of movements in the share premium reserve is set out below

£

Opening balance at 15 March 2019 -

Shares issued -

Balance at 31 December 2019 -

Share subdivision -

Share issues 1,294,792

Cost of share issues (22,500)

Balance at 31 December 2020 1,272,292

Share premium(III)

On 1 January 2020 Vertigrow acquired 100% of the share capital in Celadon Pharma Limited for £2
consideration.

Celadon Pharma Limited was purchased to act as the operating subsidiary of the Celadon Group.

The following assets and liabilities were recognised on the date of acquisition:

£

Cash and cash equivalents 11,210

Trade and other payables (91,507)

Total identifiable net liabilities acquired (80,297)

Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognised as follows:

£

Purchase consideration 2

Fair value of identifiable net liabilities (80,297)

Fair value of unpaid share consideration (2)

Goodwill (80,297)

The goodwill is attributable to research and development costs that would have to be separately incurred
by the Celadon Group had it not made the acquisition.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS14.
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From the date of acquisition, 12 months ending 31 December 2020, Celadon Pharma Limited contributed
zero revenue and a loss of £545,330 to the Celadon Group’s results.

On 1 January 2020 Vertigrow also acquired 100% of the share capital in Celadon Pharmaceuticals Limited,
a dormant company, for £1 consideration. No assets or liabilities were recognised on acquisition.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT15.

The Celadon Group’s financial instruments may be analysed as follows:

As at
31 December

2020
31 December

2019

£ £

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:

Cash and cash equivalents 299,479 1,486

Trade and other receivables 320,000 300

Total financial assets 619,479 1,786

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

Trade and other payables 763,375 57,412

Lease liabilities 2,873,817 2,535,395

Borrowings 50,000 -

Total financial liabilities 3,687,192 2,592,807

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise cash, trade debtors, other debtors. It does not
include statutory taxes receivable and prepayments.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise trade payables, accrued expenses, and other
payables.

Accounting classification and fair values(I)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Celadon Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated
with its financial liabilities. The Celadon Group seeks to manage financial risks to ensure sufficient liquidity
is available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely and profitably.

The table below analyses the Celadon Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on their contractual maturities. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows.

2020
Less than 1

year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

£ £ £ £

Lease liabilities - 2,175,000 7,987,500 10,162,500

Trade and other payables 763,375 - -- 763,375

Borrowings 6,667 40,000 3,333 50,000

770,042 2,215,000 7,990,833 10,975,875

Financial risk management(II)
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2019
Less than 1

year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

£ £ £ £

Lease liabilities - 1,275,0005 8,887,500 10,162,000

Trade and other payables 57,412 - -- 57,412

Borrowings - - - -

57,412 1,275,000 8,887,500 10,219,912

Credit risk

Credit risk represents the financial loss the Celadon Group would experience if a counterparty to a financial
instrument, in which the Celadon Group has an amount owing from the counterparty, failed to meet its
obligations in accordance with the terms and conditions of its contracts with the Celadon Group.

The Celadon Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its accounts receivable as cash balances are
deposited with reputable financial institutions. The Celadon Group reviews the collectability of accounts
receivable in order to mitigate any possible credit losses.

The risk of default on these receivables is deemed to be very low based on the nature of the assets held
by the Celadon Group to date.

The Celadon Group’s capital management objectives are:

To meet these objectives, the Celadon Group reviews the budgets and forecasts on a regular basis to
ensure there is sufficient capital to meet the needs of the Celadon Group.

The capital structure of the Celadon Group consists of shareholders’ equity as set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. All working capital requirements are financed from existing cash resources.

Capital risk management(III)

• To ensure the Celadon Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

• To provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurate with the
level of risk.

Set out below is a list of subsidiaries of the Celadon Group as at 31 December 2020:

Company Name Principal activity Country of
incorporation

Registered address Percentage
ownership

Celadon Pharma
Ltd

R&D and
manufacture of
cannabinoids for
medicinal purposes

United Kingdom 32-33 Cowcross
Street, London,
England, EC1M
67DF

100%

Celadon
Pharmaceuticals
Limited

Dormant United Kingdom 32-33 Cowcross
Street, London,
England, EC1M
67DF

100%

There were no subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019.

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES16.

RELATED PARTIES17.

The ultimate controlling party is J Short by virtue of his shareholding and directorship in Vertigrow. J Short
is also considered to be key management personnel.

During the year J Short charged the Celadon Group £25,243 (2019: £Nil) for consultancy fees and
expenses. At the year end the Celadon Group owed James Short £48,107 (2019: £Nil) for consultancy fees
and amounts loaned to the Celadon Group. These loans carry 0% interest and are repayable on demand.

Parent and ultimate controlling party(I)
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P Allen

At the year end the Celadon Group owed P Allen £49,400 (2019: £Nil) for amounts loaned to the Celadon
Group. These loans carry 0% interest and are repayable on demand.

J F Mitchell

At the year end the Celadon Group owed J Mitchell £2,000 (2019: £2,000) for amounts loaned to the
Celadon Group. These loans carry 0% interest and are repayable on demand.

Transactions with Directors(II)

J Rickard is the Celadon Group’s Chief Operating Officer and deemed to be key management personnel.
During the year J Rickard charged the Celadon Group £157,888 (2019: £Nil). At the yearend J Rickard
was owed £27,500 (2019: £Nil) by the Celadon Group.

Transactions with key management personnel(III)

Athena Vaults Limited

At the year end the Celadon Group owed Athena Vaults Limited, a company controlled by J Short, £47,500
(2019: £Nil) for amounts loaned to the Celadon Group. These loans carry 0% interest and are repayable
on demand. All loans from Athena Vaults Limited have been repaid subsequent to 31 December 2020.
James Short ceased to be a shareholder of Athena Vaults Limited on 1 February 2021.

Data Centre (DC) Limited

At the year end the Celadon Group owed Data Centre (DC) Limited, a company controlled by J Short,
£20,500 (2019: £Nil) for amounts loaned to the Celadon Group. These loans carry 0% interest and are
repayable on demand. The loans from Data Centre (DC) Limited have been repaid subsequent to 31
December 2020.

Celadon Group also owed Data Centre (DC) Limited £139,408 at the year end (2019: £9,411) for service
charges relating to the 25-year lease as outlined below.

During the year, the Celadon Group entered into a 25-year lease agreement with Data Centre (DC)
Limited, a company controlled by J Short. Under the lease agreement, the Celadon Group pays Data
Centre (DC) Limited £450,000 per annum from March 2022 until September 2044. The lease is recognised
in the right of use asset and corresponding lease liability, further details can be found in note 12.

James Short ceased to be a shareholder of Data Centre (DC) Limited on 1 February 2021.

C Short

During the year C Short, a close member of J Short’s family, charged the Celadon Group £9,000 (2019:
£Nil) for consultancy fees. At the year end the Celadon Group owed C Short £Nil (2019: Nil). C Short
became an employee of Celadon Pharma Ltd in February 2021.

Other related parties(IV)

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS18.

On 22 January 2021, Vertigrow issued 153 Ordinary shares of £0.01 nominal value at a price of £1,955.54
per share. There were no transaction costs associated with the share issue.

On 22 September 2021, 931 Ordinary shares of £0.01 nominal value were converted into and redesignated
as 931 Deferred shares of £0.01 nominal value.

On 25 October 2021, Vertigrow issued 50 Ordinary shares of £0.01 nominal value at a price of £2,000.00
per share. There were no transaction costs associated with the share issue.

Share Capital(I)

Subsequent to 31 December 2020, Vertigrow issued 8.0% fixed rate senior secured convertible loan notes
(the “Notes”) in two tranches: £2,550,000 on 5 February 2021, and £1,580,000 on 10 March 2021. Interest
on the Notes is accrued daily from the date of issue of the Notes until the date of redemption. The
transaction costs incurred on issue of the Notes was £56,000. All assets of Vertigrow were pledged as
security for the Notes in a Debenture dated 5 February 2021 with fixed and floating charges. At Admission,

Convertible Loan Note(II)
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according to the terms of the Instrument, the Notes issued pursuant to the Instrument will, be redeemed
in whole through issuance of such number of Consideration Shares as is required to redeem the principle
and accrued interest to the point of Admission. Following this share settled redemption, the security shall
be released.

On 8 June 2021, Vertigrow acquired 17.0% of the issued share capital of Kingdom Therapeutics Limited,
a company undertaking research and development into medical cannabis for Autistic Spectrum Disorder.
The consideration for the investment was £200,000 paid in cash.

On 14 July 2021, Vertigrow acquired 57.5% of the issued share capital of Harley Street (CPC) Limited
(“HSCPCL”), which is in the advanced stages of obtaining MHRA and Research Ethics Committee
approval for a UK-based cannabis trial for a maximum consideration of £2,000,000. £500,000 was paid in
cash on completion and £1,500,000 deferred consideration is payable in the event that (i) each of MHRA
and REC authorise the Trial in full; and (ii) 5,000 paying patients of the Company’s clinic are accepted
onto the Trial and receive their first prescriptions under the Trial within 18 months of completion. Such
deferred consideration is to be satisfied by the issue of shares in an entity in the same group as Vertigrow
whose securities are publicly listed on a recognised stock exchange at the relevant time ("Listco"), with
the price for such shares being the average of the middle market quotations for shares in Listco for the
five consecutive dealing days immediately preceding the date of issue of such shares. In addition, if REC
authorisation has not been obtained by HSCPCL within 6 months following completion, Vertigrow may
elect to increase its shareholding to 70% for consideration of £1. Further, Vertigrow have made a 3 year
loan to HSCPCL for £500,000 for working capital purposes. The interest rate on the loan is 5.0% payable
annually.

Details of the acquisition are as follows:

£

Fair value of initial cash consideration paid 500,000

Fair value of contingent consideration 374,768

Total consideration 874,768

Fair value of net liabilities acquired (238,385)

Non-controlling interest (101,314)

Goodwill 1,011,839

The Directors are in the process of assessing the fair value of net assets acquired and therefore the above
figures are provisional.

On 16 July 2021, HSCPCL entered into a 3 year, £1.5m loan agreement with a third party lender to fund
the ongoing operational activities of the business. The interest rate on the loan was 5.0% payable annually.
On 4 February 2022, HSCPCL voluntarily repaid the £1.5m loan plus accrued interest of £41,250 and
cancelled the facility as it was no longer required.

Acquisitions(III)

On 28 October 2021, the Company entered into a conditional agreement to acquire the issued share
capital of Vertigrow for total consideration of £80 million (the "Acquisition Agreement"). The proposed
acquisition will be subject, inter alia, to Summerway shareholder approval at a general meeting, customary
regulatory approvals and re-admission of the share capital of Summerway (as enlarged by the proposed
acquisition and proposed placing) (the "Enlarged Group") to AIM, or admission to another stock exchange
within the UK, North America or other certain territories.

The total consideration of £80 million will be satisfied by the issue of approximately 48.5 million new
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at 165 pence per ordinary share to the shareholders of
Vertigrow (the "Consideration Shares").

The Consideration Shares issued to the founders of Vertigrow will be subject to a lock in arrangement
for a period of 12 months following completion of the proposed acquisition, and customary orderly market
provisions for a further 12 months following the expiry of the lock in arrangement.

Acquisition Agreement(IV)

95



On 28 October 2021, the Company and Vertigrow entered into a loan agreement ("Loan") on under the
terms of which the Company agreed to lend Vertigrow up to £4,250,000 for working capital purposes. The
first £2,125,000 tranche of the Loan is unsecured, with any further drawings above this amount requiring
security interest to be granted in favour of the Company. The Loan is repayable on demand at any time.
The Loan may be drawn down by Vertigrow at any time up to 28 May 2021 and it attracts interest at a rate
of 10 per cent per annum which accrues daily and is payable on the repayment date. The Loan is governed
by English law.

Loan Agreement(V)

Pursuant to an agreement dated 23 February 2022 between Vertigrow and H&P Advisory Limited (trading
as Hannam & Partners), Vertigrow agreed to pay an introduction fee of £100,000 (exclusive of VAT)
pursuant to a previous agreement with H&P Advisory Limited which is conditional on Admission.

Introduction fee agreement(VI)

On 10 August 2020, Vertigrow (as tenant) and Data Centre (DC) Ltd (as landlord) entered into a sub-
underlease for Celadon’s premises in the Midlands for a term of 25 years with no breaks beginning on 1
October 2019 and rent of £450,000 per annum, payable from 1 March 2022. On 11 February 2022, Paloma
II (Industrial III) Trustee I Limited and Paloma II (Industrial III) Trustee II Limited, acting in their capacity
as trustees of Paloma II (Industrial III) Unit Trust, acquired Data Centre (DC) Limited’s interests in the site
such that Data Centre (DC) Limited no longer has any landlord (or other) interest in the property. As part
of this arrangement, Vertigrow has been granted a rent free period of 12 months from February 2022 from
which point the rent thereafter will be £450,000 per annum. The rent will increase in October 2024 to the
higher of the open market rent or £650,000 per annum, and will be subject to a review every five years
thereafter to the open market rent with a minimum increase of 2 per cent. (compounded annually over five
years) at each review. James Short was a director of Data Centre (DC) Ltd from 7 September 2017 to 3
September 2019 and was a 80 per cent. shareholder of Data Centre (DC) Ltd until 1 February 2021.

Lease arrangements(VII)
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The following is the full text of a report on Celadon Pharma Ltd from RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP, the
Reporting Accountants, to the Directors of the Company

RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP
25 Farringdon Street

London
EC4A 4AB

T +44 (0)20 3201 8000
F +44 (0)20 3201 8001

rsmuk.com

The Directors
Summerway Capital Plc
32-33 Cowcross Street
London
EC1M 6DF

28 February 2022

Dear Sirs,

Celadon Pharma Ltd (“CPL”)

We report on the historical financial information of CPL set out in Section D of Part IV of the admission
document dated 28 February 2022 (the “Admission Document”) of Summerway Capital Plc (the
“Company”).

Opinion

In our opinion, the historical financial information gives, for the purposes of the Admission Document, a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of CPL as at the dates stated and of its results, cash flows and changes
in equity for the periods then ended in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Responsibilities

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for preparing the historical financial
information in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of
the Companies Act 2006.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the historical financial information and to report our opinion to
you.

Save for any responsibility arising under Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the UK version of Commission
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 (the “Prospectus Delegated Regulation”) as applied by paragraph
(a) of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies to any person as and to the extent there provided,
to the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility and will not accept any
liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other person as a result of, arising out
of, or in connection with this report or our statement, required by and given solely for the purposes of
complying with Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the Prospectus Delegated Regulation as applied by paragraph (a)
of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies, consenting to its inclusion in the Admission Document.

Basis of Preparation

The historical financial information has been prepared for inclusion in the Admission Document on the
basis of the accounting policies set out at note 2 to the historical financial information. This report is
required by Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the Prospectus Delegated Regulation as applied by paragraph (a)
of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies and is given for the purpose of complying with that item
and for no other purpose.

SECTION C: ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT ON THE CELADON PHARMA LTD HISTORICAL FINANCIAL
INFORMATION
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Basis of opinion

We conducted our work in accordance with Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the Financial
Reporting Council in the United Kingdom. We are independent in accordance with the Financial Reporting
Council’s Ethical Standard as applied to Investment Circular Reporting Engagements, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the historical
financial information. It also included an assessment of significant estimates and judgments made by those
responsible for the preparation of the historical financial information and whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the entity's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the historical
financial information is free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or
error.

Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices generally
accepted in any jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom and accordingly should not be relied upon as
if it had been carried out in accordance with those other standards and practices.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have not identified a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the ability of CPL to continue as a going concern for a period of at least
twelve months from the date of the Admission Document. We conclude that the Directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the historical financial information is appropriate.

Declaration

For the purposes of paragraph (a) of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies we are responsible for
this report as part of the Admission Document and declare, to the best of our knowledge, the information
contained in this report is in accordance with the facts and that this report makes no omission likely to affect
its import. This declaration is included in the Admission Document in compliance with Item 1.2 of Annex 1
and Item 1.2 of Annex 11 of the Prospectus Delegated Regulation as applied by part (a) of Schedule Two
to the AIM Rules for Companies.

Yours faithfully

RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP

Regulated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
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Note

15 month
period ended
31 Dec 2020

Period ended
30 Sep 2019

£ £

Revenue - -

Cost of sales - -

Gross result - -

Administrative expenses 4 (299,265) (17,339)

Research and development expenses 4 (225,360) (50,386)

Other income 729

Operating loss (523,896) (67,725)

Finance costs 5 (729) -

Loss before tax (524,625) (67,725)

Income tax expense 6 - -

Loss for the period (524,625) (67,725)

Total comprehensive loss for the period attributable to
the owners of the company

(524,625) (67,725)

SECTION D: CELADON HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 15 MONTH PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2020 AND THE PERIOD ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019
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Note
31 December

2020

30
September

2019

£ £

Assets

Property, plant, and equipment 7 451,846 -

Non-current assets 451,846 -

Trade and other receivables 8 66,932 5,520

Cash and cash equivalents 9 53,357 18,864

Current assets 120,289 24,384

Total assets 572,135 24,384

Liabilities

Borrowings 10 43,333 -

Non-current liabilities 43,333 -

Trade and other payables 10 1,114,483 92,107

Borrowings 10 6,667 -

Current liabilities 1,121,150 92,107

Total liabilities 1,164,483 92,107

Equity

Share capital 11 2 2

Retained earnings 11 (592,350) (67,725)

Total equity attributable to the owners of the company (592,348) (67,723)

Total equity and liabilities 572,135 24,384

CELADON PHARMA LTD STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND
30 SEPTEMBER 2019
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Attributable to the owners of
the company

Note
Share

capital
Retained
earnings

Total
equity

£ £ £

Balance at 03 September 2018 - - -

Loss for the year - (67,725) (67,725)

Shares issued 11 2 - -

Balance at 30 September 2019 2 (67,725) (67,723)

Loss for the period - (524,625) (524,625)

Balance at 31 December 2020 2 (592,350) (592,348)

CELADON PHARMA LTD STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE 15 MONTH PERIOD
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND PERIOD ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019
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Note

15 month
period ended
31 Dec 2020

Period ended
30 Sep 2019

£ £

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the period (524,625) (67,725)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 7 54,786 -

Other income (729)

Finance costs 5 729

(469,839) (67,725)

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (61,412) (5,518)

Trade and other payables 1,022,376 92,107

Net cash generated from operating activities 491,125 18,864

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 7 (506,632) -

Net cash used in investing activities (506,632) -

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 10 50,000 -

Net cash generated from financing activities 50,000 -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 34,493 18,864

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 18,864 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 9 53,357 18,864

CELADON PHARMA LTD STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE 15 MONTH PERIOD ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2020 AND PERIOD ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019
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CELADON PHARMA LTD NOTES TO THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE 15
MONTH PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND PERIOD ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Celadon Pharma Ltd (“CPL”) is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom and has its registered office
located at 32-33 Cowcross Street, London, EC1M 6DF.

The CPL historical financial information (“CPL HFI”) presents the financial track record of CPL for the
period from incorporation on 3 September 2018 to 30 September 2019 and the 15 month period ended
31 December 2020. The CPL HFI comprises the statements of comprehensive income, financial position,
changes in equity and cash flows of CPL.

The principal activity is that of a pharmaceutical company focused on researching cannabinoids for use in
approved medicines, developing sales channels and manufacturing those medicines in an emerging but
highly regulated market.

GENERAL INFORMATION1.

A. Basis of preparation

This CPL HFI has been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with international
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and in accordance
with Schedule 2 of the AIM Rules for Companies.

The CPL HFI has been prepared solely for the purposes of the admission document for the purpose of the
admission of Summerway Capital Plc (the “Company”) to the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.

The CPL HFI is presented in Pounds Sterling (£) which is CPL’s functional currency.

B. Going concern

The Company has confirmed that they will continue to support CPL in order that it may meet its liabilities
as they fall due for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of this historical financial
information.

At the date of this historical financial information, CPL has not generated any revenues. The Board has
considered the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. There has been minimal impact on CPL to
date. Given the impact of COVID-19 in the economy generally, the Board has performed a number of
stress tests to assess the ability of the CPL to continue as a going concern.

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts at the Celadon Group level for a review period of
24 months from the date of approval of this historical financial information. These forecasts reflect an
assessment of current and future market conditions and their impact on the Celadon Group’s future cash
flow requirements.

Post 31 December 2020, the Celadon Group secured additional capital of £4,130,000 through the issue
of convertible loan notes to fund acquisitions and short-term growth expectations. The Directors consider
that a listing through an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) will generate the additional capital required in order
to fulfil longer term growth expectations of the Celadon Group.

Having considered the points above, the Directors remain confident in the long-term future prospects for
the Celadon Group and CPL, and CPL’s ability to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future.
They therefore adopt the going concern basis in preparing the CPL HFI.

C. Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or OCI.

CPL has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain tax treatments,
do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for them under IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

I. Current Tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted

ACCOUNTING POLICIES2.
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at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

II. Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences
when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any.

D. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.

Gains and losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and
are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised
in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative periods are as
follows:

– plant and equipment: 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

E. Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability
or equity instrument of another entity.

I. Recognition and initial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the CPL becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

II. Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

For purposes of subsequent measurement, the financial assets of CPL are classified as financial assets
measured at amortised cost.

CPL does not have any financial assets classified as measured at fair value through OCI or financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss.

These financial assets of CPL are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Any interest income, foreign exchange gains
and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised
in profit or loss.

CPL’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade and other receivables, and cash and cash
equivalents.

The Celadon Group will write-off financial assets, either in their entirety or a portion therefor, if there is no
reasonable expectation of its recovery. A write-off constitutes a derecognition of a financial asset.

104



Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities of CPL are classified as measured at amortised cost and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any interest expense and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or
loss.

CPL’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables (including lease liabilities).

III. Derecognition

CPL derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially
all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which CPL neither
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of
the financial asset.

CPL derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or
expire. CPL also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the
consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit
or loss.

F. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

G. Share capital

Share capital is classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares
are recognised as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

H. Government grants

Government grants relate to support received in relation to COVID-19 bounce back loans. Income received
is shown under other income in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

I. Issued but not yet effective international financial reporting standards

The following standards that are not yet effective will be adopted by CPL in future periods:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or contributions between and investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture.

The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a
subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. CPL does not anticipate any impact
on its financial statements.

In preparing the HFI, management has made judgements and estimates that affect the application of CPL’s
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results
may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively.

The directors did not deem there to be any key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

USE OF JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES3.
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Note

15 month
period ended
31 Dec 2020

Year ended
30 Sep 2019

£ £

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 54,786 -

Professional fees 204,623 14,041

Premises expenses 13,275

Other 26,581 3,298

Total administrative expense 299,265 17,339

Research and development expenditure 225,360 50,386

Other income (729) -

Total administrative and research and development
expense

523,896 67,725

EXPENSES BY NATURE4.

15 month
period ended
31 Dec 2020

Year ended
30 Sep 2019

£ £

Other interest 729 -

Total finance costs 729 -

FINANCE COSTS5.

I. Tax charge

Tax charge

15 month
period ended
31 Dec 2020

Year ended
30 Sep 2019

£ £

Corporation tax charge - -

Deferred tax charge - -

Total tax charge - -

INCOME TAXES6.
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Factors affecting the tax charge for the year

15 month
period ended
31 Dec 2020

Year ended
30 Sep 2019

£ £

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (524,625) (67,725)

Loss at 19% (99,679) (12,868)

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes - 542

Losses and short term timing difference on which no deferred tax is
recognised

99,679 12,326

A reduction to the UK corporation tax rate down from 19% to 17% was announced in the 2016 Budget and
enacted on 15 September 2016 (to be effective from 1 April 2020). However, it was announced in the 2020
Budget (and substantively enacted on 17 March 2020) that this reduction in rate would be reversed with
19% being maintained from 1 April 2020. Furthermore, in the March 2021 Budget, it was announced that
the UK corporation tax rate would increase to 25% from 1 April 2023.

II. Unrecognised deferred tax asset

CPL has not recognised deferred tax on trading losses totalling £524,625 as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
£64,875) on the basis that it is not probable that a taxable profit will be generated in the foreseeable future.
This would have a financial impact of £112,005 (2019: £11,029) in future tax savings.

Plant &
Equipment Total

COST £ £

At 3 September 2018 and 1 October 2019 - -

Additions 506,632 506,632

Disposals - -

Exchange differences - -

At 31 December 2020 506,632 506,632

DEPRECIATION

At 3 September 2018 and 1 October 2019 - -

Charge for period 54,786 54,786

Disposals -

Exchange differences - -

At 31 December 2020 54,786 54,786

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 December 2020 451,846 451,846

At each balance sheet date the Celadon Group reviews the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment to determine whether there is any indication of any impairment loss. Taking into consideration
the age, condition and expected future cashflows to be generated from the assets no such indications have
been identified by the directors.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT7.
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31 December
2020

30 September
2019

Current £ £

Unpaid Share Capital 2 2

VAT receivable 66,930 5,518

66,932 5,520

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES8.

31 December
2020

30
September

2019

£ £

Bank balances 53,357 18,864

Cash and cash equivalents 53,357 18,864

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS9.

31 December
2020

30 September
2019

Current £ £

Trade payables 109,815 -

Amounts owed to group companies 839,161 -

Amounts owed to related parties 165,507 92,107

Borrowings 6,667 -

1,121,150 92,107

Non-current

Borrowings 43,333 -

43,333 -

Amounts owed to related parties are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are
repayable on demand.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and other payables is a reasonable
approximation of their fair value.

Borrowings relate to a Bounce Back Loan received in May 2020 and carries interest of 2.5%. The loan is
repayable in equal monthly instalments, starting May 2021, over a period of 5 years. Interest charges for
the first 12 months are paid by the UK Government.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES10.

I. Share capital

31 December
2020

30 September
2019

£1 ordinary shares in issue: unpaid 2 2

Each share carries one voting right. There is a single class of ordinary shares. There are no restrictions on
the distribution of dividends and the repayment of capital.

II. Nature and purpose of reserves

Retained earnings

The retained earnings reserve represents the aggregate profit / loss from incorporation less dividend
distributions made.

CAPITAL AND RESERVES11.
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I. Accounting classification and fair values

CPL’s financial instruments may be analysed as follows:

31 December
2020

30
September

2019

£ £

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:

Cash and bank balances 53,357 18,864

Trade and other receivables - -

Total financial assets 53,357 18,864

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

Trade and other payables 1,114,483 92,107

Borrowings 50,000 -

Total financial liabilities 1,164,483 92,107

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise cash, trade debtors, other debtors. It does not
include statutory taxes receivable and unpaid share capital.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise trade payables, amounts due to group
companies, amounts due to related parties and borrowings.

Financial risk management

The main risks arising from CPL’s activities are credit risk and liquidity risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that CPL will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities. CPL seeks to manage financial risks to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet
foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely and profitably.

The table below analyses CPL’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their
contractual maturities. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, because the impact of discounting is not
significant.

2020
Less than 1

year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

£ £ £ £

Trade and other payables 1,114,483 - - 1,114,483

Borrowings 6,667 43,333 - 50,000

1,121,150 43,333 - 1,164,483

2019 Less than 1
year

1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

£ £ £ £

Trade and other payables 92,107 - - 92,107

Borrowings - - - -

92,107 - - 92,107

Credit risk

Credit risk represents the financial loss CPL would experience if a counterparty to a financial instrument,
in which the Celadon Group has an amount owing from the counterparty, failed to meet its obligations in
accordance with the terms and conditions of its contracts with the Celadon Group.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUE AND RISK MANAGEMENT12.
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The Celadon Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its accounts receivable as cash balances are
deposited with reputable financial institutions. CPL reviews the collectability of accounts receivable in order
to mitigate any possible credit losses.

The risk of default on these receivables is deemed to be very low based on the nature of the assets held
by the Celadon Group to date.

II. Capital risk management

CPL’s capital management objectives are:

To meet these objectives, CPL reviews the budgets and forecasts on a regular basis to ensure there is
sufficient capital to meet the needs of CPL.

The capital structure of CPL consists of funding provided by related parties which can be found in trade
and other payables.

• To ensure CPL’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

• To provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurate with the
level of risk.

I. Parent company

On 1 January 2020 Vertigrow Technology Limited acquired 100% of the share capital in the CPL and
became the ultimate parent company by virtue of its significant shareholding in the company.

At 31 December 2020 CPL owed Vertigrow Technology Limited £839,161 (2019: £Nil) for amounts loaned
to CPL. These loans carry 0% interest and are repayable on demand.

During the period ended 31 December 2020 CPL transferred £159,945 of leasehold improvements to
Vertigrow Technology Limited at book value.

II. Ultimate controlling party

The ultimate controlling party is J Short by virtue of his shareholding and directorship in Vertigrow
Technology Limited. J Short is considered to be key management personnel.

During the period ended 31 December 2020 J Short charged CPL £25,243 (2019: £796) for consultancy
fees and expenses. At 31 December 2020 CPL owed James Short £48,107 (2019: £42,107) for
consultancy fees and amounts loaned to CPL. These loans carry 0% interest and are repayable on
demand.

For the period from incorporation until 31 December 2019 the ultimate controlling party was deemed to be
P Allen by virtue of his shareholding and directorship.

III. Transactions with Directors

P Allen

At the period end CPL owed P Allen £49,400 (2019: £50,000) for amounts loaned to CPL. These loans
carry 0% interest and are repayable on demand.

IV. Transactions with key management personnel

J Rickard is the Celadon Group’s Chief Operating Officer and deemed to be key management personnel.
During the period J Rickard charged CPL £157,888 (2019: £13,437). At the period end J Rickard was owed
£27,500 (2019: £Nil) by CPL.

V. Other related party transactions

Athena Vaults Limited

At the period end CPL owed Athena Vaults Limited, a company controlled by J Short, £47,500 (2019: £Nil)
for amounts loaned to CPL for working capital purposes. These loans carry 0% interest and are repayable
on demand. These loans have all been repaid subsequent to 31 December 2020. James Short ceased to
be a shareholder of Athena Vaults Limited on 1 February 2021.

Data Centre (DC) Limited

At the period end CPL owed Data Centre (DC) Limited, a company controlled by J Short, £20,500 (2019:

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS13.
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£Nil) for amounts loaned to CPL. These loans carry 0% interest and are repayable on demand. These
loans have all been repaid subsequent to 31 December 2020. James Short ceased to be a shareholder of
Data Centre (DC) Limited on 1 February 2021.
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The following is the full text of a report on the Group from RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP, the Reporting
Accountants, to the Directors of the Company

RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP
25 Farringdon Street

London
EC4A 4AB

T +44 (0)20 3201 8000
F +44 (0)20 3201 8001

rsmuk.com

The Directors
Summerway Capital Plc
32-33 Cowcross Street
London
EC1M 6DF

28 February 2022

Dear Sirs,

Summerway Capital plc (the “Company”) and its subsidiary undertaking (the "Group”)

We report on the interim financial information of the Group set out in Section F of Part IV of the admission
document dated 28 February (the “Admission Document”) of the Company.

Opinion

In our opinion, the interim financial information gives, for the purposes of the Admission Document, a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 August 2021 and of its results, cash flows
and changes in equity for the year ended 31 August 2021 in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Responsibilities

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for preparing the interim financial
information in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of
the Companies Act 2006.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the interim financial information and to report our opinion to
you.

Save for any responsibility arising under Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the UK version of Commission
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 (the “Prospectus Delegated Regulation”) as applied by paragraph
(a) Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies to any person as and to the extent there provided,
to the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility and will not accept any
liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other person as a result of, arising out
of, or in connection with this report or our statement, required by and given solely for the purposes of
complying with Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the Prospectus Delegated Regulation as applied by paragraph (a)
of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies, consenting to its inclusion in the Admission Document.

Basis of preparation

The interim financial information has been prepared for inclusion in the Admission Document on the basis
of the accounting policies set out at note 3 to the interim financial information. This report is required by
Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the Prospectus Delegated Regulation as applied by paragraph (a) of Schedule
Two to the AIM Rules for Companies and is given for the purpose of complying with that item and for no
other purpose.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our work in accordance with Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the Financial
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Reporting Council in the United Kingdom. We are independent in accordance with the Financial Reporting
Council’s Ethical Standard as applied to Investment Circular Reporting Engagements, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the interim
financial information. It also included an assessment of significant estimates and judgments made by those
responsible for the preparation of the interim financial information and whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the entity's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the interim
financial information is free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or
error.

Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices generally
accepted in any jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom and accordingly should not be relied upon as
if it had been carried out in accordance with those other standards and practices.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have not identified a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern for a period of at least
twelve months from the date of the Admission Document. We conclude that the Directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the interim financial information is appropriate.

Declaration

For the purposes of paragraph (a) of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies we are responsible
for this report as part of the Admission Document and declare that, to the best of our knowledge, the
information contained in this report is in accordance with the facts and that the report makes no omission
likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Admission Document in compliance Item 1.2 of
Annex 1 and Item 1.2 of Annex 11 of the Prospectus Delegated Regulation as applied by Schedule Two to
the AIM Rules for Companies.

Yours faithfully

RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP

Regulated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended Year ended

31 August 2021 31 August 2020

Note

£ £

Administrative expenses 7 (369,116) (186,552)

Operating loss (369,116) (186,552)

Finance income 9 1,858 12,041

Loss before income tax (367,258) (174,511)

Income tax 10 - -

Loss for the year (367,258) (174,511)

Total other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive loss (367,258) (174,511)

Attributable to:

Ordinary equity holders of the Company (367,258) (174,511)

Loss per ordinary share

Basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company

11 (5.05)p (2.85)p

The Group's activities derive from continuing operations.

SECTION F: INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at As at

31 August 31 August

2021 2020

Note

£ £

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6,805,175 5,487,991

Other receivables 13 14,755 9,779

Total current assets 6,819,930 5,497,770

Total assets 6,819,930 5,497,770

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 35,833 29,715

35,833 29,715

Non-current liabilities

Incentive shares 16 20,300 12,000

Total liabilities 56,133 41,715

Net Assets 6,763,797 5,456,055

Capital and reserves
attributable to equity
holders of the parent

Share capital 14 80,334 61,300

Share premium reserve 7,367,052 5,711,086

Capital redemption reserve 49,500 49,500

Accumulated losses (733,089) (365,831)

Total Equity 6,763,797 5,456,055

115



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to equity holders of the Parent

Share
capital

Share
Premium

reserve

Capital
Redemption

reserve
Accumulated

losses
Total

equity

£ £ £ £ £

Balance as at 31 August
2019 61,300 5,711,086 49,500 (191,320) 5,630,566

Loss for the year - - - (174,511) (174,511)

Balance as at 31 August
2020 61,300 5,711,086 49,500 (365,831) 5,456,055

Issue of shares 19,034 1,655,966 - - 1,675,000

Loss for the year - - - (367,258) (367,258)

Balance as at 31 August
2021 80,334 7,367,052 49,500 (733,089) 6,763,797
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended Year ended

31 August 2021 31 August 2020

Note

£ £

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating loss (369,116) (186,552)

Adjustments to reconcile loss before income tax to
operating cash flows:

(Increase)/decrease in other receivables (4,976) 5,891

Increase in trade and other payables 6,118 8,774

Bank interest received 1,858 12,041

Net cash used in operating activities (366,116) (159,846)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of Parent share capital 14 1,675,000 -

Proceeds from the issue Subsidiary share capital 16 20,300 -

Buyback of Subsidiary share capital 16 (12,000) -

Net cash generated from financing activities 1,683,300 -

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,317,184 (159,846)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 5,487,991 5,647,837

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 6,805,175 5,487,991
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Notes to the Company interim financial information

Summerway Capital Plc (the "Company") is an investing company (for the purposes of the AIM Rules for
Companies) and is incorporated in England and Wales and domiciled in the United Kingdom (company
number: 11545912). It is a public limited company and the address of the registered office is 32-33
Cowcross Street, London EC1M 6DF. The Company is the parent company of Summerway Subco
Limited (“the “Subsidiary”) (company number: 11565845). The activity of the Company is the investment,
acquisition and subsequent development of companies across the healthcare and pharmaceutical sectors,
where the Directors believe there are tangible opportunities to drive strategic, operational and performance
improvement, either as a standalone entity or as a result of broader initiatives.

The interim financial information has been prepared for the inclusion in the Admission Document of the
Company. On 28 October 2021, the Company announced that it had conditionally agreed to acquire the
entire issued share capital of Vertigrow Technology Ltd ("Vertigrow"), a company registered in the United
Kingdom.

The Group’s interim financial information presents the financial record for the Group for the two years
ended 31 August 2021.

The Company has changed its accounting reference date to 31 December on 28 October 2021. As a result,
this financial information represents interim financial information for the year ended 31 August 2021.

This interim financial information has been prepared in accordance with International Accounting
Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The interim financial
information has been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The interim financial information is presented in Pounds Sterling. All amounts, unless otherwise stated,
have been rounded to the nearest Pound.

The preparation of interim financial information in compliance with adopted International Accounting
Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying those
accounting policies. The areas where significant judgements and estimates have been made in preparing
these financial statements and their effect are disclosed in Note 5.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the interim financial information is set out
below. The policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The interim financial information does not constitute statutory accounts.

GENERAL INFORMATION1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES3.

The Company and Group applied standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective for
annual periods commencing on or after 1 September 2020. There were no material effects of adopting
these. There are a number of standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations which have been
issued by the IASB that are effective in future accounting periods that the group has decided not to adopt
early. The most significant of these are:

The Group does not currently expect any material impact of the above standards or any other standards
issued by the IASB, but not yet effective.

NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS3.1

• Amendments to IFRS 3: Business Combinations (applicable for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022);

• IAS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (applicable for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023);

• IAS 12: Income Taxes (applicable for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023); and

• IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (applicable for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022).
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The consolidated interim financial information incorporates the financial information of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiary undertakings). Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial information of the subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those of the
Group. All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
Summerway Subco Limited’s accounting reference date was 30 September and so adjustments are made
as necessary for inclusion in the consolidation.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION3.2

The Directors continue to take a prudent approach to cost management and seek to minimise expenditure
ahead of consummating the Company’s inaugural acquisition. The Company’s unaudited cash balance as
at 25 February 2022 was £4.4 million. As announced on 28 February 2022, the Company has conditionally
raised gross equity placing proceeds of £8.5 million ahead of completion the proposed acquisition of
Vertigrow, which shall be used in conjunction with the Company’s and Vertigrow’s existing cash to fund
on the ongoing expenditure requirements of the enlarged group. Subject to Shareholders approving the
acquisition at the Company’s General Meeting on 25 March 2022, and in any event, if the acquisition wasn’t
to proceed, the Directors are satisfied that the Company has adequate resources to continue in business
for at least twelve months from approval of this is interim financial information, particularly with regards
to a contracted annualised cash expenditure for the Company, which is in the region of £0.5 million prior
to completion of any investment or acquisition. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the interim financial information.

GOING CONCERN3.3

The accounting policy for identifying segments is based on internal management reporting information
which is reviewed by the chief operating decision maker. The Group is considered to have a single
business segment, being the identification and acquisition of companies or businesses.

SEGMENT REPORTING3.4

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at
the statement of financial position date. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at
the rates of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Exchange differences are taken into account in
arriving at the operating result.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES3.5

Current taxes are based on the results shown in the interim financial information and are calculated
according to local tax rules, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial
position date.

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit/(loss) differs from the
net profit/(loss) reported in the statement of comprehensive income as it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the interim financial information and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
differences arise from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets or
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of comprehensive income,
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case deferred tax is also
dealt with in equity.

TAXATION3.6

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-

CURRENT VERSUS NON-CURRENT CLASSIFICATION3.7
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current classification. An asset is current when it is:

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

• expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle; or

• held primarily for the purpose of trading; or

• expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or

• cash or cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting date.

• it is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle; or

• it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; or

• it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

• there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date.

Investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost less any provision for permanent diminution in value.

INVESTMENTS3.8

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group’s financial instruments
comprise cash, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables.

Trade, group and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially measured at their transaction price. Group and other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company has managed short-term liquidity through the holding of cash and highly liquid interest-
bearing deposits. Only deposits that are readily convertible into cash with maturities of three months or
less from inception, with no penalty of lost interest, are shown as cash and cash equivalents.

Impairment of financial assets

An impairment loss is recognised for the expected credit losses on financial assets when there is an
increased probability that the counterparty will be unable to settle an instrument’s contractual cash flows
on the contractual due dates, a reduction in the amounts expected to be recovered, or both. The probability
of default and expected amounts recoverable are assessed using reasonable and supportable past and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

The Group does not currently have trade receivables. For group and other receivables, the measurement
of impairment losses depends on whether the financial asset is ‘performing’, ‘underperforming’ or ‘non-
performing’ based on the Group’s assessment of increases in the credit risk of the financial asset since its
initial recognition and any events that have occurred before the year-end which have a detrimental impact
on cash flows. The financial asset moves from ‘performing’ to ‘underperforming’ when the increase in credit
risk since initial recognition becomes significant.

In assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly, the Group compares the risk of default at the
year-end with the risk of a default when the investment was originally recognised using reasonable and
supportable past and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost.

The risk of a default occurring takes into consideration default events that are possible within 12 months
of the year-end (“the 12-month expected credit losses”) for ‘performing’ financial assets, and all possible
default events over the expected life of those receivables (“the lifetime expected credit losses”) for
‘underperforming’ financial assets.

Impairment losses and any subsequent reversals of impairment losses are adjusted against the carrying

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS3.9
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The Company defines capital as the total equity of the Company. The objective of the Company’s capital
management is to ensure that it makes the maximum use of its capital to support its business and to
maximise shareholder value. There are no external constraints on the Company’s capital.

The Company and Group make certain estimates and judgements regarding the future. Estimates and
judgements are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In the future,
actual expenditure may differ from these estimates and judgements. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

Valuation and classification of incentive share scheme

The Board amended its previously implemented incentive scheme during the financial year ended 31
August 2021. This resulted in the buyback and cancellation of the 999,999 B shares of £0.01 in the
subsidiary undertaking, to the Executive Directors of the Company at a price of £0.012 per share, and the
issuance of 1,450,000 new B shares of £0.01 in the subsidiary undertaking to certain new participants,
including Directors and advisers to the Company.

Critical judgements and accounting estimates have been exercised by management in respect of the
incentive shares:

amount of the receivable and are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities are obligations to pay cash or other financial assets and are recognised when the
Company and Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade, group and other payables

Trade, group and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of direct transaction costs and
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Derecognition of financial assets (including write-offs) and financial liabilities

A financial asset (or part thereof) is derecognised when the contractual rights to cash flows expire or are
settled, or when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to another party.

When there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset it is derecognised (‘written off’).
The gain or loss on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised in profit or
loss.

A financial liability (or part thereof) is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the company after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at fair value on initial
recognition net of transaction costs.

Equity comprises the following:

EQUITY3.10

• Called up share capital represents the nominal value of the equity shares;

• Share premium represents the excess over nominal value of the fair value of consideration received
from the equity shares, net of expenses of the share issue;

• Capital redemption reserve is a statutory, non-distributable reserve into which amounts are transferred
following the redemption or purchase of a Company’s own shares;

• Retained deficit represent accumulated net gains and losses from incorporation recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT4.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES5.

• in determining the classification of the incentive shares as a financial liability rather than equity in the

121



Valuation and classification of warrant instrument

On 15 January 2021, the Company issued Vin Murria with 3,246,062 warrants which provided for a right
to subscribe for an addition 3,246,062 additional new ordinary shares of the Company at an exercise
price of 88 pence per share. The warrants were exercisable in whole or in part during an exercise period
commencing on the date of issue of the warrants and terminating 18 months after the date of issue.

Critical judgements and accounting estimates have been exercised by management in respect of the
warrant in estimating the fair value of the Company’s underlying share price at the date of issue of
the warrant instrument and calculation of any share-based payments charge as at 31 August 2021.
Specifically, management calculated the fair value of the Company’s underlying share price to be 88 pence
per share as at 15 January 2021, which is in line with the exercise price of 88 pence per share. This
management judgement was based upon the following factors:

As a result of management determining that the exercise price of 88 pence per share was in line with the
fair market value price of 88 pence per share at the time of the warrant issue, the share-based payment
charge attaching to the warrant is nil.

For management purposes, the Group is considered to have one single business segment, being the
identification and acquisition of companies and businesses. The Group comprises Summerway Capital Plc
and its subsidiary company Summerway SubCo Limited. The two companies do not transact with each
other. Further segment information is therefore not presented in this interim financial information.

Year ended 31
August

2021

Year ended 31
August

2020

£ £

Group expenses by nature

One-off costs related to the change in investing strategy 92,159 -

Staff related costs 76,552 54,780

Office costs - 21,890

NOMAD, registrar and Stock Exchange costs 67,230 46,391

Audit, accountancy & professional costs 116,162 50,997

Other expenses 17,013 12,494

369,116 186,552

statement of financial position, as the B shares issued in the subsidiary do not contain any voting rights
and are not permitted to participate in any ordinary dividends declared by the Company;

• in presenting the financial liability as non-current in the statement of financial position as the valuation
mechanism in the incentive share arrangement is measured over a three-year and five-year period; and

• in assessing the most appropriate valuation method to apply to estimate the fair value of the incentive
share liability as at 31 August 2021. See Note 16 for further details.

• 88 pence per share equated to the net asset value per share for the Company at the time of issue of
the warrants;

• Vin Murria, the then holder of the warrants, concurrently with the issue of the warrants acquired shares
from an existing shareholder in the Company for 85 pence per share and subscribed for new shares in
the Company at 88 pence per share; and

• The warrant exercise price was determined prior to the announcement of the proposed directorate
changes on 15 December 2020 where such undisturbed pre-announcement price per share was 85
pence per share.

SEGMENTAL REPORTING6.

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES7.
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Group Group

2021 2020

£ £

Wages and salaries 76,552 54,000

Social security costs - -

Other pension costs - -

76,552 54,000

The average monthly number of employees during the year, including the Directors, was 5.

Key management personnel

The Directors are currently considered to be the key management personnel of the Group. The total
remuneration paid to Directors during the year was £76,552 (2020: £54,000). There were no pension
contributions paid on behalf of the Directors.

Group Group

2021 2020

£ £

Finance income:

Deposit account interest 1,858 12,041

The Group and Company has reported a loss of £367,258 (2020: £174,511). No revenue has been
generated in the period and no significant differences exist between the tax charge of £Nil recognised
in this interim financial information and that calculated by applying the standard rate of United Kingdom
corporation tax. No deferred tax asset is recognised on these

Basic loss per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.

Year ended 31
August 2021

Year ended 31
August 2020

Loss attributable to the owners of the Company £ (367,258) £ (174,511)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 7,318,979 6,130,000

Basic and diluted loss per share (5.05) p (2.85) p

EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS8.

FINANCE INCOME9.

INCOME TAX10.

LOSS PER SHARE11.
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Principal subsidiary undertakings of the Group

The Company directly owns the ordinary share capital of its subsidiary undertakings as set out below:

The issued share capital of the subsidiary comprises 1 A ordinary share of £0.01 and 1,450,000 B ordinary
shares of £0.01.

Subsidiary Nature of
business

Country of
incorporation

Proportion of A
ordinary shares

held by Company

Proportion of B
ordinary shares

held by Company

Summerway Subco Limited Incentive
vehicle

England and
Wales

100% 0%

As the Company’s total investment holding in the subsidiary is £0.01, no investment value is presented in
the statement of financial position.

The address of the registered office of the Subsidiary is 32-33 Cowcross Street, London EC1M 6DF. The
subsidiary was incorporated on 12 September 2018 and so prepares its own financial statements for the
period ended 30 September each year. The subsidiary was dormant throughout the year to 30 September
2021 and it is therefore exempt from audit by virtue of s479A of Companies Act 2006.

The A ordinary shares have full voting rights, full rights to participate in a dividend and full rights to
participate in a distribution of capital.

The B ordinary shares do not have voting rights. No dividends shall be declared in relation to any of the B
ordinary shares without the consent of the Parent company. The B ordinary shares are not to be redeemed
and are not liable to be redeemed.

Further details of the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme can be found in Notes 17, 18 and 20.

All receivables are current. There is no material difference between the book value and the fair value of
receivables.

As at
31 August

2021

As at
31 August

2020

£ £

Amounts falling due within one year

Prepayments 4,334 9,180

Other receivables 10,421 599

14,755 9,779

As at
31 August

2021

As at
31 August

2020

£ £

Issued

8,033,409 (2020: 6,130,000) ordinary shares of 1p each 80,334 61,300

80,334 61,300

On 15 January 2021 1,903,409 ordinary shares of £0.01 each were issued to Vin Murria at a placing price

INVESTMENTS12.

OTHER RECEIVABLES13.

CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL14.
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of 88 pence per share and were admitted to trading on AIM.

There is no material difference between the book value and the fair value of the trade and other payables.

As at 31 August
2021

As at 31 August
2020

£ £

Trade payables 1,051 315

Accruals 33,225 28,800

Other tax and social security payables 1,557 600

35,833 29,715

As at
31

August
2021

As at
31 August

2020

£ £

Incentive shares
issued October
2018

- 12,000

Incentive shares
issued January
2021

20,300 -

20,300 12,000

Movement
in the

year
ended 31

August
2021

Movement in the
year ended 31

August 2020

£ £

Opening balance 12,000 12,000

Share buyback (12,000) -

Share issuance 23,000 12,000

20,300 12,000

The incentive shares liability is estimated at fair value through profit and loss using level 3 fair value
measurement techniques.

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the degree to which the
inputs to the measurement are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety:

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES15.

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES16.

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices).

125



The B shares issued by the subsidiary under the incentive scheme were deemed to have an implied
aggregate subscription price of £20,300, based on the nominal value per B share plus a premium. The
initial subscription price of the incentive shares remains the best estimate of the fair value of the liability
associated with the incentive shares as none of the criteria for potential value creation have been met
as at 31 August 2021. The fair value of the liability is assessed at each reporting date with any changes
accounted for as a fair value gain or loss and recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive
income.

Further details regarding the incentive scheme and B shares are included in Notes 17, 18 and 20.

Carrying amount of financial assets

The carrying amounts of financial assets by category were:

As at
31

August
2021

As at
31

August
2020

£ £

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:

- Cash and cash equivalents 6,805,175 5,487,991

- Other receivables 10,421 599

6,815,596 5,488,590

Carrying amount of financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial liabilities by category were:

As at
31

August
2021

As at
31

August
2020

£ £

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

- Trade and other payables 34,276 29,115

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss:

- Incentive shares liability 20,300 12,000

54,576 41,115

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities reasonably approximate to fair value.

Risks arising from financial instruments

Credit risk

The risk that counterparties will fail to settle amounts due to the Company predominantly arises from cash
and cash equivalents. Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited by depositing funds with banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities. The Group closely monitors its cash position to ensure that it has sufficient funds to meet the
obligations of the Group as they fall due.

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS17.
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Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party, or the parties are under common control or influence, in making
financial or operational decisions.

In conjunction with the corporate events announced on the 15 January 2021, the Company continued with,
entered into, amended and terminated a number of related party arrangements. These are set out below.

Service agreements

Under the terms of the Chairman and Non-Executive Director service agreements, the Chairman and the
Non-Executives were each paid a monthly fee of £1,500 per calendar month in arrears.

Administrative and accounting services

The Company engaged Fraser Real Estate, a company in which Alexander Anton is an indirect
shareholder to provide administrative and accounting services throughout the period. The Company paid
Fraser Real Estate £2,964 during the period for the provision of these services.

Placing agreement and issue of warrants

On 15 January 2021, the Company raised gross proceeds of £1,675,000 through the issuance of
1,903,409 new ordinary shares of the Company to the Chairman, Vin Murria, at a placing price of 88 pence
per share. At the same time, the Company issued Vin Murria with 3,246,062 warrants which provided for a
right to subscribe for an addition 3,246,062 additional new ordinary shares of the Company at an exercise
price of 88 pence per share. The warrants were exercisable in whole or in part during an exercise period
commencing on the date of issue of the warrants and terminating 18 months after the date of issue. Vin
Murria also purchased 500,000 existing ordinary shares at 85 pence per share from a shareholder on 15
January 2021.

Share capital and Directors’ holdings

Following completion of the placing and the issuance of 1,903,409 new ordinary shares, the Company’s
total issued share capital is 8,033,409 ordinary shares of 1p each.

On 8 April 2021, Vin Murria sold 1,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company to a UK institutional investor
at a price of £1.65 per share. Following this secondary share trade, Vin Murria continued to hold 1,403,409
ordinary shares of the Company.

As at 25 February 2022, the Directors and their connected persons hold a total of 500,000 ordinary shares
in the Company, representing 6.2% of the Company’s total issued share capital.

Subsidiary Incentive Scheme

On 15 January 2021, the Company made certain adjustments to the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme in order
to recognise the proposed change in strategic direction of the Company at that stage and the expectation
that the incoming team and others will be instrumental in leading the execution of this revised strategy, and
in turn, the anticipated creation of Shareholder Value.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES18.
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A summary of the key amendments compared to the original Subsidiary Incentive Scheme as at Admission
are set out in the following table.

Item Previous Subsidiary Incentive
Scheme

Amended Subsidiary Incentive
Scheme

Percentage of Shareholder
Value available to Scheme
Participants (pre acquisition
of, or investment in operating
company)

10 per cent. Up to 20 per cent.

Target compound annual
growth rate hurdle

13.5 per cent. 7.5 per cent.

Commencement date On Admission 15 January 2021

Initial Value Market capitalisation on Admission Unchanged

Vesting period Three- to five-year period or upon
a change of control of the

Company or the Subsidiary

Unchanged

Scheme Participants,
respective B Share holdings
and current aggregate
Shareholder Value
participation

Alexander Anton – 333,333
Benjamin Shaw – 333,333

Mark Farmiloe – 333,333

Alexander Anton – 75,000
Benjamin Shaw – 75,000

Mark Farmiloe – 75,000
Tony Morris – 175,000
Vin Murria – 1,000,000
Paul Gibson – 50,000

Aggregated – 1,450,000

Under the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme, participants are only rewarded if a predetermined level of
Shareholder value is created over a three-year period, a five-year period, or upon a change of control of the
Company (whichever occurs first), which is calculated by reference to the growth in market capitalisation
of the Company, following adjustments for the issue of any new ordinary shares and taking into account
dividends and capital returns.

From 15 January 2021, participants are entitled to up to 20 per cent. of the Shareholder value created,
subject to such Shareholder value having increased by 7.5 per cent. per annum compounded over a period
of between three and five years from 15 January 2021 or following a change of control of the Company or
the Subsidiary.

Under the amendments to the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme, Alexander Anton’s, Benjamin Shaw’s and
Mark Farmiloe’s original B share allocations were subject to a buyback by the Company at their original
subscription price of £0.012 per B share for a total consideration of £4,000 each (£12,000 in aggregate).

Following this buyback, the articles of the Subsidiary were amended in order to implement the proposed
changes to the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme. Alexander Anton, Benjamin Shaw, Mark Farmiloe, Tony
Morris, Vin Murria and Paul Gibson subscribed for newly issued B shares at a revised subscription price of
£0.014 per B share. Under certain circumstances, the Company is entitled to buy back the B shares at the
price paid by Subsidiary Incentive Scheme participants.

The allocations of B shares in issue as at 31 August 2021 are set out below.

Name B Shares held

Alexander Anton 75,000

Benjamin Shaw 75,000

Mark Farmiloe 75,000

Tony Morris 175,000

Vin Murria 1,000,000

Paul Gibson 50,000

Total 1,450,000

Corporate advisory agreements

On 15 January 2021, the Corporate Advisory Agreement entered into between the Company and AFS
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Advisors LLP (an entity wholly-owned by Alexander Anton, Benjamin Shaw and Mark Farmiloe) was
terminated at nil cost to the Company.

On 15 January 2021, the Company entered into a new agreement with Tessera Investment Management
Limited ("Tessera") pursuant to which Tessera has agreed to provide strategic and general corporate
advice, and M&A and capital raising transaction support services to the Company. Tessera charge £12,500
per month (plus VAT) payable monthly in arrears from the date of the agreement. In order to align the
parties’ collective interests and ensure the parties share in the risk and reward of certain successful
transactions, a discretionary bonus may be awarded to Tessera by the Board in the event of the successful
completion of certain transactions. Tony Morris, Non-Executive Director of the Company during the period,
is a director and shareholder of Tessera.

There were no commitments or contingent liabilities outstanding at 31 August 2021 that require disclosure
or adjustment in these financial statements.

Amendment to Company investing policy and directorate changes

On 20 October 2021, the Company announced that following a vote by Shareholders at the General
Meeting held on the same date, the Company’s investing policy was changed to a focus on investment
and acquisition opportunities across the healthcare and pharmaceutical sectors, particularly in new and
emerging therapeutic areas.

In conjunction with the change in strategy, a number of directorate changes occurred on 21 September
2021, including the appointment of an existing non-executive director, Benjamin Shaw, as Interim
Chairman of the Company and Liz Shanahan as a Non-Executive Director, as well as the resignations of
Vin Murria, Paul Gibson and Tony Morris as directors of the Company.

Following these directorate changes, the current Board of Directors for the Company is set out below.

Benjamin Shaw – Interim Non-Executive Chairman

David Firth – Independent Non-Executive Director

Elizabeth ("Liz") Shanahan – Independent Non-Executive Director

Acquisition Agreement

On 28 October 2021, the Company entered into a conditional agreement to acquire the issued share
capital of Vertigrow for total consideration of £80 million (the "Acquisition Agreement"). The proposed
acquisition will be subject, inter alia, to the Company shareholder approval at a general meeting, customary
regulatory approvals and re-admission of the share capital of the Company (as enlarged by the proposed
acquisition and proposed placing) (the "Enlarged Group") to AIM, or admission to another stock exchange
within the UK, North America or other certain territories.

The total consideration of £80 million will be satisfied by the issue of approximately 48.5 million new
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at 165 pence per ordinary share to the shareholders of
Vertigrow (the "Consideration Shares").

The Consideration Shares issued to the founders of Vertigrow will be subject to a lock in arrangement
for a period of 12 months following completion of the proposed acquisition, and customary orderly market
provisions for a further 12 months following the expiry of the lock in arrangement.

Loan Agreement

On 28 October 2021, the Company and Vertigrow entered into a loan agreement ("Loan") on under the
terms of which the Company agreed to lend Vertigrow up to £4,250,000 for working capital purposes. The
first £2,125,000 tranche of the Loan is unsecured, with any further drawings above this amount requiring
security interest to be granted in favour of the Company. The Loan is repayable on demand at any time.
The Loan may be drawn down by Vertigrow at any time up to 28 May 2021 and it attracts interest at a rate
of 10 per cent per annum which accrues daily and is payable on the repayment date. The Loan is governed
by English law.

Suspension of shares

Following the Company’s announcement on 28 October 2021 and entry into the Acquisition Agreement,
trading in the Company’s shares were suspended as the proposed transaction constitutes a reverse

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES19.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS20.
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takeover under rule 14 of the AIM Rules for Companies (the "AIM Rules"). Admission of the Enlarged
Share Capital to trading on AIM ("Admission") will therefore be conditional upon, inter alia, shareholder
approval at a general meeting and completion of proposed placing. The Company’s ordinary shares will
remain suspended from trading on AIM until such time as the Company publishes a combined shareholder
circular and admission document (the "Circular") or confirmation is given that the proposed acquisition is
not proceeding.

Change in accounting reference date

On 29 November 2021, the Company announced that it will be changing its accounting reference date and
financial year end from 31 August to 31 December.

The accounting reference date change to 31 December has been made to align the Company's accounting
reference date with that of Vertigrow Technologies Ltd, the proposed acquisition announced on 28 October
2021.

The change in accounting reference date and financing year end for the Company was filed with
Companies House on 3 December 2021, and on the 22 December 2021, the Company also elected to
change the accounting reference date and financial year end of the Subsidiary to 31 December.

Canaccord Nomad and Broker Agreement

The Company and Canaccord Genuity entered into a nominated adviser and broker agreement on 21
September 2021. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company has appointed Canaccord Genuity to act as
nominated adviser and broker to the Company for the purposes of the AIM Rules for Companies. The
agreement contains certain undertakings, warranties and indemnities given by the Company to Canaccord
Genuity. The agreement is terminable upon not less than 3 months prior written notice by either the
Company or Canaccord Genuity.

This agreement was mutually amended on 25 February 2022 so as to be replaced by a new nominated
adviser and broker agreement covering Canaccord Genuity’s role as nominated adviser and broker to the
Enlarged Group. The agreement contains certain undertakings, warranties and indemnities given by the
Company to Canaccord Genuity. The agreement is terminable upon not less than 3 months prior written
notice by either the Company or Canaccord Genuity.

The nominated adviser and broker agreement is governed by English law.

Placing Agreement

The Company and Canaccord Genuity entered into a placing agreement ("Placing Agreement") on 28
February 2022. Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, Canaccord Genuity has agreed, subject to certain
conditions, to act as agent for the Company and to use its reasonable endeavours to procure placees
to subscribe for the placing shares that are not subscription shares as part of the Enlarged Group’s
readmission to AIM.

The Placing Agreement contains warranties from the Company and Directors in favour of Canaccord
Genuity in relation to, inter alia, the accuracy of the information in the Circular and other matters relating
to the Company and its business. In addition, the Company has agreed to indemnify Canaccord Genuity
in respect of certain liabilities it may incur in respect of the placing. Canaccord Genuity has the right to
terminate the Placing Agreement in certain circumstances prior to completion of the placing and Admission
respectively, in particular, in the event of a material breach of the warranties or a force majeure event.

The Placing Agreement is governed by English law.

Related Party Disclosures

In conjunction with the corporate events announced on the 21 September 2021, the Company at the same
time entered into, amended and terminated a number of related party arrangements. These are set out
below.

Service agreements

Under the terms of the Non-Executive Director service agreements which were entered into on 21
September 2021, the Non-Executives (comprising David Firth and Liz Shanahan) are each paid a monthly
fee of £3,333 per calendar month in arrears. Benjamin Shaw entered into a new Interim Chairman’s service
agreement, and his monthly fee remained at £1,500 paid in arrears.

Subsidiary Incentive Scheme

Under the agreed amendments to the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme, Vin Murria (former Chairman of the
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Company) agreed with the Company the buyback of her 1,000,000 B Shares at the original subscription
price of £0.014 per B Share. In addition, Tony Morris (former Non-Executive Director of the Company)
agreed with the Company the buyback of 50,000 B Shares at the original subscription price of £0.014 per
B Share. Both buybacks and certain amendments to the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme shall be undertaken
at Admission.

The current and revised B share holdings reflective of the related party transactions noted above is shown
in the table below.

Name Current B Shares held Revised B Shares to be held
following agreed buybacks

Alexander Anton 75,000 75,000

Benjamin Shaw 75,000 75,000

Mark Farmiloe 75,000 75,000

Tony Morris 175,000 125,000

Vin Murria 1,000,000 -

Paul Gibson 50,000 50,000

Total 1,450,000 400,000

In addition to the agreed amendments to the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme and as part of the proposed
Acquisition announced on 28 October 2021, the Company will include certain new participants to the
Subsidiary Incentive Scheme through the issuance of new B Shares to those participants at a revised
subscription price and reflective of the performance terms attaching to those new B Shares. As a result of
this, the proposed B share holdings that are expected to be in place at Admission are as follows:

Name Role Current B
Shares held

Revised B
Shares to be

held following
agreed

buybacks

New B
Shares to be

issued at
Admission

Total B
Shares held
immediately

following
Admission

Alexander Anton Enlarged Group
Chairman

75,000 75,000 166,666 241,666

Benjamin Shaw 75,000 75,000 166,667 241,667

Mark Farmiloe 75,000 75,000 166,667 241,667

Tony Morris 175,000 125,000 - 125,000

Vin Murria 1,000,000 - - -

Paul Gibson 50,000 50,000 - 50,000

James Short Enlarged Group
CEO

200,000 200,000

Katie Long Enlarged Group
CFO

150,000 150,000

Iqbal Gill Enlarged Group
CSO

100,000 100,000

Arthur Wakeley Enlarged Group
UK Managing

Director

300,000 300,000

Total 1,450,000 400,000 1,250,000 1,650,000

Resignation Letters

On 21 September 2021, Vin Murria, Paul Gibson and Tony Morris resigned as directors of the Company.
Under the terms of the resignation letters, each exiting director received a compensation payment for loss
of office of £9,000. In addition, it was agreed with Vin Murria that the warrant instrument issued on 15
January 2021 be cancelled. Vin Murria also agreed to the buyback of her B Shares acquired under the
Subsidiary Incentive Scheme. In addition, Tony Morris agreed to the buyback of 50,000 of his B Shares
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acquired under the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme. Both buybacks will be at the original subscription cost of
£0.014 per B Share.

Irrevocable Undertakings

Vin Murria also entered into an irrevocable undertaking with the Company under which, as beneficial owner
of 1,403,409 ordinary shares of the Company, agreed to vote those shares in favour of the Company’s
change of investing policy and also in favour of the Company’s proposed acquisition of Vertigrow and other
related resolutions to be tabled to Shareholders as part of the AIM reverse takeover transaction approval
process.

Benjamin Shaw, Interim Chairman of the Company entered into an irrevocable undertaking on behalf of
himself and Romana Capital LLP under which he agreed to vote 500,000 ordinary shares of the Company
in favour of the Company’s proposed acquisition of Vertigrow and other related resolutions to be tabled to
Shareholders as part of the AIM reverse takeover transaction approval process.

Corporate Advisory Agreement

The Corporate Advisory Agreement entered into between the Company and Tessera pursuant to which
Tessera has agreed to provide strategic and general corporate advice, and M&A and capital raising
transaction support services to the Company, will terminate in full with effect from admission of the
enlarged share capital of the Company to trading on AIM following shareholder approval of the Company’s
acquisition of Vertigrow.
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for the 6 month period ended 30 June 2021

Unaudited Unaudited

6 month period
ended 30 June

2021

6 month period
ended 30 June

2020

£ £

Revenue - -

Cost of sales - -

Gross result - -

Administrative expenses (1,689,135) (240,156)

Research and development expenses (155,789) (67,997)

Other income 521 104

Other expenses (51,209) -

Operating loss (1,844,403) (308,049)

Finance income 107 1

Finance costs (962,041) (104)

Loss before tax (2,857,653) (308,152)

Income tax expense - -

Loss for the period (2,857,653) (308,152)

Total comprehensive loss for the period attributable to
owners of the company

(2,857,653) (308,152)

SECTION G: UNAUDITED INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE CELADON GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2021

Unaudited Audited

Note 30 June 2021 31 December
2020

£ £

Assets

Property, plant, and equipment 4 3,211,647 3,033,544

Investments 5 200,000 -

Intangible assets 80,297 80,297

Non-current assets 3,491,944 3,113,841

Trade and other receivables 108,857 437,726

Cash and cash equivalents 2,848,290 299,479

Current assets 2,957,147 737,205

Total assets 6,449,091 3,851,046

Liabilities

Lease liabilities 2,909,609 2,873,817

Loans and borrowings 6 38,052 43,333

Non-current liabilities 2,947,661 2,917,150

Trade and other payables 853,501 828,195

Lease liabilities 150,000 -

Loans and borrowings 6 4,967,351 6,667

Current liabilities 5,970,852 834,862

Total liabilities 8,918,513 3,752,012

Equity

Share capital 7 309 308

Share premium 1,561,488 1,272,292

Retained earnings (4,031,219) (1,173,566)

Total equity attributable to the owners of the company (2,469,422) 99,034

Total equity and liabilities 6,449,091 3,851,046

CELADON GROUP
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the 6 month period ended 30 June 2021

Unaudited

Attributable to the owners of the company

Share capital Share
premium

Retained
earnings

Total equity

£ £ £ £

Balance at 01 January 2020 300 - (113,773) (113,473)

Loss for the period - - (308,152) (308,152)

Shares issued - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2020 300 (421,925) (421,625)

Balance at 01 January 2021 308 1,272,292 (1,173,566) 99,034

Loss for the period - - (2,857,653) (2,857,653)

Shares issued 1 289,196 - 289,197

Balance at 30 June 2021 309 1,561,488 (4,031,219) (2,469,422)

CELADON GROUP
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

for the 6 month ended 30 June 2021

Unaudited Unaudited

6 month period
ended 30 June

2021

6 month period
ended 30 June

2020

£ £

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the period (2,857,653) (308,152)

Adjustments for:

119,187 66,947

961,339 103

(521) (104)

51,209 -

(1,726,439) (241,206)

Changes in working capital:

69,671 32,487

324,504 428,129

Cash (used in) / generated from operating activities (1,332,264) 219,410

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (297,290) (279,507)

Acquisition of investment (200,000) -

Cash on acquisitions - 11,210

Net cash used in investing activities (497,290) (268,297)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 249,197 300

Proceeds / (repayments) of borrowings (833) 50,000

Proceeds from loan notes 4,130,000 -

Interest received 1 -

Net cash from financing activities 4,378,365 50,300

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,548,811 1,413

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 299,479 1,486

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 2,848,290 2,899

CELADON GROUP

• Depreciation

• Finance interest

• Other income

• Change in fair value of derivative liability

• Trade and other receivables

• Trade and other payables
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

for the 6 month period ending 30 June 2021

CELADON GROUP

Vertigrow Technology Ltd (“Vertigrow”) is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom and has its
registered office located at 32-33 Cowcross Street, London, EC1M 6DF, company number 11886065.

The Vertigrow consolidated interim financial information presented as at and for the 6 period ended 30
June 2021 and as at and for 6 month period ended 30 June 2020 comprises the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income, financial position, changes in equity and cash flows of Vertigrow and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Celadon Group”)

The principal activity of the Celadon Group is that of a pharmaceutical company focused on researching
cannabinoids for use in approved medicines, developing sales channels and manufacturing those
medicines in an emerging but highly regulated market.

GENERAL INFORMATION1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES2.

The consolidated interim financial information does not constitute statutory accounts as defined in Section
434 of the Companies Act 2006.

The Celadon Group interim financial information has been prepared solely for the purpose of the admission
of Summerway Capital Plc (the “Company”) to the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange. The
Admission Document is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the AIM Rules for Companies
and this basis of preparation, including the accounting policies are set out below. The interim financial
information has been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with the recognition and
measurement principles of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and on the same basis and
using the same accounting policies as used in the Celadon Group HFI set out in Section B of Part IV.
It does not include all the information required by IFRS in full annual financial statements and should
therefore be read in conjunction with the Celadon Group HFI.

The Celadon Group interim financial statements are presented in Pound Sterling (£) which is Vertigrow’s
functional currency and all values are rounded to the nearest Pound Sterling (£), except where otherwise
indicated.

The policies set out below have been applied consistently throughout all the periods presented to

items considered material to the Celadon Group interim financial statements.

Basis of preparation(A)

At the date of this historical financial information, the Celadon Group has not generated any revenues. The
Board has considered the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. There has been minimal impact
on the Celadon Group to date. Given the impact of COVID-19 in the economy generally, the Board has
performed a number of stress tests to assess the ability of the Celadon Group to continue as a going
concern.

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for the Celadon Group for a review period of 24 months
from the date of approval of this historical financial information. These forecasts reflect an assessment
of current and future market conditions and their impact on the Celadon Group’s future cash flow
requirements.

Post 31 December 2020, the Celadon Group secured additional capital of £4,130,000 through the issue
of convertible loan notes to fund acquisitions and short-term growth expectations. The Directors consider
that a listing through an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) will generate the additional capital required in order
to fulfil longer term growth expectations of the Celadon Group.

Having considered the points above, the Directors remain confident in the long-term future prospects
for the Celadon Group, and their ability to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. They
therefore adopt the going concern basis in preparing the historical financial information of the Celadon
Group.

Going concern(B)
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The consolidated Celadon Group interim financial statements comprises the financial information of
Vertigrow and its subsidiaries as at and for the periods ended 30 June 2020 and 2021. Subsidiaries are
entities controlled by the Celadon Group. The Celadon Group ‘controls’ an entity when it is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity.

The financial information of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Basis of consolidation(C)

The Celadon Group’s finance income and finance costs include:

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis. Interest expenses on lease liabilities are recognised
inline with the leases accounting policy, see section 5.

Finance income and finance costs(D)

• Interest income;

• Interest expense on lease liabilities; and

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or OCI.

The Celadon Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain
tax treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for them under IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Income tax(E)

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the
year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or
received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met

Current tax(I)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences
when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any.

Deferred tax(II)

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.

Gains and losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and
are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is recognised in profit
or loss.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative periods are as

Property, plant and equipment(F)
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follows:

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

• Leasehold Improvements: 10 years

• Plant and Equipment: 5 years

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over the Celadon Group's interest in
the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

Cost comprises the fair value of assets given, liabilities assumed, and equity instruments issued, plus the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree plus, if the business combination is achieved in
stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree.

Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset with any impairment in carrying value being charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Impairment tests on are undertaken annually at the
financial year end. Where the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its recoverable amount an impairment is
recognised and shall not be reversed in later periods.

Goodwill(G)

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability
or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial instruments(H)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Celadon Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue.

A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction
price.

Recognition and initial measurement(I)

Financial assets

For purposes of subsequent measurement, the financial assets of the Celadon Group are classified
as financial assets measured at amortised cost.

The Celadon Group does not have any financial assets classified as measured at fair value through
OCI or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

These financial assets of the Celadon Group are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Any interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

The Celadon Group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade and other receivables, and
cash and cash equivalents.

The Celadon Group will write-off financial assets, either in their entirety or a portion therefor, if there is
no reasonable expectation of its recovery. A write-off constitutes a derecognition of a financial asset.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities of the Celadon Group are classified as measured at amortised cost and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any interest expense
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

The Celadon Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables (including lease liabilities)
and a convertible loan note (refer to note L below).

Classification and subsequent measurement(II)
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The Celadon Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or
in which the Celadon Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Celadon Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged
or cancelled, or expired. The Celadon Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are
modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and
the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised
in profit or loss.

Derecognition(III)

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Cash and cash equivalents(I)

Share capital is classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares
are recognised as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Share capital(J)

Leases(K)

The Celadon Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the
date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as
follows:

Right of use assets(I)

• Leasehold Property over 25 years

• The right of use asset is held in the relevant component of tangible fixed assets.

At the commencement date of the lease, the Celadon Group recognises lease liabilities measured at
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Celadon Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. changes to future payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Celadon Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
machinery and equipment (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value
assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that is considered to be low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease liabilities(II)
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Convertible loan note(L)

• The convertible loan note issued by the Celadon Group can be converted to ordinary shares at the
option of the holder.

• The embedded derivative liability component of convertible loan notes is initially recognised at fair
value, with the debt host liability initially recognised as the difference between the fair value of the
convertible loan note as a whole and the fair value of the embedded derivative liability component.

• Subsequent to initial recognition, the debt host liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, and changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative liability will be recognised in
profit or loss.

Government grants relate to support received in relation to COVID-19 bounce back loans. Income received
is shown under other income in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Government grants(M)

The following standards that are not yet effective will be adopted by the Celadon Group in future periods:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or contributions between and investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control
of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The Celadon Group does not
anticipate any impact on its financial statements.

Issued but not yet effective international financial reporting standards(N)

Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets acquired, equity instruments issued, and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Acquisition costs are recognised directly in profit and loss
as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired including intangible assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective
of the extent of any non-controlling interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of
the Celadon Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost
of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in the income statement for the period.

Business combinations(O)

In preparing the Celadon Groups interim financial statements, management has made judgements and
estimates that affect the application of the Celadon Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised
prospectively.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and, are described below.

USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES3.

Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is
estimated to discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease
commencement date. Such a rate is based on what the consolidated entity estimates it would have to pay
a third party to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset,
with similar terms, security and economic environment.

Incremental borrowing rate(A)

The right of use asset and lease liability related to the property lease were recognised upon the asset being
available for use by Vertigrow during the period ended 31 December 2019. This was prior to the lease

Property lease recognition date(B)
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agreement being signed during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Celadon Group tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
impairment, whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of
assumptions, including estimated discount rates based on the current cost of capital and growth rates of
the estimated future cash flows.

Goodwill(C)

As the maturity date of the convertible loan note cannot be readily determined, the fair value of the
embedded derivative liability component of the convertible loan note at initial recognition and at 30 June
2021 has been estimated based on management’s best estimate of the expected date of conversion (IPO
date). Similarly, the effective interest rate used to measure the debt host liability at amortised cost has been
calculated based on management’s best estimate of the convertible loan note’s maturity date.

Convertible loan note maturity date(D)

Unaudited

Leasehold
Property

Leasehold
improvements

Plant &
Equipment

Office
Equipment

Total

£ £ £ £ £

COST

At 01 January 2021 2,511,262 201,611 506,632 - 3,219,505

Additions - 121,412 120,604 55,274 297,290

At 30 June 2021 2,511,262 323,023 627,236 55,274 3,516,795

DEPRECIATION

At 01 January 2021 125,563 5,612 54,786 - 185,961

Charge for period 50,225 12,184 53,240 3,538 119,187

At 30 June 2021 175,788 17,796 108,026 3,538 305,148

NET BOOK VALUE

At 30 June 2021 2,335,474 305,227 519,210 51,736 3,211,647

Leasehold Property comprises right of use assets on leased property.

At each balance sheet date the Celadon Group reviews the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment to determine whether there is any indication of any impairment loss. Taking into consideration
the age, condition and expected future cashflows to be generated from the assets no such indications have
been identified by the directors.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT4.

142



Unaudited

Total

£

COST

At 1 January 2021 -

Additions 200,000

At 30 June 2021 200,000

NET BOOK VALUE

At 30 June 2021 200,000

Investments comprise a minority interest in Kingdom Therapeutics Limited, a company undertaking
research and development into medical cannabis for Autistic Spectrum Disorder.

INVESTMENTS5.

Unaudited

Carrying Amount

£

At 1 January 2021 50,000

New issues

Convertible loan note 3,099,190

Derivative liability 1,857,045

Repayments

Borrowings (833)

At 30 June 2021 5,005,402

LOANS AND BORROWINGS6.

Unaudited

£

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes 4,130,000

Amount classified as a derivative liability (1,805,837)

Accrued interest 775,027

Carrying amount of liability at 30 June 2021 3,099,190

Convertible loan note(I)
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CAPITAL AND RESERVES7.

Unaudited Audited Unaudited Audited

As at 30 June 2021 31 December 2020 30 June 2021 31 December 2020

Shares Shares £ £

Shares issued and
fully paid

Ordinary shares of
£0.01 each

14,431 14,153 144 142

A Ordinary shares
of £0.01 each

16,500 16,500 165 165

30,931 30,653 309 307

Shares issued and
unpaid

Ordinary shares of
£0.01 each

- 125 - 125

Total Share
capital

30,931 30,778 309 308

On 22 January 2021, Vertigrow issued 153 Ordinary shares of £0.01 nominal value at a price of £1,955.54
per share.

Share Capital(i)

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 22 September 2021, 981 Ordinary shares of £0.01 nominal value were converted into and redesignated
as 981 Deferred shares of £0.01 nominal value.

On 25 October 2021, Vertigrow issued 50 Ordinary shares of £0.01 nominal value at a price of £2,000 per
share. There were no transaction costs associated with the share issue.

Share Capital(I)

On 14 July 2021, Vertigrow acquired 57.5% of the issued share capital of Harley Street (CPC) Limited
(“HSCPCL”), which is in the advanced stages of obtaining MHRA and Research Ethics Committee
approval for a UK-based cannabis trial for a maximum consideration of £2,000,000. £500,000 was paid in
cash on completion and £1,500,000 deferred consideration is payable in the event that (i) each of MHRA
and REC authorise the Trial in full; and (ii) 5,000 paying patients of the Company’s clinic are accepted
onto the Trial and receive their first prescriptions under the Trial within 18 months of completion. Such
deferred consideration is to be satisfied by the issue of shares in an entity in the same group as Vertigrow
whose securities are publicly listed on a recognised stock exchange at the relevant time ("Listco"), with
the price for such shares being the average of the middle market quotations for shares in Listco for the
five consecutive dealing days immediately preceding the date of issue of such shares. In addition, if REC
authorisation has not been obtained by HSCPCL within 6 months following completion, Vertigrow may
elect to increase its shareholding to 70% for consideration of £1. Further, Vertigrow have made a 3 year
loan to HSCPCL for £500,000 for working capital purposes. The interest rate on the loan is 5.0% payable
annually.

Acquisitions(II)
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Details of the acquisition are as follows

£

Fair value of initial cash consideration paid 500,000

Fair value of contingent consideration 374,768

Total consideration 874,768

Fair value of net liabilities acquired (238,385)

Non-controlling interest (101,314)

Goodwill 1,011,839

The Directors are in the process of assessing the fair value of net assets acquired and therefore the above
figures are provisional.

On 16 July 2021, HSCPCL entered into a 3 year, £1.5m loan agreement with a third party lender to fund
the ongoing operational activities of the business. The interest rate on the loan was 5.0% payable annually.
On 4 February 2022, HSCPCL voluntarily repaid the £1.5m loan plus accrued interest of £41,250 and
cancelled the facility as it was no longer required.

On 28 October 2021, the Company entered into a conditional agreement to acquire the issued share
capital of Vertigrow for total consideration of £80 million (the "Acquisition Agreement"). The proposed
acquisition will be subject, inter alia, to Summerway shareholder approval at a general meeting, customary
regulatory approvals and re-admission of the share capital of Summerway (as enlarged by the proposed
acquisition and proposed placing) (the "Enlarged Group") to AIM, or admission to another stock exchange
within the UK, North America or other certain territories.

The total consideration of £80 million will be satisfied by the issue of approximately 48.5 million new
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at 165 pence per ordinary share to the shareholders of
Vertigrow (the "Consideration Shares").

The Consideration Shares issued to the founders of Vertigrow will be subject to a lock in arrangement
for a period of 12 months following completion of the proposed acquisition, and customary orderly market
provisions for a further 12 months following the expiry of the lock in arrangement.

Acquisition Agreement(III)

On 28 October 2021, the Company and Vertigrow entered into a loan agreement ("Loan") under the
terms of which the Company agreed to lend Vertigrow up to £4,250,000 for working capital purposes. The
first £2,125,000 tranche of the Loan is unsecured, with any further drawings above this amount requiring
security interest to be granted in favour of the Company. The Loan is repayable on demand at any time.
The Loan may be drawn down by Vertigrow at any time up to 28 May 2021 and it attracts interest at a rate
of 10 per cent per annum which accrues daily and is payable on the repayment date. The Loan is governed
by English law.

Loan Agreement(IV)

Pursuant to an agreement dated 23 February 2022 between Vertigrow and H&P Advisory Limited (trading
as Hannam & Partners), Vertigrow agreed to pay an introduction fee of £100,000 (exclusive of VAT)
pursuant to a previous agreement with H&P Advisory Limited which is conditional on Admission.

Introduction fee agreement(V)

On 10 August 2020, Vertigrow (as tenant) and Data Centre (DC) Ltd (as landlord) entered into a sub-
underlease for Celadon’s premises in the Midlands for a term of 25 years with no breaks beginning on 1
October 2019 and rent of £450,000 per annum, payable from 1 March 2022. On 11 February 2022, Paloma
II (Industrial III) Trustee I Limited and Paloma II (Industrial III) Trustee II Limited, acting in their capacity
as trustees of Paloma II (Industrial III) Unit Trust, acquired Data Centre (DC) Limited’s interests in the site
such that Data Centre (DC) Limited no longer has any landlord (or other) interest in the property. As part
of this arrangement, Vertigrow has been granted a rent free period of 12 months from February 2022 from
which point the rent thereafter will be £450,000 per annum. The rent will increase in October 2024 to the
higher of the open market rent or £650,000 per annum, and will be subject to a review every five years
thereafter to the open market rent with a minimum increase of 2 per cent. (compounded annually over five

Lease arrangements(VI)
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years) at each review. James Short was a director of Data Centre (DC) Ltd from 7 September 2017 to 3
September 2019 and was a 80 per cent. shareholder of Data Centre (DC) Ltd until 1 February 2021.
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PART V. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

Set out below is an unaudited pro-forma statement of net assets of the Enlarged Group (the “Pro Forma
Financial Information”), which has been prepared on the basis of the financial information of the Company
as at 31 August 2021, as adjusted for:

• the acquisition of the Celadon Group;

• the receipt of the net proceeds from the Fundraising;

• the acquisition of LVL by the Celadon Group; and

• the conversion of the Celadon CLNs.

as set out in the notes below. The Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared for illustrative
purposes only and because of its nature, addresses a hypothetical situation and does not therefore,
represent the actual financial position of the Enlarged Group as at the date of Admission.

Net assets of
the Group as at
31 August 2021

Net assets of
the Celadon

Group as at 30
June 2021

Acquisition of
LVL

Net proceeds
from the

Fundraising

Conversion of
the Celadon

CLNs

Pro forma
statement of

net assets

Note 1 Note 2 Note 3 Note 4 Note 5

£ £ £ £ £ £

Non-current
assets

Property, plant
and equipment - 3,211,647 - - - 3,211,647

Investments - 200,000 - - - 200,000

Intangible assets - 80,297 1,011,839 - - 1,092,136

- 3,491,944 1,011,839 - - 4,503,783

Current assets

Trade and other
receivables 14,755 108,857 - - - 123,612

Cash and cash
equivalents 6,805,175 2,848,290 (500,000) 6,063,171 - 15,216,636

6,819,930 2,957,147 (500,000) 6,063,171 - 15,340,248

Total assets 6,819,930 6,449,091 511,839 6,063,171 - 19,844,031

Non-current
liabilities -

Lease liabilities - 2,909,609 - - - 2,909,609

Loans and
borrowings - 38,052 - - - 38,052

Incentive shares 20,300 - - - - 20,300

Deferred
consideration - - 374,768 - - 374,768

20,300 2,947,661 374,768 - - 3,342,729

Current
liabilities

Trade and other
payables 35,833 853,501 238,385 - - 1,127,719

Lease liabilities - 150,000 - - - 150,000

Loans and
borrowings - 4,967,351 - - (4,956,235) 11,116

35,833 5,970,852 238,385 - (4,956,235) 1,288,835

Total liabilities 56,133 8,918,513 613,153 - (4,956,235) 4,631,564

Net assets /
(liabilities) 6,763,797 (2,469,422) (101,314) 6,063,171 4,956,235 15,212,467
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(1) The net assets of the Group as at 31 August 2021 have been extracted without material adjustment
from the Interim Financial Information of the Group in Section F of Part IV of this document.

(2) The net assets of Celadon Group as at 30 June 2021 have been extracted without material adjustment
from the Unaudited Interim Financial Information of the Celadon Group in Section G of Part IV of this
document. No adjustment has been made to estimate any intangible assets arising on the acquisition of
the Celadon Group.

(3) On 14 July 2021, Vertigrow acquired 57.5% of the issued share capital of LVL, for a maximum
consideration of £2,000,000. £500,000 was paid in cash on completion and £1,500,000 of deferred and
contingent consideration which is payable in ordinary shares in Summerway Capital plc. Such deferred and
contingent consideration is to be satisfied by the issue of shares in an entity in the same group as Vertigrow
whose securities are publicly listed on a recognised stock exchange at the relevant time. The fair value of
the deferred and contingent consideration at the date of acquisition was estimated to be £374,768. The fair
value of net assets acquired at the date of acquisition was estimated to be £238,385 with intangible assets
on acquisition of £1,011,839.

(4) The gross proceeds of £8.5 million from the Fundraising, net of costs of £2.4 million. Transaction costs
of £2.4 million excludes a discretionary fee of £580,000 to AFS Advisors LLP, which is payable at the
Board's discretion within 12 months of Admission.

(5) The adjustment in note 5 reflects the conversion, through issuance of Consideration Shares, of the
Celadon CLNs, related derivative financial instrument and accrued interest at 30 June 2021.

(6) Other than described above, no adjustment has been made to reflect the financial position or trading
results of the Group since 31 August 2021 or Celadon Group since 30 June 2021.
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PART VI. ADDITIONAL TAKEOVER CODE DISCLOSURES FOR THE PURPOSES
OF THE RULE 9 WHITEWASH

Save as disclosed in this Part VI and except for the Consideration Shares proposed to be allotted and
issued to each member of the Concert Party pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, no member of the
Concert Party, nor any close relatives, related trusts or connected persons, nor any person acting in
concert with any member of the Concert Party owns or controls or is interested, directly or indirectly in, or
has borrowed or lent (save for any borrowed securities which have either been on-lent or sold), has rights
to subscribe for, or has any short position (whether conditional or absolute and whether in the money or
otherwise), including any short position under a derivative, any agreement to sell or any delivery obligation
or right to require another person to purchase or take delivery in, any relevant securities of the Company,
nor has any such person dealt therein during the 12 months prior to the date of this Document.

Save for the Consideration Shares proposed to be allotted and issued to each member of the Concert
Party pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, there is no arrangement relating to relevant securities which
exists between any member of the Concert Party, or their respective groups or, so far as the members of
the Concert Party are aware, any person acting in concert with any member of the Concert Party or their
respective groups, and any other person, nor between the Company or, so far as Company is aware, any
person acting in concert with the Company and any other person.

Save for the Acquisition Agreement, there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any
compensation arrangement) which exists between any member of the Concert Party or any person acting
in concert with any member of the Concert Party and any of the Directors, Proposed Directors, recent
directors of the Company, Shareholders or recent shareholders of the Company, or any other person
interested or recently interested in Ordinary Shares, which has any connection with or dependence upon
the Resolutions. If the Whitewash Resolution is passed by the Independent Shareholders on a poll, there
is no agreement, arrangement or understanding for the transfer by any member of the Concert Party of its
Ordinary Shares to any third party. No member of the Concert Party nor any person acting in concert with
any member of the Concert Party has any arrangement, agreement or understanding, formal or informal, of
whatever nature relating to relevant securities which may be an inducement to deal or refrain from dealing.
No member of the Concert Party has received any irrevocable commitment or letter of intent in relation to
relevant securities of the Company.

Trading in the Ordinary Shares was suspended on 21 September 2021 and has remained suspended
since that date. The middle market quotations for the Company on the first business day of each of the six
months preceding the date of this Document, 21 September 2021 being the date on which trading in the
Ordinary Shares was suspended in anticipation of the Acquisition and on 25 February 2022 being the last
practicable date prior to the posting of this Document, as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily
Official List, were:

Date
Price per Ordinary Share

(pence)

1 September 2021 185.0

21 September 2021 165.0

1 October 2021 165.0

1 November 2021 165.0

1 December 2021 165.0

4 January 2022 165.0

1 February 2022 165.0

25 February 2022 165.0

GENERAL1.

ARRANGEMENTS WITH THE CONCERT PARTY2.

MIDDLE MARKET QUOTATIONS3.
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No member of the Concert Party has any intention to make any changes in relation to:

As at the date of this Document, the Company does not have any public current credit rating or outlook
from a ratings agency.

In addition to the Directors, the Proposed Directors (in each case together with their close relatives and
related trusts) and members of the Group, the party acting in concert with the Company for the purposes
of the Proposals and required to be disclosed is Canaccord Genuity (a financial services company) which
is Rule 3 adviser, as well as nominated adviser and broker to the Company. Canaccord Genuity also holds
an interest in the Shares of the Company pursuant to a warrant instrument which is further described in
paragraph 15.1.4 of Part VII of this Document.

In compliance with the provisions of the Takeover Code, copies of the following documents are available
at the Company's website at www.sumerwaycapital.co.uk:

INTENTIONS OF THE CONCERT PARTY FOR THE ENLARGED GROUP4.

the future business, investment and/or research and development of the Group;4.1

the continued employment of the Group’s employees and management, including the continued
employment of, or the conditions of employment and any such rights relating thereto of, any of
the Group’s employees and management;

4.2

the strategic plans of the Group;4.3

the locations of the Group’s headquarters, headquarter functions or places of business;4.4

employer contributions into the Company’s pension scheme;4.5

the redeployment of any fixed assets of the Group; or4.6

the maintenance of any existing trading facilities for the Ordinary Shares.4.7

RATINGS AND OUTLOOK5.

PERSONS ACTING IN CONCERT WITH THE COMPANY6.

AVAILABILITY OF DOCUMENTS7.

• irrevocable undertakings from the Directors and certain shareholders referred to in paragraph 28 of Part
II of this Document;

• letter of consent from Canaccord Genuity referred to in paragraph 16.8 of Part VII; and

• the Acquisition Agreement.

150



PART VII. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The Company and the Directors and Proposed Directors, whose names are set out on page 15 of
this Document, accept responsibility, both individually and collectively, for the information contained in
this Document including, in respect of the Directors and Proposed Directors, individual and collective
responsibility for compliance with the AIM Rules for Companies. To the best of the knowledge and belief of
the Company and the Directors and Proposed Directors (each of whom has taken all reasonable care to
ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Document is in accordance with the facts
and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

RESPONSIBILITY1.

THE COMPANY2.

2.1 The Company was incorporated and registered in England and Wales under the Act as a public
company limited by shares on 31 August 2018 with the registered number 11545912 under the
name Summerway Capital Plc. The Company is domiciled in the UK.

2.2 The Company’s registered office is located at 32-33 Cowcross Street, London, England, EC1M
6DF, with phone number 0207 4407 500. Its website is https://www.summerwaycapital.co.uk/.
Please note that the information found on the Company’s website does not form part of this
Document.

2.3 The Company operates under the Act and the liability of its members is limited.

SHARE CAPITAL3.

3.1 The Company is not required to have an authorised share capital. The issued capital of the
Company on incorporation was 50,000 ordinary shares of £1 each.

3.2 There have been the following changes in the Company share capital since incorporation:

1. on 12 October 2018, 50,000 ordinary shares of nominal value £1.00 each were subdivided
into 50,000 ordinary shares of nominal value £0.01 each and 50,000 ordinary shares of
nominal value £0.99 each. The total statement capital of the Company was 100,000 ordinary
shares with a total aggregate nominal value of £50,000;

2. on 12 October 2018, 50,000 ordinary shares of nominal value £0.99 each were re-
designated as 50,000 deferred shares of nominal value £0.99 each. The total statement
capital of the Company was 50,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 each and 50,000 deferred
shares of £0.99 each with a total aggregate nominal value of £50,000;

3. on 19 October 2018, 6,080,000 ordinary shares of nominal value £0.01 each were issued
and allotted pursuant to a placing of such shares on that date. The total statement capital
of the Company was 6,130,000 ordinary shares of nominal value £0.01 each and 50,000
deferred shares of nominal value £0.99 each with a total aggregate nominal value of
£110,800;

4. on 19 October 2018, 50,000 deferred shares of nominal value £0.99 each were cancelled
(such shares having been gifted to the Company by Alexander Anton, Benjamin Shaw and
Mark Farmiloe). The total statement capital of the Company was 6,130,000 ordinary shares
of nominal value £0.01 each with a total aggregate nominal value of £61,300; and

5. on 15 January 2021, 1,903,409 ordinary shares of nominal value £0.01 each were issued
and allotted by the Company to Vinodka Murria by way of a direct subscription by Vinodka
Murria. On the same date, Vinodka Murria was also granted a warrant providing for a right
to subscribe for an additional 3,246,062 new ordinary shares of nominal value £0.01 each,
which was terminated on 21 September 2021 (further details set out against paragraph
15.1.15 below. The total statement capital of the Company was 8,033,409 ordinary shares
with a total aggregate nominal value of £80,334.09.

3.3 At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 20 October 2021, the Company's
shareholders passed a special resolution to amend its investing policy to focus on investment and
acquisition opportunities across the healthcare and pharmaceutical sectors, particularly in new and
emerging therapeutic areas.
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3.4 As at the date of this Document, and following Admission (assuming the Placing is fully placed
and the Subscription is fully subscribed for), the Company’s issued share capital is, and will be, as
follows:

Existing Following the First Placing

Following Admission
(including Consideration

Shares)

Nominal
Value

(£)

Number of
Ordinary

Shares

Nominal
value

(£)

Number of
Ordinary

Shares

Nominal
value

(£)

Number of
Ordinary

Shares

Issued and fully paid 80,334.09 8,033,409 98,637.06 9,863,706 616,697.73 61,669,773

3.5 Save in connection with the Fundraising and as disclosed in paragraphs 6.3 and 9 below, no share
or loan capital of any member of the Enlarged Group is proposed to be issued or is under option or
agreed, conditionally or unconditionally, to be put under option.

SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS4.

4.1 As at the date of this document, the Company is the parent company of Summerway Subco Limited
(“Company Subsidiary”).

4.2 As at the date of this Document, the issued share capital of the Company Subsidiary comprises
one Subsidiary A Share and 1,450,000 Subsidiary B Shares, of which the Company holds the one
Subsidiary A Share and certain members of the Company’s current and former management team,
being Alexander Anton, Benjamin Shaw, Mark Farmiloe, Vinodka Murria, Paul Gibson and Tony
Morris, hold, in aggregate, 1,450,000 Subsidiary B Shares. The Subsidiary A Share has voting
rights whereas the Subsidiary B Shares do not. Accordingly, the Company holds shares in the
Company Subsidiary carrying 100 per cent. of the voting rights.

4.3 Following completion of the Acquisition of Celadon, the Company will have five principal subsidiary
undertakings including Celadon and its three subsidiaries, details of which are set out below,
and the Company Subsidiary, all of which are private companies incorporated in England and
Wales. Celadon Pharmaceuticals Ltd and Celadon Pharma Ltd are wholly owned subsidiaries of
Vertigrow, the entire issued share capital of which is to be acquired by the Company pursuant to the
Acquisition. Vertigrow holds a majority interest in Harley Street (CPC) Limited as detailed below.

Name

Percentage of issued share
capital held following the

Acquisition Principal activity

Vertigrow Technology Ltd 100 Pharmaceutical Development

Celadon Pharmaceuticals Ltd 100 Pharmaceutical Development

Celadon Pharma Ltd 100 Pharmaceutical Development

Harley Street (CPC) Limited 57.5 Pharmaceutical Development

4.4 Following completion of the Acquisition of Celadon, it is proposed that:

(i) the Company Subsidiary will buy-back and cancel 1,050,000 Subsidiary B Shares for a total
purchase price of £14,700 (as further detailed in paragraph 9 below); and

(ii) the Company will hive-down Vertigrow (and its subsidiaries and other share interests, as
detailed in paragraph 4.3 above) to the Company Subsidiary, in exchange for the issue and
allotment to the Company of certain new Subsidiary A Shares in the capital of the Company
Subsidiary.

4.5 Other than pursuant to the Acquisition, the Company does not have any investments and has not
made any firm commitments with respect to any prospective investments. The Acquisition will be
financed from a portion of the proceeds of the Fundraising.
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The Articles, which were adopted pursuant to a resolution of the members of the Company passed on 12
October 2018, contain, among other things, provisions to the following effect. This description does not
purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the full terms of the Articles, a copy of which is
available on the Company’s website.

As part of the Proposals, the Company is amending its Articles by adding a new provision preventing the
Company from engaging in the production and/or supply of cannabis for recreational use, or otherwise
carrying out any activity which is unlawful.

The Articles do not restrict the objects of the Company. Notwithstanding any other provision in the Articles,
the Company shall not carry out any business in relation to cannabis or otherwise other than in accordance
with applicable laws and regulations and following receipt of all necessary licences, approvals and/or
registrations.

The Company has one class of share capital being the Ordinary Shares.

Without prejudice to the rights attaching to any existing shares or class of shares, any share may be issued
with such preferred, deferred or other special rights or such restrictions as the Company may from time
to time by ordinary resolution determine or, if the Company has not so determined, as the Directors may
determine.

At a general meeting of the Company, subject to any special rights or restrictions attached to any class
of shares, on a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy has one vote, and on a poll
every member present in person or by proxy has one vote for every share held by him. No shareholder will
be entitled to vote at a general meeting or any separate meeting of the holders of any class of shares in
the Company in respect of any share held by him unless all moneys presently owed to the Company have
been paid.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION5.

The Articles and New Articles5.1

Objects5.2

Shares5.3

Share rights5.4

Voting rights of members5.5

Dividends5.6

5.6.1 The Company may, by ordinary resolution, declare dividends to be paid to shareholders, but
the amount of such dividends may not exceed the amount recommended by the Directors. If
the Directors believe the dividends are justified by the profits of the Company available for
distribution, they may pay interim dividends.

5.6.2 The Board may also pay at intervals settled by it any dividend payable at a fixed rate if it appears
to the Board that the profits available for distribution justify the payment. Provided the Directors
act in good faith they shall not incur any liability to the holders of shares conferring preferred
rights for any loss they may suffer by the lawful payment of interim dividends on any shares
having deferred or non-preferred rights. Unless the share rights otherwise provide, all dividends
shall be declared and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid on the shares on which the
dividend is paid during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is
paid. Any dividend unclaimed for 12 years from the date on which it became due for payment
shall, of the Directors so resolve, be forfeited and shall revert to the Company. The Directors may,
if authorised by ordinary resolution, offer to any holders of shares the right to receive, in lieu of
dividend, an allotment of new Ordinary Shares credited as fully paid.

Return of capital5.7

5.7.1 On a winding up or other return of capital, the holders of Ordinary Shares are entitled pari passu
amongst themselves, in proportion to the number of shares held by them and to the amounts paid
up or credited as paid up thereon, to share in the whole of any surplus assets of the Company
remaining after the discharge of its liabilities.
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Subject to the Statutes and to the rights attached to existing shares, shares may be issued which are to
be redeemed or which are liable to be redeemed at the option of the Company or of the holder, and the
Board may determine the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any such shares (such terms to
be determined before the shares are allotted).

The Ordinary Shares are in registered form and a register of members is maintained by the Registrars.
Ordinary Shares may be held in either certificated or (subject to the Articles) uncertificated form. The
transferor of an Ordinary Share is deemed to remain the holder until the transferee's name is entered in
the register.

Subject to the Articles, any member may transfer all or any of his or her certificated shares in writing by an
instrument of transfer in any usual form or in any other form which the board may approve. The board may,
in its absolute discretion, decline to register any instrument of transfer of a certificated share which is not a
fully paid share or on which the Company has a lien, provided that where any such shares are admitted to
AIM, such discretion may not be exercised in such a way as to prevent dealings in the shares of that class
from taking place on an open and proper basis in accordance with the Act, the Takeover Code, the AIM
Rules for Companies, the CREST Regulations and every other statute (including any orders, regulations
or other subordinate legislation made under them) for the time being in force concerning companies and
affecting the Company (including, without limitation, the Electronic Communications Act). The Board may
decline to recognise any instrument of transfer relating to shares in certificated form unless it is in respect
of only one class of share, is in favour of not more than four transferees and it is lodged (duly stamped)
at the registered office of the Company or at such other place as the Board may appoint accompanied by
the relevant share certificate(s) to which it relates and such other evidence as the board may reasonably
require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer. In the case of a transfer of shares in
certificated form by a recognised clearing house or a nominee of a recognised clearing house or of a
recognised investment exchange, the lodgement of share certificates will only be necessary if and to the
extent that certificates have been issued in respect of the shares in question. Subject to the Articles and the
rules (as defined in the CREST Regulations), and apart from any class of wholly dematerialised security,
the Board may permit any class of shares in the Company to be held in uncertificated form and, subject to
the Articles, title to uncertificated shares to be transferred by means of a relevant system.

Where the share capital of the Company is divided into different classes of shares, the special rights
attached to any class may, subject to the provisions of the Act., the CREST Regulations, the AIM Rules for
Companies or any other relevant statute or statutory instrument, law or regulation be varied or abrogated
either with the written consent of the holders of three-quarters in nominal value of the issued shares of the
class or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of

5.7.2 If the Company is in liquidation, the liquidator may, with the authority of a special resolution of the
Company:

(a) divide among the members in specie the whole or part of the assets of the Company; or

(b) vest the whole or any part of the assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of
members as the liquidator, with the like authority, shall think fit.

Redeemable shares5.8

Form of holding of shares5.9

Transfer of shares5.10

Pre-emption rights5.11

5.11.1 There are no rights of pre-emption under the Articles of the Company in respect of transfers of
issued Ordinary Shares.

5.11.2 In certain circumstances, the Company's shareholders may have statutory pre-emption rights
under the Act in respect of the allotment of new shares in the Company. These statutory
pre-emption rights would require the Company to offer new shares for allotment to existing
shareholders on a pro-rata basis before allotting them to other persons. In such circumstances,
the procedure for the exercise of such statutory pre-emption rights would be set out in the
documentation by which such shares would be offered to the Company's shareholders.

Variation of rights5.12
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the shares of the class and may be so varied or abrogated either whilst the Company is a going concern
or during or in contemplation of a winding up. At every such general meeting the necessary quorum shall
be two or more persons holding or representing by proxy (which proxies are authorised to exercise voting
rights) not less than one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of the class (excluding any shares of
that class held in treasury) (but so that at an adjourned meeting any holder of shares of the class present
in person or by proxy shall be a quorum).

The Company may by ordinary resolution alter its share capital in accordance with the Act. The Company
may, by special resolution, reduce its share capital or any share premium account or capital redemption
reserve.

Subject to the provisions of the Articles and to the Act, any unissued shares in the capital of the Company
(whether forming part of the original or any increased capital) and all (if any) shares in the Company
lawfully held by or on behalf of it shall be at the disposal of the Board which may offer, allot (with or without
a right of renunciation), issue or grant options over such shares to such persons, at such time and for such
consideration and upon such terms and conditions as the Board may determine.

The Company has a lien on every partly paid up share for all monies called or payable in respect of that
share. The Company may serve notice on the members in respect of any amounts unpaid on their shares.
The member shall be given not less than 14 clear days' notice to pay the unpaid amount. In the event of
non-compliance, a share in respect of which the notice is given may be forfeited by resolution of the Board
or sold by the Board.

Section 793 of the Act confers on public companies the power to require information from members as
to interests in voting shares. If at any time the Board is satisfied that any member, or any other person
appearing to be interested in shares held by such member, has been duly served with a notice under
Section 793 of the Act and is in default for a period of 28 days in supplying to the Company the information
thereby required, or, in purported compliance with such a notice, has made a statement which is false or
inadequate in a material particular, then the board may, in its absolute discretion at any time thereafter by
notice to such member direct that:

Alteration of share capital5.13

Directors' power to allot5.14

Lien and forfeiture5.15

Disclosure of interests in shares and restrictions for failure to provide information5.16

(a) in respect the shares in relation to which the default occurred (the “default shares”) the member
shall not be entitled to vote at any shareholders’ meeting either in person or by proxy or exercise
and other right conferred by membership in relation to meetings of the Company; and

(b) where the default shares represent 0.25 per cent. or more of the total number of shares of a
relevant class less any shares of that class held in treasury by the Company that:

(i) except in a liquidation of the Company, no payment shall be made of any sums due from
the Company on the default shares, whether in respect of capital or dividend or otherwise,
and the Company shall not meet any liability to pay interest on any such payment when it is
finally paid to the member;

(ii) no other distribution shall be made on the default shares; and

(iii) no transfer of any of the shares held by such member shall be registered unless:

(1) the member is not himself in default as regards supplying the information requested
and the transfer when presented for registration is accompanied by a certificate by
the member in such form as the board may in its absolute discretion require to the
effect that after due and careful enquiry the member is satisfied that no person in
default as regards supplying such information is interested in any of the shares the
subject of the transfer; or

(2) the transfer is an approved transfer.
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If notice of meeting is sent in electronic form the Company must have complied with all applicable
regulatory requirements and the person entitled to receive such notice must have agreed that the notice
can be sent to him in that way and not revoked that agreement or, in the case of a company, be deemed
to have agreed to receive notice in that way by a provision in the Act. Provided that the Company has
complied with all applicable legal requirements the Company may send or supply a notice of meeting by
making it available on a website.

There are no limitations in the Articles on the rights of non-UK shareholders to hold, or exercise voting
rights attaching to, Ordinary Shares. However, no shareholder is entitled to receive notices from the

General meetings5.17

5.17.1 Annual General Meetings

(i) An annual general meeting shall be held once in every year, at such time and place as
may be determined by the Directors. An annual general meeting shall be called by not
less than 21 clear days’ written notice.

5.17.2 General Meetings

(i) The Board may call general meetings whenever it thinks fit and on receipt of a
requisition of members pursuant to the Act.

(ii) An AGM shall be called by notice of at least 21 clear days. All other general meetings
shall be called by at least the minimum number of days’ notice permissible under the
Act.

(iii) A notice of meeting shall be given to each member of the Company (other than any
who, under the Articles or the terms of an allotment or issue of shares, is not entitled
to receive notice), to the Directors and to the Company’s auditors. Notices covering
general meetings shall specify the place and time of the meeting, shall specify the
general notice of the business to be transacted at the meeting, and if any resolutions
are to be proposed as a special resolution, the notice shall contain a statement to that
effect.

(iv) No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present.
Two members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be a quorum. The
absence of a quorum does not prevent appointment of a chairman in accordance with
the Articles, which shall not be treated as part of the business of the meeting.

(v) Each Director shall be entitled to attend and speak at a general meeting and at a
separate meeting of the holders of a class of shares, whether or not he is a member.

(vi) A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting shall be decided on a show of hands
unless, before or on the declaration of the result of a vote on the show of hands or on
the withdrawal of any other demand for a poll, a poll is duly demanded. Subject to the
provisions of the Act, a poll may be demanded by the chairman of the meeting; by not
less than two members present in person or by proxy entitled to vote at the meeting by
any member or members present in person or by proxy and representing not less than
one-tenth of the total voting rights of all members having the right to vote at the meeting;
or by any member or members present in person or by proxy holding shares conferring
a right to vote at the meeting shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid up
equal to not less than one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all the shares conferring
that right.

(vii) A member is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy by notice in writing to the
Company. A member may appoint more than one proxy to attend on the same occasion
and may appoint different proxies to exercise the rights attaching to different shares
held by him. A company which is a member of the Company may, by resolution of its
Directors or other governing body or by authority to be given under seal or under the
hand of an officer duly authorised by it), authorise such a person as it thinks fit to act
as its representative at a meeting of the Company or at any separate meeting of the
holders of any class of shares.

5.17.3 Communications with shareholders

Overseas shareholders5.18
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Company (whether electronically or otherwise), including notices of general meetings, unless he has given
a postal address in the UK or an address for the service of notices by electronic communication to the
Company to which such notices may be sent.

The business of the Company will be managed by the Board who may exercise all the powers of the
Company, subject to the provisions of the Company’s memorandum of association, the Articles, the Act
and any special resolution of the Company.

The Board5.19

Directors5.20

Directors shall be no less than two and shall not be subject to any maximum in number. Directors may
be appointed by the Company by ordinary resolution or by the Board. A Director appointed by the Board
holds office only until the next following annual general meeting and shall not be taken into account in
determining the Directors who are to retire by rotation at the meeting. At every AGM one-third of the
Directors who are subject to retirement by rotation or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the
number nearest to, but greater than, one- third shall retire from office; but, if there is only one Director who
is subject to retirement by rotation, he shall retire. The Directors to retire by rotation shall be those who
have been longest in office since their last appointment or re-appointment, but as between persons who
became or were last re-appointed Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise
agree among themselves) be determined by lot. The Board may from time to time appoint one or more
Directors to hold employment or executive office for such period (subject to the Act) and on such terms as
they may determine and may revoke or terminate any such employment. The Company may by ordinary
resolution of which special notice has been given remove any Director from office and elect another person
in place of a Director so removed.

The office of Director shall be vacated if (i) he or she resigns (ii) an order if made by any court claiming that
he or she is or may be suffering from a mental disorder, (iii) he or she is absent without permission of the
Board from meetings for six months and the board resolves that his or her office is vacated, (iv) he or she
becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with his or her creditors generally or shall
apply to the court for an interim order under Section 253 of the Insolvency Act 1986 in connection with a
voluntary arrangement under that act, (v) he or she ceases to be a Director by virtue of any provisions of
the Act or these Articles or he or she is prohibited by law from being a Director, or (vi) he is requested to
resign in writing by not less than three quarters of the other Directors.

At each annual general meeting of the Company one-third (or the nearest number to one-third) of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation. The Directors to retire in every year shall include any Director
who wishes to retire and not offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those
Directors who have been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment, and as between
persons who became directors or were last re-elected on the same day, those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot. In addition, any Director who would not
otherwise be required to retire shall retire by rotation at every third Annual General Meeting after his last
appointment or re-appointment. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The Company may by
ordinary resolution appoint any person to be a Director. The Directors may also appoint one or more
Directors (so as not to exceed any maximum number fixed by the Articles) but any Director so appointed
shall retire at, or at the end of, the next annual general meeting of the Company but shall then be eligible
for re-election and any Director who so retires shall not be taken into account in determining the number
of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting.

Appointment and retirement of Directors5.20.1

Any Director who by request of the Board performs special services or goes or resides abroad for
any purposes of the Company, shall receive such extra remuneration by way of salary, commission,
participation in profits or otherwise as the Board may determine.

The Company may pay or reimburse the directors' expenses properly incurred by them in connection with
the business of the Company, including their expenses of travelling to and from meetings of the Board,
committee meetings or general meetings.

Remuneration of Directors5.20.2
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Subject to the provisions of the Act, and provided that he has disclosed to the board the nature and extent
of any material interest of his, a Director notwithstanding his office:

For the purposes of paragraph 5.20.3:

Authorisation of Directors' interests5.20.3

(a) may be a party to, or otherwise interested in, any transaction or arrangement with the Company or
in which the Company is otherwise interested;

(b) may act by himself or his firm in a professional capacity for the Company (otherwise than as auditor)
and he or his firm shall be entitled to remuneration for professional services as if he were not a
Director;

(c) may be a Director or other officer of, or employed by, or a party to any transaction or arrangement
with, or otherwise interested in, any body corporate promoted by the Company or in which the
Company is otherwise interested; and

(d) shall not, by reason of his office, be accountable to the Company for any benefit which he derives
from any such office or employment or from any such transaction or arrangement or from any
interest in any such body corporate and no such transaction or arrangement shall be liable to be
avoided on the ground of any such interest or benefit.

(a) a general notice given to the board that a Director is to be regarded as having an interest of the
nature and extent specified in the notice in any transaction or arrangement in which a specified
person or class of persons is interested shall be deemed to be a disclosure that the Director has an
interest in any such transaction of the nature and extent so specified; and

(b) an interest of which a Director has no knowledge and of which it is unreasonable to expect him to
have knowledge shall not be treated as an interest of his.

A director is not permitted to vote or be counted in the quorum on any resolution of the Board or of a
committee of the Board concerning any matter in which they have, to their knowledge, directly or indirectly,
an interest (other than by virtue of his interest in shares, debentures or other securities of or in or otherwise
through the Company) which is material or duty which conflicts or may conflict with the interests of the
Company. This prohibition does not apply to any of the following matters:

Restrictions on Directors voting5.20.4

(a) the giving to them or any other person of any guarantee, security or indemnity in respect of money
lent or obligations incurred by them or by any other person at the request of, or for the benefit of,
the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings;

(b) the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity to a third party in respect of an obligation of
the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings for which the director themselves has assumed
responsibility in whole or in part (whether alone or jointly with others) under a guarantee or
indemnity or by the giving of security;

(c) the director being or intending to become, a participant in the underwriting or sub-underwriting of
an offer of any shares, debentures or other securities of the Company or any of its subsidiary
undertakings; for subscription, purchase or exchange;

(d) any proposal concerning any other company (not being a company in which the director is
interested in, directly or indirectly, 1 per cent. or more of either any class of the equity share capital
of such company or of the voting rights available to members of such company) in which they are
interested, directly or indirectly, as a shareholder;

(e) any proposal concerning any insurance which the Company is empowered to purchase or maintain
for, or for the benefit of, any directors or for persons who include directors, provided that for the
purposes of the relevant article, insurance means only insurance against liability incurred by a
director in respect of any act or omission by him or any other insurance which the Company is
empowered to purchase or maintain for or for the benefit of any groups of persons consisting of or
including the directors.

The Board may, provided the quorum and voting requirements are satisfied and that the details of the

Conflicts of interest requiring Board authorisation5.20.5
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The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money, mortgage or charge its
undertaking, property, assets (present and future) and uncalled capital and issue debenture and other
securities.

The Board may exercise the voting power conferred by the shares in any body corporate held or owned by
the Company in such manner in all respects as it thinks fit (including the exercise thereof in favour of any
resolution appointing its members or any of them Directors of such body corporate, or voting or providing
for the payment of remuneration to the Directors of such body corporate).

matter have been disclosed in writing, authorise any matter that would otherwise involve a director
breaching their duty under the Companies Act to avoid conflicts of interest, except that the director who is
the subject of the conflict (or any other interested director) shall not count towards the quorum or vote on
the resolution authorising the conflict.

Any such authority may provide:

(a) for the exclusion of such a director from the receipt of information or participation in decision-making
or discussion (whether at Board meetings or otherwise) related to the conflict;

(b) that, where such a director obtains information that is confidential to a third party, the director will
not be obliged to disclose that information to the Company, or to use the information in relation to
the Company's affairs, where to do so would amount to a breach of that confidence;

(c) that such a director shall not be accountable to the Company for any benefit that they receive as a
result of the conflict; and

(d) that the Board may withdraw the authority at any time.

The Directors may from time to time appoint one or more Directors to be the holder of any executive office
on such terms and for such period as they determine.

Executive Office5.20.6

Borrowing Powers5.21

Exercise by Company of Voting Rights5.22

Indemnity of officers5.23

5.23.1 The Company may indemnify, out of the assets of the Company, any Director or former director
of either the Company or any associated company (i) against losses or liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in the performance of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto;
and (ii) where the Company or such associated company acts as trustee of a pension scheme,
against liability incurred by him in connection with the relevant company’s activities as trustee
of such scheme.

5.23.2 Subject to company’s legislation, every Director and former Director shall be indemnified by the
Company against any liability attaching to him in connection with:

(a) civil or criminal proceedings in relation to the Company or an associated company
(other than a liability incurred in defending proceedings brought by the Company or an
associated company in which final judgment is given against the Directors);

(b) criminal proceedings in relation to the Company or an associated company (other than
a fine imposed in such proceedings, or a liability incurred in defending proceedings in
which the Director is convicted and the conviction is final);

(c) regulatory action taken by or a regulatory investigation by a regulatory authority in
relation to the Company or an associated company (unless a sum is payable to a
regulatory authority by way of a penalty in respect of non-compliance with any
requirement of a regulatory nature (however arising)); or

(d) any application for relief under:

(i) sections 661(3) or (4) of the Act (power of court to grant relief in case of
acquisition of shares by innocent nominee); or section 1157 of the Act (general
power of court to grant relief in case of honest and reasonable conduct), unless
the court refuses to grant the Director relief, and the refusal of relief is final; or
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The Directors may purchase and maintain insurance for a person who is, or was at any time, a Director,
officer or employee of the Company, any company within the Group or, any other body in which the
Company is or has been interested of the Company against any liability incurred by such persons in
respect of any act or omission in the actual or purported execution or discharge of their duties or in the
exercise or purported exercise of their powers or otherwise in relation to their duties, powers or offices in
relation to the Company or any such other company, subsidiary undertaking or pension fund.

Subject to the Act, the CREST Regulations, the AIM Rules for Companies or any other relevant statute
or statutory instrument, law or regulation, the Company may sell any shares of a member or the shares
of a person entitled thereto who is untraceable, if during a period of 12 years, at least three dividends
in respect of the shares in question have become payable and the cheques or warrants for all amounts
payable to such member or person in respect of his shares have remained uncashed or mandated dividend
payments have failed and the Company has received no communication from such member or person.
The net proceeds of sale shall belong to the Company but the member or person who had been entitled to
the shares shall become a creditor of the Company in respect of those proceeds.

If on three consecutive occasions notices sent to a member have been returned undelivered, such member
shall not thereafter be entitled to receive notices from the Company until he shall have communicated with
the Company and supplied in writing to the Company’s registered office a new registered address or a
postal address within the United Kingdom for the service of notices or shall have informed the Company,
in such manner as may be specified by the Company, of an address for the service of notices by electronic
communication.

Except as provided by the Companies Act and the Takeover Code, there are no rules or provisions relating
to mandatory bids and/or squeeze-out and sell-out rules in relation to the Ordinary Shares.

(ii) civil proceedings in relation to an occupational pension scheme of which the
Company is a trustee in respect of liability incurred in connection with the
Company’s activities as a trustee of the scheme (other than a fine imposed
in criminal proceedings, a sum payable to a regulatory authority by way of a
penalty in respect of non-compliance with any requirement of a regulatory nature
(however arising) or a liability incurred in defending proceedings in which the
Director is convicted and the conviction is final).

Power to insure5.24

Untraceable shareholders5.25

Mandatory takeover bids, squeeze-out and sell-out rules5.26
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DIRECTORS' AND PROPOSED DIRECTORS' OTHER INTERESTS6.

6.1

(i) The interests of the Directors, the Proposed Directors and any person connected with a
director (within the meaning of section 252 to 254 of the Act) respectively (all of which are
beneficial unless otherwise stated), in the issued share capital of the Company, were as at
25 February 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this Document)
and are expected to be immediately following Admission, to the extent that their existence
is known to, or could with reasonable diligence be ascertained by, a Director or Proposed
Director, as follows:

As at 25 February 2022
Immediately following the First

Placing

Immediately following the
Second Placing and

Admission

Director

Number of
Ordinary

Shares

Percentage of
issued

ordinary
share capital

Number of
Ordinary Shares

Percentage
of issued
ordinary

share
capital

Number of
Ordinary

Shares

Percentage of
issued

ordinary share
capital

Benjamin Shaw3 500,000 6.2 500,000 5.1 500,000 0.8

James Short - - - - 26,046,928 42.2

Kathleen Long - - - - - -

Alexander Anton4 1,100,000 13.7 1,100,000 11.2 1,100,000 1.9

Robert Barr - - 45,454 0.5 45,454 0.1

David Firth - - 12,121 0.1 12,121 -

Elizabeth
Shanahan - - - - - -

Dr Steven Hajioff - - - - - -

6.2 The interests of the Directors and the Proposed Directors (and any person connected with them
respectively within the meaning of sections 252 to 255 of the Act) in the share capital of the
Company Subsidiary were as at 25 February 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to the
publication of this Document) and are expected to be immediately following Admission, to the
extent that their existence is known to, or could with reasonable diligence be ascertained by, a
Director, are as follows:

Name Position

Subsidiary B
Shares

currently held

Subsidiary B Shares to be
issued/ (redeemed) at

Admission

Aggregated Subsidiary
B Shares held

immediately post
Admission

Benjamin Shaw Interim Chairman 75,000 166,667 241,667

Alexander Anton Proposed Chairman 75,000 166,666 241,666

James Short Proposed CEO - 200,000 200,000

Kathleen Long Proposed CFO - 150,000 150,000

Anthony Morris5 Adviser to the Company 175,000 (50,000) 125,000

6.3 Save as set out in paragraphs 6.1 and 6.2 above, as at 25 February 2022 and immediately
following Admission, no Director will, and no person so connected with a Director or a Proposed
Director respectively has, or is expected to have, any interest in the share capital of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or any options over the Company's shares.

3 This excludes 628,707 Ordinary Shares at Admission as a result of Benjamin Shaw having a one-third direct interest in AFS Advisors LLP
4 This excludes 628,707 Ordinary Shares at Admission as a result of Alexander Anton having an indirect one third interest in AFS Advisors LLP.
5 Person connected to Katie Long, proposed Director of the Company.
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6.4 As at 25 February 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this Document)
insofar as is known to the Company, no person or persons, other than as set out below, are or will,
immediately following Admission, have an interest, directly or indirectly, in three per cent or more
of the share capital or voting rights of the Company, so far as is notifiable under English law.

Name

Number of Ordinary
Shares immediately

prior to Admission

Percentage of issued
ordinary share capital

immediately prior to
Admission

Number of Ordinary
Shares following

Admission

Percentage of issued
ordinary share capital

following Admission

James Short - - 26,046,928 42.2

John Mitchell - - 4,525,403 7.3

Cormac Short - - 4,525,403 7.3

Jonathan Rickard - - 2,251,388 3.7

Paul Allen - - 4,525,403 7.3

Vin Murria 1,403,409 17.5 1,403,409 2.3

Alexander Anton 1,100,000 13.7 1,100,000 1.8

Hargreave Hale 1,000,000 12.4 1,000,000 1.6

Whitehall Associated
S.A. 982,000 12.2 982,000 1.6

Trevor Fenwick 750,000 9.3 1,681,737 2.7

Benjamin Shaw 500,000 6.2 500,000 0.8

Stephen Heath 500,000 6.2 500,000 0.8

6.5 The Company's major shareholders set out in paragraph 6.4 do not have different voting rights.

6.6 As at 25 February 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this Document)
save as disclosed in this paragraph 6, the Company is not aware of any person or persons who,
directly or indirectly, owns or controls the Company.

6.7 Save as disclosed above, no Director, Proposed Director or member of a Director's family or
Proposed Director's family has any financial product whose value in whole or in part is determined
directly or indirectly by reference to the price of the Ordinary Shares.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE DIRECTORS AND PROPOSED DIRECTORS7.

7.1 Other than their directorship of the Company, the directorships and partnerships currently held
by the Directors and Proposed Directors and held over the five years preceding the date of this
Document are as follows:

Director Current directorships Past directorships

James Short Vertigrow Technology Ltd
Celadon Pharma Ltd
Harley Street (CPC) Limited
Kingdom Therapeutics Limited
Green Waste Energy Limited
Power Partners Limited
Reeshore Property LLP

Bradshaw Holdings Limited
Data Centre (DC) Ltd
GIG UK Ltd
Olmack Green IT Limited

Kathleen Long Harley Street (CPC) Limited
RazorSecure Limited
Tessera Investment Management Limited
Tessera Investment Partners LLP
Tessera Partners UK Limited

LJK Partners Limited
Oxford BioDynamics PLC
PointDB Limited

Benjamin Shaw Valder Capital GP Limited
Romana GP Limited
Romana Carry LLP
AFS Advisors LLP

Sealark LLP

Alexander Anton AFS Advisors LLP
Legacy Portfolio Management Ltd
VirginiaCo Partners LLP

Harrison Sydney Ltd
High Holborn Consulting Limited
Ingrid Properties One Ltd
Ingrid Properties Two Ltd
JasperCo Ltd
Legacy Bidco Ltd
Legacy BidCo II Ltd
Legacy BidCo III Ltd
Legacy Portfolio Fund Ltd
Legacy Portfolio Fund Management Ltd
Right P.R. Ltd
StuartCo. Ltd
Summerway Capital plc
Summerway Properties Ltd
SunriseCo Ltd
Victoria P.L.C.
Whitestone Carpets Holdings Limited
Whitfield Ventures Ltd
Whitfield Adventures Ltd
Whitfield Investments Ltd
VirginiaCo. Ltd

Robert Barr ABP (Jersey) Limited
ABPA Holdings Limited
Associated British Ports Holdings Limited
VTG AG
Vue International Holdco Limited
25 Clarendon Gardens Limited

Barchester (AM) Limited
Barchester (CB) H Limited
Brighterkind Health Care Group Limited
Brighterkind (PC) Limited
Elli Finance (UK) PLC
Four Seasons Health Care Limited
Four Seasons Health Care Holdings Limited
Four Seasons Health Care Group Treasury
Limited
Four Seasons Health Care Properties (Care
Homes) Limited
FSHC Developments (Properties) Limited
FSHC Properties (CH2) Limited
Granby Care Limited
Huntercombe (SP) Limited
Huntercombe (BIR) Limited
Mericourt Limited
OFFICEFIRST Immobilien AG
Principal Healthcare Finance (UK) No.1
Limited
Principal Healthcare Finance (UK) No.2
Limited
Sistine Properties (Westbury) Limited
The Huntercombe Group Limited

David Firth Best of the Best Plc
I-Nexus Global Plc

360 Adsfab Limited
360 Degrees Advertising Limited
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Director Current directorships Past directorships

Meristem Design Limited
Summerway Subco Limited
Parity Group Public Limited Company
WMH Associates Limited

360 Education Limited
Bridhill Limited
Career Cafe Limited
Cedar TM Limited
Century Resources Ltd
Crane Davies Limited
Fairplace Cedar Limited
GHN Limited
Gravity Marketing Limited
Group Counselling Services Plc
Marketing Unleashed Limited
Meridian Consulting Limited
Nethouse Trading Limited
Penna Plc
Penna Assessment Limited
Penna BBM Limited
Penna Board Services Limited (formerly Iddas
Limited)
Penna Career Consulting Limited
Penna Change Consulting Limited
Penna Consultants Limited
Penna Consulting Limited
Penna Consulting (NI) Limited
Penna Executive Coaching Limited
Penna Executive Development Limited
Penna Executive Search Limited
Penna Executive Selection Limited
Penna Holdings Limited
Penna Human Capital Management Limited
Penna Interim Limited
Penna International Limited
Penna Management Services Plc
Penna Resourcing Solutions Limited
Penna Sanders & Sidney Limited
Penna Trustees Limited
Portrush Resourcing Limited
Quantum Development and Outplacement
Services Limited
Savile Group Plc
Selby Millsmith Limited
SGFS Limited
Sherman Services Limited
Smart Works Solutions Limited
Talisman Information Systems Trustees
Limited
The Resourcing Centre Limited
Working Transitions Limited

Elizabeth Shanahan Akusus Holdings Limited
CWPLUS
Inspiration Healthcare Group PLC
Kingdom Therapeutics Limited
OneTouchTelecare Limited
Sante Heathcare Consulting Ltd

Connected Tech Group Ltd (formerly Captive
Health Limited)
Chelsea & Westminster Foundation NHS Trust
Kingdom Clinics Limited
Kingdom R&D Ltd
UDG Healthcare plc
Kingdom Laboratories Ltd

Dr Steven Hajioff The Cult of the Rabbit Limited Infinity Health Limited
British Medical Association

7.2 At the date of this Document, save as disclosed in this paragraph 7, none of the Directors or the
Proposed Directors have:

7.2.1 any unspent convictions in relation to indictable offences;

7.2.2 had a bankruptcy order made against him or made an individual voluntary arrangement;

7.2.3 been a director of a company which has been placed in receivership, compulsory
liquidation, creditors voluntary arrangement or made any composition or arrangement
with its creditors generally or of any class of its creditors whilst he was a director of that
company or within 12 months after he ceased to be a director of that company, save that:

(i) James Short was appointed a director of Point Developments (Northwest) Limited
on 30 June 2006. The company was placed into administration on 7 July 2009
by its secured creditor, with a deficit to the secured creditor of approximately
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The Directors and the Proposed Directors have entered into service or consultancy agreements with the
Company as follows:

£1,053,000. Accordingly, there were no funds available for unsecured creditors
and the company was dissolved on 12 April 2015;

(ii) James Short was also appointed a director of GIG UK Ltd on 19 April 2017. On
12 April 2018, GIG UK Ltd was placed into liquidation by creditors. The secured
creditor of the company agreed to a novation of the assets and the debt to a
connected party of GIG UK Ltd (Bradshaw Holdings Limited) and its fixed charge
was released. Subsequent to this the liquidation was completed and GIG UK Ltd
was dissolved on 29 April 2019;

(iii) Robert Barr was appointed director of Elli Finance (UK) Plc on 7 May 2014, which
was placed into administration on 30 April 2019, after Robert Barr's resignation on
1 October 2018. As at the date of this Document, the administration is ongoing.

(iv) Benjamin Shaw was appointed as a director of Luxup UK Member Limited on
its incorporation on 13 June 2012, and was a director at the time it was put into
creditors' voluntary liquidation on 18 March 2013. Luxup UK Member Limited was
dissolved on 14 January 2014;

(v) David Firth was a director of Astorg Recruitment Limited upon the company being
placed into creditors’ voluntary liquidation on 21 August 2013. Astorg Recruitment
Limited held its final meeting of creditors on 6 March 2014 and was subsequently
dissolved on 14 June 2014;

7.2.4 been a partner in a partnership which has been placed in compulsory liquidation,
administration or made a partnership voluntary arrangement whilst he was a partner in
that partnership or within 12 months after he ceased to be a partner in that partnership,
save that Benjamin Shaw resigned as a member of Luxup UK LLP on 13 June 2012.
Luxup UK LLP was placed into creditors voluntary liquidation on 18 March 2013. Luxup
UK LLP was subsequently dissolved on 4 June 2014;

7.2.5 had any asset placed in receivership or any asset of a partnership in which he was a
partner placed in receivership whilst he was a partner in that partnership or within 12
months after he ceased to be a partner in that partnership; or

7.2.6 been publicly criticised by any statutory or regulatory authority (including recognised
professional bodies) or disqualified by a court from acting as a director of a company or
from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any company.

DIRECTORS' AND PROPOSED DIRECTORS' SERVICE AGREEMENTS8.

8.1 On 25 February 2022 the Company entered into a service agreement with James Short. The
contract provides for James Short to act as Chief Executive Officer of the Company at a salary
of £245,000 per annum. The service agreement is terminable by either party giving not less than
six months' prior notice in writing. Under the service agreement, James Short is entitled to 25 paid
working days' holiday each year in addition to public holidays in England and Wales, to participate
in a discretionary bonus scheme, participate in the Enlarged Group's pension scheme, and to
participate in any benefit schemes provided by the Company, including medical and employee life
insurance. James Short is subject to non-competition and non-solicitation covenants for a period
of 12 months following termination of his employment with the Company and to a confidentiality
undertaking.

8.2 On 25 February 2022 the Company entered into a service agreement with Kathleen Long. The
contract provides for Kathleen Long to act as Chief Financial Officer of the Company at a salary of
£100 per hour, capped at £750 per day and £3,750 per week. The service agreement is terminable
by either party giving not less than six months' prior notice in writing. Under the service agreement,
Kathleen Long is entitled on a pro rata basis to 25 paid working days' holiday each year in
addition to public holidays in England and Wales, to participate in a discretionary bonus scheme,
participate in the Group's pension scheme, and to participate in any benefit schemes provided by
the Company, including medical and employee life insurance. Kathleen Long is subject to non-
competition and non-solicitation covenants for a period of 12 months following termination of her
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Save as set out in paragraph 8.1 above, there are no existing or proposed service agreements between
any of the Directors or the Proposed Directors and any member of the Enlarged Group.

Other than payment of salary and benefits in lieu of notice, the service contracts and letters of appointment
of the Directors and Proposed Directors do not provide for benefits upon termination of employment.

employment with the Company and to a confidentiality undertaking.

8.3 Benjamin Shaw is engaged by the Company as a Non-Executive Director on the terms of a letter of
appointment dated 21 September 2021 on an ongoing basis, terminable thereafter on not less than
six months' prior written notice. Benjamin Shaw receives a fee of £18,000 per annum and is subject
to confidentiality undertakings. He is not entitled to any payment on termination of his appointment
by the Company, other than for fees due in respect of his notice period and reimbursement of any
expenses properly incurred before the date of termination.

8.4 Alexander Anton is engaged by the Company as a Non-Executive Director on the terms of a letter
of appointment dated 25 February 2022 for an initial term of 12 months or until the first annual
general meeting of the Company, terminable thereafter on not less than three months' prior written
notice. In the event that Admission does not become effective by 12 April 2022, Alexander Anton's
directorship shall automatically terminate. Alexander Anton will receive a fee of £50,000 per annum
and is subject to confidentiality undertakings. He is not entitled to any payment on termination
of his appointment by the Company, other than for fees due in respect of his notice period and
reimbursement of any expenses properly incurred before the date of termination.

8.5 Robert Barr is engaged by the Company as a Non-Executive Director on the terms of a letter of
appointment dated 25 February 2022 for an initial term of 12 months or until the first annual general
meeting of the Company, terminable thereafter on not less than three months' prior written notice.
In the event that Admission does not become effective by 12 April 2022, Robert Barr's directorship
shall automatically terminate. Robert Barr will receive a fee of £50,000 per annum and is subject
to confidentiality undertakings. He is not entitled to any payment on termination of his appointment
by the Company, other than for fees due in respect of his notice period and reimbursement of any
expenses properly incurred before the date of termination.

8.6 David Firth is engaged by the Company as a Non-Executive Director on the terms of a letter of
appointment dated 21 September 2021 on an ongoing basis, terminable thereafter on not less than
three months' prior written notice. David Firth receives a fee of £40,000 per annum and is subject
to confidentiality undertakings. He is not entitled to any payment on termination of his appointment
by the Company, other than for fees due in respect of his notice period and reimbursement of any
expenses properly incurred before the date of termination.

8.7 Elizabeth Shanahan is engaged by the Company as a Non-Executive Director on the terms of a
letter of appointment dated 21 September 2021 on an ongoing basis, terminable thereafter on not
less than six months' prior written notice. Elizabeth Shanahan receives a fee of £40,000 per annum
and is subject to confidentiality undertakings. She is not entitled to any payment on termination
of her appointment by the Company, other than for fees due in respect of her notice period and
reimbursement of any expenses properly incurred before the date of termination.

8.8 Dr Steven Hajioff is engaged by the Company as a Non-Executive Director on the terms of a letter
of appointment dated 25 February 2022 for an initial term of 12 months or until the first annual
general meeting of the Company, terminable thereafter on not less than three months' prior written
notice. In the event that Admission does not become effective by 12 April 2022, Steven Hajioff’s
directorship shall automatically terminate. Steven Hajioff will receive a fee of £35,000 per annum
and is subject to confidentiality undertakings. He is not entitled to any payment on termination
of his appointment by the Company, other than for fees due in respect of his notice period and
reimbursement of any expenses properly incurred before the date of termination.

A summary of the principal terms of the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme is set out in the following paragraphs.
This summary does not form part of any of the arrangements and should not be taken as affecting the
interpretation of their detailed terms and conditions.

Background

On 17 September 2018, the Company Subsidiary established its Subsidiary Incentive Scheme, under

SHARE INCENTIVE ARRANGEMENTS9.

Subsidiary Incentive Scheme9.1
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which the Company Subsidiary originally issued 999,999 Subsidiary B Shares to certain directors or
employees of and advisers to, the Existing Group at a price of £0.012 per share. On 15 January 2021, the
terms of the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme were amended and replaced and new subscription agreements
were entered into whereby the Company Subsidiary issued 1,450,000 Subsidiary B Shares to certain
directors or employees of, and advisers to the Existing Group at a price of £0.014 per share.

The participants of the Existing Group’s Subsidiary Incentive Scheme (as amended) are disclosed below.

The entirety of the 1,000,000 Subsidiary B Shares held by Vinodka Murria and 50,000 of the 175,000
Subsidiary B Shares held by Anthony Morris are subject to agreements entered into by such shareholders
with the Company on 21 September 2021 (being the date upon which they resigned as directors of the
Company) pursuant to which they agreed to sell such Subsidiary B Shares to the Company Subsidiary
or the Company at the option of the Company at the original subscription price paid for those Subsidiary
B Shares. The buyback will be completed at Admission and the effect of the buyback will be to reduce
Vinodka Murria’s holding of Subsidiary B Shares to zero and Anthony Morris’ to 125,000.

Participant Position
Subsidiary B
Shares held

Subsidiary B
Share buyback

Subsidiary B Shares
held immediately prior to

Admission

Vinodka Murria Former Chairperson of the Company 1,000,000 (1,000,000) -

Anthony Morris
Former Non-executive Director of the
Company 175,000 (50,000) 125,000

Alexander Anton Former Chairperson of the Company 75,000 - 75,000

Benjamin Shaw Interim Chairman of the Company 75,000 - 75,000

Mark Farmiloe
Former Non-executive Director of the
Company 75,000 - 75,000

Paul Gibson
Former Non-executive Director of the
Company 50,000 - 50,000

Total 1,450,000 (1,050,000) 400,000

Unallocated headroom 550,000 1,050,000 1,600,000

Total 2,000,000 (1,050,000) 2,000,000

Under the terms of the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme, those Directors who hold Subsidiary B Shares may,
subject to certain targets being met, elect to sell their respective Subsidiary B Shares to the Company and
the Company shall acquire those Subsidiary B Shares for consideration for cash or by the issue of new
Ordinary Shares (at the Company’s discretion).

Reclassification of Existing Subsidiary B Shares

At Admission, it is proposed that the 400,000 Subsidiary B Shares currently held under the Subsidiary
Incentive Scheme (after taking into account the buy-backs referred to above) will be converted into B1
Shares. The 400,000 B1 Shares will have the right to participate in up to 4 per cent. of the growth in the
Company’s market capital above a specified level, subject to the achievement of a minimum level of annual
growth. These rights are described further below.

New awards under the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme

In order to satisfy the pre-agreed equity incentivisation arrangements at Celadon, it is proposed that certain
key Celadon management team members and Celadon advisers join the Company’s Subsidiary Incentive
Scheme.

It is proposed that up to 650,000 B2 Shares will be issued to advisers of Celadon. The B2 Shares will have
the right to participate in up to 6.5 per cent. of the growth in the Company’s market capital above a specified
level, subject to the achievement of a minimum level of annual growth. These rights are described further
below.

In addition, it is proposed that up to 600,000 B3 Shares will be issued to selected management of Celadon.
The B3 Shares will have the right to participate in up to 6 per cent. of the growth in the Company’s market
capital above a specified level, subject to the achievement of a minimum level of annual growth. These
rights are described further below.
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Following the awards to Celadon management team members and Celadon advisers, the Subsidiary
Incentive Scheme participants and their respective allocations immediately following Admission are
disclosed below.

Name Position

Form of
Subsidiary B
Shares held

Subsidiary B
Shares

currently held

Subsidiary B
Shares to be

issued /
redeemed at

Admission

Aggregated
Subsidiary B
Shares held
immediately

post Admission

Benjamin Shaw Interim Chairman B1/B2 75,000 166,667 241,667

Alexander Anton Proposed Chairman B1/B2 75,000 166,666 241,666

James Short Proposed CEO B3 - 200,000 200,000

Kathleen Long Proposed CFO B2 - 150,000 150,000

Anthony Morris Adviser to the Company B1 175,000 (50,000) 125,000

Mark Farmiloe Adviser to the Celadon Group B1/B2 75,000 166,667 241,667

Iqbal Gill Chief Scientific Officer B3 - 100,000 100,000

Arthur Wakeley Managing Director, UK B3 - 300,000 300,000

Paul Gibson
Former Non-executive Director
of the Company B1 50,000 - 50,000

Total Subsidiary B
Shares in issue 400,000 1,250,000 1,650,000

Rights attaching to the Subsidiary B Shares

The Subsidiary B Shares have no right to participate in dividends or voting. The Subsidiary B Shares do
have the right to participate in capital growth, with a holding of 100,000 Subsidiary B Shares representing
a right to participate in 1 per cent. of the capital growth. The capital growth is measured by reference to
the amount by which the Company’s prevailing market capital (at the time that the Subsidiary B Shares are
sold) exceeds the “Initial Value”. The Initial Value for the Subsidiary B Shares is as follows:

The Initial Values will be increased by the amount of any subscription monies paid to the Company for
further share issues after Admission. The prevailing market cap will be increased to reflect any dividends
paid by the Company after Admission.

Participants in the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme can realise value for their Subsidiary B Shares by
exercising a put option (“Put Option”) to sell their Subsidiary B Shares to the Company. The Company will
be obliged to acquire the Subsidiary B Shares for a price that reflects the amount by which the prevailing
market capital (adjusted to reflect dividends) exceeds the applicable Initial Value specified above. The
Company can settle the purchase price either in cash or through the issue and allotment of new Ordinary
Shares.

Other than upon an earlier change of control of the Company or the Subsidiary. a participant may only
exercise the Put Option during the applicable two-year exercise window. For the B1 Shares, the two-year
exercise window commences on 15 January 2024 (being the third anniversary of the date that the original
Subsidiary B Shares were issued). For the B2 and B3 Shares, the two-year exercise window commences
on the third anniversary of Admission.

The Put Option can only be exercised if the market cap of the Company is equal or exceeds a “Target
Value” at the applicable time. The Target Value is:

• For the B1 Shares: £96,305,000, being the initial market cap of the Company, plus the amount of
funds raised on 15 January 2021, plus the total subscription value of the Consideration Shares and the
Placing Shares.

• For the B2 Shares: £81,755,125, being the pre-Acquisition value of the Company plus a discounted
value of the Celadon Group (to reflect pre-agreed incentive arrangements and the advisers' contribution
to date) plus the total subscription value of the Placing Shares.

• For the B3 Shares: £101,755,125, being the pre-Acquisition value of the Company plus the total
subscription value of the Consideration Shares and the Placing Shares.

• for the B1 Shares, the Initial Value of the B1 Shares (based on each of its individual elements) increased
at a compound annual growth rate of 7.5 per cent; and

• for the B2 and B3 Shares, the respective Initial Value of those Shares (based on each of their individual
elements) increased at a compound annual growth rate of 17.5 per cent.
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Leaver provisions

If a participant ceases to be employed or engaged by the Company for a ‘bad leaver’ reason (fraud or
gross negligence), the Company Subsidiary will have the right to buy-back their Subsidiary B Shares for a
price equal to the original subscription price paid by the participant.

In relation to the new awards of B3 Shares to selected members of the Celadon management team, the
Subsidiary B Shares will also be subject to time-based annual vesting over 3 years. If a participant ceases
to be employed by the Company (not as a ‘bad leaver’) then the Company will also have the right to buy-
back their unvested Subsidiary B Shares for a price equal to the original subscription price paid by the
participant.

At Admission, the Directors will have in place a Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) for certain other key
employees of, and consultants to the Company. Awards under the LTIP will consist of contingent rights or
options to acquire Ordinary Shares for a subscription price equal to their nominal value (that is, £0.01 per
Ordinary Share). Awards granted under the LTIP will be subject to three year performance vesting periods,
and where those awards are held by senior employees of the Company, a two year hold period following
vesting of the awards. The Directors intend to grant awards under the LTIP up to a further 3.5 per cent. of
the Company’s issued share capital following Admission.

Under the terms of the LTIP, the Company anticipates making awards to employees of the Enlarged Group
that vest subject to time over a three year period from grant date (and subject to continued employment).

For senior employees of the Enlarged Group, any grants under the LTIP will be subject to a combination of
time, EBITDA and EPS performance, or any other such metrics that the Remuneration Committee deem
appropriate over a three year period.

In aggregate, under the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme and the LTIP, the maximum dilution for Ordinary
Shareholders not participating in either the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme or the LTIP will be up to 20 per
cent. of the Company’s issued share capital following Admission.

Other incentives9.2

Aggregated dilution9.3

The following statements are intended only as a general guide to certain UK tax considerations and do not
purport to be a complete analysis of all potential UK tax consequences of acquiring, holding or disposing
of Shares. The following statements are based on current UK legislation and what is understood to be the
current practice of HM Revenue and Customs ("HMRC") as at the date of this Document, both of which
may change, possibly with retroactive effect. They apply only to Shareholders who are resident (and, in the
case of individuals Shareholders, domiciled) for UK tax purposes in (and only in) the UK, who hold their
Shares as an investment (other than under tax exempt arrangements such as individual savings accounts),
and who are the absolute beneficial owners of both their Shares and any dividends paid on them.

The tax position of certain categories of Shareholders who are subject to special rules, such as persons
who acquire (or are deemed to acquire) their Shares in connect with their (or another person's) office
or employment, traders, brokers, dealers in securities, insurance companies, banks, financial institutions,
investment companies, tax-exempt organisations, persons connected with the Company or the Group,
persons holding Shares as part of hedging or conversion transactions, Shareholders who are not domiciled
or not resident in the UK, collective investment schemes, trusts and those who hold five per cent. or
more the Shares, is not considered. Nor do the following statements consider the tax position of any
person holding investments in any HMRC approved arrangements or schemes, including the enterprise
investment scheme, venture capital scheme or business expansion scheme.

The comments set out below do not constitute legal or tax advice. Shareholders or prospective
Shareholders who are in any doubt about his or her tax position, or who are resident or otherwise subject
to taxation in a jurisdiction outside of the United Kingdom, should contact their own professional adviser on
the potential tax consequences of subscribing for, purchasing, holding or selling Shares under the laws of
their country and/or state of citizenship, domicile or residence.

TAXATION10.
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10.1 Taxation on Dividends

10.1.1 Withholding tax on dividends

Under current UK tax legislation, no tax will be withheld at source from a dividend
payment made by the Company.

10.1.2 UK tax resident individual Shareholders

An individual Shareholder who is resident for tax purposes in the United Kingdom
will not be liable to United Kingdom income tax on any dividend which they receive
from the Company in respect of Shares to the extent that (taking account of any other
dividends received in the same tax year) such dividend falls within the first £2,000
of dividend income received by that Shareholder (the "Dividend Allowance Amount").
Dividends within the Dividend Allowance Amount will still count as taxable income
when determining how much of the basic rate band or higher rate band has been used.

Subject to the availability of any personal or other allowance and taking account of any
other dividends received by the Shareholder in the same tax year, such Shareholder
will currently be subject to United Kingdom income tax on the amount (if any) of a
dividend received from the Company in respect of Shares in excess of the Dividend
Allowance Amount for the fiscal period ended 5 April 2021:

These rates are to increase to 8.75 per cent., 33.75 per cent. and 39.35 per cent.,
respectively with effect from 6 April 2022.

UK resident individual Shareholders have the benefit of an annual dividend allowance
of £2,000. Dividends falling within this allowance will effectively be taxed at the rate of
0 per cent., but such dividends will still count as taxable income when determining how
much of the basic rate band or higher rate band has been used.

Dividend income in excess of the annual dividend allowance (taking account of any
other dividend income received by the Shareholder in the same tax year) will be taxed
at the following rates for the fiscal period ended 5 April 2021: 7.5 per cent. to the extent
that it falls below the threshold for higher rate income tax: 32.5 per cent. to the extent
that it falls above the threshold for higher rate income tax and below the additional rate
band: and 38.1 per cent. to the extent that it falls above the threshold for the additional
rate band.

For the purpose of determining which of the taxable bands dividend income falls into,
dividend income is treated as the highest part of a Shareholder's income. In addition,
dividends within the nil rate band which would (if there was no nil rate amount) have
fallen within the basic or higher rate banks will use up those bands respectively for the
purpose of determining whether the threshold for higher rate or additional rate income
tax is exceeded.

(a) at the rate of 7.5 per cent., to the extent that such amount falls below the
threshold for the higher rate of income tax;

(b) at the rate of 32.5 per cent., to the extent that such amount falls above the
threshold for the higher rate of income tax but below the threshold for the
additional rate of income tax; and

(c) at the rate of 38.1 per cent., to the extent that such amount falls above the
threshold for the additional rate of income tax.

10.1.3 UK discretionary trustees

The annual dividend allowance is not available to UK resident trustees of a
discretionary trust. UK resident trustees of a discretionary trust in receipt of dividends
are liable to income tax at a rate of 38.1 per cent., which mirrors the dividend additional
rate. This rate is due to increase to 39.35 per cent. with effect from 6 April 2022.

10.1.4 UK tax resident corporate Shareholders

A UK resident corporate Shareholder will be liable to UK corporation tax unless the
dividend falls within one of the exempt classes set out in Part 9A of the Corporation
Tax Act 2009 (subject to anti-avoidance rules and provided all conditions are met).
It is anticipated that dividends should fall within one of such exempt classes but

170



shareholders should seek independent advice to confirm their position (subject to anti-
avoidance rules and provided all conditions are met).

If the conditions for exemption are not met, or cease to be satisfied, or such a corporate
Shareholder elects for an otherwise exempt dividend to be taxable, then the corporate
Shareholder will be subject to UK corporation tax on dividends received from the
Company at 19 per cent.

The corporation tax rate is due to increase to 25 per cent. from 1 April 2023. A small
profits rate will also be introduced from 1 April 2023 for some companies with profits of
£50,000 or less so that they continue to pay corporation tax at 19 per cent. on those
profits. Companies with profits between £50,000 and £250,000 will pay corporation
tax at the main rate of 25 per cent. reduced by a marginal relief. The £50,000 and
£250,000 limits will be shared between associated companies.

10.2 Taxation of Chargeable Gains

For the purpose of UK tax on chargeable gains, the purchase of Shares on a placing is regarded
as an acquisition of a new holding in the Company's share capital. To the extent that a
Shareholder acquires Shares allotted to them, the Shares so acquired will, for the purpose of tax
on chargeable gains, be treated as acquired on the date of the purchase becoming unconditional.

The amount paid for the Shares will generally constitute the tax base cost of a Shareholder's
holding.

A disposal of all or any of the Shares by UK resident Shareholders or Shareholders who carry on
a trade in the UK through a permanent establishment with which their investment in the Company
is connected may, depending on the relevant shareholder’s circumstances, give rise to a liability
to UK taxation on chargeable gains.

10.2.1 UK tax residence individual Shareholders

Where a UK tax resident individual Shareholder disposes of Shares at a gain, Capital
Gains Tax ("CGT") will be levied to the extent that the gain exceeds the annual
exemption and after taking account of any other available reliefs, such as capital
losses.

For such individuals, CGT will be charges at ten per cent. where the individual's
taxable income and gains are within the income tax basic rate band. To the extent that
any chargeable gains, or part of any chargeable gain, aggregated with income arising
in a tax year exceed the income tax basic rate band, CGT will be charged at 20 per
cent.

For trustees and personal representatives of deceased persons, CGT on gains in
excess of the current annual exempt amount will be charged at a flat rate of 20 per
cent.

Shareholders who are individuals and who are temporarily non-resident in the UK may,
under anti-avoidance legislation, still be liable to UK tax on any capital gain realised
(subject to any available exemption or relief).

10.2.2 UK resident corporate Shareholders

Where a Shareholder is within the charge to UK corporation tax, a disposal of Shares
may give rise to a chargeable gain (or allowable loss), depending on the circumstances
and subject to any available exemption or relief.

The corporation tax rate applicable to a UK resident corporate Shareholder on such
taxable gains is currently 19 per cent. The UK corporation tax rates are set to change
from 1 April 2023 (see Taxation of Dividends section 10.1.4 above).

10.3 "Transactions in securities"

The attention of Shareholder's (whether corporates or individuals) within the scope of UK taxation
is drawn to the provisions set out in, respectively, Part 15 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and
Chapter 1 of Part 13 of Income Tax Act 2007, which (in each case) give powers to HM Revenue
and Customs to raise tax assessments so as to cancel "tax advantages" derived from certain
prescribed "transactions in securities".
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The Takeover Code applies to the Company. Under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code, if an acquisition of
interests in shares were to cause the acquirer and/or persons acting in concert with it to be interested in
shares carrying, in aggregate, 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights in the Company, the acquirer and/
or (depending on the circumstances) persons acting in concert with it would be required (except with the
consent of the Takeover Panel) to make a cash offer for all of the equity share capital of the Company not
already owned by the acquirer and persons acting in concert with it at a price not less than the highest
price paid for an interest in a share by the acquirer or persons acting in concert with it during the previous
12 months. A similar obligation to make such a mandatory cash offer would also arise on the acquisition
of interests in shares by a person who, alone or together with persons acting in concert with it is interested
in shares carrying at least 30 per cent. but not more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights in the Company
if the effect of such acquisition were to increase the percentage of the aggregate voting rights held by the
acquirer and the persons acting in concert with it.

The Takeover Code defines persons “acting in concert” to comprise “persons who, pursuant to an
agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate to obtain or consolidate control of
a company or to frustrate an offer for a company”. The Takeover Code defines “control” to mean “an
interest, or interests, in shares carrying in aggregate 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of a company,
irrespective of whether such interest or interests give de facto control."

In particular, people will be treated as having an interest in shares if:

10.4 Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax ("SDRT")

THIS SUMMARY OF UK TAXATION ISSUES CAN ONLY PROVIDE A GENERAL OVERVIEW
OF THESE AREAS AND IT IS NOT A DESCRIPTION OF ALL THE TAX CONSIDERATIONS
THAT MAY BE RELEVANT TO A DECISION TO INVEST IN THE COMPANY. THE SUMMARY
OF CERTAIN UK TAX ISSUES IS BASED ON THE LAWS AND REGULATIONS IN FORCE AS
OF THE DATE OF THIS DOCUMENT AND MAY BE SUBJECT TO ANY CHANGES IN UK LAWS
OCCURRING AFTER SUCH DATE. LEGAL ADVICE SHOULD BE TAKEN WITH REGARD TO
INDIVIDUAL CIRCUMSTANCES. ANY PERSON WHO IS IN ANY DOUBT AS TO HIS TAX
POSITION OR WHERE HE IS RESIDENT, OTHER OTHERWISE SUBJECT TO TAXATION, IN A
JURISDICTION OTHER THAN THE UK, SHOULD CONSULT HIS PROFESSIONAL ADVISER.

10.4.1 An exemption from stamp duty and SDRT came into effect on 28 April 2014 in respect
of securities admitted to trading on certain recognised growth markets (presently
including AIM) and which are not listed on a Recognised Stock Exchange.

10.4.2 The Company anticipates that this exemption will apply to dealings in the Shares such
that from 28 March 2022, the date that dealings in the Enlarged Share Capital are
expected to commence, no liability to stamp duty or SDRT should arise in respect of
any transfer on sale of the Shares.

10.4.3 Absent an exemption from stamp duty and SDRT, any dealings in Shares will normally
be subject to stamp duty or SDRT. In such circumstances, stamp duty or SDRT could
be payable at the rate of 0.5 per cent. (rounded up to the next multiple of £5, if
necessary) of the amount or value of the consideration given by the purchaser, subject
to a de minimis limit and relevant anti-avoidance provisions.

10.4.4 The above comments are intended as a guide to the general stamp duty and SDRT
position. Certain categories of person are not liable to stamp duty or SDRT and others
may be liable at a higher rate or may, although not primarily liable for the tax, be
required to notify and account for it. Special rules apply to agreements made by market
intermediaries and to certain sale and repurchase and stock borrowing arrangements.

TAKEOVER CODE, MANDATORY BIDS, SQUEEZE OUT AND SELL-OUT RULES11.

Mandatory bids11.1

Concert Party11.2

(a) they own them;

(b) they have the right (whether conditional or absolute) to exercise or direct the exercise of the voting
rights attaching to them or have general control of them;

(c) by virtue of any agreement to purchase an option or derivative they:
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When a company undertakes an initial public offering, all of its existing shareholders will be presumed
to be acting in concert with each other for the purposes of the public offering unless the contrary is
established. The Company has discussed these issues with the Takeover Panel and the Takeover Panel
and the Company have agreed that the presumption that all of the shareholders are acting in concert may
be rebutted, save for the members of the Concert Party who comprise the founding shareholders and
senior employees or former employees of the Celadon Group. James Short is also the father of Cormac
Short, both being members of the Concert Party. There are no other personal, financial or commercial
arrangements or understandings between the members of the Concert Party.

The following table sets out the holdings and interests of the Concert Party and their members (including
connected persons) as at the date of this Document and upon Admission:

As at the date of this Document Immediately following Admission Maximum
percentage

following issuance
of Ordinary

Shares in
connection with

the Share
Incentive
Schemes

Concert Party
member

Number of
Ordinary Shares

Percentage of
issued ordinary

share capital
Number of

Ordinary Shares

Percentage of
issued ordinary

share capital

James Short Nil Nil 26,046,928 42.2 43.4

Cormac Short Nil Nil 4,525,403 7.3 7.2

John Mitchell Nil Nil 4,525,403 7.3 7.2

Paul Allen Nil Nil 4,525,403 7.3 7.2

Jonathan Rickard Nil Nil 2,251,388 3.7 3.6

The address of the members of the Concert Party is 32-33 Cowcross Street, London, England, EC1M 6DF.

On Admission, the Concert Party will hold shares carrying more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights of the
Company.

If a person (or group of persons acting in concert) holds shares carrying more than 50 per cent. of the
Company’s voting rights, that person (or any person(s) acting in concert with him) will normally be entitled
to increase their interests in shares without incurring any obligations under Rule 9 to make a mandatory
offer. Accordingly each of the members of the Concert Party would (for so long as they continue to
be treated as acting in concert) be able to increase their interest in shares without incurring any such
obligation under Rule 9 to make a mandatory offer provided that no individual member would be able to
increase their percentage interest in shares through the 30 per cent. threshold or between the 30 per cent.
threshold and 50 per cent. without triggering an obligation to make a mandatory offer under Rule 9 of the
Takeover Code (‘Rule 9 threshold’), without Panel consent.

Accordingly, James Short would not generally be able to increase his percentage interest in the Company
without incurring an obligation to make an offer under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code, without an appropriate
dispensation from the Panel. However, the other members of the Concert Party would be able to increase
their percentage interest in shares as these are under the Rule 9 threshold and the Concert Party will
in aggregate hold in excess of 50 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital. If the maximum number of
shares from the exercise of the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme shares are issued to James Short only, and
assuming no other Ordinary Shares are issued, James Short will hold 27,280,323 Ordinary Shares, in
aggregate representing approximately 43.4 per cent. of the then issued share capital (being the Enlarged
Share Capital and such issue of Ordinary Shares in connection with the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme).

Save for pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, no member of the Concert Party currently has any interest

whether the right, option or obligation is conditional or absolute and whether it is in the money or
otherwise; or

(i) have the right or option to acquire them or call for their delivery; or

(ii) are under an obligation to take delivery of them;

(d) they are party to any derivative:

(i) whose value is determined by reference to its price; and

(ii) which results, or may result, in their having a long position in it.

Interests and dealings of the Concert Party11.3
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in the Ordinary Shares and no member of the Concert Party has dealt in the Ordinary Shares in the 12
months ended on the date of this Document.

Under the Companies Act, if a person who has made a general offer to acquire Ordinary Shares (the
“offeror”) were to acquire, or contract to acquire, 90 per cent. of the Ordinary Shares which are the
subject of such offer within four months of making its offer, the offeror could then compulsorily acquire the
remaining ten per cent. The offeror would do so by sending a notice to outstanding Shareholders telling
them that the offeror will compulsorily acquire their Ordinary Shares and then, six weeks later, executing
a transfer of the outstanding Ordinary Shares in the offeror's favour and paying the consideration to the
Company, which would hold the consideration on trust for outstanding Shareholders. The consideration
offered to those Shareholders whose Ordinary Shares are compulsorily acquired under the Companies Act
must, in general, be the same as the consideration that was available under the general offer.

The Companies Act gives minority Shareholders a right to be bought out in certain circumstances by a
person who has made a general offer as described in the above paragraph. If, at any time before the end
of the period within which the general offer can be accepted, the offeror holds, or has agreed to acquire
not less than 90 per cent. of the Ordinary Shares, any holder of Ordinary Shares to which the general offer
relates who has not accepted the general offer can, by a written communication to the offeror, require it to
acquire that holder's Ordinary Shares.

The offeror is required to give each Shareholder notice of his right to be bought out within one month of that
right arising. The offeror may impose a time limit on the rights of minority Shareholders to be bought out,
but that period cannot end less than three months after the end of the acceptance period. If a Shareholder
exercises his rights, the offeror is entitled and bound to acquire those Ordinary Shares on the terms of the
offer or on such other terms as may be agreed.

Save as set out in this paragraph 14 below or disclosed in the historical financial information set out in Part
IV of this Document, neither the Company nor any member of the Enlarged Group has entered into any
related party transactions (which for these purposes are those set out in the standards adopted according
to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002) during the period covered by the historical financial information set
out in Part IV of this Document and up to 25 February 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to
publication of this Document). In addition, there have been no related transactions entered into by the
Company since the date of this Document.

Squeeze-out rules11.4

Sell-out rules11.5

WORKING CAPITAL12.

12.1 The Directors are of the opinion, having made due and careful enquiry and having regard to the
proceeds of the Fundraising, that the working capital available to the Company and the Enlarged
Group will be sufficient for its present requirements, that is for at least 12 months from the date of
Admission.

LITIGATION13.

13.1 There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings which may have or have had in
the recent past a significant effect on the Company's or the Enlarged Group's financial position
or profitability (and the Company is not aware of any such proceedings which are pending or
threatened).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS14.

14.1 On 10 August 2020, Vertigrow (as tenant) and Data Centre (DC) Ltd (as landlord) entered into
a sub-underlease for Celadon’s premises in the Midlands for a term of 25 years with no breaks
beginning on 1 October 2019 and rent of £450,000 per annum, payable from 1 March 2022. On
11 February 2022, Paloma II (Industrial III) Trustee I Limited and Paloma II (Industrial III) Trustee
II Limited, acting in their capacity as trustees of Paloma II (Industrial III) Unit Trust, acquired Data
Centre (DC) Limited’s interests in the site such that Data Centre (DC) Limited no longer has
any landlord (or other) interest in the property. As part of this arrangement, Vertigrow has been
granted a rent free period of 12 months from February 2022 from which point the rent thereafter
will be £450,000 per annum. The rent will increase in October 2024 to the higher of the open
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market rent or £650,000 per annum, and will be subject to a review every five years thereafter
to the open market rent with a minimum increase of 2 per cent. (compounded annually over five
years) at each review. James Short was a director of Data Centre (DC) Ltd from 7 September
2017 to 3 September 2019 and was a 80 per cent. shareholder of Data Centre (DC) Ltd until 1
February 2021.

14.2 On 7 June 2021, Vertigrow subscribed for a 17 per cent. shareholding in Kingdom for an
aggregate subscription price of £200,000, pursuant to a subscription and shareholders'
agreement entered into between, among others, Vertigrow, Elizabeth Shanahan and Kingdom
on 7 June 2021 under which amongst other things Vertigrow is entitled to elect a person to be
a director of Kingdom. Elizabeth Shanahan is a shareholder of Kingdom. Following Vertigrow’s
investment, Elizabeth Shanahan continues to hold 31.1 per cent. of the shares in Kingdom.

14.3 On 15 January 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with Tessera Investment
Management Limited ("Tessera") pursuant to which Tessera has agreed to provide strategic and
general corporate advice, and M&A and capital raising transaction support services. Tessera
charges £12,500 per month (plus VAT) payable monthly in arrears from the date of the agreement.
The Company and Tessera have agreed that this agreement will be terminated subject to and with
effect from Admission. Kathleen Long is a director and shareholder of Tessera.

14.4 On 1 February 2021, Vertigrow entered into an agreement with AFS Advisors LLP for the
provision of strategic and general corporate advice, including IPO services. The direct and indirect
members of AFS Advisors LLP are participants in the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme, further details
of which are provided in paragraph 9 of this Part VII. Benjamin Shaw, Interim Chairman and
Director of the Company has a one-third direct interest in AFS Advisors LLP, and Alexander
Anton, proposed Chairman of the Company, has a one-third indirect interest in AFS Advisors LLP
and each respectively has a corresponding interest in the Share Incentive Scheme. Under the
terms of the agreement with Vertigrow, AFS Advisors LLP are entitled to 5 per cent. of shareholder
value created over certain market capitalisation thresholds. Pursuant to the agreement referred
to at paragraph 14.2 below, this entitlement was replaced by AFS Advisors LLP’s participation in
the Subsidiary Incentive Scheme (as described at paragraph 9 of Part VII of this Document) at
Admission on comparable terms

14.5 On 14 January 2022, AFS Advisors LLP and Vertigrow entered into an agreement under which
AFS Advisors LLP would be entitled to receive an initial contingent transaction success fee of
£350,000 on Admission for corporate finance and strategic advisory services provided as part of
the transaction. Furthermore, under the terms of the agreement, Vertigrow may at its election,
award AFS Advisors LLP a discretionary fee of a further £580,000 within 12 months of Admission,
which if paid, would equate to a total success fee of 1 per cent. of the pre-money value of the
Enlarged Group.

14.6 On 3 March 2021, Vertigrow entered into an agreement with Tessera Investment Management
Limited ("Tessera") pursuant to which Tessera has agreed to provide strategic and general
corporate advice, and M&A and capital raising transaction support services. Tessera charges
£15,000 per month (plus VAT) payable monthly in arrears from the date of the agreement up until
Admission, as well as a one-off payment of £15,000 (plus VAT) for structuring and implementation
of the share incentive scheme intended to be implemented by Vertigrow at that time Kathleen
Long is a director and shareholder of Tessera. Under the agreement, Tessera was to participate in
Vertigrow’s share incentive scheme to be implemented in the region of 1.5 per cent. of additional
shareholder value created through such scheme, by way of an allocation to Kathleen Long on her
appointment as CFO. This entitlement was replaced by Kathleen’s participation in the Subsidiary
Incentive Scheme (as described at paragraph 9 of Part VII of this Document) at Admission on
comparable terms. Kathleen Long is a director and shareholder of Tessera.

14.7 Dr Steve Hajioff provided consultancy services to Harley Street (CPC) Limited prior to the
Vertigrow's acquisition of its interest in that company.

14.8 The Company Subsidiary is party to certain share incentive arrangements and related buybacks
which are for the benefit of certain related parties, as more particularly detailed in paragraph
15.1.16.

175



MATERIAL CONTRACTS15.

The following contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) have
been entered into by members of the Enlarged Group within the period of two years preceding
the date of this Document which are or may be material:

15.1

15.1.1 Loan agreement

The Company and Vertigrow entered into a loan agreement on 28 October 2021 ("Loan")
under the terms of which the Company agreed to lend Vertigrow up to £4,250,000 for working
capital purposes. The first £2.125 million tranche of the Loan is unsecured, with any further
drawings above this level requiring a security interest to be granted to the Company. The Loan
is repayable on demand at any time. The Loan may be drawn down by Vertigrow at any time
up to 28 May 2022 and it attracts interest at a rate of 10 per cent per annum which accrues
daily and is payable on the repayment date.

The Loan is governed by English law.

15.1.2 Acquisition Agreement

The Company and the Celadon Sellers entered into the Acquisition Agreement on 28 October
2021.

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the Company will acquire the fully diluted issued
share capital of Vertigrow on the satisfaction of certain conditions, including Admission, and
the passing of the Resolutions. In addition, the Acquisition is conditional on the following
in respect of the Celadon CLNs: valid conversion notices under the instrument constituting
the Celadon CLNs having been irrevocably given by or on behalf of all of the Celadon
CLN Holders in respect all of the Celadon CLNs such that conversion occurs simultaneously
with or immediately following completion of the Acquisition; Vertigrow having exercised its
rights in respect of the Celadon CLNs to satisfy its obligations in respect of such conversion
notices through the issue by the Company of the Consideration Shares; and Vertigrow having
undertaken to the Company to pay to it as subscription monies for the Consideration Shares
issued and allotted to the Celadon CLN Holders an amount in cash equal to the amount in
cash as would otherwise have been payable to redeem the Celadon CLNs in accordance with
their terms.

The consideration payable by the Company to the Celadon Sellers and the Celadon CLN
Holders is, in aggregate, 48,484,848 Consideration Shares to be issued by the Company
at 165 pence per share on Admission, credited as fully paid. The number of Consideration
Shares to be issued to the Celadon Sellers shall be in proportion to their respective holdings
of shares in Vertigrow immediately prior to Admission. The number of Consideration Shares
to be issued to Celadon CLN Holders who convert their Celadon CLNs on completion of the
Acquisition shall be in proportion to the respective number of shares that they would have held
in Vertigrow immediately prior to Admission had they exercised their rights of conversion in
respect of the Celadon CLNs immediately prior to Admission.

The Acquisition Agreement contains warranties on the part of James Short, Cormac Short,
John Mitchell, Paul Allen and Jonathan Rickard (who are also Celadon Sellers) in favour of the
Company in relation to the business, assets and taxation of the Celadon Group. In addition,
under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, the Company has given the Celadon Sellers the
benefit of certain warranties relating to Company.

The Acquisition Agreement is governed by English law.

15.1.3 Placing Agreement

The Company, the Directors, the Proposed Directors and Canaccord Genuity entered into
a placing agreement on 28 February 2022. Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, Canaccord
Genuity has agreed, subject to certain conditions, to act as agent for the Company and to use
its reasonable endeavours to procure placees to subscribe for the Placing Shares that are not
Subscription Shares at the Placing Price.

The Placing Agreement is conditional upon, inter alia, the First Placing completing on or before
5.30 p.m. on 25 March 2022 (or such later date as the Company and Canaccord Genuity
may agree, being not later than 8.00 a.m. on 11 April 2022) and Admission occurring on
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or before 8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022 (or such later date as the Company and Canaccord
Genuity may agree, being not later than 8.00 a.m. on 12 April 2022). The Placing Agreement
contains warranties from the Company, the Directors and the Proposed Directors in favour of
Canaccord Genuity in relation to, inter alia, the accuracy of the information in this Document
and other matters relating to the Existing Group and its business. In addition, the Company has
agreed to indemnify Canaccord Genuity in respect of certain liabilities it may incur in respect
of the First Placing and/or the Second Placing. Canaccord Genuity has the right to terminate
the Placing Agreement in certain circumstances prior to completion of the First Placing and
Admission respectively, in particular, in the event of a material breach of the warranties or a
force majeure event.

The Placing Agreement also contains lock-in and orderly market agreements pursuant to
which each of the Directors and Proposed Directors who will hold Ordinary Shares following
Admission have agreed not to dispose of any interest in Ordinary Shares for one year from the
date of Admission, except in certain limited customary circumstances and, for a further period
of 12 months following the expiry of the initial 12 month period, only to dispose of an interest
in Ordinary Shares provided such disposal is effected through Canaccord Genuity and in such
manner as they may reasonably require with a view to the maintenance of an orderly market
in the Ordinary Shares.

The Placing Agreement is governed by English law.

15.1.4 Warrant Instrument

In connection with the Placing Agreement referred to at paragraph 15.1.3 above of this
Part VII, on 28 February 2022 the Company entered into a warrant instrument pursuant
to which it issued warrants to subscribe for up to 148,484 Ordinary Shares in favour of
Canaccord Genuity at an exercise price of 165 pence per Ordinary Share (the “Canaccord
Genuity Warrants”). The Canaccord Genuity Warrants may be exercised during the period
commencing on the date of Admission and terminating on (and including) the second
anniversary of Admission. The warrant instrument contains provisions to adjust the number
and/or nominal value of Ordinary Shares to be subscribed for in certain circumstances
including following a capitalisation of profits or reserves, a sub-division or consolidation of the
Ordinary Shares, or a suspension or cancellation of the Ordinary Shares from trading on AIM
except to the extent required by the AIM Rules.

15.1.5 Registrar Agreement

Pursuant to an agreement between the Registrar and the Company dated 15 October 2018,
the Registrar has been retained by the Company to be its share registrar and provide various
services including maintaining the share register, registering share transactions, processing
the payment of dividends and providing various telephone and postal services to
Shareholders. The agreement continues for an initial period of 3 years. At the expiry of
the initial period, the agreement shall renew for successive periods of 12 months but may
be terminated by either party on the service of six months’ notice prior to the end of the
initial period or any successive 12 month period. The agreement may also be terminated
immediately by either party in certain specified circumstances such as insolvency of a party
or material breach of the agreement by a party. The basic fee payable by the Company to the
Registrar is subject to an annual minimum charge of £3,000. In addition, various transfer fees
are also payable on the transfer of any Ordinary Shares. The agreement contains customary
warranties and indemnities given by the Company to the Registrar relating to its capacity to
enter into the agreement.

15.1.6 Relationship Agreement

The Company, James Short and Canaccord Genuity entered into a relationship agreement on
28 February 2022, to regulate the relationship between the Company and James Short after
Admission. The relationship agreement will take effect on Admission and will be binding on
James Short until he ceases, directly or indirectly, to exercise control over at least 20 per cent.
of the voting rights in respect of the entire issued share capital of the Company. Pursuant to
the relationship agreement, James Short undertakes, amongst other things, that he will (and,
in relation to his affiliates, will procure, insofar as is within his power or control to procure,
that each of his affiliates will): (i) conduct all transactions, agreements, relationships and
arrangements with the Enlarged Group on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial
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terms; (ii) not take any action that would have the effect of preventing the Company from
carrying on business independently of James Short and his affiliates; (iii) not propose or
procure the proposal of a resolution of the shareholders of the Company which is intended
or appears to be intended to circumvent the proper application of the AIM Rules; (iv) not
exercise his voting rights in respect of any resolution relating to a transaction, agreement or
arrangement with or relating to James Short or his affiliates or exercise his voting rights to
procure or seek to procure any amendment to the Articles that would be inconsistent with the
provisions of the relationship agreement.

The relationship agreement also provides that, in circumstances where James Short and/or
any of his affiliates hold in aggregate 20 per cent. or more of the voting rights in respect
of the entire issued share capital of the Company, he has the right to appoint a Director
(including James Short) to the board of the Company, or one person to attend as an observer
at each and any meeting of the board of the Company, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee, provided such appointed Director is not objected to by Canaccord
Genuity following all such due diligence as it deems appropriate in order to assess the ongoing
appropriateness of the Company for admission to trading on AIM in accordance with the AIM
Rules for Nominated Advisers or prohibited by any other regulatory authority having legitimate
jurisdiction over such appointment of the Company.

The relationship agreement is governed by English law.

15.1.7 Lock-in and Orderly Market Agreements

Lock-in and orderly market agreements were entered into between each of the Celadon
Founders (save for James Short, who entered into the Placing Agreement described at
paragraph 15.1.3 above) and applicable Celadon consultants, the Company and Canaccord
Genuity on 28 February 2022. Pursuant to the terms of the agreements, the Celadon Founders
and applicable Celadon consultants have agreed not to dispose of any interest in Ordinary
Shares for one year from the date of Admission, except in certain limited customary
circumstances (including the acceptance of a general offer for the Company, transfers
pursuant to a court order or to a nominee or connected person or made with the prior written
consent of Canaccord Genuity and in any event which are permitted under Rule 7 of the AIM
Rules) and, for a further period of 12 months following the expiry of the initial 12 month period,
only to dispose of an interest in Ordinary Shares once written notification of the proposed
disposal has been given to Canaccord Genuity (or Canaccord Genuity’s successor in the role
of the Company's corporate broker) and provided such disposal is effected through Canaccord
Genuity (or another party nominated by the Canaccord Genuity’s successor in the role of the
Company's corporate broker) and in such manner as they may reasonably require with a view
to the maintenance of an orderly market in the Ordinary Shares.

The lock-in and orderly market agreements are governed by English law.

15.1.8 Nominated Adviser and Broker Agreement

The Company and Canaccord Genuity entered into a nominated adviser and broker
agreement on 21 September 2021. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company has appointed
Canaccord Genuity to act as nominated adviser and broker to the Company for the purposes
of the AIM Rules for Companies. The agreement contains certain undertakings, warranties and
indemnities given by the Company to Canaccord Genuity. The agreement is terminable upon
not less than 3 months prior written notice by either the Company or Canaccord Genuity.

This agreement was mutually amended on 25 February 2022 so as to be replaced by a new
nominated adviser and broker agreement covering Canaccord Genuity’s role as nominated
adviser and broker to the Enlarged Group. The agreement contains certain undertakings,
warranties and indemnities given by the Company to Canaccord Genuity. The agreement
is terminable upon not less than 3 months prior written notice by either the Company or
Canaccord Genuity.

The nominated adviser and broker agreement is governed by English law.

15.1.9 Subscription Letters

The Company and each subscriber to the Subscription entered into subscription letters on
various dates. Pursuant to the subscription letters, such subscribers shall subscribe for, in
aggregate 972,723 new Ordinary Shares at the Placing Price.
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The subscription letters in respect of the Subscription are conditional upon, inter alia, the
Placing Agreement becoming unconditional and not having been terminated in accordance
with its terms on or before 8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022 (or such later date as the Company
and Canaccord Genuity may agree, being not later than 8.00 a.m. on 12 April 2022).

The subscription letters are governed by English law.

15.1.10 Acquisition of 57.5 per cent. of the issued share capital of Harley Street (CPC) Limited

Vertigrow (as buyer) and Health Care Limited (as seller) entered into a share purchase
agreement on 14 July 2021 as amended on 5 October 2021, in relation to certain shares
in LVL. Pursuant to the agreement, Vertigrow acquired 115 B shares of £0.01 each in the
capital of LVL for initial consideration in the amount of £500,000. Deferred consideration of
£1.5 million is payable in the event that (i) each of MHRA and REC authorise the Trial; and
(ii) 5,000 paying patients of Vertigrow's clinic are accepted onto the Trial and receive their
first prescriptions under the Trial within 18 months of 14 July 2021 (i.e. by 14 January 2023).
Such deferred consideration is to be satisfied by the issue of shares in an entity in the same
group as Vertigrow whose securities are publicly listed on a recognised stock exchange at the
relevant time ("Listco"), with the price for such shares being the average of the middle market
quotations for shares in Listco for the five consecutive dealing days immediately preceding the
date of issue of such shares. Customary warranties are given under the agreement.

The share purchase agreement is governed by English law.

15.1.11 Shareholders' agreement in relation to Harley Street (CPC) Limited

Vertigrow, Health Clinics Limited and LVL entered into a shareholders’ agreement on 14
July 2021 in relation to LVL. The shareholders’ agreement governs the relationship between
Vertigrow, which owns 57.5 per cent. of LVL, and Health Clinics Limited, which owns 42.5 per
cent. of LVL.

The shareholders’ agreement shall terminate upon, inter alia, a sale of 50 per cent. of issued
ordinary shares in LVL in which neither of the two shareholder parties following such sale hold
any interest or if shareholders holding at least 90 per cent. of the issued ordinary share capital
of LVL agree to terminate the agreement. The shareholders’ agreement includes call option
provisions in relation to 12.5 per cent. of LVL, whereby Vertigrow may take up an option to
purchase for an aggregate sum of £1 such shares held in LVL by Health Clinics Limited so as
to bring Vertigrow’s shareholding in LVL to 70 per cent. This option is exercisable by Vertigrow
as LVL did not receive full REC authorisation for the Trial within the period ended six months
following the date of the shareholders’ agreement.

The shareholders’ agreement is governed by English law.

15.1.12 Grow Pharma Services Agreement

On 26 March 2020, LVL entered into a services agreement with Grow Pharma Ltd (“Grow
Pharma”), a joint venture company between Grow Group plc and Vertical Pharma Resources
Limited (“Vertical”).

Pursuant to the agreement, Grow Pharma is to procure that Vertical shall provide certain
services to LVL, including import of Pedanios 8/8 (or any other CBPM agreed by the parties)
(the "Product") from any supplier of CBPMs agreed between the parties and accepting
delivery and carrying out quality checks of the Product. Once imported, Vertical will store
the Product within its UK storage facilities in compliance with the relevant UK legislation.
The services agreement grants LVL the exclusive right to sell and/or distribute the Product
held by Vertical. Vertical will prepare the Product for use, by grinding the flower and then
putting the specified mass into sealed and bar-coded cartridges provided by RYAH for use
in an inhaling device made by RYAH (the "Cartridges"). LVL is responsible for providing the
equipment required to fill the Cartridges and ensuring that a sufficient number of Cartridges
are available to Vertical. Vertical will then courier the filled Cartridges to patients in fulfilment
of a prescription. Under the agreement, Vertical is required to use its reasonable endeavours
to obtain and/or maintain all licences required to enable it to provide the services described
above. Grow Pharma has warranted that Vertical has licences to import, distribute,
manufacture and dispense medicinal products in the UK.

In order to lawfully possess, supply, produce and manufacture cannabis API and cannabis-
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based products for medicinal use in humans, Vertical must maintain relevant licences,
registrations and authorisations with relevant scope to cover the activities, including Home
Office Controlled Drug licences, a MHRA API registration (to cover the API activity) and in
addition, it must hold the relevant type of MHRA manufacturing authorisation to manufacture
cannabis-based medicines depending on the authorisation (or not) of the medicines and
whether these are to be used for clinical trial use. Under a pharmacy registration so-called
extemporaneous preparation of medicines i.e. manufacturing of one-off specials, or a stock of
specials may be performed subject to the rules regulating specials, as well as dispensing of
medicinal products.

Pursuant to the services agreement, LVL appoints Grow Pharma as its non-exclusive agent
to sell to third parties on its behalf the Packaged Services (being the provision by LVL to any
third party (for the benefit of a patient named on a prescription) of (i) DNA testing and analysis
for the purpose of determining sensitivity to cannabis-based medicinal products for use in pain
management, (ii) cartridges filled with Product for a prescription via Vertical and/or (iii) a RYAH
inhalation device).

The services agreement may be terminated for breach or 18 months after the start of the
agreement by either party giving six months’ notice to the other at any time after expiry of
the exclusivity arrangements set out in the agreement, which relate respectively to LVL not
accepting a forecasted volume of Product at its UK storage facility within the relevant quarter
or LVL not providing Grow Pharma with sufficient prescriptions to meet the minimum volume
in any contract year, being 60 per cent. of the annual estimate of the Product required in each
contract year.

The services agreement contains certain undertakings and indemnities given by each party to
the other and is governed by English law.

15.1.13 Product supply and distribution agreement with RYAH Medtech Inc.

LVL entered into a product supply and distribution agreement with RYAH Medtech Inc.
("RYAH") on 15 October 2019. Pursuant to the agreement, RYAH (as provider) is to provide
Vertigrow (as distributor) with inter alia RYAH inhalation delivery devices, unfilled cartridges
and packaging for such devices and cartridges. The agreement grants LVL the exclusive right
to distribute the devices and the cartridges in the UK during the rolling five year term of the
agreement, provided that LVL purchases during each year the minimum purchase quantities
of the devices and cartridges as agreed between the parties by 1 September of the preceding
year. The agreement contains certain undertakings, warranties and indemnities given by each
party to the other.

The product supply and distribution agreement is governed by New York law.

15.1.14 Vertigrow Convertible Loan Note Agreement and Debenture

Vertigrow executed a convertible loan note instrument relating to £4,130,000 8% fixed rate
senior secured convertible loan notes on 5 February 2021 (the “Vertigrow Convertible Loan
Notes”). An aggregate of £4,130,000 of principle amount of the Vertigrow Convertible Loan
Notes were issued between 5 February 2021 and 10 March 2021.

The Vertigrow Convertible Loan Notes are secured by way of a debenture over Vertigrow, in
favour of AFS Advisors LLP (as security trustee). At Admission, according to the terms of the
Instrument, the Convertible Loan Notes issued pursuant to the Instrument will, be redeemed
in whole through issuance of such number of Consideration Shares as is required to redeem
the principle and accrued interest to the point of Admission. Following this share settled
redemption, the Convertible Loan Note security shall be released.

The convertible loan note instrument and debenture are each governed by English law.

15.1.15 January 2021 Warrant Instrument

On 15 January 2021, the Company entered into a warrant instrument pursuant to which
it granted a warrant to the Company’s former Chairperson, Vinodka Murria, for a right to
subscribe for an additional 3,246,026 new Ordinary Shares at a price of 88 pence per share.
Upon the resignation of Vinodka Murria on 21 September 2021, this warrant instrument was
terminated and lapsed in its entirety.
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15.1.16 Share Incentive Arrangements and BuyBack Agreements

In connection with the Company’s share incentive arrangements, further details of which are
provided for at paragraph 9 of this Part VII, the Company Subsidiary is a party to the following
agreements:

In addition, the Company is a party to resignation letters dated 21 September 2021 with
each of Vinodka Murria and Anthony John Morris respectively as referred to in paragraph
9.1 of this Part VII, pursuant to which Vinodka Murria and Anthony John Morris agreed to
sell their holdings of 1,000,000 and 50,000 Subsidiary B Shares respectively to the Company
Subsidiary or the Company at the option of the Company at the original subscription price
paid for those Subsidiary B Shares. The buyback will be completed at Admission, the effect of
which will be to reduce Vinodka Murria’s holding of Subsidiary B Shares to zero and Anthony
Morris’ to 125,000.

(i) subscription agreements dated 15 January 2021 with Alexander Anton, Benjamin
Shaw, Mark Farmiloe, Vinodka Murria, Paul David Gibson and Anthony John Morris,
pursuant to which such individuals agreed to subscribe for, and the Company
Subsidiary agreed to issue, an aggregate of 1,450,000 B Shares in the capital of
the Company Subsidiary at a price of £0.014 per B Share, in accordance with the
Subsidiary Incentive Scheme;

(ii) the Put Option, further details of which are provided in paragraph 9.1; and

(iii) the LTIP, further details of which are provided in paragraph 9.2.

15.1.17 Introduction fee agreement

Pursuant to an agreement dated 23 February 2022 between Vertigrow and H&P Advisory
Limited (trading as Hannam & Partners), Vertigrow agreed to pay an introduction fee of
£100,000 (exclusive of VAT) pursuant to a historic agreement with H&P Advisory Limited which
is conditional on Admission.

GENERAL16.

16.1 The Nominated Adviser and Broker to the Company is Canaccord Genuity of 88 Wood Street,
London, EC2V 7QR, which is regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.

16.2 The expenses of or incidental to the Placing and Admission are payable by the Company and
are estimated to amount to £2,436,830 (excluding value added tax), including commissions of
£290,982.

16.3 The total proceeds of the Fundraising expected to be raised by the Company are £8.5 million
and the net proceeds, after deduction of the expenses, are estimated at £6.1 million.

16.4 The International Security Identification Number (ISIN) of the Ordinary Shares is
GB00BDQYGP38.

16.5 Other than the intended application for Admission, the Ordinary Shares have not been admitted
to dealings on any recognised investment exchange nor has any application for such admission
been made, nor, except as stated below, are there intended to be any other arrangements for
dealings in the Ordinary Shares.

16.6 RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion
in this Document of its reports set out in Section A, Section C and Section E of Part IV of this
Document in the form and context in which they appear and has authorised the contents of those
reports for the purposes of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for Companies.

16.7 RSM UK Audit LLP which is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Scotland, has
been the Company's auditors since incorporation.

16.8 Canaccord Genuity has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this
Document of the references to its name in the form and context in which they appear.

16.9 Other than as disclosed in this Document, there has been no significant change in the financial
position or financial performance of the Group since 31 August 2021, being the date to which
the interim financial information of the Group set out in Section F of Part IV of this Document has
been prepared.
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16.10 Other than as disclosed in this Document, there has been no significant change in the financial
position or financial performance of the Celadon Group since 30 June 2021, being the date to
which the unaudited interim financial information for the Celadon Group set out in Section G of
Part IV of this Document has been prepared.

16.11 No person (other than professional advisers otherwise disclosed in this Document and trade
suppliers) has received, directly or indirectly, from the Company within 12 month preceding the
date of this Document; or entered into contractual arrangements (not otherwise disclosed in this
Document) to receive, directly or indirectly, from the Company on or after completion of the First
Placing or the Second Placing respectively any of the following:

16.11.1 fees totalling ten thousand pounds (£10,000) or more;

16.11.2 securities in the Company with a value of ten thousand pounds (£10,000) or more
calculated by reference to the Placing Price; or

16.11.3 any other benefit with a value of ten thousand (£10,000) or more at the date of
completion of the First Placing or the Second Placing respectively.

16.12 The Ordinary Shares are in registered form and will, following Admission, be capable of being
held in uncertificated form. Prior to the despatch of share certificates following the First Placing
and the Second Placing respectively, transfers will be certified against the register of members.
The Company has applied to Euroclear UK & Ireland, the operator of CREST, for the Ordinary
Shares to be admitted to CREST with effect from Admission. CREST is a paperless settlement
procedure enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise than by certificate and transferred
otherwise than by written instrument. The Articles permit the holding of Ordinary Shares under
CREST. CREST is a voluntary system and holders of Ordinary Shares who wish to retain share
certificates will be able to do so.

16.13 Save as disclosed in this Document, the Company does not hold any treasury shares (i.e. shares
in the Company held by the Company) and no Ordinary Shares were held by, or on behalf of,
any member of the Enlarged Group.

16.14 Save as disclosed in paragraph 23 of Part I of this Document, the Enlarged Group is not
dependent on any patents or licences, industrial, commercial or financial contracts or new
manufacturing processes which are material to the Company's business or profitability.

16.15 No financial information contained in this document is intended by the Company to represent or
constitute a forecast of profits by the Company or the Celadon Group.

16.16 Where information in this Document has been sourced from a third party, the Company confirms
that it has been accurately reproduced and, as far as the Company is aware and is able to
ascertain from the information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted which
would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Where third-party information
has been used in this Document, the source of such information has been identified.

16.17 Save as disclosed in this Document, there are no environmental issues that the Directors have
determined may affect the Company’s utilisation of tangible fixed assets and the Directors have
not identified any events that have occurred since the end of the last financial year and which
are considered to be likely to have a material effect on the Company's prospects for the current
financial year.

16.18 Except as stated in this Document, there have been no material investments made by the
Company during the last three financial years and there are no material future investments on
which firm commitments have been made.

The Company will provide, without charge, to each person to whom a copy of this Document has been
delivered, upon the oral or written request of such person, a hard copy of such financial documents of the
Company incorporated by reference in accordance with Rule 24.15 of the Takeover Code. The Company
will also provide, without charge, to each person to whom a copy of this Document has been sent in
electronic form or by way of a website notification, upon the oral or written request of such person, a
hard copy of this Document. Written or telephone requests for such documents should be directed to Tony
Morris at 32-33 Cowcross Street, London, England, EC1M 6DF or by telephone on +44 (0)20 7440 7520.
A hard copy of any document incorporated into this document by reference will not be sent to such persons

AVAILABILITY OF DOCUMENTS17.
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unless requested.

Copies of this Document are available during normal business hours on any weekday (except Saturdays
and public holidays) free of charge from the Company's registered office and at the offices of the
Nominated Adviser and shall remain available for at least one month after Admission and on the
Company's website at www.summerwaycapital.co.uk.

Dated: 28 February 2022
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PART VIII. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE PLACING

THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS SET OUT IN THIS PART VIII (THE “TERMS AND CONDITIONS”)
AND THE INFORMATION COMPRISING THIS DOCUMENT ARE RESTRICTED AND ARE NOT FOR
RELEASE, PUBLICATION OR DISTRIBUTION, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY,
IN OR INTO THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, CANADA, AUSTRALIA, THE REPUBLIC OF SOUTH
AFRICA, JAPAN (EACH A “RESTRICTED JURISDICTION”) OR ANY OTHER STATE OR
JURISDICTION IN WHICH SUCH RELEASE, PUBLICATION OR DISTRIBUTION WOULD BE
UNLAWFUL. THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS AND THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS NOT
INTENDED TO AND DOES NOT CONTAIN OR CONSTITUTE AN OFFER OF, OR THE SOLICITATION
OF AN OFFER TO BUY OR SUBSCRIBE FOR SECURITIES TO ANY PERSON IN THE RESTRICTED
JURISDICTIONS OR ANY OTHER STATE OR JURISDICTION IN WHICH SUCH AN OFFER WOULD
BE UNLAWFUL.

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ARE NOT ELIGIBLE TO TAKE PART IN THE PLACING. THIS
DOCUMENT AND THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS SET OUT IN THIS PART VIII ARE FOR
INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY AND ARE DIRECTED ONLY AT PERSONS WHOSE ORDINARY
ACTIVITIES INVOLVE THEM ACQUIRING, HOLDING, MANAGING AND DISPOSING OF
INVESTMENTS (AS PRINCIPAL OR AGENT) FOR THE PURPOSES OF THEIR BUSINESS AND WHO
HAVE PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE IN MATTERS RELATING TO INVESTMENTS AND ARE: (A) IF
IN A MEMBER STATE OF THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA ("EEA"), "QUALIFIED INVESTORS"
AS DEFINED IN ARTICLE 2(E) OF REGULATION (EU) 2017/1129 (TOGETHER WITH ANY
IMPLEMENTING MEASURE IN SUCH MEMBER STATES, "EU PROSPECTUS REGULATION"); (B)
IF IN THE UNITED KINGDOM, "QUALIFIED INVESTORS" AS DEFINED IN ARTICLE 2(E) OF THE
EU PROSPECTUS REGULATION, WHICH FORMS PART OF RETAINED EU LAW IN THE UNITED
KINGDOM BY VIRTUE OF THE EUROPEAN UNION (WITHDRAWAL) ACT 2018, AS AMENDED
BY THE EUROPEAN UNION (WITHDRAWAL) ACT 2020 (THE “UK PROSPECTUS REGULATION”)
AND AS DEFINED IN ARTICLE 2(E) OF THE EU PROSPECTUS REGULATION, WHICH FORMS
PART OF RETAINED EU LAW IN THE UNITED KINGDOM BY VIRTUE OF THE EUROPEAN UNION
(WITHDRAWAL) ACT 2018, AS AMENDED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION (WITHDRAWAL) ACT 2020
(THE “UK PROSPECTUS REGULATION”) AND WHO ARE PERSONS WHO (A) HAVE
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE IN MATTERS RELATING TO INVESTMENTS AND WHO (I) FALL
WITHIN ARTICLE 19(5) OF THE FINANCIAL SERVICES AND MARKETS ACT 2000 (FINANCIAL
PROMOTION) ORDER 2005 ("ORDER") (INVESTMENT PROFESSIONALS); OR (II) FALL WITHIN
ARTICLE 49(2)(A) TO (D) (HIGH NET WORTH COMPANIES, UNINCORPORATED ASSOCIATIONS,
ETC.) OF THE ORDER AND ARE "QUALIFIED INVESTORS" AS DEFINED IN SECTION 86 OF THE
FINANCIAL SERVICES AND MARKETS ACT 2000 ("FSMA"), ("UK QUALIFIED INVESTORS"); AND
(III) OTHERWISE, TO PERSONS TO WHOM IT MAY OTHERWISE BE LAWFUL TO COMMUNICATE
IT (ALL SUCH PERSONS TOGETHER BEING REFERRED TO AS "RELEVANT PERSONS"). ANY
INVESTMENT OR INVESTMENT ACTIVITY TO WHICH THIS DOCUMENT AND THE TERMS AND
CONDITIONS SET OUT HEREIN RELATES IS AVAILABLE ONLY TO RELEVANT PERSONS AND
WILL BE ENGAGED IN ONLY WITH RELEVANT PERSONS.

THESE TERMS AND CONDITIONS MUST NOT BE ACTED ON OR RELIED UPON BY PERSONS
WHO ARE NOT RELEVANT PERSONS. PERSONS DISTRIBUTING THIS DOCUMENT MUST SATISFY
THEMSELVES THAT IT IS LAWFUL TO DO SO. ANY INVESTMENT OR INVESTMENT ACTIVITY TO
WHICH THIS DOCUMENT AND THESE TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATE IS AVAILABLE ONLY TO
RELEVANT PERSONS AND WILL BE ENGAGED IN ONLY WITH RELEVANT PERSONS. PERSONS
INTO WHOSE POSSESSION THESE TERMS AND CONDITIONS COMES ARE REQUIRED BY THE
COMPANY AND CANACCORD GENUITY TO INFORM THEMSELVES OF AND TO OBSERVE ANY
SUCH RESTRICTIONS. THIS DOCUMENT DOES NOT ITSELF CONSTITUTE AN OFFER FOR SALE
OR SUBSCRIPTION OF ANY SECURITIES IN THE COMPANY.

THIS DOCUMENT IS NOT AN OFFER OF OR SOLICITATION TO PURCHASE OR SUBSCRIBE
FOR SECURITIES FOR SALE IN THE UNITED STATES. THE PLACING SHARES HAVE NOT BEEN
AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE US SECURITIES ACT 1933, AS AMENDED (THE
“SECURITIES ACT”), OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR
OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES, AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR
TRANSFERRED, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, IN OR INTO THE UNITED STATES EXCEPT
PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND IN COMPLIANCE WITH ANY
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED
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STATES. THE PLACING SHARES ARE BEING OFFERED AND SOLD ONLY OUTSIDE THE UNITED
STATES IN “OFFSHORE TRANSACTIONS” WITHIN THE MEANING OF, AND IN ACCORDANCE
WITH, REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT. NO PUBLIC OFFERING OF THE PLACING
SHARES IS BEING MADE IN THE UNITED STATES, THE UNITED KINGDOM OR ELSEWHERE.

EACH PLACEE (AS DEFINED BELOW) SHOULD CONSULT WITH ITS ADVISERS AS TO LEGAL,
TAX, BUSINESS AND RELATED ASPECTS OF AN INVESTMENT IN PLACING SHARES. THE PRICE
OF SHARES IN THE COMPANY AND THE INCOME FROM THEM (IF ANY) MAY GO DOWN AS WELL
AS UP AND INVESTORS MAY NOT GET BACK THE FULL AMOUNT INVESTED ON DISPOSAL OF
THE PLACING SHARES.

INTRODUCTION1.

1.1 These Terms and Conditions apply to persons making an offer to acquire Placing Shares under the
Placing and pursuant to the terms of the Placing Agreement.

1.2 Each person to whom these Terms and Conditions apply, as described above, who confirms its
agreement to Canaccord Genuity and the Company to acquire Placing Shares (which may include
Canaccord Genuity or its nominee(s)) (each a "Placee") hereby agrees with Canaccord Genuity
and the Company to be bound by these Terms and Conditions as being the terms and conditions
upon which the Placing Shares will be issued and sold under the Placing. A Placee shall, without
limitation, become so bound if Canaccord Genuity confirms to the Placee:

(a) the Placing Price; and

(b) its allocation of Placing Shares.

1.3 The Company and/or Canaccord Genuity may require any Placee to agree to such further terms
and/or conditions and/or give such additional warranties and/or representations as it (in its absolute
discretion) considers necessary and/or may require any such Placee to execute a separate
investor letter ("Investor Letter"). The terms of this Part VIII will, where applicable, be deemed to
be incorporated into that Investor Letter.

Other than in respect of the First Placing Shares, conditional upon:

each Placee agrees to become a member of the Company and agrees to acquire at the Placing Price those
Placing Shares allocated to it by Canaccord Genuity. To the fullest extent permitted by law, each Placee
acknowledges and agrees that it will not be entitled to exercise any remedy of rescission at any time. This
does not affect any other rights the Placee may have. No commission will be paid to Placees or by Placees
in respect of any Placing Shares.

AGREEMENT TO ACQUIRE PLACING SHARES2.

2.1 Admission occurring and becoming effective by no later than 8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022;

2.2 The Placing Agreement becoming otherwise unconditional in all respects and not having been
terminated in accordance with its terms; and

2.3 Canaccord Genuity confirming to the Placees their allocation of Placing Shares,

PAYMENT FOR PLACING SHARES3.

3.1 Each Placee undertakes to pay the Placing Price for the Placing Shares acquired by such Placee
in the manner and by the time directed by Canaccord Genuity and/or the Company.

3.2 Each Placee is deemed to agree that, if it fails to pay the Placing Price for the Placing Shares
acquired by such Placee, Canaccord Genuity may sell any or all of the Placing Shares allocated
to that Placee and which have not been paid for on such Placee's behalf and retain from the
proceeds, for Canaccord Genuity's account and benefit (as agent for the Company), an amount
equal to the aggregate amount owed by the Placee plus any interest due. Any excess proceeds will
be paid to the relevant Placee at its risk. The relevant Placee will, however, remain liable and shall
indemnify Canaccord Genuity and the Company on demand for any shortfall below the aggregate
amount owed by it. By agreeing to acquire Placing Shares, each Placee confers on Canaccord
Genuity all such authorities and powers necessary to carry out any such sale and agrees to ratify
and confirm all actions which Canaccord Genuity lawfully takes in pursuance of such sale.
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By agreeing to acquire Placing Shares under the Placing, each Placee which enters into a commitment to
acquire Placing Shares will (for itself and any person(s) procured by it to acquire Placing Shares and any
nominee(s) for any such person(s)) be deemed to agree, represent and warrant to each of the Company
and Canaccord Genuity that:

FIRST PLACING4.

4.1 First Placing Shares

The issue of the First Placing Shares is not conditional upon the issue of the Second Placing
Shares. However, it is conditional, inter alia, on:

(a) the performance by the Company, the Directors and the Proposed Directors of their
obligations under the Placing Agreement in so far as the same fall to be performed prior to
5.00 p.m. on the Business Day immediately prior to Admission;

(b) the Placing Agreement having been entered into and it having not been terminated prior to
the issue of the First Placing Shares;

(c) Admission occurring no later than 8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022; and

(d) the satisfaction or, where appropriate, the waiver of all other conditions set out in the Placing
Agreement relating to the issue of the First Placing Shares.

4.2 EIS and VCT Schemes

(a) The Company has received advanced assurance from HMRC to the effect that, subject to
receipt of a satisfactory compliance statement from the Company, the First Placing Shares
are capable of satisfying the requirements for EIS Relief. The Company expects the First
Placing Shares to be capable of constituting a qualifying holding for VCT purposes.

(b) The status of the First Placing Shares as a qualifying holding for VCT purposes will be
conditional (amongst other things) on the qualifying conditions being satisfied throughout
the period of ownership. The status of the First Placing Shares as qualifying for EIS
Relief will be conditional (amongst other things) on the qualifying conditions being satisfied,
both by the Company and (as regards those conditions to be met by the investor) the
investor throughout a period of at least three years from the date of issue. There can
be no assurance that the Company will conduct its activities in a way that will secure or
retain qualifying status for VCT and/or EIS purposes (and indeed circumstances may arise
where the directors of the Company believe that the interests of the Company are not
served by seeking to retain such status). Further, the conditions for a qualifying holding
for the purposes of VCT Relief and EIS Relief are complex and relevant investors are
recommended to seek their own professional advice before investing.

(c) The issue of the First Placing Shares is not conditional upon Admission or on the issue of
any Second Placing Shares.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES5.

5.1 it has read this Document in its entirety and it is relying solely on this Document (and any
supplementary admission document published by the Company subsequent to the date of this
Document) and not on any other information given, or representation or statement made at any
time, by any person concerning the Company, Admission, the Placing Shares or the Placing. It
acknowledges that its participation in the Placing shall be made solely on the terms and conditions
set out in these Terms and Conditions, the Placing Agreement and the Articles. It agrees that
these Terms and Conditions and the contract note issued by Canaccord Genuity to such Placee
represent the whole and only agreement between the Placee, Canaccord Genuity, and the
Company in relation to the Placee's participation in the Placing and supersedes any previous
agreement between any such parties in relation to such participation. It agrees that none of the
Company, Canaccord Genuity, nor any of their respective directors, officers, partners, agents,
consultants, advisers, affiliates, representatives or employees (each an "affiliate"), will have any
liability for any other information or representation. It irrevocably and unconditionally waives any
rights it may have in respect of any other information or representation. This paragraph 5.1 shall
not exclude any liability for fraudulent misrepresentation;
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5.2 it has not received a prospectus or other offering document in connection with the Placing and
acknowledges that no prospectus or other offering document:

(a) is required under the Prospectus Regulation or the UK Prospectus Regulation; and

(b) has been or will be prepared in connection with the Placing or the Placing Shares;

5.3 represents and warrants that it has neither received nor relied on any 'inside information' as
defined in MAR concerning the Company in accepting this invitation to participate in the Placing;

5.4 it has the funds available to pay the Placing Price in respect of the Placing Shares for which it
has given a commitment under the Placing and it acknowledges, agrees and undertakes that it
will make payment to Canaccord Genuity for the total amount due by it for the Placing Shares
allocated to it in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of this Part VIII on the due times
and dates set out in this Part VIII or the relevant contract note, failing which the relevant Placing
Shares may be placed with others on such terms as Canaccord Genuity may, in its absolute
discretion determine without liability to the Placee and it will remain liable for any shortfall below
the net proceeds of such sale and the placing proceeds of such Placing Shares and may be
required to bear any stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax (together with any interest or penalties
due pursuant to the terms set out or referred to in this Part VIII) which may arise upon the sale of
such Placee's Placing Shares on its behalf;

5.5 the contents of this Document (and any supplementary admission document published by the
Company subsequent to the date of this Document) have been prepared by and are exclusively
the responsibility of the Company and its Directors and apart from the responsibilities and
liabilities, if any, which may be imposed on Canaccord Genuity by the FSMA or the regulatory
regime established thereunder, or under the regulatory regime of any jurisdiction where the
exclusion of liability under the relevant regulatory regime would be illegal, void or unenforceable,
neither Canaccord Genuity nor any person acting on its behalf nor any of their respective affiliates
accept any responsibility whatsoever for and makes no representation or warranty, express or
implied, as to the accuracy, completeness or adequacy of the contents of this Document (or any
supplementary admission document published by the Company subsequent to the date of this
Document) or for any other statement made or purported to be made by it, or on its behalf, in
connection with the Company, the Placing Shares or the Placing and nothing in this Document
(and any supplementary admission document published by the Company subsequent to the date
of this Document) will be relied upon as a promise or representation in this respect, whether
or not to the past or future. Canaccord Genuity accordingly disclaims all and any responsibility
or liability, whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise (save as referred to above), which it
might otherwise have in respect of this Document (or any supplementary admission document
published by the Company subsequent to the date of this Document) or any such statement,
provided this paragraph 5.5 shall not exclude any liability for fraudulent misrepresentation of that
person;

5.6 it and/or each person on whose behalf it is participating:

(a) is entitled to acquire Placing Shares pursuant to the Placing under the laws and
regulations of all relevant jurisdictions which apply to it;

(b) has fully observed such laws and regulations;

(c) has capacity and authority and is entitled to enter into and perform its obligations to commit
to its participation in the Placing and as an acquirer of Placing Shares and will honour such
obligations; and

(d) has obtained all necessary consents and authorities (including, without limitation, in the
case of a person acting on behalf of a Placee, all necessary consents and authorities to
agree to the terms set out or referred to in this Part VIII) under those laws or otherwise
and complied with all necessary formalities to enable it to enter into the transactions
contemplated hereby and to perform its obligations in relation thereto and, in particular, if
it is a pension fund or investment company it is aware of and acknowledges it is required
to comply with all applicable laws and regulations with respect to its acquisition of Placing
Shares.

5.7 if the laws of any territory or jurisdiction outside the United Kingdom are applicable to its
agreement to acquire Placing Shares under the Placing, it has complied with all such laws,
obtained all governmental and other consents which may be required, complied with all requisite
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formalities and paid any issue, transfer or other taxes due in connection with its offer commitment
in any territory and that it has not taken any action or omitted to take any action which will result
in the Company, Canaccord Genuity, or any of their respective affiliates acting in breach of the
regulatory or legal requirements, directly or indirectly, of any territory or jurisdiction outside the
United Kingdom in connection with the Placing;

5.8 it does not have a registered address in and is not a citizen, resident or national of, any jurisdiction
in which it is unlawful to make or accept an offer of the Placing Shares and it is not acting on a
non-discretionary basis for any such person;

5.9 it has made its own assessment of the Company, the Placing Shares and the terms of the Placing
and has relied on its own investigation of the business, financial or other position of the Company
in accepting a participation in the Placing. It has not relied on (a) any investigation that Canaccord
Genuity or any person acting on Canaccord Genuity’s behalf may have conducted with respect to
the Company, the Placing or the Placing Shares; or (b) any other information given or any other
representations, statements or warranties made at any time by any person in connection with
Admission, the Company, the Placing, the Placing Shares or otherwise;

5.10 it agrees that, having had the opportunity to read this Document, it shall be deemed to have
had notice of all information and representations contained in this Document, that it is acquiring
Placing Shares solely on the basis of this Document (and any supplementary admission
document published by the Company subsequent to the date of this Document) and no other
information and that in accepting a participation in the Placing it has had access to all information
it believes necessary or appropriate in connection with its decision to acquire Placing Shares;

5.11 it acknowledges that no person is authorised in connection with the Placing to give any
information or make any representation other than as contained in this Document (and any
supplementary admission document published by the Company subsequent to the date of this
Document) and if given or made, any information or representation must not be relied upon as
having been authorised by Canaccord Genuity or the Company;

5.12 it accepts that none of the Placing Shares have been or will be registered under the laws of any
Restricted Jurisdiction or any other jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make or accept an offer
to acquire the Placing Shares. Accordingly, the Placing Shares may not be offered, sold, issued
or delivered, directly or indirectly, within any Restricted Jurisdiction or any other such jurisdiction
unless an exemption from any registration requirement is available;

5.13 if it is receiving the details of the Placing in circumstances under which the laws or regulations of
a jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom would apply, that it is a person to whom the Placing
Shares may be lawfully offered under that other jurisdiction's laws and regulations;

5.14 it is a Relevant Person and undertakes that it will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of any Placing
Shares that are allocated to it for the purposes of its business;

5.15 if it is outside the United Kingdom, neither this Document nor any other offering, marketing or
other material in connection with the Placing constitutes an invitation, offer or promotion to, or
arrangement with, it or any person whom it is procuring to acquire Placing Shares pursuant to
the Placing unless, in the relevant territory, such offer, invitation or other course of conduct could
lawfully be made to it or such person and such documents or materials could lawfully be provided
to it or such person and Placing Shares could lawfully be distributed to and acquired by and
held by it or such person without compliance with any unfulfilled approval, registration or other
regulatory or legal requirements;

5.16 it acknowledges that neither Canaccord Genuity nor any of its affiliates nor any person acting
on its behalf is making any recommendations to it, advising it regarding the suitability of any
transactions it may enter into in connection with the Placing or providing any advice in relation
to the Placing and that participation in the Placing is on the basis that it is not and will not be
a client of Canaccord Genuity or any of its affiliates, that Canaccord Genuity is acting for the
Company and no-one else and that none of Canaccord Genuity nor any of its affiliates have any
duties or responsibilities to it for providing protections afforded to its or their respective clients or
for providing advice in relation to the Placing nor in respect of any representations, warranties,
undertaking or indemnities contained in these Terms and Conditions or in any Investor Letter,
where relevant;

5.17 it acknowledges that it is not located within the United States, it is acquiring Placing Shares in

188



an "offshore transaction" as defined in Regulation S promulgated under the US Securities Act
("Regulation S") and where it is acquiring Placing Shares for one or more managed, discretionary
or advisory accounts, it is authorised in writing for each such account:

(a) to acquire the Placing Shares for each such account;

(b) to make on each such account's behalf the representations, warranties and agreements
set out in this Document, where relevant; and

(c) to receive on behalf of each such account any documentation relating to the Placing in the
form provided by the Company and/or Canaccord Genuity,

It agrees that the provisions of this paragraph shall survive any resale of the Placing
Shares by or on behalf of any such account;

5.18 it is acting as principal only in respect of the Placing or if it is acting for any other person:

(a) it is and will remain liable to the Company and/or Canaccord Genuity for the performance
of all its obligations as a Placee in respect of the Placing (regardless of the fact that it is
acting for another person);

(b) it is duly authorised to do so and has full power to make the acknowledgments,
representations and agreements herein on behalf of each such person;

(c) it is both an "authorised person" for the purposes of the FSMA and a Qualified Investor
acting as agent for such person; and

(d) such person is either:

(i) a Qualified Investor; or

(ii) its "client" (as defined in section 86(2) of the FSMA) that has engaged it to act as
his agent on terms which enable it to make decisions concerning the Placing or any
other offers of transferable securities on his behalf without reference to him;

5.19 it confirms that any of its clients, whether or not identified to Canaccord Genuity or any of its
affiliates, will remain its sole responsibility and will not become clients of Canaccord Genuity or
any of its affiliates for the purposes of the rules of the FCA or for the purposes of any other
statutory or regulatory provision;

5.20 where it or any person acting on its behalf is dealing with Canaccord Genuity, any money held in
an account with Canaccord Genuity on its behalf and/or any person acting on its behalf will not be
treated as client money within the meaning of the relevant rules and regulations of the FCA which
therefore will not require Canaccord Genuity to segregate such money as that money will be held
by Canaccord Genuity under a banking relationship and not as trustee;

5.21 it has not and will not offer or sell any Placing Shares to persons in the United Kingdom or in the
EEA, except to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or
disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their business or otherwise
in circumstances which have not resulted and which will not result in an offer to the public in the
United Kingdom within the meaning of section 102B of the FSMA or an offer to the public in any
member state of the EEA within the meaning of the EU Prospectus Regulation;

5.22 it is an "eligible counterparty" or a "professional investor" within the meaning of Chapter 3
of the FCA's Conduct of Business Sourcebook and it is subscribing for or purchasing the Placing
Shares for investment only and not for resale or distribution;

5.23 it irrevocably appoints any Director and any director of Canaccord Genuity to be its agent and on
its behalf (without any obligation or duty to do so), to sign, execute and deliver any documents
and do all acts, matters and things as may be necessary for, or incidental to, its acquisition of all
or any of the Placing Shares for which it has given a commitment under the Placing, in the event
of its own failure to do so;

5.24 it accepts that if the Placing does not proceed or the conditions to Canaccord Genuity's
obligations in respect of the Placing Shares under the Placing Agreement are not satisfied or the
Placing Agreement is terminated prior to Admission for any reason whatsoever or such Placing
Shares are not admitted to trading on AIM for any reason whatsoever, then neither Canaccord
Genuity nor the Company nor any of their respective affiliates, nor persons controlling, controlled
by or under common control with any of them nor any of their respective employees, agents,
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officers, members, stockholders, partners or representatives, shall have any liability whatsoever
to it or any other person;

5.25 it has not taken any action or omitted to take any action which will or may result in Canaccord
Genuity, the Company or any of their respective affiliates being in breach of the legal or regulatory
requirements of any territory in connection with the Placing or its acquisition of Placing Shares
pursuant to the Placing;

5.26 in connection with its participation in the Placing, it has observed all relevant legislation and
regulations, in particular (but without limitation) those relating to money laundering and countering
terrorist financing including under the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, the Terrorism Act 2000,
the Terrorism Act 2006 and the Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds
(Information on the Payer) Regulations 2017 and that its offer commitment is only made on the
basis that it accepts full responsibility for any requirement to identify and verify the identity of its
clients and other persons in respect of whom it has applied. In addition, it warrants that it is a
person:

(a) subject to the Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information
on the Payer) Regulations 2017 (as amended) in force in the United Kingdom; or

(b) subject to the Money Laundering Directive (2005/60/EC of the European Parliament and
of the EC Council of 26 October 2005 on the prevention of the use of the financial
system for the purpose of money laundering and terrorist financing) ("Money Laundering
Directive"); or

(c) acting in the course of a business in relation to which an overseas regulatory authority
exercises regulatory functions and is based or incorporated in, or formed under the law of,
a country in which there are in force provisions at least equivalent to those required by the
Money Laundering Directive;

5.27 due to anti-money laundering and the countering of terrorist financing requirements, Canaccord
Genuity and/or the Company may require proof of identity of the Placee and related parties
and verification of the source of the payment before the placing commitment can be processed
and that, in the event of delay or failure by the Placee to produce any information required for
verification purposes Canaccord Genuity and/or the Company may refuse to accept the placing
commitment and the subscription and/or purchase moneys relating thereto. It holds harmless and
will indemnify Canaccord Genuity and/or the Company against any liability, loss or cost ensuing
due to the failure to process the placing commitment, if such information as has been required
has not been provided by it or has not been provided on a timely basis;

5.28 it has complied and it will comply with all applicable laws with respect to anything done by it or
on its behalf in relation to the Placing Shares, including all relevant provisions of the FSMA, MAR
and UK MAR in respect of anything done in, from or otherwise involving the EEA or the United
Kingdom (as applicable);

5.29 it is aware of the obligations regarding insider dealing in the Criminal Justice Act 1993, UK MAR,
and the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 and confirms that it has and will continue to comply with
those obligations;

5.30 as far as it is aware it is not acting in concert (within the meaning given in the Takeover Code)
with any other person in relation to the Company and it is not a related party of the Company for
the purposes of the AIM Rules for Companies;

5.31 it has only communicated, or caused to be communicated, and it will only communicate, or cause
to be communicated, any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the
meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) relating to the Placing Shares in circumstances in which
section 21(1) of the FSMA does not require approval of the communication by an authorised
person;

5.32 the allocation, allotment, issue, transfer and delivery to it, or the person specified by it for
registration as holder, of Placing Shares will not give rise to a stamp duty or stamp duty reserve
tax liability under (or at a rate determined under) any of sections 67, 70, 93 or 96 of the Finance
Act 1986 (depository receipts and clearance services); that the Placing Shares are not being
acquired in connection with arrangements to issue depositary receipts or to transfer Placing
Shares into a clearance system; that no instrument under which it subscribes for or agrees to
acquire Placing Shares (whether as principal, agent or nominee) would be subject to stamp duty
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Each Placee irrevocably agrees, on its own behalf and on behalf of any person on whose behalf it is acting,
to indemnify and hold the Company and Canaccord Genuity and their respective affiliates harmless from
any and all costs, claims, liabilities and expenses (including legal fees and expenses) arising out of any
breach by it or any person on whose behalf it is acting of the representations, warranties, undertakings,
agreements and acknowledgements in these Terms and Conditions and further agrees that the provisions
of this Part VIII shall survive after the completion of the Placing.

If Canaccord Genuity or the Company or any of their agents request any information in connection with a
Placee's agreement to acquire Placing Shares under the Placing or to comply with any relevant legislation,
such Placee must promptly disclose it to them.

or stamp duty reserve tax at the increased rates referred to in those sections; and that it, or the
person specified by it for registration as holder of the Placing Shares, is not participating in the
Placing as nominee or agent for any person or persons to whom the allocation, allotment, issue,
transfer or delivery of Placing Shares would give rise to such a liability;

5.33 Canaccord Genuity is entitled to exercise any of its rights under the Placing Agreement or any
other right in its absolute discretion, including the right to terminate the Placing Agreement,
without any liability whatsoever to it (or any agent acting on their behalf) and Canaccord Genuity
shall not have any obligation to consult or notify Placees in relation to any right or discretion given
to it or which it is entitled to exercise;

5.34 any document that is to be sent to it in connection with the Placing Shares will be sent at its risk
and may be sent to it at any address provided by it to Canaccord Genuity and/or the Company;

5.35 Canaccord Genuity expressly reserves the right to determine, at any time prior to Admission, not
to proceed with the placing of the Placing Shares. If such right is exercised, the Placing (and the
arrangements associated with it) will lapse and any monies received from the Placees in respect
of the Placing will be returned to Placees without interest (other than in circumstances where the
First Placing Shares have already been issued);

5.36 the representations, undertakings and warranties given by a Placee as contained in there Terms
and Conditions are irrevocable. It acknowledges that Canaccord Genuity, the Company and their
respective affiliates will rely upon the truth and accuracy of such representations, undertakings
and warranties and it agrees that if any of the representations, undertakings or warranties made
or deemed to have been made by its application for Placing Shares are no longer accurate, it
shall promptly notify Canaccord Genuity and the Company;

5.37 it confirms that it is not and at Admission will not be, an affiliate of the Company or a person acting
on behalf of such affiliate and it is not acquiring Placing Shares for the account or benefit of an
affiliate of the Company or of a person acting on behalf of such an affiliate;

5.38 nothing has been done or will be done by it in relation to the Placing that has resulted or could
result in any person being required to publish a prospectus in relation to the Company or to any
Ordinary Shares in accordance with FSMA or the UK Prospectus Regulation or in accordance
with any other laws applicable in the United Kingdom and/or any part of the European Union or
the European Economic Area;

5.39 it will (or will procure that its nominee will) if applicable, make notification to the Company of
the interest in its Ordinary Shares in accordance with Rule 5 of the Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules as they apply to the Company pursuant to the Articles;

5.40 it accepts that the allocation of Placing Shares shall be determined by Canaccord Genuity
following consultation with the Company and that Canaccord Genuity may scale down any placing
commitments on such basis as it may determine; and

5.41 time shall be of the essence as regards its obligations to settle payment for the Placing Shares
and to comply with its other obligations under the Placing.

INDEMNITY6.

SUPPLY AND DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION7.

MISCELLANEOUS8.

8.1 The rights and remedies of the Company and Canaccord Genuity under these Terms and
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Each acquirer of the Placing Shares offered in reliance on Regulation S will be deemed to represent,
warrant and agree as follows:

Conditions are in addition to any rights and remedies which would otherwise be available to each
of them and the exercise or partial exercise of one will not prevent the exercise of others.

8.2 On the acceptance of its placing commitment, if a Placee is a discretionary fund manager, that
Placee may be asked to disclose in writing or orally the jurisdiction in which its funds are managed
or owned and if a Placee is an individual, that may be asked to disclose their nationality. All
documents provided in connection with the Placing will be sent at the Placee's risk. They may be
returned by post to such Placee at the address notified by such Placee.

8.3 Each Placee agrees to be bound by the Articles (as amended from time to time) once the Placing
Shares, which the Placee has agreed to acquire pursuant to the Placing, have been acquired by
the Placee. The contract to acquire Placing Shares under the Placing and the appointments and
authorities mentioned in this Document will be governed by and construed in accordance with, the
laws of England and Wales. For the exclusive benefit of the Company and Canaccord Genuity,
each Placee irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales and waives
any objection to proceedings in any such court on the ground of venue or on the ground that
proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum. This does not prevent an action being
taken against a Placee in any other jurisdiction.

8.4 In the case of a joint agreement to acquire Placing Shares under the Placing, references to a
"Placee" in these terms and conditions are to each of the Placees who are a party to that joint
agreement and their liability is joint and several.

8.5 Canaccord Genuity and the Company expressly reserve the right to modify the Placing (including,
without limitation, its timetable and settlement) but not the Subscription at any time before
allocations are determined including the right of Canaccord Genuity to notify to the Company the
extension for the dates and times for satisfaction of any or all of the conditions in the Placing
Agreement (provided that such conditions are not extended beyond 8.00 a.m. on 12 April 2022).

8.6 The Placing but not the Subscription is subject to the satisfaction of the relevant conditions
contained in the Placing Agreement and the Placing Agreement not having been terminated in
accordance with its terms. For further details of the terms of the Placing Agreement please refer to
paragraph 15.1.3 of Part VII of this document.

8.7 Canaccord Genuity may, and its affiliates acting as an investor for its or their own account(s)
may, acquire Placing Shares and in that capacity may retain, purchase, offer to sell or otherwise
deal for its or their own account(s) in the Placing Shares, any other securities of the Company
or other related investments in connection with the Placing or otherwise. Accordingly, references
in these Terms and Conditions to the Placing Shares being offered, subscribed, sold, acquired or
otherwise dealt with should be read as including any offer to, or subscription, acquisition or dealing
by, Canaccord Genuity and/or any of their respective affiliates acting as a Placee for its or their own
account(s). Neither Canaccord Genuity nor the Company intend to disclose the extent of any such
investment or transaction otherwise than in accordance with any legal or regulatory obligation to
do so.

8.8 Each Placee which acquires Placing Shares will be deemed to undertake that it agrees that it is
liable, and will indemnify each of the Company, Canaccord Genuity and their respective affiliates,
for any capital duty, stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax and all other stamp, issue, securities,
transfer registration, documentary or other duties or taxes (including any interest, fines or penalties
relating thereto) payable outside the United Kingdom by such Placee or any other person on the
acquisition by such Placee of any Placing Shares or the agreement by such Placee to acquire any
Placing Shares.

SALES OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES9.

9.1 it and any person, if any, for whose account it is acquiring the Placing Shares, is acquiring the
Placing Shares outside the United States in an offshore transaction meeting the requirements of
Regulation S and the transaction was not pre-arranged with a buyer known to be located in the
United States or to be a US Person;

9.2 it is not in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make or accept an offer to acquire the Placing
Shares;
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9.3 it understands, and each account it represents has been advised that the Placing Shares have not
been and will not be registered under the US Securities Act or under the securities laws of any
state or other jurisdiction of the United States, and consequently the Placing Shares may not be
reoffered, resold, pledged or otherwise transferred except pursuant to an exemption from or in a
transaction not subject to the registration requirements of the US Securities Act;

9.4 it is not acquiring the Placing Shares with a view to the offer, sale, resale, transfer, delivery
or distribution, directly or indirectly, of any such Placing Shares into the United States or any
jurisdiction referred to above;

9.5 it will not reoffer, resell, pledge or otherwise transfer the Placing Shares except (a) outside the
United States in an “offshore transaction” complying with the provisions of Regulation S under the
US Securities Act to a person outside the United States and not known by the transferor to be a
US Person or acting for the account or benefit of a US Person, by pre-arrangement or otherwise;
or (b) to the Company or a subsidiary thereof;

9.6 it has received, carefully read and understands this Document and has not distributed, forwarded,
transferred or otherwise transmitted this Document or any other presentation or offering materials
concerning the Placing Shares to any persons within the United States, nor will it do any of the
foregoing; and

9.7 that the Company and Canaccord Genuity, their affiliates and others, will rely upon the truth
and accuracy of the foregoing representations, warranties, confirmations, acknowledgements,
agreements and undertakings.

SELLING RESTRICTIONS10.

10.1 The distribution of this Document and the offer of Placing Shares pursuant to the Placing in certain
jurisdictions may be restricted by law and therefore persons into whose possession this Document
comes should inform themselves about and observe any restrictions, including those set out in
the paragraphs that follow. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation
of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

10.2 The Placing Shares may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Document
nor any other offering material or advertisement in connection with the Placing Shares may be
distributed or published in or from any country or jurisdiction except under circumstances that
will result in compliance with any and all applicable rules and regulations of any such country
or jurisdiction. Persons into whose possession this Document comes should inform themselves
about and observe any restrictions on the distribution of this Document and the offer of the
Placing Shares pursuant to the Placing contained in this Document. Any failure to comply with
these restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. This
Document does not constitute an offer to subscribe for or acquire any of the Placing Shares
offered hereby to any person in any jurisdiction to whom it is unlawful to make such offer of
solicitation in such jurisdiction.

10.3 Relevant States

(a) In relation to each Relevant State, no Placing Shares have been offered or will be offered
pursuant to the Placing to the public in that Relevant State, except that an offer to the
public in that Relevant State of any Placing Shares may be made at any time under the
following exemptions under the Prospectus Regulation:

(i) to any legal entity which is a Qualified Investor;

(ii) to fewer than 150, natural or legal persons (other than Qualified Investors) per
Relevant State, subject to obtaining the prior consent of Canaccord Genuity for
any such offer; or

(iii) in any other circumstances falling within Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation,

provided that no such offer of Placing Shares shall result in a requirement for the
Company or Canaccord Genuity to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of
the Prospectus Regulation or a supplemental prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of
the Prospectus Regulation.

(b) For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any
Placing Shares in any Relevant State means the communication in any form and by any
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means of sufficient information on the terms of the Placing and any Placing Shares so as
to enable a Placee to decide to acquire any Placing Shares.

(c) Each Placee irrevocably represents, warrants, undertakes, agrees and acknowledges
(amongst other things) that:

(i) in the case of any Placing Shares acquired by it within the United Kingdom as a
financial intermediary, as that term is used in Article 5(1) of the UK Prospectus
Regulation:

(A) the Placing Shares acquired by it in the Placing have not been acquired on
behalf of, nor have they been acquired with a view to their offer or resale to,
persons in the United Kingdom or to which the UK Prospectus Regulation
otherwise applies other than UK Qualified Investors or in circumstances in
which the prior consent of Canaccord Genuity has been given to the offer
or resale; or

(B) where Placing Shares have been acquired by it on behalf of persons in
the United Kingdom other than UK Qualified Investors, the offer of those
Placing Shares to it is not treated under the UK Prospectus Regulation as
having been made to such persons; and

(ii) in the case of any Placing Shares acquired by it within the EEA as a financial
intermediary, as that term is used in Article 5(1) of the EU Prospectus Regulation:

(A) the Placing Shares acquired by it in the Placing have not been acquired
on behalf of, nor have they been acquired with a view to their offer or
resale to, persons in any member state of the EEA or to which the EU
Prospectus Regulation otherwise applies other than EU Qualified Investors
or in circumstances in which the prior consent of Canaccord Genuity has
been given to the offer or resale; or

(B) where Placing Shares have been acquired by it on behalf of persons in
any member state of the EEA other than EU Qualified Investors, the offer
of those Placing Shares to it is not treated under the EU Prospectus
Regulation as having been made to such persons.

(d) The Company, Canaccord Genuity and their respective affiliates and others will rely upon
the truth and accuracy of the foregoing representation, warranty, acknowledgement and
agreement. Notwithstanding the above, a person who is not a Qualified Investor and who
has notified Canaccord Genuity of such fact in writing may, with the consent of
Canaccord Genuity, be permitted to acquire Ordinary Shares in the Placing.

10.4 United States of America

The Ordinary Shares have not been and will not be registered under the US Securities Act or
under the applicable securities laws or regulations of any state or other jurisdiction of the United
States and may not be offered, sold, resold, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or
into the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to,
the registration requirements of the US Securities Act and in compliance with any applicable
securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States. There will be no public offer
of the Ordinary Shares in the United States.

10.5 Australia

(a) This Document has not been and will not be lodged with the Australian Securities and
Investments Commission or the Australian Stock Exchange and is not a disclosure
document for purposes of Australian law. This Document (whether in preliminary or
definitive form) may not be issued or distributed in Australia and no offer or invitation may
be made in relation to the issue, sale or purchase of any Ordinary Shares in Australia
(including an offer or invitation received by a person in Australia) and no shares may be
sold in Australia, unless the offer or invitation does not need disclosure to investors under
Part 6D.2 of the Corporations Act 2001.

(b) Each acquirer of Ordinary Shares will be deemed to have acknowledged the above
and, by applying for Ordinary Shares under this Document, gives an undertaking to
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the Company not to offer, sell, transfer, assign or otherwise alienate those securities to
persons in Australia (except in the circumstances referred to above) for 12 months after
their issue.

10.6 Canada

The relevant clearances have not been and will not be, obtained from the Securities Commission
of any province of territory of Canada. Accordingly, subject to certain exceptions the Ordinary
Shares may not, directly or indirectly, be offered or sold within Canada, or offered or sold to a
resident of Canada.

10.7 Republic of South Africa

The relevant clearances have not been and will not be, obtained from the South African Reserve
Bank nor any other applicable body in the Republic of South Africa. Accordingly, the Placing
Shares will not, directly or indirectly, be offered or sold within the Republic of South Africa.

10.8 Japan

The Placing Shares have not been and will not be registered under the Securities and Exchange
Law of Japan and may not be offered or sold directly or indirectly in Japan except under
circumstances that result in compliance of all applicable laws, regulations and guidelines
promulgated by the relevant governmental and regulatory authority in effect at the relevant time.

10.9 Hong Kong

This Document has not been approved by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited or
registered by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong. No person may offer or sell in Hong
Kong, by means of this or any document, any Ordinary Shares other than:

(a) to "professional investors" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) ("SFO") and any rules made under the SFO; or

(b) in other circumstances which do not result in such document being a "prospectus" as
defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter
32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) ("CWUMPO") or which do not constitute an offer to the
public or an invitation to the public to subscribe for the Ordinary Shares within the meaning
of the CWUMPO. No person may issue or have in its possession for the purposes of
issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document
relating to the Ordinary Shares which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to
be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong, other than with respect to the Ordinary
Shares which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or
only to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO,
or as may otherwise be permitted under the laws of Hong Kong.

ALLOCATION11.

11.1 Canaccord Genuity has solicited indications of interest from prospective Placees to acquire in
the Placing the Placing Shares that are not Subscription Shares. On this basis, prospective
Placees have been asked to specify the number of Placing Shares that they are prepared to
acquire at different prices. Multiple applications under the Placing are permitted.

11.2 A number of factors have been considered in deciding the Placing Price and the bases of
allocation, including prevailing market conditions, the level and the nature of the demand
for Ordinary Shares and the objective of encouraging long-term ownership of the Ordinary
Shares. The Placing Price has been established at a level determined in accordance with
these arrangements, taking into account indications of interest received from persons (including
market-makers and fund managers) connected with Canaccord Genuity. Accordingly, the Placing
Price may be lower than the highest price at which all of the Ordinary Shares, in respect of which
indications of interest have been received or which are available for subscription or sale in the
Placing, could have been accepted.

11.3 Placees will be advised verbally or by electronic mail of their allocation as soon as practicable
following allocation.

11.4 Placees will be contractually committed to acquire the number of Placing Shares allocated to
them at the Placing Price and to the fullest extent permitted by law, will be deemed to have

195



agreed not to exercise any rights to rescind or terminate, or otherwise withdraw from, such
commitment. Dealing with the Placing Shares may not begin before notification is made.

11.5 All Ordinary Shares to be issued or sold pursuant to the Placing will be issued or sold, payable
in full, at the Placing Price.

11.6 The rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares are uniform in all respects and they form a single
class for all purposes.

11.7 Each Ordinary Share ranks equally in all respects with each other Ordinary Share and has the
same rights (including voting and dividend rights and rights to a return of capital) and restrictions
as each other Ordinary Share, as set out in the Articles.

11.8 Subject to the provisions of the Articles, any equity securities issued by the Company for cash
must first be offered to Shareholders in proportion to their holdings of Ordinary Shares. The
Articles allows for the disapplication of pre-emption rights which may be waived by special
resolution of the Shareholders, either generally or specifically, for a maximum period not
exceeding five years.

11.9 Except in relation to dividends which have been declared and rights on a liquidation of the
Company, the Shareholders have no rights to share in the profit of the Company.

11.10 The Ordinary Shares are not redeemable. However, the Company may purchase or contract to
purchase any of the Ordinary Shares.

11.11 Further details of the rights attached to the Ordinary Shares are set out in paragraph 5 of Part
VII of this Document.

DEALING ARRANGEMENTS12.

12.1 The Placing (but not the Subscription) is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions contained
in the Placing Agreement, which are typical for an agreement of this nature, including, in the
case of the Placing, Admission occurring and becoming effective by 8.00 a.m. on 28 March
2022 or such later date as may be determined in accordance with such agreement, and the
Placing Agreement not having been terminated in accordance with its terms. Certain conditions
are related to events which are outside the control of the Company, the Directors, the Proposed
Directors and Canaccord Genuity. Further details of the Placing Agreement are described in
paragraph 15.1.3 of Part VII of this Document.

12.2 Application will be made to the London Stock Exchange for all of the Ordinary Shares, issued and
to be issued, to be admitted to trading on AIM. Admission of the Ordinary Shares is not being
sought on any market other than AIM.

12.3 It is expected that Admission will take place and dealings in the Ordinary Shares will commence
on AIM at 8.00 a.m. on 28 March 2022.

12.4 Each Placee will be required to undertake to pay the Placing Price for the Ordinary Shares
acquired by such Placee in such manner as shall be directed by Canaccord Genuity.

12.5 The Ordinary Shares are in registered form and can be held in certificated or uncertificated form.
Title to certificated Ordinary Shares (if any) will be evidenced in the register of members of the
Company and title to uncertificated Ordinary Shares will be evidenced by entry into the operator
register maintained by the Registrars (which will form part of the register of members of the
Company).

12.6 It is intended that allocations of Placing Shares to Placees who wish to hold Placing Shares in
uncertificated form will take place through CREST. It is intended that, where applicable, definitive
share certificates in respect of the Placing Shares will be posted by first class post as soon as
is practicable following Admission. Dealings in advance of the crediting of the relevant CREST
stock account shall be at the risk of the person concerned. Prior to the despatch of definitive share
certificates in respect of any Placing Shares which are not settled in CREST, transfers of those
Placing Shares will be certified against the register of members of the Company. No temporary
documents of title will be issued.

CREST13.

13.1 The Articles permit the holding of Ordinary Shares under the CREST system. CREST is a
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paperless settlement system allowing securities to be transferred from one person's CREST
account to another's without the need to use share certificates or written instruments of transfer.
The Company has applied for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to CREST with effect from
completion of the First Placing. Accordingly, settlement of transactions in the Ordinary Shares
following that time may take place within the CREST system if any Shareholder so wishes.
CREST is a voluntary system and holders of Ordinary Shares who wish to receive and retain
share certificates will be able to do so.

13.2 Each Placee allocated Placing Shares in the Placing will be sent a trade confirmation stating
the number of Placing Shares allocated to it, the Placing Price, the aggregate amount owed by
each Placee to Canaccord Genuity and settlement instructions. Placees should settle against
CREST ID: 805. Each Placee agrees that it will do all things necessary to ensure that delivery and
payment is completed in accordance with either the standing CREST or certificated settlement
instructions which it has in place with Canaccord Genuity.

PLACING ARRANGEMENTS14.

14.1 The Company, the Directors, the Proposed Directors and Canaccord Genuity have entered into
the Placing Agreement, pursuant to which Canaccord Genuity has agreed, subject to certain
conditions, to use its reasonable endeavours to procure subscribers for the Placing Shares but
not the Subscription Shares at the Placing Price.

14.2 The Placing Agreement contains provisions entitling Canaccord Genuity to terminate the Placing
but not the Subscription at any time prior to Admission in certain circumstances. If this right
is exercised, the Placing and these arrangements but not the Subscription will lapse and any
monies received in respect of the Placing will be returned to Placees without interest (other
than in circumstances where the First Placing Shares have already been issued). The Placing
Agreement provides for Canaccord Genuity to be paid a commission in respect of the Placing
Shares acquired by Placees. Any commission received by Canaccord Genuity may be retained
and any Placing Shares acquired by them may be retained or dealt in, by it, for its own benefit.

14.3 Further details of the terms of the Placing Agreement are set out in paragraph 15.1.3 of Part VII
of this Document.

MiFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE REQUIREMENTS15.

15.1 Solely for the purposes of the product governance requirements contained within:

(a) the UK's implementation of EU Directive 2014/65/EU on markets in financial instruments,
as amended ("UKMiFID II"); and

(b) the UK's implementation of Articles 9 and 10 of Commission Delegated Directive (EU)
2017/593 supplementing UKMiFID II, and in particular Chapter 3 of the Product
Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook of the FCA (together, the "MiFID
ll Product Governance Requirements") and disclaiming all and any liability, whether
arising in tort, contract or otherwise, which any "manufacturer" (for the purposes of the
MiFID II Product Governance Requirements) may otherwise have with respect thereto, the
Placing Shares have been subject to a product approval process, which has determined
that the Placing Shares are:

(i) compatible with an end target market of:

(A) retail investors; and

(B) eligible for distribution through all distribution channels as are permitted by
UKMiFID II ("Target Market Assessment");

(c) notwithstanding the Target Market Assessment, distributors (such term to have the same
meaning as in the MiFID II Product Governance Requirements) should note that:

(i) the price of the Placing Shares may decline and investors could lose all or part of
their investment;

(ii) the Placing Shares offer no guaranteed income and no capital protection; and

(iii) an investment in the Placing Shares is compatible only with investors who do not
need a guaranteed income or capital protection, who (either alone or in conjunction
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with an appropriate financial or other adviser) are capable of evaluating the merits
and risks of such an investment and who have sufficient resources to be able
to bear any losses that may result therefrom. The Target Market Assessment is
without prejudice to the requirements of any contractual, legal or regulatory selling
restrictions in relation to the Placing. Furthermore, it is noted that, notwithstanding
the Target Market Assessment, Canaccord Genuity will only procure investors
(pursuant to the Placing) who meet the criteria of professional clients and eligible
counterparties.

15.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the Target Market Assessment does not constitute:

(a) an assessment of suitability or appropriateness for the purposes of UKMiFID II; or

(b) a recommendation to any investor or group of investors to invest in, or purchase, or take
any other action whatsoever with respect to the Placing Shares.

15.3 Each distributor is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of
the Placing Shares and determining appropriate distribution channels. Persons (including, without
limitation, nominees and trustees) who have a contractual right or other legal obligations to
forward a copy of this Document should seek appropriate advice before taking any action.
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PART IX. NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that a General Meeting of Summerway Capital PLC (the “Company”) will be held
at the offices of Canaccord Genuity Limited at 88 Wood Street, London, EC2V 7QR on 25 March 2022 at
10.00 a.m. for the following purposes:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

To consider, and if thought fit, pass Resolutions 1, 2 and 3 as ordinary resolutions:

Resolution 1: Approval of the Acquisition

THAT, subject to and conditional on the passing of the resolutions numbered 2, 3 and 4 in the notice
convening this meeting, the proposed acquisition (the “Acquisition”) by the Company of the entire share
capital of Vertigrow Technology Limited (Company no: 11886065) (the “Target”) substantially on the terms
and subject to the conditions contained in the acquisition agreement dated 28 October 2021 and made
between the Company as buyer and the Sellers (as defined therein) (the “Acquisition Agreement”), and
all other agreements and ancillary arrangements contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement be and are
hereby approved in accordance with Rule 14 of the AIM Rules for Companies and that the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) (or any duly constituted committee thereof) be and are hereby authorised
to cause the Acquisition Agreement and all documents and matters provided in it and related to it be
completed and at their discretion to amend, waive, vary and/or extend any of the terms of the Acquisition
Agreement and/or any other document referred to in it or connected with it as they may consider necessary,
expedient or desirable in relation thereto and to carry the same into effect with such modifications,
variations, revisions or amendments (provided such modifications, variations or amendments are not of
a material nature in the context of the proposed transaction as a whole) as they shall deem necessary,
expedient or desirable.

Resolution 2: Rule 9 Waiver

THAT the waiver granted by the Takeover Panel of the obligation which may otherwise arise pursuant to
Rule 9 of the Takeover Code on any member of the Concert Party (as defined in the Admission Document
dated 28 February 2022) to make a general offer for the entire issued share capital of the Company as a
result of the issue to the Concert Party of 41,874,525 new ordinary shares of £0.01 each in the capital of
the Company pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement be and is hereby approved.

Resolution 3: Authority to allot Ordinary Shares

THAT, in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (“CA 2006”), the Directors (or a duly
constituted committee thereof) be generally and unconditionally authorised to allot equity securities (as
defined by section 560 of the CA 2006) in the Company provided that this authority shall be limited to:

and unless renewed, varied or revoked by the Company, such authority shall expire at the conclusion of the
next annual general meeting of the Company after the passing of this resolution or on the date which is 18
months from the date on which this general meeting is held (if earlier), save that the Company may before
this authority expires make an offer or agreement which would or might require shares to be allotted after
this authority expires and the Directors may allot shares or the grant of rights to subscribe for, or convert
any security into, shares pursuant to such offer or agreement as if this authority had not expired.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

To consider, and if thought fit, pass Resolutions 4 and 5 as special resolutions:

Resolution 4: Authority to disapply pre-emption rights

THAT, subject to the passing of resolution 3, in accordance with section 570(1) of the CA 2006, the
Directors (or a duly constituted committee thereof) be generally empowered to allot equity securities (as
defined in section 560(1) of the CA 2006) for cash pursuant to the authorities conferred in resolution 8
above as if section 561 of the CA 2006 did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this power shall
be limited to the allotment of equity securities for cash up to the maximum nominal amount of £484,848.48
to persons applying for new ordinary shares of £0.01 each in the capital of the Company in connection with

• up to an aggregate nominal amount of £484,848.48 in respect of Consideration Shares (as defined in
the Admission Document dated 28 February 2022) to be issued to the Sellers under the Acquisition
Agreement as consideration for the Acquisition; and

• for cash up to an aggregate nominal amount of £51,515.16 pursuant to the Placing (as defined in the
Admission Document dated 28 February 2022) to such persons and at such times and upon such
conditions as the Directors may determine,
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the Placing (as defined in the Admission Document dated 28 February 2022) and unless renewed varied
or revoked by the Company, such power shall expire at the conclusion of the next annual general meeting
of the Company after the passing of this resolution or on the date which is 18 months from the date on
which such resolution was passed (if earlier), save that the Company may before this power expires make
an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and
the Directors may allot equity securities pursuant to such offer or agreement as if this authority had not
expired.

Resolution 5: amendment of articles of association

THAT, subject to and conditional upon the passing of Resolutions 1 and 2, the following new article be
added to the Company's articles of association as article 52:

"Notwithstanding any other provision in these Articles, the Company shall not carry out any business
in relation to cannabis or otherwise other than in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and
following receipt of all necessary licences, approvals and/or registrations."

By order of the Board

……………………………..

David Firth

Director

Registered office address: 32-33 Cowcross Street, London, England, EC1M 6DF

Company number: 11545912

Date: 28 February 2022

Notes: The following notes explain your general rights as a shareholder and your right to attend and vote
at the General Meeting or to appoint someone else to vote on your behalf.

(a) Entitlement to attend and vote: Pursuant to regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Regulations 2001,
the Company specifies that only those shareholders registered on the register of members of the
Company as at close of business on 23 March 2022 (being not more than 48 hours prior to the time
fixed for the Meeting) shall be entitled to vote at the aforesaid General Meeting in respect of the
number of shares registered in their name at that time or if the General Meeting is adjourned, 48
hours before the time fixed for the adjourned meeting (as the case may be). In each case, changes
to entries on the register of members after such time shall be disregarded in determining the rights
of any person to attend or vote at the General Meeting. In the case of joint holders of a share,
the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the
exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders. Seniority is determined by the order in which the
names of the shareholders stand in the Register of Members of the Company.

Resolutions 1, 2 and 3 are proposed as ordinary resolutions. This means that for each of these
resolutions to be passed, more than half of the votes cast on such resolution must be in favour of
such resolution.

Resolutions 4, 5 and 6 are proposed as special resolutions. This means that for each of these
resolutions to be passed, at least seventy five per cent. of the votes cast on such resolution must
be in favour of such resolution.

You can vote:

• by logging on to www.signalshares.com and following the instructions; or

• in the case of CREST members, by utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment service in
accordance with the procedures set out below; or

• by requesting a hard copy form of proxy directly from the registrars, Link Group. If you need help
with voting online, please contact Registrars, Link Group, on 0371 664 0300 (Calls are charged
at the standard geographic rate and will vary by provider. Calls outside the United Kingdom will
be charged at the applicable international rate) or email Link at enquiries@linkgroup.co.uk (b)
Appointment of proxies: A member is entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all or any of the
member’s rights to attend, speak and vote at the meeting.

• As the UK Government's restrictions on social distancing and restrictions on attendance at
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public gatherings have been lifted, the Board looks forward to welcoming Shareholders in person
at the General Meeting. However, given the evolving nature of the situation and the possibility
for circumstances to change before the date of the General Meeting such that larger gatherings
indoors are no longer permissible and the Board is forced to revise its position and run the
General Meeting as a closed meeting, you are encouraged to appoint the Chair of the General
Meeting as your proxy to ensure that your vote is able to be cast in accordance with your wishes.
Appointment of any person other than the Chair of the General Meeting may result in your votes
not being cast, as third party proxies may not be permitted entry.

(b) Appointment of proxies: A member is entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all or any of the
member’s rights to attend, speak and vote at the meeting. For an electronic proxy appointment to
be valid, the appointment must be received by the Company’s Registrar, Link Group, no later than
10.00 a.m. on 23 March 2022.

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the
appropriate CREST message (a CREST Proxy Instruction) must be properly authenticated in
accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications and must contain the information
required for such instruction, as described in the CREST Manual (available via www.euroclear.com/
CREST). The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy, or is an
amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be
transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent (ID RA10) by the latest time(s) for receipt
of proxy appointments specified in Notes a) and b) above. For this purpose, the time of receipt
will be taken to be the time (as determined by the time stamp applied to the message by the
CREST Application Host) from which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry
to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time, any change of instructions to proxies
appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means. CREST
members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note
that Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited does not make available special procedures in CREST for any
particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the
input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take
(or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed
a voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s)
take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means
of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where
applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those
sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings
(www.euroclear.com/CREST). The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the
circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (as
amended).

(c) Changing proxy instructions: If you submit more than one proxy appointment the appointment
received last by the Registrar before the latest time for the receipt of proxies will take precedence.
You are advised to read the terms and conditions of use carefully. The CREST electronic proxy
appointment service facilities are open to all CREST Members and those who use them will not be
disadvantaged.

(d) Corporate representatives: Any corporation which is a member can appoint one or more
corporate representatives who may exercise on its behalf all of its powers as a member provided
that they do not do so in relation to the same shares.

(e) Votes withheld and discretionary votes: A vote withheld is not a vote in law, which means that
the vote will not be counted in the calculation of votes for or against the resolution. If no voting
indication is given, your proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his or her discretion. Your proxy
will vote (or abstain from voting) as he or she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is put
before the General Meeting.
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